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Summary37SIGNATURES38INDEX OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSF - 1 CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTSThis Annual Report on Form
10-K ("Form 10-K") and other documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") contain "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the &€ceSecurities Acta€), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 4€eExchange Acta€), that are based on current
expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about us, our future performance, our financial condition, our products, our business strategy, our beliefs and our managementa€™ s
assumptions. In addition, we, or others on our behalf, may make forward-looking statements in press releases or written statements, or in our communications and discussions with investors
and analysts in the normal course of business through meetings, webcasts, phone calls and conference calls. These forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words like
a€ceanticipates,a€ a€ceestimates,a€ a€oeprojects,a€ a€ceexpects,a€ a€meplans,a€ a€oebelieves,a€ a€mintends,a€ a€cewill, a€ a€oecould,a€ a€cemay,a€ a€ceassumesa€ and other words of similar
meaning. These statements are based on managementa€™s beliefs, assumptions, estimates and observations of future events based on information available to our management at the time the
statements are made and include any statements that do not relate to any historical or current fact. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and they involve certain risks,
uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed, implied or forecast by our forward-looking statements due
in part to the risks, uncertainties and assumptions set forth below in Part I, Item 1.A., Risk Factors as well as Part II, Item 7, Managementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations, of this Form 10-K, as well as those discussed elsewhere in this Form 10-K and other factors described from time to time in our filings with the SEC. Factors that could



cause actual results to differ materially from those in forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, severe weather, levels of consumer confidence in national and local economic
business conditions, developments related to pricing cycles and volumes, the impact of labor shortages, the increase of costs due to inflation, an economic downturn caused by any pandemic,
epidemic or other disease outbreak, decreased consumer spending, the success of our turnaround strategy, the impact of capital improvement projects, the adequacy and availability of capital
resources to fund our existing and planned business operations and our capital expenditure requirements, our ability to meet financial covenant requirements in our Credit Facility, which could
impact, among other things, our liquidity, the relative effectiveness of compensation-based employee incentives in causing improvements in our performance, the capacity to meet the demands
of our customers, the extent of execution of plans for the growth of our business and achievement of financial metrics related to those plans, our success in retaining and/or attracting qualified
employees, our success in adapting to technology and new commerce channels, the effect of the capital markets as well as other external factors on stockholder value, fluctuations in availability
and cost of green coffee, competition, organizational changes, the effectiveness of our hedging strategies in reducing price and interest rate risk, changes in consumer preferences, our ability to
provide sustainability in ways that do not materially impair profitability, changes in the strength of the economy, including any effects from inflation, business conditions in the coffee industry
and food industry in general, our continued success in attracting new customers, variances from budgeted sales mix and growth rates, weather and special or unusual events, as well as other
risks described in this Form 10-K and other factors described from time to time in our filings with the SEC.Given these risks and uncertainties, you should not rely on forward-looking
statements as a prediction of actual results. Any or all of the forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K and any other public statement made by us, including by our management,
may turn out to be incorrect. We are including this cautionary note to make applicable and take advantage of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
for forward-looking statements. We expressly disclaim any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, changes in
assumptions or otherwise, except as required under federal securities laws and the rules and regulations of the SEC. PART IltemA 1.BusinessOverviewFarmer Bros. Co., a Delaware corporation
(including its consolidated subsidiaries unless the context otherwise requires, the 4€ceCompany,a€ a€cewe,a€ a€ceus,a€ a€ceoura€ or a€ceFarmer Bros.a€), is a leading coffee roaster,
wholesaler, equipment servicer and distributor of coffee, tea and other allied products. We serve a wide variety of customers, from small independent restaurants and foodservice operators to
large institutional buyers like restaurant, department and convenience store chains, hotels, casinos, healthcare facilities, and gourmet coffee houses, as well as grocery chains with private
brand and consumer-branded coffee and tea products, and foodservice distributors. With a robust product line, including organic, Direct Trade, Project D.L.R.E.C.T.A® and other sustainably-
produced coffees, iced and hot teas, cappuccino, spices, and baking/biscuit mixes, among others, we offer not only a breadth of high-quality products to our customers but also a comprehensive
approach by providing value added services such as market insight, beverage planning, and equipment placement and service. Our principal office and product development lab is located in
Fort Worth, Texas ("Fort Worth facility"). We were founded in 1912, incorporated in California in 1923, and reincorporated in Delaware in 2004. Our principal office is located in Forth Worth,
Texas. We operate in one business segment.Products and ServicesOur product and service categories consist of the following:4€¢a robust line of roast and ground coffee, including organic,
Direct Trade, Project D.L.R.E.C.T.A®, Fair Trade CertifiedTMA® and other sustainably-produced offerings;a€¢frozen liquid coffee;a€ ¢cambient liquid coffee; a€¢flavored and unflavored iced and
hot teas, including organic and Rainforest Alliance Certifieda, ¢; &€¢culinary products including premium spices, pancake and biscuit mixes, gravy and sauce mixes, soup bases, dressings,
syrups and sauces, and coffee-related products such as coffee filters, cups, sugar and creamers; d€¢other beverages including cappuccino, cocoa, granitas and other blender-based beverages
and concentrated and ready-to-drink cold brew and iced coffee; anda€¢installation, repair & refurbishment services for a wide array of coffee, tea and juice equipment using state of the art
restoration techniques, managing full equipment lifecycle and providing enhanced service capabilities, maintenance and value addition.Our owned brand products are sold primarily into the
foodservice channel. Our primary brands include Farmer BrothersA®, Artisan Collection by Farmer Brothersd, ¢, Metropolitan, ¢, China MistA® and BoydsA® Our Artisan coffee products
include Direct Trade, Project D.LR.E.C.T.A®, Fair Trade Certlfleda,,¢A® Rainforest Alliance Certifiedd, ¢, organic and proprietary blends. We sell whole bean and roast and ground flavored and
unflavored coffee products under the Cain'sa, ¢, McGarveyA® and BoydsA® brands and iced and hot teas under the China MistA® brand through foodservice distributors at retail. Our roast
and ground coffee products are primarily sold in traditional packaging, including bags and fractional packages, as well as single-serve packaging. Our tea products are sold in traditional tea
bags and sachets, as well as single-serve tea pods and capsules. Our fiscal year ends on June 30, and our discussion is as of and for the fiscal years ended JuneA 30, 2024 ("fiscal 2024") and
JuneA 30, 2023 (“fiscal 2023"). See Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operationsa€”Results of Operations included in Part II, Item 7 of this Form 10-
K.Business StrategyOverviewWe are a coffee company dedicated to delivering the coffee people want, the way they want it. We build partnerships with customers who value quality, a wide
array of services and sustainable sourcing and are passionate about delivering great coffee, tea, and culinary experiences to their communities.In order to achieve our mission, increase cash
optimization, and improve margins, we have grown existing capabilities and continue to develop new capabilities to deliver value to our customers. More recently, we have undertaken
initiatives such as, but not limited to, the following:a€¢Executing Manufacturing and Network Optimization. We continue to develop and execute manufacturing network optimization. We utilize
our Portland, Oregon, facility and separate distribution centers, including our Rialto, California distribution center, to improve production efficiencies and balance volume across our
manufacturing and distribution networks to facilitate sustainable long-term growth. In fiscal 2023, we sold our Northlake, Texas production facility and now utilize our Portland, Oregon facility
and third-party co-manufacturers for the entirety of lour Direct-Store-Delivery ("DSD") production operations. We also continue to execute branch and route rationalization, optimize product
offerings through SKU rationalization, individualize customer delivery methods, and enhance inventory management, which improves our cost structure without sacrificing service to our
customers.a€¢Leveraging our Direct-Store-Delivery Network for growth. The DSD system is central to our operational framework, and we are making significant enhancements to drive
profitability, ensure customer retention and utilize our national reach to improve inventory management across our network. The enhancements include optimizing the management of the route
network to focus on business development, higher profitable sales and customer penetration; while utilizing key performance indicators to create better focus, accountability and alignment
toward business objectives. We are also utilizing dedicated new business resources to capture market share. Additionally, we are focused on building partnerships that utilize our current
distribution capabilities to expose us to industry and product innovation. &€¢Product Innovation Pipeline. We are continuing to enhance our premium and specialty coffee and tea programs,
developing strategic partnerships, and building an advantaged allied product portfolio that resonates with our customers. We will continue to provide leadership in sustainable product solutions
for our customers.a€¢Driving Customer Satisfaction. Providing our customers the products they want, when they want them, is key to customer satisfaction and retention. We have invested in
systems and processes to improve our ability to service our customers. We are driving continuous improvement on &€ceOn-Time and In-Fulla€ and other key service metrics. In addition, we are
focused on optimizing our product commercialization process and bringing innovation to our customers.a€¢Service Excellence in Revive Service & Restoration ("Revive"). We continue to have
one of the largest coffee service networks in the industry and are able to install, repair, and refurbish commercial brewing equipment. We are focused on continually improving time-to-install,
time-to-repair and restoration of equipment. We have successfully built partnerships with leading equipment manufacturers and are invested in training our team on the latest equipment
offerings to enhance our service capabilities and ability to add value.4€¢Enhance Processes and Systems. We are implementing IT applications which we expect to enhance our supply chain
optimization and flexibility. We are also continuing to invest in and enhance other IT capabilities to provide back-office support which will enable enhanced customer analytics, better product
targeting and pricing, and create a more robust demand and supply process. We continue to use an integrated Al-backed pricing model that enhances our ability to evaluate and implement
optimal pricing changes.We differentiate ourselves in the marketplace by providing coffee, tea, and culinary expertise, service excellence, and equipment program support. We tailor solutions to
our customers' needs, helping them deliver a great experience for their customers, including by: 4€¢Offering a wide variety of sustainably sourced coffee, tea, and culinary products, thereby
helping our customers achieve their sustainability goals and objectives;a€¢Providing consumer, channel, and market insights, including ideation to support customer menu and product
evaluation in line with consumer trends;a€¢Delivering comprehensive commercial brewing equipment program support from installation to preventative maintenance to timely repair;a€
¢Providing DSD service where our trained Route Sales Representative ("RSR") orders product to keep our customers in-stock, merchandises the beverage station, rotates products, cleans and
inspects equipment on-site, and performs &€cecup quality checks,a€ all to ensure a great experience for the consumer. Our services provided to DSD customers are conducted primarily in
person through our RSRs, who develop business relationships with chefs, restaurant owners and food buyers at their delivery locations; and a€¢Providing comprehensive coffee programs to our
key account customers, including private brand development, green coffee procurement, hedging, category management, sustainable sourcing, limited time specialty products, packaging
design and supply chain management.Industry and Market LeadershipWe have made the following investments in an effort to ensure we are well-positioned within the industry to take
advantage of category trends, industry insights, and general coffee, tea and allied product knowledge to grow our business:a€¢Coffee Industry Leadership.A Through our dedication to the craft
of sourcing, blending and roasting coffee, and our participation with the Specialty Coffee Association ("SCA"), National Coffee Association, Coffee Quality Institute ("CQI"), Coalition for Coffee
Communities, International Women's Coffee Alliance, Pacific Coast Coffee Association, 2and Roasters Guild, we work to help shape the future of the coffee industry. We believe that due to our
commitment to the industry, large retail and foodservice operators are drawn to working with us. 4€¢Market Insight and Consumer Research.A We have developed a market insight capability
internally that reinforces our business-to-business positioning as a thought leader in the coffee, tea and food service industries. We invest in proprietary consumer and customer segmentation
studies and provide trend insights and product development support that helps our customers create winning products and integrated marketing strategies. We are focused on understanding
key demographic groups and their attitudes and behaviors to better position the Company as a consumer brand at retail and meet the market needs of all our customers. Sustainability
Leadershipa€¢Sustainability. We believe that our collective efforts in measuring our social and environmental impact, creating programs for waste, water and energy reduction, promoting
partnerships in our supply chain that aim at supply chain stability and food security, and focusing on employee engagement place us in a unique position to help retailers and foodservice
operators create differentiated coffee and tea programs that can include sustainable supply chains, direct trade purchasing, training and technical assistance, recycling and composting
networks, and packaging material reductions. &€¢Project D.I.R.E.C.T.A® Program. In fiscal 2024, we continued to utilize our direct trade sourcing model, Project D.I.R.E.C.T.A®. This program
involves direct long-term partnerships with coffee growing communities based on principles of sustainability, transparent pricing and consumer education. This model is an impact-based
product or raw material sourcing framework that utilizes data-based sustainability metrics to influence an inclusive, collaborative approach to sustainability along the supply chain. To evaluate
whether coffee is Project D.I.LR.E.C.T.A®, we follow an outcome-based evaluation framework. The result of this evaluation impacts where we invest our resources within our supply chain and
has led to an increased level of transparency for us. Overall, Project D.I.R.E.C.T.A® builds community partnerships for decision making, training, and reporting that benefits all members of the
coffee supply chain.4€¢Green Coffee Traceability. We are committed to the inclusion of more sustainably-sourced coffees in our supply chain. Regulatory and reputational risks can increase
when customers, roasters and suppliers cannot see back into their supply chain. To address these concerns, as well as to deepen our commitment to the longevity of the coffee industry, we
track traceability levels from all green coffee suppliers on a per-contract basis. This helps us to bring transparency to our supply chain, rank our suppliers, and also to identify opportunities to
select trusted providers, cooperatives, mills, exporters, and other suppliers, when offering sustainable coffees to our customers. It also helps us deepen our understanding of greenhouse gas
emissions generated upstream in our supply chain.&€¢Supplier Sustainability. We are committed to working with suppliers who share our social, environmental and economic sustainability
goals. Regulatory and reputational risks can increase when suppliers are not held to the same strict standards to which we hold ourselves. To address this concern, all existing suppliers and
new suppliers must acknowledge and adhere to our Supplier Standards of Engagement. These Standards of Engagement are aligned with the United Nations Global Compact and set minimum
standards for suppliers that are designed to provide Farmer Bros. visibility into all aspects of its supply chain and meets these objectives. Our suppliers also execute a Supplier's Certificate of
Compliance, representing supplier's receipt and acknowledgment of the Standards of Engagement and agreement to comply with the same. Charitable ActivitiesWe view charitable involvement
as a part of our corporate responsibility and sustainability model: Social, Environmental, and Economic Development, or SEED. We endorse and support communities where our customers,
employees, businesses, and suppliers are located, and who have enthusiastically supported us over the past 100 years. Our objective is to provide support toward a mission of supply chain
stability with a focus on food security.Recipient organizations include those with strong local and regional networks that ensure families have access to nutritious food. Donations may take the
form of corporate cash contributions, product donations, employee volunteerism, and workplace giving (with or without matching contributions).a€¢Recipient organizations include Feeding
America, Ronald McDonald House, and local food banks.a€¢Our usable and near expiring products or products with damaged packaging that can be donated are donated to Feeding America
affiliated food banks nationwide, in an effort to keep all edible food waste from going to landfills.Human CapitalOn JuneA 30, 2024, we employed approximately 1,003 employees, 206 of whom
are subject to collective bargaining agreements expiring on or before SeptemberA 30, 2027. 3Achieving our vision of building a leading specialty products distributor and service company starts
with our people. We believe our human capital management philosophy and programs align with developing and sustaining a culture that embraces our team member values of family, service
and quality, collaboration, simplicity and sustainability. We emphasize our value of family by striving for inclusive and equitable approaches in hiring practices, pay practices and team member
engagement. We continue to attract, develop and retain our team members with the following programs: Team Member BenefitsWe value each team member and, as a result, we provide a Total
Rewards Program that strives to deliver the features that our team members value. To accomplish this, we have conducted surveys of our team members over the last three years to make sure
we are investing in areas that our people value. Based on team member feedback and in alignment with our values of family, we have emphasized: &€¢Stability of our team member benefits
costs and expansion of the scope of our benefit programs and options. This has included company-paid short-term disability as well as paid parental leave for all non-union team members. &€
¢Focused improvement of our overall team member experience, including investments in HR technology, well-being initiatives and a comprehensive Benefits Assistance Center to help
employees understand their benefits better.Health and Safety The health and safety of our team members is crucial. In addition to tracking common indicators, such as injury rates, we have
taken a proactive approach to work place safety, including regular company-wide safety training, extensive driver safety curriculum to help keep our team members and others safer on the
road, and fleet safety reviews. We will continue to focus on all aspects of team member health and safety by creating a Safety First Culture. This includes, but is not limited to, tracking and
analyzing injury rates and incident trends, safety training, and team member engagement in the safety process. Raw Materials and SuppliesOur primary raw material is green coffee, an
exchange-traded agricultural commodity that is subject to price fluctuations. Over the past five years, the coffee 4€0eCa€ market near month price per pound ranged from approximately $0.90
to $2.60. The coffee &€0eCa€ market near month price as of June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $2.29 and $1.65 per pound, respectively. Our principal packaging materials include carton board,
corrugate and plastic. We also use a significant amount of electricity, natural gas, and other energy sources to operate our production and distribution facilities.We purchase green coffee beans
from multiple coffee regions around the world. Coffee &€0eCa€ market prices in fiscal 2024 traded in a $1.44 to $2.54 per pound range during the fiscal year, and averaged 13% above the
historical average for the past five years. There can be no assurance that green coffee prices will remain at these levels in the future. Some of the Arabica coffee beans we purchase do not trade
directly on the commodity markets. Rather, we purchase these coffee beans on a negotiated basis from coffee brokers, exporters and growers, including Direct Trade and Fair Trade
Certifieda, ¢A® sources and Rainforest Alliance Certified4, ¢ farms. Fair Trade Certifieda, ¢A® provides an assurance that farmer groups are receiving the Fair Trade minimum price and an
additional premium for certified organic products through arrangements with cooperatives. Direct Trade products provide similar assurance except that the arrangements are provided directly
to individual coffee growers instead of to cooperatives, providing these farmers with price premiums and dedicated technical assistance to improve farm conditions and increase both quality
and productivity of sustainable coffee crops at the individual farm level. Rainforest Alliance Certifiedd, ¢ coffee is grown using methods that help promote and preserve biodiversity, conserve
scarce natural resources, and help farmers build sustainable lives. Our business model strives to reduce the impact of green coffee price fluctuations on our financial results and to protect and
stabilize our margins, principally through customer arrangements and derivative instruments, as further explained in Note 5, Derivative Instruments, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this FormA 104€‘K. Intellectual PropertyWe own a number of United States trademarks and service marks that have been registered with the United States Patent and



Trademark Office. We also own other trademarks and service marks for which we have filed applications for U.S. registration. We have licenses to use certain trademarks outside of the United
States and to certain product formulas, all subject to the terms of the agreements under which such licenses are granted. We believe our trademarks and service marks are integral to customer
identification of our products. It is not possible to assess the impact of the loss of such identification. Depending on the jurisdiction, trademarks are generally valid as long as they are in use
and/or their registrations are properly maintained and they have not been found to have become generic. Registrations of trademarks can also generally be renewed indefinitely as long as the
trademarks are in use. In addition, we own numerous copyrights, registered and unregistered, registered domain names, and proprietary trade secrets, technology, know-how, and other
proprietary rights that are not registered.4SeasonalityWe experience some seasonal influences. The winter months historically have generally been our strongest sales months. However, our
product line and geographic diversity provide some sales stability during the warmer months when coffee consumption ordinarily decreases. Additionally, we usually experience an increase in
sales during the summer and early fall months from seasonal businesses located in vacation areas and from retailers ramping up inventory for the winter selling season. Because of the
seasonality of our business, results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved for the full fiscal year.Sale of Direct Ship BusinessOn June 30, 2023, the
Company completed its previously announced sale of certain assets related to its direct ship and private label business, including its production facility and corporate office building in
Northlake, Texas (the a€ceSalea€), pursuant to that certain Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 6, 2023, by and between the Company and TreeHouse Foods, Inc. (the 4€ceBuyera€), as
amended by that certain Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 30, 2023, for a purchase price of $100 million in cash, subject to customary working capital and certain other
adjustments, including a reduction for liabilities associated with a specified retained litigation matter. In connection with the Sale, the Company and the Buyer agreed to a mutual transitional
co-manufacturing agreement where the Company manufactured certain products for Buyer and Buyer manufactured certain products for the Company for an initial period of twelve months
which ended June 30, 2024. DistributionWe operate a production facility in Portland, Oregon. Distribution takes place out of the Portland facility, as well as separate distribution centers in
Northlake, Illinois; Rialto, California; and Moonachie, New Jersey. Our products reach our customers primarily through our nationwide DSD network of 243 delivery routes and 104 branch
warehouses as of June 30, 2024. We operate a large fleet of trucks and other vehicles to distribute and deliver our products through our DSD network, and we rely on third-party logistics
service providers ("3PL") for our long-haul distribution. We maintain inventory levels at each branch warehouse to promote minimal interruption in supply. We also sell coffee and tea products
directly to consumers through our websites and sell certain products at retail and through foodservice distributors. CustomersWe serve a wide variety of customers, from small independent
restaurants and foodservice operators to large institutional buyers and large national account customers like restaurant, department and convenience store chains, hotels, casinos, healthcare
facilities, and gourmet coffee houses, as well as retail with private brand and consumer-branded coffee and tea products, foodservice distributors, and consumers through e-commerce. During
fiscal 2024, our top five customers accounted for approximately 3% of our net sales from continuing operations. Most of our customers rely on us for distribution; however, some of our
customers use third-party distribution or conduct their own distribution. Some of our customers are a€cepricea€ buyers, seeking a low-cost provider with less concern for service, while others
find great value in the service programs we provide. We offer a full return policy to ensure satisfaction and extended terms for those customers who qualify. Historically, our product returns
have not been significant.Competition and TrendsThe coffee industry is highly competitive, including with respect to price, product quality, service, convenience, technology and innovation, and
competition could become more intense due to the relatively low barriers to entry and industry consolidation. We face competition from many sources, certain of which have greater financial
and other resources than we do, such as The J.M. Smucker Company (Folgers Coffee) and The Kraft Heinz Company (Maxwell House Coffee), wholesale foodservice distributors such as Sysco
Corporation and US Foods Holding Corp., regional and national coffee roasters such as Westrock Coffee Company, Massimo Zanetti Beverage USA, Trilliant Food and Nutrition LLC, GaviA+a &
Sons, Inc., Royal Cup, Inc., Ronnoco Coffee, LLC, and Community Coffee Company, L.L.C., specialty coffee suppliers such as Rogers Family Company (San Francisco Bay Coffee), Distant Lands
Coffee Company, Mother Parkers Tea & Coffee Inc., Starbucks Corporation and JAB Holding Company (Peeta€™s Coffee & Tea), and retail brand beverage manufacturers such as Keurig Dr.
Pepper Inc. As many of our customers are small foodservice operators, we also compete with cash and carry and club stores (physical and on-line) such as Costco, Sama€™s Club and
Restaurant Depot and on-line retailers such as Amazon, including the institutional foodservice divisions of multi-national manufacturers of retail products. We also face competition from growth
in the single-serve, ready-to-drink coffee beverage and cold-brewed coffee channels, as well as competition from other beverages, such as soft drinks (including highly caffeinated energy
drinks), juices, bottled water, teas and other beverages.We believe our longevity, product quality and offerings, national distribution and equipment service network, industry and sustainability
leadership, market insight, comprehensive approach to customer relationship management, and superior customer service are the major factors that differentiate us from our competitors. We
compete well when these factors are valued by our 5customers, and we are less effective when only price matters. Our customer base is price sensitive, and we are often faced with price
competition. Regulatory EnvironmentThe conduct of our businesses, including, among other things, the production, storage, distribution, sale, labeling, quality and safety of our products, and
occupational safety and health practices, are subject to various laws and regulations administered by federal, state and local governmental agencies in the United States. Our facilities are
subject to various laws and regulations regarding the release of material into the environment and the protection of the environment in other ways. We are not a party to any material legal
proceedings arising under these regulations except as described in Note 19, Commitments and Contingencies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this FormA 104€‘K.
For additional information, see "Risk Factors" under the sub-captions "Risks Related to Our Business and Industry" and "Risks Related to Governance, Regulatory, Legislative and Legal
Matters."OtherThe nature of our business does not provide for maintenance of or reliance upon a sales backlog. None of our business is subject to renegotiation of profits or termination of
contracts or subcontracts at the election of the government. We have no material revenues from foreign operations or long-lived assets located in foreign countries.Available InformationOur
Internet website address is http://www.farmerbros.com, where we make available, free of charge, through a link maintained on our website under the heading 4€celnvestor Relationsa€”SEC
Filings,&€ copies of our Annual Report on FormA 10-K, Quarterly Reports on FormA 10-Q and Current Reports on FormA 8-K, including amendments thereto, proxy statements and annual
reports to stockholders, and from time to time, other documents, as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such material electronically or otherwise furnishing it to the SEC.A In addition,
these reports and the other documents we file with the SEC are available at a website maintained by the SEC at http://www.sec.gov. Copies of our Corporate Governance Guidelines, the
Charters of the Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees of the Board of Directors, our Code of Conduct and Ethics and our Amended and Restated Bylaws
can also be found on our website. ItemA 1A.Risk FactorsYou should carefully consider each of the following factors, as well as the other information in this report, in evaluating our business and
prospects. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial may
also negatively affect our business operations, reputation, financial condition, results of operations or the trading price of our common stock. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be harmed. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline.Risks Related to our Business and
IndustryDeterioration of global economic conditions, an economic recession, periods of inflation, rising interest rates, or economic uncertainty in our key markets may adversely affect customer
and consumer spending, as well as demand for our products.Global economic conditions can be uncertain and volatile. Our business and results of operations have in the past been, and may
continue to be, adversely affected by changes in global economic conditions including inflation, interest rates, consumer spending rates, energy availability and costs, the negative impacts
caused by public health crises, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as the potential impacts of geopolitical uncertainties, and the effect of governmental initiatives to manage economic
conditions. As global economic conditions continue to be volatile or economic uncertainty remains, trends in consumer spending also remain unpredictable and subject to reductions due to
credit constraints and uncertainties about the future. Most of our products are purchased by our customers based on end-user demand from consumers. Some of the factors that may influence
consumer spending include general economic conditions, high levels of unemployment, health crises, higher consumer debt levels, reductions in net worth based on market declines and
uncertainty, home foreclosures and reductions in home values, fluctuating interest rates and credit availability, fluctuating fuel and other energy costs, inflationary pressure, tax rates, and
general uncertainty regarding the overall future economic environment. Unfavorable economic conditions may lead customers and consumers to delay or reduce purchases of our products and
could present challenges in collecting our account receivables on a timely basis. Customer demand for our products may not reach our targets or may decline as distributors and retailers seek
to reduce inventory positions if there is an economic downturn or economic uncertainty in our key markets. Economic cycles and related fluctuations in customer demand may have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.6We depend on the expertise of key personnel to operate our business. The unexpected loss of one or more of these
key employees or difficulty recruiting and retaining qualified personnel could have a material adverse effect on our operations and competitive position.Our success depends on the efforts and
abilities of key personnel and a consistent workforce, including frontline workers, support staff and executive team members. The competition for talent is extremely high and candidatesa€™
preferences and expectations are evolving. We must continue to recruit, retain, motivate and develop management and other employees sufficiently to maintain our current business and
support our projected growth and strategic initiatives. This may require us to adapt to evolving labor conditions and make significant investments in training, coaching and other career
development and retention activities. Activities related to identifying, recruiting, hiring and integrating qualified individuals require significant time and attention. In this competitive
environment, our business has been and may continue to be adversely impacted by increases in labor costs, including wages and benefits, including those increases triggered by regulatory
actions regarding wages, scheduling and benefits; increased health care and workersa€™ compensation insurance costs; increased wages and costs of other benefits necessary to attract and
retain high quality employees with the right skill sets. We may also need to invest significant amounts of cash and equity to attract talented new employees and to invest in our employee
experience and culture, and we may never realize returns on these investments. We do not maintain key person life insurance policies on any of our executive officers. If we are not able to
effectively retain our talent, our ability to achieve certain strategic objectives may be adversely affected, which may impact our financial condition and results of operations. Further, any
unplanned turnover or failure to develop or implement an adequate succession plan for our senior management and other key employees, could deplete our institutional knowledge base, erode
our competitive advantage, and negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We have undergone, and may continue to experience, changes to our executive
leadership team and senior management, and our future success will depend in part on our ability to manage these transitions successfully. From time to time, there may be changes to our
executive leadership team and senior management for various reasons, including as a result of the hiring, departure or realignment of key personnel. Such changes may adversely impact our
operations, programs, growth, financial condition and results of operations. In 2023 and 2024, we had several changes to our executive leadership team and senior management as a result of
organizational changes, including the transition of our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer and the departure of our former chief human resources officer. Any significant
leadership change or senior management transition involves inherent risk and any failure to ensure the timely and suitable replacement and a smooth transition could hinder our strategic
planning, business execution and future performance. In particular, these or any future leadership transitions may result in a loss of personnel with deep institutional or technical knowledge
and changes in business strategy or objectives and have the potential to disrupt our operations and relationships with employees and customers due to added costs, operational inefficiencies,
changes in strategy, decreased employee morale and productivity, and increased turnover. If we are unable to successfully manage changes to our executive leadership team and senior
management, we could experience significant delays or difficulty in the achievement of our development and strategic objectives and our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be materially and adversely harmed.Competition in the coffee industry and beverage category could impact our profitability or harm our competitive position.The coffee industry is highly
competitive, including with respect to price, product quality, service, convenience, technology and innovation, and competition could become more intense due to the relatively low barriers to
entry and industry consolidation. We face competition from many sources, including the institutional foodservice divisions of multi-national manufacturers of retail products, wholesale
foodservice distributors, regional and national coffee roasters, specialty coffee suppliers, and retail brand beverage manufacturers, many of which have greater financial and other resources
than we do and may have lower fixed costs and/or are substantially less leveraged than us. As many of our customers are small foodservice operators, we also compete with cash and carry and
club stores and on-line retailers. Companies smaller than ours may be more innovative, better able to bring new products to market and better able to quickly exploit and serve niche
markets.We consider our roasting and blending methods essential to the flavor and richness of our coffees and, therefore, essential to our brand. Because our roasting methods cannot be
patented, we would be unable to prevent competitors from copying these methods if such methods became known. In addition, competitors may be able to develop roasting or blending methods
that are more advanced than our production methods, which may also harm our competitive position.Increased competition in coffee or other beverage channels may have an adverse impact on
sales of our products. If we do not succeed in differentiating ourselves through, among other things, our product and service offerings, or if we are not effective in setting proper pricing, then
our competitive position may be weakened, we could fail to retain our existing customer base and our sales and profitability may be materially adversely affected.7We may be unable to
anticipate changes in customer preferences or successfully develop new products; also, if we do not effectively manage the introduction of new products, our results may be adversely
impacted.Our success depends, in part, on our ability to innovate and develop new brands and products both in response to and in anticipation of changing consumer preferences and
demographics, and customer demands may require us to make internal investments to achieve or sustain competitive advantages and meet customer expectations. If we are not able to
anticipate, identify or develop and market products that respond to these changes in consumer preferences, whether resulting from changing consumer demographics or otherwise, demand for
our products may decline and our operating results may be adversely affected. Further, the success of our innovation and product development efforts is affected by our ability to anticipate
changes in consumer preferences and demographics, the technical capability of our product development staff in developing and testing product prototypes, including complying with
governmental regulations, and the success of our management and sales team in introducing and marketing new products.The launch and ongoing success of new brands and products is
inherently uncertain, especially with regard to their appeal to consumers. Further, we may incur significant research, development and marketing expenditures in connection with our efforts to
develop and launch new products, which we may be unable to recoup if such new products and brands do not gain widespread market acceptance. In addition, the unsuccessful launch or
fleeting popularity of our product innovations, among other things, may affect consumer perception of existing brands or products and our reputation, which may result in inventory write-offs
and other associated costs.We could also be adversely affected if we are not successful in developing new brands or products in response to new brand or product introductions by our
competitors. Some of our competitors may have greater financial and other resources than we do, making them better positioned to pursue new investment opportunities.A failure to sufficiently
innovate or maintain adequate and effective marketing or advertising could also inhibit our ability to maintain our brand relevance and drive product sales. If our competitors increase their
spending on advertising and promotions, if our advertising, media, or marketing expenses increase, if our advertising and promotions become less effective than those of our competitors, or if
we do not adequately leverage technology and data analytic capabilities needed to generate concise competitive insight, our business, financial condition, or results of operations could be
adversely affected.Increases in the cost of green coffee could reduce our gross margin and profit and may increase volatility in our results.Our primary raw material is green coffee, an
exchange-traded agricultural commodity that is subject to price fluctuations. Our ability to acquire a consistent supply of green coffee at prices sufficient to meet our needs, similar to any
agricultural commodity, may be impacted by, among other things, climate change, weather, natural disasters, real or perceived supply shortages, crop disease (such as coffee rust) and pests,
general increase in farm inputs and costs of production, an increase in green coffee purchased and sold on a negotiated basis rather than directly on commodity markets in response to higher
production costs relative to &4€0eCa€ market prices, speculative trading in coffee commodities, political and economic conditions or uncertainty, labor actions and shortages, foreign currency
fluctuations, inflation, armed conflict in coffee producing nations, acts of terrorism, pandemics or other disease outbreaks (including the COVID-19 pandemic), government actions and trade
barriers or tariffs, and the actions of producer organizations that have historically attempted to influence green coffee prices through agreements establishing export quotas or by restricting
coffee supplies. Additionally, specialty green coffees tend to trade on a negotiated basis at a premium above the 4€0eCa€ market price which premium, depending on the supply and demand at
the time of purchase, may be significant. We purchase over-the-counter coffee-related derivative instruments to enable us to lock in the price of green coffee commodity purchases on our behalf



or at the direction of our customers under commodity-based pricing arrangements. Although we account for certain coffee-related derivative instruments as accounting hedges, the portion of
open hedging contracts that are not designated as accounting hedges are marked to period-end market price and unrealized gains or losses based on whether the period-end market price was
higher or lower than the price we locked-in are recognized in our financial results at the end of each reporting period. Depending on contractual restrictions, we may be unable to pass these
costs to our customers by increasing the price of products. If we are unable to increase prices sufficiently to offset increased input costs, or if our sales volume decreases significantly as a result
of price increases, our results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.Recently, there has been increased volatility in the 4€ceCa€ market price, with prices at times
increasing to five-year highs. The uncertainty of several factors, including the impact of weather patterns in coffee producing regions, global supply chain constraints and shipping shortages,
and speculative trading, has caused greater uncertainty in the markets. Specifically, severe frosts and drought in Brazil currently threaten to negatively impact crop yields for multiple harvests,
which could reduce supply and increase cost. Although we hedge the "C" market price volatility for a portion of our green coffee volumes by using derivative instruments, our hedging strategy
and use of these instruments does not completely mitigate our exposure to commodity price risk. As a result, increases in the cost of green coffee could have a material adverse impact on our
profitability, financial condition or results of operations. 80ur accounts receivable represents a significant portion of our current assets increasing our exposure to credit losses and counter-
party risk which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.Adverse changes in general economic conditions and/or contraction in global credit markets could precipitate
liquidity problems among our debtors. In addition, certain of our debtors use third-party distributors or do business through a network of affiliate entities which can make collection efforts more
challenging and, at times, collections may be economically unfeasible. Any increase in our exposure to losses from bad debts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.Climate change, water scarcity or legal, regulatory, or market measures to address such could have a material adverse effect our business and
operations.Increasing concentrations of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere may have an adverse effect on global temperatures, weather patterns, and the frequency
and severity of extreme weather events and natural disasters. In the event that climate change has a negative effect on agricultural productivity in the regions from which we procure coffee, we
could be subject to decreased availability and increased prices, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. Water is used
throughout the production of coffee from growing and pulping at the farm, cooling the beans after roasting in production and brewing products for consumption. Scarcity of appropriate and
sufficient water sources in our supply chain could limit supply and increase our costs. Loss of readily available access to water could have a material adverse effect on our business and
operating results.The increasing concern over climate change also may result in more regional, federal, foreign and/or global legal and regulatory requirements to reduce or mitigate the effects
of greenhouse gases. In the event that such regulation is enacted and is more aggressive than the sustainability measures that we are currently undertaking to monitor our emissions and
improve our energy and resource efficiency, we may experience significant increases in our manufacturing and distribution costs. In particular, increasing regulation of fuel emissions could
substantially increase the supply chain and distribution costs associated with our products. As a result, climate change or increased concern over climate change could negatively affect our
business and operations. Increased severe weather conditions, including those resulting from climate change, may increase commodity costs, damage our facilities and disrupt our production
capabilities and supply chain.There is increasing concern that a gradual increase in global average temperatures due to increased concentration of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases
in the atmosphere have caused and will continue to cause significant changes in weather patterns around the globe and an increase in the frequency and severity of extreme weather events.
Severe weather conditions are dramatically affecting coffee growing countries. The wet and dry seasons are becoming unpredictable in timing and duration, causing improper development of
the coffee cherries. Decreased agricultural productivity in certain regions as a result of changing weather patterns may affect the quality, limit the availability or increase the cost of key
agricultural commodities, which are important ingredients for our products. We have experienced storm-related damages and disruptions to our operations in the recent past related to both
winter storms as well as heavy rainfall and flooding. Increased frequency or duration of extreme weather conditions could damage our facilities, impair production capabilities, disrupt our
supply chain or impact demand for our products. As a result, the effects of climate change could have a long-term adverse impact on our business and results of operations.Investment in
acquisitions could disrupt our ongoing business, not result in the anticipated benefits and present risks not originally contemplated.We have invested, and in the future may invest, in
acquisitions which may involve significant risks and uncertainties. The success of any such acquisitions will depend, in part, on our ability to realize all or some of the anticipated benefits from
integrating the acquired businesses with our existing businesses, and to achieve revenue and cost synergies. Additionally, any such acquisitions may result in potentially dilutive issuances of our
equity securities, the incurrence of additional debt, restructuring charges, impairment charges, contingent liabilities, amortization expenses related to intangible assets, and increased operating
expenses, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. There can be no assurance that any such acquisitions will be identified or that we will be able to
consummate any such acquisitions on terms favorable to us or at all, or that the synergies from any such acquisitions will be achieved. If any such acquisitions are not successful, our business
and results of operations could be adversely affected.We have completed the sale of certain of our assets in the past, and may explore additional sales of our assets, and such divestitures may
introduce significant risks and uncertainties.As a result of our strategic review, in fiscal 2023 we completed the Sale, and we may engage in additional divestitures in the future. Divestitures
involve significant risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our business, consolidated financial position and consolidated results of operations. These include, among others, the
inability to find buyers or complete transactions on favorable terms, disruption to our business and/or diversion of management attention from other business 9concerns. Significant time and
expenses have been and could in the future be incurred to divest the assets described above, which may adversely affect operations as dispositions have required and may in the future require
our continued financial involvement, such as through transition service agreements, guarantees, and indemnities or other current or contingent financial obligations and liabilities.Our operating
results may have significant fluctuations from period to period which could have a negative effect on the market price of our common stock.Our operating results may fluctuate from period to
period as a result of a number of factors, including variations in our operating performance or the performance of our competitors, changes in accounting principles, fluctuations in the price
and supply of green coffee, fluctuations in the selling prices of our products, the success of our hedging strategy, research reports and changes in financial estimates by analysts about us, or
competitors or our industry, our inability or the inability of our competitors to meet analystsa€™ projections or guidance, strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions and
divestitures, capital investments or changes in business strategy, the depth and liquidity of the market for our common stock, adverse outcomes of litigation, changes in or uncertainty about
economic conditions, inflation, supply chain disruptions, conditions or trends in our industry, geographies, or customers, activism by any large stockholder or group of stockholders, speculation
by the investment community regarding our business, actual or anticipated growth rates relative to our competitors, terrorist acts, natural disasters, including due to the effects of climate
change, perceptions of the investment opportunity associated with our common stock relative to other investment alternatives, competition, changes in consumer preferences and market
trends, seasonality, our ability to retain and attract customers, our ability to manage inventory and fulfillment operations and maintain gross margin, and other factors described elsewhere in
this risk factors section. Fluctuations in our operating results due to these factors or for any other reason could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. Accordingly, we believe
that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results should not be relied upon as indicators of future performance.We may be subject to securities litigation, class action and derivative
lawsuits, which could result in substantial costs and could divert management attention away from other business concerns.The market price of our common stock may be volatile and, in the
past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the
future. Even if the lawsuits are without merit, defending against these claims can result in substantial costs and divert management time and resources from other business concerns, which
could seriously harm our business. An adverse judgment could result in monetary damages, which could have a negative impact on our liquidity and financial condition.We face exposure to
other commodity cost fluctuations, which could impact our margins and profitability.In addition to green coffee, we are exposed to cost fluctuations in other commodities under supply
arrangements, including raw materials, tea, spices, and packaging materials such as carton board, corrugate and plastic. We are also exposed to fluctuations in the cost of fuel. We purchase
certain ingredients, finished goods and packaging materials under cost-plus supply arrangements whereby our costs may increase based on an increase in the underlying commodity price or
changes in production costs. The cost of these commodities, raw materials and fuel depend on various factors beyond our control, including economic and political conditions, foreign currency
fluctuations, inflation, weather conditions, natural disasters (including floods, droughts, frosts, earthquakes and hurricanes) and changing global climate patterns. The changes in the prices we
pay may take place on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis depending on the product and supplier. Unlike green coffee, we do not purchase any derivative instruments to hedge cost
fluctuations in these other commodities. As a result, to the extent we are unable to pass along such costs to our customers through price increases, our margins and profitability will
decrease.Our efforts to secure an adequate supply of quality coffees and other raw materials may be unsuccessful and impact our ability to supply our customers or expose us to commodity
price risk.Maintaining a reliable supply of green coffee is essential to keeping inventory levels low while securing sufficient stock to meet customer needs. We rely upon our ongoing
relationships with our key suppliers to support our operations. Some of the Arabica coffee beans we purchase do not trade directly on the commodity markets. Rather, we purchase these coffee
beans on a negotiated basis from coffee brokers, exporters and growers. If any of these supply relationships deteriorate or we are unable to renegotiate contracts with suppliers (with similar or
more favorable terms) or find alternative sources for supply, we may be unable to procure a sufficient quantity of high-quality coffee beans and other raw materials at prices acceptable to us or
at all which could negatively affect our results of operations. Further, non-performance by suppliers could expose us to supply risk under coffee purchase commitments for delivery in the future.
In addition, the political situation in many of the Arabica coffee growing regions, including Africa, Indonesia, and Central and South America, can be unstable, and such instability could affect
our ability to purchase coffee from those regions. If green coffee beans from a region become unavailable or prohibitively expensive, we could be forced to use alternative coffee beans or
discontinue certain blends, which could adversely impact our sales. Any material interruption in our supply chain, such as material interruption of roasted coffee supply due to the casualty
10loss at our roasting plant or suppliers, interruptions in service by our third-party logistic service providers or common carriers that ship goods within our distribution channels, trade
restrictions, such as increased tariffs or quotas, embargoes or customs restrictions, pandemics, social or labor unrest, natural disasters or political disputes and military conflicts that cause a
material disruption in our supply chain could have a negative impact on our business and our profitability. Product shortages could result in disruptions in our ability to deliver products to our
customers, a deterioration of our relationship with our customers, decreased revenues or an inability to expand our business. Interruption or increased costs of our supply chain and sales
network or labor force, including a disruption in operations at any of our production and distribution facilities, could affect our ability to manufacture or distribute products and could adversely
affect our business and sales.Our sales and distribution network requires a large investment to maintain and operate, and we rely on a limited number of production and distribution facilities.
We also operate a large fleet of trucks and other vehicles to distribute and deliver our products through our DSD network, and we rely on 3PL service providers for our long-haul distribution.
Certain products are also distributed by third parties or direct shipped via common carrier. Many of these costs are beyond our control, and many are fixed rather than variable.There are
potential adverse effects of labor disputes with our own employees or with others who provide warehousing, co-packing, transportation (lines, truck drivers, 3PL service providers) or cargo
handling (longshoremen), both domestic and foreign, of our raw materials or other products. We have union contracts relating to a portion of our workforce. Although we believe union relations
have been amicable in the past, there is no assurance that this will continue in the future or that we will not be subject to future union organizing activity. The terms and conditions of existing,
renegotiated or new collective bargaining agreements could also increase our costs or otherwise affect our ability to fully implement future operational changes to enhance our efficiency or to
adapt to changing business needs or strategy.In addition, we use a significant amount of electricity, gasoline, diesel and oil, natural gas and other energy sources to operate our production and
distribution facilities. An increase in the price, disruption of supply or shortage of fuel and other energy sources that may be caused by increased demand, inflation or by events such as climate
change, natural disasters, power outages, cyberattacks or the like, could lead to higher electricity, transportation and other commodity costs, including the pass-through of such costs under our
agreements with 3PL service providers and other suppliers, that could negatively impact our profitability, financial condition or results of operations.A disruption in operations at any of these
facilities or any other disruption in our supply chain or increase in prices relating to service by our 3PL service providers, common carriers or distributors, service technicians or vendor-
managed inventory arrangements, or otherwise, whether as a result of casualty, natural disaster, power loss, telecommunications failure, terrorism, labor shortages, shipping costs, trade
restrictions, contractual disputes, weather, environmental incident, interruptions in port operations or highway arteries, increased downtime due to certain aging production infrastructure,
pandemic, strikes, work stoppages, the financial or operational instability of key suppliers, distributors and transportation providers, or other causes, could significantly impair our ability to
operate our business, adversely affect our relationship with our customers, and impact our financial condition or results of operations. If our vendors fail to meet our standards, provide products
in a timely and efficient manner, or comply with applicable laws, these issues could have a material negative impact on our business and profitability.We rely on co-packers to provide our supply
of tea, spice, culinary and other products. Any failure by co-packers to fulfill their obligations or any termination or renegotiation of our co-pack agreements could adversely affect our results of
operations.We have a number of supply agreements with co-packers that require them to provide us with specific finished goods, including tea, spice and culinary products. For some of our
products we primarily rely upon a single co-packer as our sole-source for the product. The failure for any reason of any such sole-source or other co-packer to fulfill its obligations under the
applicable agreements with us, including the failure by our co-packers to comply with food safety, environmental, or other laws and regulations, or the termination or renegotiation of any such
co-pack agreement could result in disruptions to our supply of finished goods, cause damage to our reputation and brands, and have an adverse effect on our results of operations. Additionally,
our co-packers are subject to risk, including labor disputes, union organizing activities, financial liquidity, inclement weather, natural disasters, pandemics, supply constraints, and general
economic and political conditions that could limit their ability to timely provide us with acceptable products, which could disrupt our supply of finished goods, or require that we incur additional
expense by providing financial accommodations to the co-packer or taking other steps to seek to minimize or avoid supply disruption, such as establishing a new co-pack arrangement with
another provider. A new co-pack arrangement may not be available on terms as favorable to us as our existing co-pack arrangements, or at all.11Customer quality control problems or food
safety issues may adversely affect our brands thereby negatively impacting our sales or leading to potential product recalls or product liability claims.Selling products for human consumption
involves inherent legal risks. Our success depends on our ability to provide customers with high-quality products and service. Although we take measures to ensure that we sell only fresh
products, we have no control over our products once they are purchased by our customers. Clean water is critical to the preparation of coffee, tea and other beverages. We have no ability to
ensure that our customers use a clean water supply to prepare these beverages. Instances or reports of food safety issues involving our products, whether or not accurate, such as unclean
water supply, food or beverage-borne illnesses, tampering, contamination, mislabeling, or other food or beverage safety issues, including due to the failure of our third-party co-packers to
maintain the quality of our products and to comply with our product specifications, could damage the value of our brands, negatively impact sales of our products, and potentially lead to
product recalls, production interruptions, product liability claims, litigation or damages. A significant product liability claim against us, whether or not successful, or a widespread product recall
may reduce our sales and harm our business.Consumers have been increasingly focused on food safety and health and wellness with respect to the food products they buy. Particularly in the
U.S., there is increasing consumer awareness of health risks, including obesity, as well as increased consumer litigation based on alleged adverse health impacts of consumption of various food
and beverage products. While we have a variety of such products, an unfavorable report on the health effects of caffeine or other compounds present in our products, whether accurate or not,
imposition of additional taxes on certain types of food and beverage components, or negative publicity or litigation arising from certain health risks could significantly reduce the demand for our
products and could materially harm our business and results of operations.Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards to offset future taxable net income may be subject to certain
limitations.At June 30, 2024, the Company had approximately $134.0 million in federal net operating loss carryforwards that will begin to expire in the tax year ending June 30, 2027 and $170.9
million in state net operating loss carryforwards that begin to expire in the tax year ending June 30, 2024. Net operating losses of $77.1 million in federal and $10.0 million of state are indefinite
lived and will not expire. If an ownership change as defined in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code"), occurs with respect to our capital stock, our ability to use net operating



losses ("NOLs") to offset taxable income would be subject to certain limitations. Generally, an ownership change occurs under Section 382 of the Code if certain persons or groups increase their
aggregate ownership by more than 50 percentage points of our total capital stock over a rolling three-year period. If an ownership change occurs, our ability to use NOLs to reduce taxable net
income is generally limited to an annual amount based on the fair market value of our stock immediately prior to the ownership change multiplied by the long-term tax-exempt interest rate. If
an ownership change were to occur, use of our NOLs to reduce payments of federal taxable net income may be deferred to later years within the 20-year carryover period; however, if the
carryover period for any loss year expires, the use of the remaining NOLs for the loss year will be prohibited. Future changes in our stock ownership, some of which may be outside of our
control, could result in an ownership change under Section 382 of the Code and limit our ability to use NOLs to offset taxable income. There is also a risk that due to regulatory changes, such as
suspensions on the use of NOLs, or other unforeseen reasons, our existing NOLs could expire, decrease in value or otherwise be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. As a result, we
may be unable to realize a tax benefit from the use of our NOLs, even if we generate a sufficient level of taxable net income prior to the expiration of the NOL carry forward periods.Future
impairment charges could adversely affect our operating results.Acquisitions are based on certain target analysis and due diligence procedures designed to achieve a desired return or strategic
objective. These procedures often involve certain assumptions and judgment in determining the acquisition price. After consummation of an acquisition, unforeseen issues could arise that
adversely affect anticipated returns or that are otherwise not recoverable as an adjustment to the purchase price. Even after careful integration efforts, actual operating results may vary
significantly from initial estimates. We perform an asset impairment analysis on an annual basis or whenever events occur that may indicate possible existence of impairment. Failure to achieve
forecasted operating results, due to weakness in the economic environment or other factors, changes in market conditions, loss of or significant decline in sales to customers included in
valuation of the intangible asset, changes in our imputed cost of capital, and declines in our market capitalization, among other things, could result in impairment of our intangible assets and
adversely affect our operating results. There were no intangible asset impairments during fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023.0ur business could be negatively impacted by corporate citizenship and
sustainability matters.There is an increased focus from certain investors, customers, consumers, employees, and other stakeholders concerning corporate citizenship and sustainability matters.
This increased focus on sustainability may result in new laws, regulations and requirements that could cause disruptions in or increased costs associated with developing, manufacturing and
distributing our 12products. We could also lose revenue if our consumers change brands, our customers refuse to buy our products, or investors choose not to invest in our common stock if we
do not meet their ESG and sustainability expectations.Further, the evolving legal and regulatory landscape and increased stakeholder focus on ESG and related matters has resulted in, and may
continue to result in, increased management time and attention spent complying with or meeting such regulations and expectations. For example, developing and acting on initiatives within the
scope of ESG, and collecting, measuring and reporting ESG-related information and metrics can be costly, difficult and time consuming and is subject to evolving reporting standards, including
the SECa€™ s proposed climate-related reporting requirements, and similar proposals by other international regulatory bodies. This rapidly changing environment may result in increased
general and administrative expenses.From time to time, we announce certain initiatives regarding our focus areas, which include environmental matters, sustainability in our supply chain,
responsible sourcing, social investments and inclusion and diversity. We could fail, or be perceived to fail, in our achievement of such initiatives or goals, or we could fail in accurately reporting
our progress on such initiatives and goals. Such failures could be due to changes in our business (e.g., shifts in business among distribution channels or acquisitions). Moreover, the standards
by which citizenship and sustainability efforts and related matters are measured are developing and evolving, and certain areas are subject to assumptions and standards that could change over
time. Any such matters, or related corporate citizenship and sustainability matters, could have a material adverse effect on our business.We rely on independent certifications for a number of
our productsWe rely on independent third-party certifications, such as certifications of our products as a€ceorganic,a€ a€eNon-GMOA€ or a€cekosher,a€ to differentiate our products from
others. We must comply with the requirements of independent organizations or certification authorities in order to label our products as certified organic. For example, we can lose our
d€ceorganica€ certification if a manufacturing plant becomes contaminated with non-organic materials, or if it is not properly cleaned after a production run. In addition, all raw materials must
be certified organic. Similarly, we can lose our 4€cekoshera€ certification if a manufacturing plant and raw materials do not meet the requirements of the appropriate kosher supervision
organization. The loss of any independent certifications could adversely affect our market position as an organic and natural products company, which could harm our business.Risks Related to
Governance, Regulatory, Legislative and Legal MattersGovernment regulations affecting the conduct of our business could increase our operating costs, reduce demand for our products or
result in litigation.The conduct of our business is subject to various laws and regulations including those relating to food safety, ingredients, manufacturing, processing, packaging, storage,
marketing, advertising, labeling, quality and distribution of our products, import of raw materials, as well as environmental laws and regulations relating to climate change and sustainability,
and those relating to privacy, worker health and workplace safety. These laws and regulations and interpretations thereof are subject to change as a result of political, economic or social events.
In addition, our product advertising could make us the target of claims relating to false or deceptive advertising under U.S. federal and state laws, including the consumer protection statutes of
some states. Any new laws and regulations or changes in government policy, existing laws and regulations or the interpretations thereof could require us to change certain of our operational
processes and procedures, or implement new ones, and may increase our operating and compliance costs, which could adversely affect our results of operations. In addition, modifications to
international trade policy, or the imposition of increased or new tariffs, quotas or trade barriers on key commodities, could adversely impact our business and results of operations. In some
cases, increased regulatory scrutiny could interrupt distribution of our products or force changes in our production processes or procedures (or force us to implement new processes or
procedures). In addition, compliance with any new or more stringent laws or regulations, or stricter interpretations of existing laws, including increased government regulations to limit carbon
dioxide and other greenhouse gas emissions, could require us to reduce emissions and to incur compliance costs which could affect our profitability or impede the production or distribution of
our products. If we or our business partners fail to comply with applicable laws and regulations, we may be subject to litigation, civil and criminal liability, damages, fines and penalties,
increased cost of regulatory compliance and restatements of our financial statements, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and adversely affect our reputation
and brand image. In addition, claims or liabilities of this sort may not be covered by insurance or by any rights of indemnity or contribution that we may have against others.We could face
significant withdrawal liability if we withdraw from participation in the multiemployer pension plans in which we participate.We participate in one multiemployer defined benefit pension plan
and nine multiemployer defined contribution plans other than pension plans for certain union employees. We make periodic contributions to these plans to allow them to meet their pension
benefit obligations to their participants. Our required contributions to these plans could increase due to a number of factors, including the funded status of the plans and the level of our ongoing
participation in these plans. Our risk of such 13increased payments may be greater if any of the participating employers in these underfunded plans withdraws from the plan due to insolvency
and we are not able to contribute an amount sufficient to fund the unfunded liabilities associated with its participants in the plan. In the event we withdraw from participation in one or more of
these plans, we could be required to make an additional lump-sum contribution to the plan. Our withdrawal liability for any multiemployer pension plan would depend on the extent of the
plana€™s funding of vested benefits. The amount of any potential withdrawal liability could be material to our results of operations and cash flows.Litigation pending against us could expose us
to significant liabilities and damage our reputation.We are currently party to various legal and other proceedings, and additional claims may arise in the future. See Note 19, Commitments and
Contingencies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10a€‘K. Regardless of the merit of particular claims, litigation may be expensive, time-consuming,
operationally disruptive and distracting to management, and could negatively affect our brand name and image and subject us to statutory penalties and costs of enforcement. We can provide
no assurances as to the outcome of any litigation or the resolution of any other claims against us. An adverse outcome of any litigation or other claim could negatively affect our financial
condition, results of operations and liquidity.We are partially self-insured and our current coverage and reserves may not be sufficient to cover future claims.We use a combination of insurance
and self-insurance mechanisms to provide for the potential liability of certain risks up to varying deductible amounts. The premiums associated with our insurance continue to increase. General
liability, fire, workersd€™ compensation, directorsd€™ and officersa€™ liability, life, employee medical, dental and vision, and automobile risks present significant potential liabilities. While we
accrue for these potential liabilities based on historical claims experience, future claims may exceed claims we have incurred in the past. Should a different number of claims occur compared to
what was estimated or the cost of the claims increase beyond what was anticipated, reserves recorded may not be sufficient and the accruals may need to be adjusted accordingly in future
periods. A successful claim against us that is not covered by insurance or is in excess of our reserves or available insurance limits could negatively affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.We maintain finished goods product coverage in amounts we believe to be adequate. However, we cannot assure you that we will not incur claims or liabilities for which we
are not insured or that exceed the amount of our insurance coverage. Moreover, claims or liabilities of this sort might not be covered by our insurance or by any rights of indemnity or
contribution that we may have against others. A product liability judgment against us or a product recall or the damage to our reputation resulting therefrom could have a material adverse
effect on our business, consolidated financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.Increases in income tax rates or changes in income tax laws could have a material adverse impact on
our financial results.Increases in income tax rates or other changes in tax laws, including changes in how existing tax laws are interpreted or enforced, could adversely affect our financial
performance. The increasingly complex global tax environment has in the past and could continue to increase tax uncertainty, resulting in higher compliance costs and adverse effects on our
financial performance. We are also subject to regular reviews, examinations and audits by numerous taxing authorities with respect to income and non-income based taxes. Economic and
political pressures to increase tax revenues in jurisdictions in which we operate, or the adoption of new or reformed tax legislation or regulation, may make resolving tax disputes more difficult
and the final resolution of tax audits and any related litigation can differ from our historical provisions and accruals, resulting in an adverse effect on our financial performance.Risks Related to
our Capital Structure and Ownership of Our Common StockAn increase in our debt leverage could adversely affect our liquidity and results of operations.In April 2021, we entered into a new
senior secured credit facility composed of a revolver credit facility (the "Revolver Credit Facility" or the "Credit Facility") and a term credit facility agreement (the &€ceTerm Credit Facilitya€)
(See discussion under Item 7. Managementa€ ™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 4€“ Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial Condition below for
additional details). The Credit Facility was subsequently amended on December 20, 2021, August 8, 2022, August 31, 2022, June 30, 2023 and December 4, 2023. At JuneA 30, 2024, we had
outstanding borrowings of $23.3 million and utilized $4.1 million of the letters of credit sublimit under the Credit Facility, and had $27.8 million of availability under our Credit Facility. We may
incur significant indebtedness in the future, including through additional borrowings under the Credit Facility, through the issuance of debt securities, or otherwise.Our present indebtedness
and any future borrowings could have adverse consequences, including:4€¢requiring a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to make payments on our indebtedness;14a€
¢reducing the cash flow available or limiting our ability to borrow additional funds, to pay dividends, to fund capital expenditures and other corporate purposes and to pursue our business
strategies;a€ ¢limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our businesses and the industries in which we operate;a€¢limiting our ability to refinance our indebtedness on
terms acceptable to us or at all;a€¢increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions; anda€¢placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our
competitors that have less debt.To the extent we become more leveraged, we face an increased likelihood that one or more of the risks described above would materialize. The Credit Facility
contains certain customary affirmative and negative covenants and restrictions that, among other things, require the Company to satisfy certain financial covenants and restricts the Company's
and its subsidiaries' ability to incur additional debt, pay dividends and make distributions, make certain investments and acquisitions, repurchase its stock and prepay certain indebtedness,
create liens, enter into agreements with affiliates, modify the nature of its business, transfer and sell material assets and merge or consolidate. Non-compliance with one or more of the
covenants and restrictions could result in the full or partial principal balance of the Credit Facility becoming immediately due and payable and termination of the commitments. If we are unable
to make payments as they come due or comply with the restrictions and covenants under the Credit Facility or any other agreements governing our indebtedness, there could be a default under
the terms of such agreements. In such event, or if we are otherwise in default under the Credit Facility or any such other agreements, the lenders could terminate their commitments to lend
and/or accelerate the loans and declare all amounts borrowed due and payable. If our liquidity materially declines, we may experience springing covenants and an increase in our cost of
borrowing. Furthermore, our lenders under the Credit Facility could foreclose on their security interests in our assets. If any of those events occur, our assets might not be sufficient to repay in
full all of our outstanding indebtedness and we may be unable to find alternative financing on acceptable terms or at all. Failure to maintain existing or secure new financing could have a
material adverse effect on our liquidity and financial position.Our liquidity has been adversely affected as a result of our operating performance in recent periods and may be further materially
adversely affected by constraints in the capital and credit markets and limitations under our financing arrangements.We need sufficient sources of liquidity to fund our working capital
requirements, service our outstanding indebtedness and finance business opportunities. Without sufficient liquidity, we could be forced to curtail our operations, or we may not be able to
pursue business opportunities. The principal sources of our liquidity are funds generated from operating activities, available cash, our credit facility, and proceeds from the sale of assets. In
recent periods, significant acquisition costs, large capital investments along with the underperformance of our business has resulted in a decrease in funds from operating activities, which has
weakened our liquidity position. Should our operating performance deteriorate further, we will have less cash inflows from operations available to meet our financial obligations or to fund our
other liquidity needs. Deterioration of our operating performance may also result in a reduction in our working capital, which could negatively impact our available borrowing capacity under
our Credit Facility. In addition, if such deterioration were to lead to the closure of leased facilities, we would need to fund the costs of terminating those leases. If we are unable to generate
sufficient cash flows from operations in the future to satisfy these financial obligations, we may be required to, among other things:a€¢seek additional financing in the debt or equity markets;a€
¢refinance or restructure all or a portion of our indebtedness;a€¢sell assets; and/ora€¢reduce or delay planned capital or operating expenditures, strategic acquisitions or investments.Such
measures might not be sufficient to enable us to satisfy our financial obligations or to fund our other liquidity needs, and could impede the implementation of our business strategy, prevent us
from entering into transactions that would otherwise benefit our business and/or have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, any such
financing, refinancing or sale of assets might not be available on economically favorable terms or at all. Our ability to obtain additional financing or refinance our indebtedness would depend
upon, among other things, our financial condition at the time, and the liquidity of the overall capital markets and the state of the economy. Furthermore, any refinancing of our existing debt
could be at higher interest rates and may require compliance with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. In addition, if our lenders experience
difficulties that render them unable to fund future draws on the credit facility, we may not be able to access all or a portion of these funds, which could adversely affect our ability to operate our
business and pursue our business strategies. In addition, covenants in our debt agreements could restrict or delay our ability to 15respond to business opportunities, or in the event of a failure
to comply with such covenants, could result in an event of default, which if not cured or waived, could have a material adverse effect on us.We may require additional financing to achieve our
goals, and a failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed on acceptable terms, or at all, may force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product manufacturing and development,
and other operations.We may require additional financing to fund our operations or growth. The failure to secure additional financing could have a material adverse effect on our continued
development or growth. The amount of additional capital we may require, the timing of our capital needs and the availability of financing to fund those needs will depend on a number of factors,
including our strategic initiatives and operating plans, the performance of our business, the number, complexity and characteristics of additional products or future manufacturing processes we
require to serve new or existing markets, any material or significant product recalls, any failure or disruption with our manufacturing and co-packing partners as well as our third party logistics
providers, the expansion into new markets, any changes in our regulatory or legislative landscape, particularly with respect to product safety, advertising, product labeling and data privacy, the
costs associated with being a public company and the market conditions for debt or equity financing. Additionally, the amount of capital required will depend on our ability to meet our sales
goals and otherwise successfully execute our operating plan. We intend to continually monitor and adjust our operating plan as necessary to respond to developments in our business, our
markets and the broader economy and it is possible that our business could become more capital intensive. Although we believe that our Credit Facility, together with our cash flows from
operations, will be sufficient to fund our working capital and capital expenditure requirements in the near term, arrangements for additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable



terms, or at all, when needed. Additionally, any such arrangements may require significant cash payments for interest and other costs or could be highly dilutive to our existing shareholders,
and may not provide us with sufficient funds to meet our long-term capital requirements.Inflationary pressures may adversely affect us by increasing costs of raw materials, labor, and other
costs beyond what we can recover through price increases.Inflation can adversely affect us by increasing the costs of raw materials, labor, and other costs required to operate and grow our
business. Many of the markets in which we sell our products are experiencing high levels of inflation, which may depress consumer demand for our products and reduce our profitability if we
are unable to raise prices enough to keep up with increases in our costs. Inflationary pressures have resulted in increases in the cost of certain raw materials, and other supplies necessary for
the production of our products, and such increases may continue to impact us in the future and expose us to risks associated with significant levels of cost inflation. If we are unable to increase
our prices to offset the effects of inflation, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. Anti-takeover provisions or stockholder dilution
could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us.Our Board of Directors has the authority to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price, rights, preferences, privileges
and restrictions, including voting rights, of those shares without any further vote or action by stockholders. We currently have 500,000 authorized shares of preferred stock undesignated as to
series. The rights of the holders of our common stock may be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of preferred stock that may be issued in the future. The
issuance of preferred stock may have the effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a change in control of the Company without further action by stockholders and may adversely affect the
voting and other rights of the holders of our common stock.Further, certain provisions of our organizational documents have provisions eliminating the ability of stockholders to take action by
written consent, and provisions limiting the ability of stockholders to raise matters at a meeting of stockholders without giving advance notice, may have the effect of delaying or preventing
changes in control or management of the Company, which could have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock. In addition, our organizational documents do not permit
cumulative voting, which may make it more difficult for a third party to gain control of our Board of Directors. Further, we are subject to the anti-takeover provisions of Section 203 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law, which will prohibit us from engaging in a &€cebusiness combinationa€ with an a€ceinterested stockholdera€ for a period of three years after the date of the
transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, even if such combination is favored by a majority of stockholders, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed
manner. The application of Section 203 also could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control or management.Volatility in the equity markets or interest rate fluctuations could
substantially increase our pension funding requirements and negatively impact our financial position.As of JuneA 30, 2024, the projected benefit obligation under our two employer defined
benefit pension plans exceeded the fair value of plan assets. The difference between the projected benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets, or the funded status of the plans,
significantly affects the net periodic benefit cost and ongoing funding requirements of those plans. Among other factors, changes in interest rates, mortality rates, early retirement rates, mix of
plan asset investments, investment returns 16and the market value of plan assets can affect the level of plan funding, cause volatility in the net periodic benefit cost, increase our future funding
requirements and require payments to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation. In addition, facility closings may trigger cash payments or previously unrecognized obligations under our
defined benefit pension plans, and the cost of such liabilities may be significant or may compromise our ability to close facilities or otherwise conduct cost reduction initiatives on time and
within budget. A significant increase in future funding requirements could have a negative impact on our financial condition and results of operations.Actions of activist stockholders could cause
us to incur substantial costs, divert management's attention and resources, and have an adverse effect on our business.We have been and may continue to be subject to proposals by
stockholders urging us to take certain corporate actions. Responding to proxy contests and reacting to other actions by activist stockholders can be costly and time-consuming, and can disrupt
our operations and divert the attention of management and employees. If activist stockholder activities continue, our business could be adversely affected. For example, we have been and may
continue to be required to retain the services of various professionals to advise us on activist stockholder matters, including legal, financial, and communications advisers, the costs of which
may negatively impact our future financial results. In addition, perceived uncertainties as to our future direction, strategy or leadership created as a consequence of activist stockholder
initiatives may result in the loss of potential business opportunities, harm our ability to attract new investors, customers, employees, suppliers and other strategic partners, and cause significant
fluctuations in our stock price based on temporary or speculative market perceptions or other factors that do not necessarily reflect the underlying fundamentals and prospects of our
business.If securities analysts or industry analysts downgrade our stock, publish negative research or reports or do not publish reports about our business, our stock price and trading volume
could decline.The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us, our business and our industry. If one
or more analysts adversely change their recommendation regarding our stock or our competitorsa€™ stock, our stock price may likely decline. If one or more analysts cease coverage of us or
fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. Risks Related to Cybersecurity and
Data PrivacyFailure to maintain satisfactory compliance with certain privacy and data protections laws and regulations may subject us to substantial negative financial consequences and civil or
criminal penalties.Complex local, state, national, foreign and international laws and regulations apply to the collection, use, retention, protection, disclosure, transfer and other processing of
personal data. These privacy and data protection laws and regulations are quickly evolving, with new or modified laws and regulations proposed and implemented frequently and existing laws
and regulations subject to new or different interpretations and enforcement. In addition, our legal and regulatory obligations in jurisdictions outside the U.S. are subject to unexpected changes,
including the potential for regulatory or other governmental entities to enact new or additional laws or regulations, to issue rulings that invalidate prior laws or regulations or to increase
penalties significantly. Complying with these laws and regulations can be costly and can impede the development and offering of new products and services.Our failure to comply with applicable
laws and regulations or other obligations to which we may be subject relating to personal data, or to protect personal data from unauthorized access, use or other processing, could result in
enforcement actions and regulatory investigations against us, claims for damages by customers and other affected individuals, fines, damage to our brand reputation, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our operations, financial performance and business.We rely on information technology and software in our operations. Any material failure, inadequacy, interruption
or security failure of that technology could affect our ability to effectively operate our business.Our ability to effectively manage our business, maintain information accuracy and efficiency,
comply with regulatory, financial reporting, legal and tax requirements, and coordinate the production, distribution and sale of our products depends significantly on the reliability, capacity and
integrity of information technology systems, software and networks. We are also dependent on enterprise resource planning software for some of our information technology systems and
support. The failure of these systems to operate effectively and continuously for any reason could result in delays in processing replenishment orders from our branch warehouses, an inability to
record input costs or product sales accurately or at all, an impaired understanding of our operations and results, an increase in operating expenses, reduced operational efficiency, loss of
customers or other business disruptions, all of which could negatively affect our business and results of operations. To date, we have not experienced a material breach of cyber security,
however our computer systems have been, and will likely continue to be, subjected to unauthorized access or phishing attempts, computer viruses, malware, ransomware or other malicious
codes. While we have 17implemented training and information security policies for our team members and bolstered cybersecurity experience on our board, these measures may be insufficient
to prevent against the constantly evolving threats. These threats increase the difficulty of timely detection and successful defense. As a result, security, backup, disaster recovery, administrative
and technical controls, and incident response measures may not be adequate or implemented properly to prevent cyber-attacks or other security breaches to our systems. Failure to effectively
allocate and manage our resources to build, sustain, protect and upgrade our information technology infrastructure could result in transaction errors, processing inefficiencies, the loss of
customers, reputational damage, litigation, business disruptions, or the loss of sensitive or confidential data through security breach or otherwise. Significant capital investments could be
required to remediate any potential problems or to otherwise protect against security breaches or to address problems caused by breaches. In addition, if our customers or suppliers experience
a security breach or system failure, their businesses could be disrupted or negatively affected, which may result in a reduction in customer orders or disruption in our supply chain, which would
adversely affect our results of operations.Failure to prevent the unauthorized access, use, theft or destruction of personal, financial and other confidential information relating to our customers,
suppliers, employees or our Company, could damage our business reputation, negatively affect our results of operations, and expose us to potential liability.The protection of our customer,
supplier, employee, and Company data and confidential information is critical. We are subject to new and changing privacy and information security laws and standards that may require
significant investments in technology and new operational processes. The use of electronic payment methods and collection of other personal information exposes us to increased risk of privacy
and/or security breaches. We rely on commercially available systems, software, tools, and monitoring to provide security for processing, transmitting, and storing personal information from
individuals, including our customers, suppliers and employees, and our security measures may not effectively prohibit others from obtaining improper access to such information. We rely on
third party, cloud based technologies which results in third party access and storage of Company data and confidential information. Employees or third parties with whom we do business or to
whom we outsource certain information technology or administrative services may attempt to circumvent security measures in order to misappropriate such information, and may purposefully
or inadvertently cause a breach involving such information. If we experience a data security breach of any kind or fail to respond appropriately to such incidents, we may experience a loss of or
damage to critical data, suffer financial or reputational damage or penalties, or face exposure to negative publicity, government investigations and proceedings, private consumer or securities
litigation, liability or costly response measures. In addition, our reputation within the business community and with our customers and suppliers may be affected, which could result in our
customers and suppliers ceasing to do business with us which could adversely affect our business and results of operations.We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property,
which, in turn, could harm the value of our brands and adversely affect our business.Our ability to implement our business plan successfully depends in part upon our ability to further build
brand recognition, including for our proprietary products, using our trademarks, service marks and other proprietary intellectual property, including our names and logos. We have registered or
applied to register a number of our trademarks. We cannot assure investors that our trademark applications will be approved. Third parties may also oppose our trademark applications, or
otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In the event that our trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our goods and services, which could result in loss of
brand recognition and could require us to devote resources to advertising and marketing new brands. If our efforts to register, maintain and protect our intellectual property are inadequate, or
if any third party misappropriates, dilutes or infringes upon our intellectual property, the value of our brands may be harmed, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations and might prevent our brands from achieving or maintaining market acceptance.We may also face the risk of claims that we have infringed third
partiesa€™ intellectual property rights. If third parties claim that we have infringed or are infringing upon their intellectual property rights, our operating profits could be affected in a
materially adverse manner. Any claims of intellectual property infringement, even those without merit, could be expensive and time consuming to defend, require us to rebrand our services, if
feasible, divert managementa€™s attention and resources or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the right to use a third partya€™s intellectual property.
Any royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. A successful claim of infringement against us could result in our being required to pay
significant damages, enter into costly license or royalty agreements, or stop the sale of certain products or services, any of which could have a negative impact on our business, financial
condition or results of operations and could harm our future prospects.ltemA 1B.Unresolved Staff CommentsNot applicable.A 18ItemA 1C.CybersecurityOverviewWe understand the importance
of cybersecurity in maintaining the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our systems and data. In order to protect against increasingly sophisticated cybersecurity threats, we have
developed, implemented and maintained policies, procedures, and controls to mitigate material risks from cybersecurity threats, including robust protocols for the assessment of information
concerning material cybersecurity incidents and the disclosure of such information to investors. These risks are evaluated on an ongoing basis as part of our overall risk management strategy.
As discussed in more detail below, we have policies and procedures in place to safeguard our information systems, monitor these systems, protect the confidentiality and integrity of our data,
train and raise awareness of cybersecurity threats amongst employees, detect intrusions into our systems, and respond to cybersecurity incidents. Despite these efforts, no system is
impenetrable, and we cannot provide assurances that we will timely identify or prevent every cybersecurity attack or incident.Risk Management and StrategyWe have established processes for
assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats and have integrated these cybersecurity processes into our overall risk management system. Specifically, we have
adopted a cybersecurity framework which, where appropriate, aligns with the NIST's Cybersecurity Framework. Further, our systems, where appropriate, are PCI compliant under current
standards.We regularly review our Incident Response Plans to ensure readiness if and when an incident does occur. In the event of a cybersecurity incident, if a system does become non-
operational, we maintain disaster recovery capabilities to return to normal operation in a timely manner.Our cybersecurity processes to assess and identify cybersecurity risks include periodic
risk assessments, deployment of security monitoring tools for continuous monitoring of our information systems, periodic testing for vulnerabilities in our systems, periodic testing of
employeesa€™ cybersecurity awareness, and the dispatch of incident-specific cybersecurity alerts, among other procedures.Our Information Security team evaluates cybersecurity risks and
works to design and ensure implementation of appropriate controls and safeguards in alignment with our business objectives and operational needs. Management periodically reviews
cybersecurity risks as part of the overall risks to the company as part of the enterprise risk management program. This review helps in identifying areas for improvement and ensuring the
alignment of cybersecurity efforts with the overall risk management framework.We engage various third parties to assess, test, or assist with the implementation of our risk management
strategies, policies, and procedures to enhance our detection and management of cybersecurity risks, including but not limited to: consultants who assist with assessing risks, support our PCI
compliance assessments, assess our systems alignment with the NIST Cybersecurity Framework, and test and/or scan for vulnerabilities.We rely on software, hardware, and network systems,
including cloud-based technology, which are either developed by us or licensed from or maintained by third parties to maintain operations.Cybersecurity GovernanceManagementThe
Companya€™s Director of Infrastructure & Security leads its cybersecurity program and reports to the Companya€™s Vice President of Information Technology. The Director of Infrastructure
& Security is responsible for management of cybersecurity risk and protection and defense of the Company's networks and systems. The Director of Infrastructure & Security manages a team of
cybersecurity professionals with broad experience and expertise, including in incident response, forensics, threat intelligence, vulnerability management, and mitigation. The Company's
cybersecurity team has processes in place to assess, identify, manage, and address material cybersecurity threats and incidents. These include, among other things: annual and ongoing security
awareness training for employees, mechanisms to detect and monitor unusual network and endpoint activity, integrated threat intelligence and containment and incident response tools. The
cybersecurity team also leverages multiple third-party security programs for full-time monitoring of security stacks and on-demand support to act as force multipliers in the event of severe or
critical security events.Both the Companya€™ s Director of Infrastructure & Security and Vice President of Information Technology have extensive cybersecurity knowledge and skills, with each
possessing over 20 years of cybersecurity and related IT security experience. The Director of Infrastructure & Security and the Vice President of Information Technology each remain informed
of and monitor the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity incidents and risks, including through their regular review of reports prepared by the Companya€™s
Information Security team and the measures implemented by the Company to identify and mitigate cybersecurity risks and related threats.19Board of DirectorsOur Board of Directors oversees
our Enterprise Risk Management program, and cybersecurity risks are monitored as a part of the broader program. Our Board has primary responsibility to oversee risks from cybersecurity
threats and has designated a specific Director, who possesses significant experience in information technology, as a special liaison (the &€ceTechnology Liaisona€) between management and the
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors as a whole, or through the Technology Liaison, regularly reviews the measures implemented by the Company to identify and mitigate data protection
and cybersecurity risks. Our Technology Liaison receives quarterly updates from the Director of Infrastructure and Security and the Vice President of Information Technology relating to
significant risks, cyber incidents, key performance indicators measuring the effectiveness of the Companya€™ s cybersecurity risk program and other relevant matters. The Technology Liaison
regularly briefs the Board on these updates, and the Board also receives periodic briefings on cybersecurity risk as part of the Companya€™s broader Enterprise Risk Management program.
These risks, including current and emerging risks, are regularly evaluated by the Technology Liaison and the Board. In addition to the regular updates to the Technology Liaison, we have
protocols by which certain cybersecurity incidents and threats are escalated within the Company and, where appropriate, reported in a timely manner to the Board and Technology



Liaison.ItemA 2.PropertiesOur production and distribution facilities as of June 30, 2024 are as follows:LocationApproximate Area(Square Feet)PurposeStatusFort Worth, TX25,000Corporate
headquarters and product development labLeasedPortland, OR124,000Manufacturing and distribution, product development labLeasedOklahoma City, OK142,115Equipment repair
centerLeasedNorthlake, 1L.89,837Distribution and warehouseLeasedMoonachie, NJ41,404Distribution and warehouseLeasedRialto, CA156,586Distribution and warehouseLeasedAs of JuneA 30,
2024, we stage our products in 104A branch warehouses throughout the contiguous United States. These branch warehouses and our distribution centers, taken together, represent a vital part
of our business, but no individual branch warehouse is material to the business as a whole. Our stand-alone branch warehouses vary in size from approximately 1,000 to 34,000 square
feet.Approximately 81% of our facilities are leased with a variety of expiration dates within the range of 2024 through 2030. We calculate our utilization for all of our coffee roasting facilities on
an aggregate basis based on the number of product pounds manufactured during the actual number of production shifts worked during an average week, compared to the number of product
pounds that could be manufactured based on the maximum number of production shifts that could be operated during the week (assuming three shifts per day, five days per week), in each case,
based on our current product mix. Utilization rates for our coffee roasting facilities were approximately 67%, 68%, and 75% during fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We believe that our
existing facilities provide adequate capacity for our current operations.ItemA 3.Legal ProceedingsFor information regarding legal proceedings in which we are involved, see Note 19,
Commitments and Contingencies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.ltemA 4.Mine Safety
DisclosuresNot applicable.A PART IlltemA 5.Market for Registranta€™s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity SecuritiesMarket InformationThe
principal market on which our common stock is listed for trading is the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol 4€ceFARM.A€ HoldersAs of SeptemberA 4, 2024, there were
approximately 181 shareholders of record of common stock. This does not include persons whose common stock is in nominee or d€cestreet namea€ accounts through brokers.20DividendsWe
have not recently declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock. We intend to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business, and we do not expect
to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Performance GraphThe following graph depicts a comparison of the total cumulative stockholder return on our common stock for each of the last
five fiscal years relative to the performance of the Russell 2000 Index and a peer group index. Companies in the Russell 2000 and peer group index are weighted by market capitalization. The
graph assumes an initial investment of $100.00 at the close of trading on June 30, 2019 and that all dividends paid by companies included in these indices have been reinvested. Because no
published peer group is similar to the Company's portfolio of business, the Company created a peer group index that includes the following companies that operate in a similar line of business:
Beyond Meat, Inc., Bridgford Foods Corp, The Vita Coco Company, Inc, The Duckhorn Portfolio, Inc., Freshpet, Inc., BRC Inc., Village Farms International, Inc, MGP Ingredients Inc., Vintage
Wine Estates, Inc., SunOpta Inc., Vital Farms, Inc. and Whole Earth Brands, Inc..The historical stock price performance of the Companya€™s common stock shown in the performance graph
below is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance. The Russell 2000 Index and the peer group index are included for comparative purposes only. They do not necessarily
reflect management's opinion that such indices are an appropriate measure for the relative performance of the stock involved, and they are not intended to forecast or be indicative of possible
future performance of our common stock.The material in this performance graph is not soliciting material, is not deemed filed with the SEC, and is not incorporated by reference in any filing of
the Company under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, whether made on, before or after the date of this filing and irrespective of any general incorporation language in such
filing.Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return(Fiscal Years Ended June 30)Fiscal Years Ended June 30,201920202021202220232024Farmer Bros.

C0.100.00A 44.84A 77.52A 28.65A 16.92A 16.37A Russell 2000 Index100.00A 93.37A 151.29A 113.17A 127.10A 139.88A Peer Group Index100.00A 82.63A 96.57A 18.28A 10.97A 9.83A Issuer
Purchases of Equity SecuritiesNeither we, nor any affiliated purchaser, purchased any of our equity securities during the quarter ended June 30, 2024.Sale of Unregistered SecuritiesWe did not
sell unregistered securities during fiscal 2024.ItemA 6.Reserved21ItemA 7.Management&€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsThe followmg discussion
contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. This Management's Discussion and Analysis is for continuing operations of the Company. The Companya€™ s results of
operations for fiscal 2023 presented have been adjusted to reflect the discontinued operations related to the Sale. The results of operations and the related discussions below focus on the
Companya€™s continuing operations for each period. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors. The
results of operations for fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any future period. This discussion, which presents our results for fiscal
2024 and fiscal 2023, should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying notes and Part II, Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on September 12, 2023, as amended by that certain Amendment No. 1 to Form 10-K, filed
with the SEC on October 27, 2023, which provides additional information on our results for fiscal 2023 and our fiscal year ended June 30, 2022 ("fiscal 2022").Our BusinessWe are a leading
coffee roaster, wholesaler, equipment servicer and distributor of coffee, tea and other allied products manufactured under our owned brands, as well as under private labels on behalf of certain
customers. We were founded in 1912, incorporated in California in 1923, and reincorporated in Delaware in 2004. Our principal office is located in Fort Worth, Texas. We operate in one
business segment.We serve a wide variety of customers, from small independent restaurants and foodservice operators to large institutional buyers like restaurants, department and
convenience store retailers, hotels, casinos, healthcare facilities, and gourmet coffee houses, as well as grocery chains with private brand and consumer-branded coffee and tea products, and
foodservice distributors. Through our sustainability, stewardship, environmental efforts, and leadership we are not only committed to serving the finest products available, considering the cost
needs of the customer, but also focus on their sustainable cultivation, manufacture and distribution whenever possible.Our product categories consist of a robust line of roast and ground coffee,
including organic, Direct Trade, Project D.LLR.E.C.T.A®, Fair Trade Certifieda,¢ A® and other sustainably-produced offerings; frozen liquid coffee; flavored and unflavored iced and hot teas;
including organic and Rainforest Alliance Certifieda, ¢; culinary products including premium spices, pancake and biscuit mixes, gravy and sauce mixes, soup bases, dressings, syrups and sauces,
and coffee-related products such as coffee filters, cups, sugar and creamers; and other beverages including cappuccino, cocoa, granitas, and other blender-based beverages and concentrated
and ready-to-drink cold brew and iced coffee. We offer a comprehensive approach to our customers by providing not only a breadth of high-quality products, but also value added services such
as market insight, beverage planning, and equipment placement and service. We operate a production facility in Portland, Oregon. We distribute our products from our Portland, Oregon
production facility, as well as separate distribution centers in Northlake, Illinois; Moonachie, New Jersey; and Rialto, California. Our products reach our customers primarily through our
nationwide DSD network of 243 delivery routes and 104 branch warehouses as of JuneA 30, 2024. DSD sales are primarily made a€ceoff-trucka€ to our customers at their places of business. We
operate a large fleet of trucks and other vehicles to distribute and deliver our products through our DSD network, and we rely on 3PL service providers for our long-haul distribution. Summary
Overview ofA Fiscal 2024A ResultsNet sales in fiscal 2024 increased $1.1 million, or 0.3%, to $341.1 million from $340.0 million in fiscal 2023. The increase in net sales was primarily due to
higher pricing compared to prior periods, partially offset by a decline in sales volume. During fiscal 2024, we experienced higher gross margins compared to fiscal 2023. Overall, gross margins
increased by 5.6% to 39.3% in fiscal 2024 from 33.7% in fiscal 2023. The improvement in gross margins was a result of price increases and delivery surcharges implemented across our
network.Operating expenses increased by $0.6 million in fiscal 2024 over the prior year period due to a $8.2 million increase in selling expenses and a $4.1 million increase in general and
administrative expenses offset by a $11.7 million increase in gain on sale of assets from the sale of branch properties and other assets. The increase in selling expenses during fiscal 2024 was
primarily due to additional spend on facility and vehicle rent expense and healthcare benefits, partially offset by a decrease in advertising related expenses. The increase in general and
administrative expenses during fiscal 2024 was primarily due to an increase in severance costs, other compensation related costs and rent. Further, the increase was impacted by the non-
recurrence of a $1.9 million gain related to the settlement of the Boyda€™s acquisition and payroll tax refund in fiscal 2023.0ur capital expenditures related to continuing operations for fiscal
2024 were $13.8 million as compared to $13.2 million in fiscal 2023, an increase of $0.6 million. This was driven by an increase in maintenance capital spend on buildings and 22facilities.As of
June 30, 2024, the outstanding debt on our Revolver Credit Facility was $23.3 million, an increase of $0.3 million since June 30, 2023. Our cash increased by $0.6 million to $6.0 million as of
June 30, 2024, compared to $5.4 million as of June 30, 2023. Financial Data Highlights (in thousands, except per share data and percentages)A For The Years Ended June 30,2024 vs
202320242023Favorable (Unfavorable)A Change% Changelncome Statement Data:Net sales$341,094A $339,964A $1,130A 0.3A %Gross margin39.3A %33.7A %5.6A %NMOperating expenses
as a % of sales39.9A %39.9A %a€”A %NMLoss from continuing operations$(3,875)$(34,038)$30,163A NMLoss from continuing operations available to common stockholders per common share,
basic and d11uted$ 0. 19)$(1 74)$1.55A NMOperating Data:Coffee pounds - continuing operations22, 169A 24,373A (2,204)(9. 0)%EBITDA(1)$10, 718A $(16,925)$27,643A NMEBITDA
Margin(1)3.1A %(5.0)%8.1A %NMAdjusted EBITDA(1)$558A $(14,153)$14,711A NMAdjusted EBITDA Margin(1)0. 2A %(4. 2)%4. 4A %NMPercentage of Total Net Sales By Product
CategoryCoffee (Roasted)46 4A %47.1A %(0.7)%(1.5)%Tea & Other Beverages (2)26 4A %26.0A %0.4A %1.5A %Culinary19. 3A %19.0A %0.3A %1.6A %Splcesﬁ 4A %6.9A %(0.5)%(7. 2)%Delivery
Surcharge1.5A %1.0A %0.5A %NMNet sales from continuing operations 100.0A %100.0A %Other data:Capital expenditures related to maintenance$13,843A $13,190A $(653)(5.0)%Total capital
expenditures13,843A 13,190A (653)(5.0)%Depreciation & amortization expensel1,588A 12,938A 1,350A 10.4A % NM - Not Meaningful(1) EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, Adjusted
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are non-GAAP financial measures. See &€ceNon-GAAP Financial Measuresa€ below for a reconciliation of these non-GAAP measures to their corresponding
GAAP measures, as well as discussion of certain changes we made to our methodology for calculating Adjusted EBITDA beginning with the period ending June 30, 2024.(2) Includes all
beverages other than roasted coffee, frozen liquid coffee, and iced and hot tea, including cappuccino, cocoa, granitas, and concentrated and ready-to-drink cold brew and iced coffee.Factors
Affecting Our BusinessWe have identified factors that affect our industry and business which we expect will play an important role in our future growth and profitability. Some of these factors
include:a€¢Investment in Manufacturing Facility. We are focused on leveraging our Portland, Oregon facility to produce the highest quality coffee in response to the market shift to premium
and specialty coffee and create sustainable long-term growth. We will continue to invest in our facility to ensure reliable production while focusing on overall production costs. 4€¢Supply Chain
Efficiencies and Competition. In order to compete effectively and capitalize on growth opportunities, we must retain and continue to grow our customer base, evaluate and undertake initiatives
to reduce costs and streamline our supply chain. We continue to look for ways to deploy our personnel, systems, assets and infrastructure to create or enhance stockholder value. Areas of focus
include distribution network optimization, methods of procurement, logistics, inventory management, supporting technology, and real estate assets. The ability to attract and retain a skilled
workforce, as well as mitigate global supply chain challenges, will affect our future growth and profitability. 234€¢Demographic and Channel Trends. Our success is dependent upon our ability
to develop new products in response to demographic and other trends to better compete in areas such as premium coffee and tea, including expansion of our product portfolio by investing
resources in what we believe to be key growth categories and different formats. 4€¢Fluctuations in Green Coffee Prices. Our primary raw material is green coffee, an exchange-traded
agricultural commodity that is subject to price fluctuations. Over the past five years, coffee 4€0eCa€ market near month price per pound ranged from approximately $0.90 to $2.60. The coffee
4€0eCa€ market near month price as of JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023 was $2.29 and $1.65 per pound, respectively. The price and availability of green coffee directly impacts our results of
operations. For additional details, see Risk Factors in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.&€¢Hedging Strategy. We are exposed to market risk of losses due to changes in coffee commodity prices.
Our business model strives to reduce the impact of green coffee price fluctuations on our financial results and to protect and stabilize our margins, principally through derivative instruments, as
further explained in Note 5, Derivative Instruments, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this FormA 104€K.4€¢Coffee Brewing Equipment Service & Restoration
("Revive"). With Revive, we offer our customers a comprehensive equipment program and 24/7 nationwide equipment service which we believe differentiates us in the marketplace. WeA offer a
full spectrum of equipment needs, which includes brewing equipment installation, water filtration systems, equipment training, and maintenance services to ensure we are able to meet our
customera€™s demands.A Results of OperationsThe following table sets forth information regarding our consolidated results of operations for fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023. A For the Years
Ended JuneA 30,2024 vs 202320242023Favorable (Unfavorable)Change% ChangeNet sales$341, 094A $339,964A $1,130A 0.3A %Cost of goods sold207, 201A 225,351A 18,150A 8.1A %Gross
profit133,893A 114,613A 19,280A 16.8A %Selling expenses111,371A 103,151A (8,220)(8.0)%General and administrative expenses41,649A 37,561A (4,088)(10.9)%Net gains from sale of
assets(16,877)(5,140)11,737A NMOperating expensesl36,143A 135,572A (571)(0.4)%Loss from operations(2,250)(20,959)18,709A 89.3A %Other (expense) income:Interest expense(7,835)
(9,162)1,327A 14.5A %Other, net6,224A (4,242)10,466A NMTotal other (expense) income(1,611)(13,404)11,793A (88.0)%Loss from continuing operations before taxes(3,861)

(34,363)30,502A 88.8A %Income tax expense (benefit)14A (325)(339)104.3A %Loss from continuing operations$(3,875)$(34,038)$30,163A 88.6A % NM - Not MeaningfulFiscal
2024 and Fiscal 2023Net SalesNet sales in fiscal 2024 increased $1.1 million, or 0.3%, to $341.1 million from $340.0 million in fiscal 2023. The increase in net sales was primarily due to higher
pricing compared to prior periods, partially offset by a decline in sales volume. On our sales, average unit price increased due to the increase in pricing. The following table presents the effect
of changes in unit sales, unit pricing and product mix for fiscal 2024 compared to fiscal 2023 (in millions):Units Sold and PricingFor Year Ended June 30, 2024 vs 2023% of Total Mix Change
Effect of change in unit sales(31.4)(2.9)%Effect of pricing and product mix changes32.5A 2.9A %Total increase in net sales1.1A 4€”A %Unit sales decreased 8.6% and average unit price
increased by 7.8% in fiscal 2024 as compared to the same prior year period, resulting in a net increase in net sales of 0.3%. Average unit price increased during fiscal 2024 due to a mix of
products sold, along with price increases implemented during fiscal 2024. There were no new product category introductions in fiscal 242024 or fiscal 2023 which had a material impact on our
net sales.Gross ProfitGross profit in fiscal 2024 increased $19.3 million, or 16.8%, to $133.9 million from $114.6 million in fiscal 2023. Gross margin increased by 5.6% to 39.3% in fiscal 2024
from 33.7% in fiscal 2023. The increase in gross profit in fiscal 2024 was primarily driven by improved pricing.Operating ExpenseslIn fiscal 2024, operating expenses increased by $0.6 million,
or 0.4%, to $136.1 million, from $135.6 million, in fiscal 2023. The increase was primarily due to $8.2 million increase in selling expenses and a $4.1 million increase in general and
administrative expenses offset by a $11.7 million increase in net gains from sale of assets due to sale of branch properties during fiscal 2024. The increase in selling expenses during fiscal 2024
was primarily due to additional spend on facility and vehicle rent expense and healthcare benefits. The increase in general and administrative expenses during fiscal 2024 was primarily due to
an increase in severance costs, other compensation related costs and rent. Further, the increase was impacted by the non-recurrence of a $1.9 million gain related to the settlement of the
Boyda€™ s acquisition and payroll tax refund in fiscal 2023. Total Other Income (Expense) Total other income (expense) in fiscal 2024 was $1.6 million of expense compared to $13.4 million of
expense in fiscal 2023. The change in total other income (expense) in fiscal 2024 was primarily a result of a decrease in interest expense and gains from coffee-related derivative instruments in
fiscal 2024 compared to losses from coffee-related derivative instruments in fiscal 2023. Interest expense in fiscal 2024 decreased $1.3 million to $7.8 million from $9.2 million in the prior year
period. The decrease in interest expense in fiscal 2024 was principally due to lower supplier interest expense.In fiscal 2024, Other, net increased by $10.4 million to a $6.2 million gain
compared to a $4.2 million loss in fiscal 2023. The increase in Other, net, was primarily a result of mark-to-market net gains on coffee-related derivative instruments not designated as
accounting hedges during fiscal 2024.Income TaxesIn fiscal 2024, we recorded income tax expense of $14.0 thousand as compared to income tax benefit of $0.3 million in fiscal 2023.A The
income tax expense in the current year was related primarily to state income tax. Non-GAAP Financial MeasuresIn addition to net loss determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (a4€0eGAAP&€), we use the following non-GAAP financial measures in assessing our operating performance:a€0eEBITDAA€ is defined as loss from continuing operations
excluding the impact of:a4€¢income tax expense (benefit);4€¢interest expense; anda€¢depreciation and amortization expense.4€ceEBITDA Margina€ is defined as EBITDA expressed as a
percentage of net sales.a€ceAdjusted EBITDAAE is defined as loss from continuing operations excluding the impact of:a€¢income tax expense (benefit);a€¢interest expense;a€¢depreciation and
amortization expense;a€¢401(k) and share-based compensation expense;a€¢net gains from sales of assets;a€¢severance costs;a€¢loss related to sale of business; anda€¢gain on settlement with
Boyd's sellers.a€ceAdjusted EBITDA Margina€ is defined as Adjusted EBITDA expressed as a percentage of net sales.For purposes of calculating EBITDA and EBITDA Margin, Adjusted EBITDA
and Adjusted EBITDA Margin, we have excluded the impact of interest expense resulting from non-cash pretax pension and postretirement benefits. For purposes of calculating Adjusted
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin, we are also excluding the impact of severance and the loss 25related to sale of business as these items are not reflective of our ongoing operating results.
See Note 3, Discontinued Operations of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 104€‘K for more information related to the sale of business and the discontinued



operations.We believe these non-GAAP financial measures provide a useful measure of the Companya€™ s operating results, a meaningful comparison with historical results and with the results
of other companies, and insight into the Companya€™s ongoing operating performance. Further, management utilizes these measures, in addition to GAAP measures, when evaluating and
comparing the Companya€™s operating performance against internal financial forecasts and budgets. We believe thatA EBITDAA facilitates operating performance comparisons from period to
period by isolating the effects of certain items that vary from period to period without any correlation to core operating performance or that vary widely among similar companies. These
potential differences may be caused by variations in capital structures (affecting interest expense), tax positions (such as the impact on periods or companies of changes in effective tax rates or
net operating losses) and the age and book depreciation of facilities and equipment (affecting relative depreciation expense). We also presentA EBITDAA and EBITDA Margin because (i) we
believe that these measures are frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties to evaluate companies in our industry, (ii) we believe that investors will find these
measures useful in assessing our ability to service or incur indebtedness, and (iii) we useA these measures internally as benchmarks to compare our performance to that of our
competitors.EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin, as defined by us, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies. We do
not intend for non-GAAP financial measures to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for other measures prepared in accordance with GAAP. This calculation is for continuing operations
only.Set forth below is a reconciliation of loss from continuing operations to EBITDA (non-GAAP):A For the Year Ended JuneA 30,(In thousands)20242023Loss from continuing
operations$(3,875)$(34,038)Income tax expense (benefit) 14(325)Interest expense (1)2,9914,499Depreciation and amortization expense11,58812,939EBITDA$10,718$(16,925)EBITDA
Margin3.1A %(5.0)% (1)Excludes interest expense related to pension plans and postretirement benefits.Set forth below is a reconciliation of loss from continuing operations to
Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP):A Year Ended ]uneA 30,(In thousands)20242023Loss from continuing operations$(3,875)$(34,038)Income tax expense (benefit) 14A (325)Interest expense
(1)2,991A 4,499A Depreciation and amortization expense11,588A 12,939A 401 (k) and share-based compensation expense3,762A 8,212A Net gains from sale of assets(18,091)(5,140)Severance
costs2,955A 1,617A Loss related to sale of business (3)1,214A a4€”A Gain on settlement with Boyd's sellers (2)a€”A (1,917)Adjusted EBITDA$558A $(14,153)Adjusted EBITDA Margin0.2A %
(4.2)% (1)Excludes interest expense related to pension plans and postretirement benefits.(2)Result of the settlement related to the acquisition of Boyd Coffee Company which included
the cancellation of shares of Series A Preferred Stock and settlement of liabilities.(3)Result of the settlements related to the Sale, which included gains related to coffee hedges and settlement
of liabilities.26Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial ConditionThe following table summarizes the Companya€™s debt obligations, excluding unamortized deferred debt financing
costs:June 30, 2024June 30, 2023(In thousands)Debt Origination DateMaturityPrincipal Amount BorrowedCarrying ValueWeighted Average Interest RateCarrying ValueWeighted Average
Interest RateRevolvervarious4/26/2027N/A$23,300A 7.05A %$23,021A 6.17A %Credit FacilityThe revolver under the Credit Facility has a commitment of up to $75.0 million and a maturity date
of April 26, 2027. Availability under the revolver is calculated as the lesser of (a) $75.0 million or (b) the amount equal to the sum of (i) 85% of eligible accounts receivable (less a dilution
reserve), plus (ii) the lesser of: (a) 80% of eligible raw material inventory, eligible in-transit inventory and eligible finished goods inventory (collectively, &€aeEligible Inventorya€), and (b) 85% of
the net orderly liquidation value of Eligible Inventory, minus (c) applicable reserve. The term loan under the Term Credit Facility was fully paid down on June 30, 2023. The Credit Facility
contain customary affirmative and negative covenants and restrictions typical for a financing of this type. Non-compliance with one or more of the covenants and restrictions could result in the
full or partial principal balance of the Credit Facility becoming immediately due and payable and termination of the commitments. As of and through JuneA 30, 2024, we were in compliance with
all of the covenants under the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility provides us with increased flexibility to proactively manage our liquidity and working capital, while maintaining compliance
with our debt financial covenants, and preserving financial liquidity to mitigate the impact of the uncertain business environment and continue to execute on key strategic initiatives.Pursuant to
an International Swap Dealers Association, Inc. Master Agreement (4€ceISDA4€) effective March 20, 2019, the Company on March 27, 2019, entered into a swap transaction utilizing a notional
amount of $80.0 million, with an effective date of April 11, 2019 and a maturity date of October 11, 2023 (the a€ceOriginal Rate Swapa€). In December 2019, the Company amended the notional
amount to $65.0 million. The Original Rate Swap was intended to manage the Companya€™s interest rate risk on its floating-rate indebtedness under the Company's prior revolving credit
facility. Under the terms of the Original Rate Swap, the Company received 1-month LIBOR, subject to a 0% floor, and made payments based on a fixed rate of 2.1975%. The Companya€™s
obligations under the ISDA were secured by the collateral which secures the loans under the prior revolving credit facility on a pari passu and pro rata basis with the principal of such loans. On
May 16, 2023, the Company settled the Original Rate Swap. The net settlement of the Original Rate Swap was a $13 thousand loss. There is no remaining balance frozen in AOCI as of June 30,
2023. See Note 5, Derivative Instruments, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 104€°K, for details.At ]uneA 30, 2024, we had outstanding borrowings of
$23.3 million and utilized $4.1 million of the letters of credit sublimit under the Credit Facility, and had $27.8 million of availability under our Credit Facility. LiquidityWe generally finance our
operations through cash flows from operations and borrowings under our Credit Facility. In light of our financial position, operating performance and current economic conditions, including the
state of the global capital markets, there can be no assurance as to whether or when we will be able to raise capital by issuing securities. We believe that the Credit Facility, to the extent
available, in addition to our cash flows from operations, collectively, will be sufficient to fund our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for the next 12 months.At JuneA 30,
2024, we had $5.8 million of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents. Further changes in commodity prices and the number of coffee-related derivative instruments held could have a significant
impact on cash deposit requirements under our broker and counterparty agreements and may adversely affect our liquidity. An economic downturn may also cause substantial changes in
consumer behavior and demand for our products, adversely affecting results of operations and our financial position, some of which we may not be able to predict with certainty.27Cash
FlowsThe significant captions and amounts from our consolidated statements of cash flows are summarized below: For the Years Ended JuneA 30,20242023Consolidated Statements of cash
flows data (in thousands)Net cash used in operating activities$(14,147)(7,324)Net cash provided by investing activities14,723A 340A Net cash provided by (used in) financing

activities10A (86,140)Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents$586A $(93,124)Operating ActivitiesNet cash used in operating activities in fiscal 2024 increased $6.8 million as
compared to fiscal 2023. The change was driven by a paydown of accounts payable and an increase in inventory, partially offset by a decrease in accounts receivable in fiscal 2024. Investing
ActivitiesNet cash provided by investing activities during fiscal 2024 was $14.7 million as compared to $0.3 million during fiscal 2023.A In fiscal 2024, proceeds from sale of assets was $29.8
million offset by maintenance capital expenditures of $13.8 million and a $1.2 million related to a working capital adjustment in continuing operations.Financing ActivitiesNet cash provided by
financing activities during fiscal 2024 was $10.0 thousand as compared to $86.1 million of cash used in financing activities during fiscal 2023. Proceeds from the Sale were used to pay off in
full, the $47 million outstanding amount under the Term Credit Facility and the partial pay down of the Revolver Credit Facility to a balance of $23.0 million as of June 30, 2023. The Revolver
Credit Facility remained at $23.3 million as of June 30, 2024.Contractual Obligations, Commitments and ContingenciesOur principal sources of liquidity are our existing cash and cash
equivalents, cash generated from our operations and borrowing capacity currently available under our Credit Facility. We generally finance our obligations through cash flows from operations
and borrowings under our Credit Facility. We believe that the Credit Facility, to the extent available, in addition to our cash flows from operations, collectively, will be sufficient to fund our
working capital and capital expenditure requirements for the next 12 months.At JuneA 30, 2024, we had $5.8 million of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents. At JuneA 30, 2024, we had $27.8
million of availability under our Credit Facility. The following table contains information regarding total contractual obligations as of JuneA 30, 2024, which we expect to fund primarily with
operating cash flows:Payment due by period(In thousands)TotalLessA ThanOne Yearl-3Years3-5YearsMoreA Than5 YearsContractual obligations:Operating lease

obligations(1)$40,659A $14,046A $16,832A $9,464A $317A Finance lease obligations(1)289A 193A 96A a€”A 4€”A Pension plan

obligations(2)73,950A 7,900A 15,010A 15,100A 35,940A Postretirement benefits other than pension plans (2)719A 71A 147A 150A 351A Revolving credit facility

(4)23,300A a€”A 23,300A a€”A a€”A Purchase commitments(3)51,686A 51,686A a€”A a€”A a4€”A Derivative liabilities2,235A 730A 1,505A a€”A a€”A Total contractual

obligations$192,838A $74,626A $56,890A $24,714A $36,608A A (1) See Note 6, Leases, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this FormA 10a€°K.(2) See
Note 12, Employee Benefit Plans, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this FormA 104€‘K.(3) Purchase commitments include commitments under coffee purchase
contracts for which all delivery terms have been finalized but the related coffee has not been received as of June 30, 2024. Amounts shown in the table above: (a) include all coffee purchase
contracts that the Company considers to be from normal purchases; and (b) do not include amounts related to derivative instruments that are recorded at fair value on the Companya€™s
consolidated balance sheets. See Note 19, Commitments and Contingencies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this FormA 104€°K.(4) See Note 13, Debt Obligations,
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this FormA 104€‘K.28Capital ExpendituresFor fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023 our capital expenditures paid were $13.8 million and
$13.2 million, respectively. In fiscal 2025, we anticipate capital expenditures will be between $9.0 million and $11.0 million. We expect to finance these expenditures through cash flows from
operations and borrowings under our Revolver Credit Facility. Depreciation and amortization expense from continuing operations was $11.6 million and $12.9 million in fiscal 2024 and 2023,
respectively.Recent Accounting PronouncementsRefer to Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of
this Form 10-K for a summary of recently adopted and recently issued accounting standards and their related effects or anticipated effects on our consolidated results of operations and financial
condition.Off-Balance Sheet ArrangementsWe did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of June 30, 2024 or June 30, 2023.Critical Accounting EstimatesWe consider an accounting
estimate to be critical if: (1) the accounting estimate requires us to make assumptions about matters that were highly uncertain at the time the accounting estimate was made, and (2) changes
in the estimate that are reasonably likely to occur from period to period, or use of different estimates that we reasonably could have used in the current period, would have a material impact on
our financial condition or results of operations.Our significant accounting estimates are discussed in additional detail in NoteA 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the consolidated
financial statements included in this Form 10-K. We believe that our significant accounting estimates involve a higher degree of judgment and/or complexity for the reasons discussed below:Fair
value of coffee-related derivative instrumentsWe are exposed to commodity price risk arising from changes in the market price of green coffee. In general, increases in the price of green coffee
could cause our cost of goods sold to increase and, if not offset by product price increases, could negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations. As a result, our business
model strives to reduce the impact of green coffee price fluctuations on our financial results and to protect and stabilize our margins, principally through customer arrangements and derivative
instruments.We utilize derivative instruments to reduce the impact of changing green coffee commodity prices. We purchase over-the-counter coffee derivative instruments to enable us to lock
in the price of green coffee commodity purchases. These derivative instruments may be entered into at the direction of the customer under commodity-based pricing arrangements to effectively
lock in the purchase price of green coffee under such customer arrangements, in certain cases up to 18 months or longer in the future. Notwithstanding this customer direction, pursuant to
Accounting Standards Codification (4€ceASCa€ce) 815, 4€ceDerivatives and Hedging,a€ we are considered the owner of these derivative instruments and, therefore, we are required to account
for them as such. In the event the customer fails to purchase the products associated with the underlying derivative instruments for which the price has been locked-in on behalf of the
customer, we expect that such derivative instruments will be assigned to, and assumed by, the customer in accordance with contractual terms or, in the absence of such terms, in accordance
with standard industry custom and practice. In the event the customer fails to assume such derivative instruments, we will remain obligated on the derivative instruments at settlement. We
generally settle derivative instruments to coincide with the receipt of the purchased green coffee or apply the derivative instruments to purchase orders effectively fixing the cost of in-bound
green coffee purchases. As of JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023, we had 0.1 million and 3.9 million pounds of green coffee covered under coffee-related derivative instruments, respectively. We do not
purchase any derivative instruments to hedge cost fluctuations of any commodities other than green coffee.The fair value of derivative instruments is based upon broker quotes. We account for
certain coffee-related derivative instruments as accounting hedges in order to minimize the volatility created in our quarterly results from utilizing these derivative contracts and to improve
comparability between reporting periods. The change in fair value of the derivative is reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (4€eAOCI4€) on our consolidated balance
sheet and subsequently reclassified into cost of goods sold in the period or periods when the hedged transaction affects earnings. At JuneA 30, 2024, none of our outstanding coffee-related
derivative instruments, were designated as cash flow hedges. At JuneA 30, 2023, approximately 40% of our outstanding coffee-related derivative instruments, representing 1.5 million pounds of
forecasted green coffee purchases, were designated as cash flow hedges. The portion of open hedging contracts that are not designated as accounting hedges are marked to period-end market
price and unrealized gains or losses based on whether the period-end market price was higher or lower than the price we locked-in are recognized in our financial results.29Single Employer
Pension PlanThe estimation of our single employer Farmer Bros. pension plan requires that we make use of various actuarial assumptions such as discount rates and expected long-term rates of
return on plan assets. Material changes in pension costs may occur in the future due to changes in these assumptions. Plan obligations and expenses are based on existing retirement plan
provisions.The assumptions used in developing the required estimates include the following key factors:a€¢Discount rates. We utilize a yield curve analysis to determine the discount rates for
our defined benefit plansa€™ obligations. The yield curve considers pricing and yield information for high quality bonds with maturities matched to estimated payouts of future pension
benefits.a€¢Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. The expected return on plan assets is based on our expectation of the long-term rates of return on each asset class based on the
current asset mix of the funds, considering the historical returns earned on the type of assets in the funds. The following table illustrates the sensitivity to a change in certain assumptions for
the Farmer Bros. pension plan, holding all other assumptions constant:($ in thousands)Effect on 2024 Net Periodic Benefit CostEffect on June 30, 2024 PBO50 basis points decrease in discount
rate$(58)$4,260A 50 basis points increase in discount rate$48A $(3,932)50 basis points decrease in expected rate of return on assets$382A N/A50 basis points increase in expected rate of
return on assets$(382)N/ASee Note 12, Employee Benefit Plans, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this FormA 104€K for further discussions of our various pension
plans.ItemA 7A.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market RiskInterest Rate RiskWe had outstanding borrowings on our Revolver of $23.3 million and had utilized $4.1 million of the
letters of credit sublimit at JuneA 30, 2024. The weighted average interest rate on our outstanding borrowings subject to interest rate variability under the Revolver at JuneA 30, 2024 was
7.05%. The following table demonstrates the impact of interest rate changes on our annual interest expense on outstanding borrowings subject to interest rate variability under the Revolver
based on the weighted average interest rate on the outstanding borrowings as of ]uneA 30, 2024:($ in thousands)A Principallnterest RateAnnual Interest ExpenseA 4€“150 basis
points$23,300A 5.55A %$1,293A A 4€“100 basis points$23,300A 6.05A %$1,410A A Unchanged$23,300A 7.05A %$1,643A A +100 basis points$23,300A 8.05A %$1,876A A +150 basis
points$23,300A 8.55A %$1,992A Commodity Price RiskWe are exposed to commodity price risk arising from changes in the market price of green coffee. We value green coffee inventory on the
FIFO basis. In the normal course of business we hold a large green coffee inventory and enter into forward commodity purchase agreements with suppliers. We are subject to price risk
resulting from the volatility of green coffee prices. Due to competition, market conditions and customer contractual terms, volatile price increases cannot always be passed on to our customers
in a timely manner, if at all. See Note 5, Derivative Instruments, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this FormA 10a€K for further discussions of our derivative
instruments.The following table summarizes the potential impact as of JuneA 30, 2024 to net income (loss) and AOCI from a hypothetical 10% change in coffee commodity prices. The
information provided below relates only to the coffee-related derivative instruments and does not include, when applicable, the corresponding changes in the underlying hedged items:Increase
(Decrease) to Net Incomelncrease (Decrease) to AOCI10% Increase in Underlymg Rate10% Decrease in Underlying Rate10% Increase in Underlying Rate10% Decrease in Underlying Rate(In
thousands)Coffee-related derivative instruments(1)$11A $(11) $a€ 'A $a€”A (1) The Company's purchase contracts that qualify as normal purchases include green coffee purchase
commitments for which the price has been locked in as of JuneA 30, 2024. These contracts are not included in the sensitivity analysis above as the underlying price has been

fixed.30ItemA 8.Financial Statements and Supplementary DataThe information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes set forth in the F pages of this FormA 10-K.ItemA 9.Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial DisclosureNone. A TtemA 9A.Controls and
ProceduresEvaluation of Disclosure Controls and ProceduresDisclosure controls and procedures, as defined in RulesA 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act, are
controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,



summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed
to ensure that information we are required to disclose in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.As of JuneA 30, 2024, our management, with the participation of our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to RuleA 13a-15(e) promulgated under the
Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of JuneA 30, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial ReportingThere has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to RulesA 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d)
promulgated under the Exchange Act during our fiscal quarter ended JuneA 30, 2024, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. Internal control over financial reporting is a
process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Internal control over financial reporting includes maintaining records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions; providing reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary for preparation of our consolidated financial statements; providing reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of Company assets are made
in accordance with management authorization; and providing reasonable assurance that unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of Company assets that could have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements would be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting is not intended to provide
absolute assurance that a material misstatement of our consolidated financial statements would be prevented or detected.Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting based on the framework inA Internal ControlA &€” Integrated Framework (2013)A issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective as ofA JuneA 30, 2024.ItemA 9B.Other
InformationDuring the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2024, none of our directors or officers adopted or terminated a 4€ceRule 10b5-1 trading arrangementa€ or a &€cenon-Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement, &€ as those terms are defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K.ItemA 9C.Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent InspectionsNot applicable.PART

I1ITltemA 10.Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate GovernanceThe information required by this item will be set forth in the Companya€™s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (&€0eSEC&€) pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with the Companya€™s 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the &€ceProxy Statementa€)
and is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference.A 31ItemA 11.Executive CompensationThe information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated in
this Form 10-K by reference.A ItemA 12.Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder MattersThe information required by this item will be set
forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference.ltemA 13.Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director IndependenceThe information required
by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference.A ItemA 14.Principal Accountant Fees and ServicesThe information required by this item
will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference.A 32PART IVItemA 15.Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules(a)List of Financial Statements and
Financial Statement Schedules:1. Financial Statements included in Part II, ItemA 8 of this Form 10-K:A Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2024 and 2023.Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the Years Ended ]uneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years Ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended JuneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.Consolidated Statements of Stockholdersa€™ Equity for the Years Ended JuneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.2. Financial Statement Schedules: Financial Statement Schedules are omitted as they are not applicable, or the required information is given in the
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.3. The exhibits to this Form 10-K are listed on the accompanying index to exhibits and are incorporated herein by reference or are filed as
part of the Annual Report on FormA 10-K. (b)Exhibits:Exhibit No.Description2.1Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 6, 2023, between TreeHouse Foods, Inc. and Farmer Bros. Co. (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 6, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).2.2Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement, dated
June 30, 2023, between TreeHouse Foods, Inc. and Farmer Bros. Co. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 6, 2023 and incorporated
herein by reference).3.1Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Farmer Bros. Co. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on January 12, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).3.2Amended and Restated Bylaws of Farmer Bros. Co. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on February 2, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).4.1Description of Farmer Bros. Co. Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 filed with the SEC on September 12, 2023 and incorporated herein by
reference).*10.1Farmer Bros. Co. Pension Plan for Salaried Employees, Farmer Bros. Co. Retirement Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2017 filed with the SEC on November 7, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.2Amendment No. 1 to Farmer Bros.A Co. Pension Plan for Salaried
Employees, Farmer Bros. Co. Retirement Plan effective June 30, 2011 (filed as ExhibitA 10.4 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on FormA 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 filed
with the SEC on September 14, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.3Action of the Administrative Committee of the Farmer Bros. Co. Qualified Employee Retirement Plans
amending the Farmer Bros.A Co. Retirement Plan, effective as of December 6, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2018 filed with the SEC on May 9, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.4Amendment to the Farmer Bros. Co. Retirement Plan, dated as of December 1, 2018 (filed as Exhibit 10.53
to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2018 filed with the SEC on February 11, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.5Farmer

Bros.A Co. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Ownership Plan, as adopted by the Board of Directors on December 9, 2010 and effective as of January 1, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the
Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2016 filed with the SEC on May 6, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.6Action of the Administrative
Committee of the Farmer Bros. Co. Qualified Employee Retirement Plans amending the Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Ownership Plan, effective as of January 1, 2012
(filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 filed with the SEC on September 28, 2017 and incorporated herein by
reference).*33Exhibit No.Description10.7Action of the Administrative Committee of the Farmer Bros. Co. Qualified Employee Retirement Plans amending the Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and
Restated Employee Stock Ownership Plan, effective as of January 1, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015
filed with the SEC on November 9, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.8Action of the Administrative Committee of the Farmer Bros. Co. Qualified Employee Retirement Plans
amending the Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Ownership Plan, effective as of January 1, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015 filed with the SEC on November 9, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.9Amendment dated October 6, 2016 to Farmer Bros. Co.
Amended and Restated Employee Stock Ownership Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 7, 2016 and incorporated herein
by reference).*10.10Second Amendment to the Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Ownership Plan, dated as of December 31, 2018 (filed as Exhibit 10.52 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2018 filed with the SEC on February 11, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.11Action of the
Administrative Committee of the Farmer Bros. Co. Qualified Employee Retirement Plans amending the Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Ownership Plan, effective as of
January 1, 2017 (filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on February 7, 2018 and incorporated
herein by reference).*10.12Employment Agreement, dated as of September 6, 2019, by and between Farmer Bros. Co. and Deverl Maserang (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 10, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.13Farmer Bros. Co. 2007 Omnibus Plan, as amended (as approved by the stockholders
at the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders on December 6, 2012) (filed as Exhibit 10.27 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2017 filed
with the SEC on November 7, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.14Form of Farmer Bros. Co. 2007 Omnibus Plan Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement (filed as
Exhibit 10.39 to the Companya€™ s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2018 filed with the SEC on May 9, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.15Form
of Farmer Bros. Co. 2007 Omnibus Plan Restricted Stock Award Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.41 to the Companya€™ s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2018 filed with the SEC on May 9, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.16Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (as approved by the stockholders at the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders on December 5, 2013) (filed as Exhibit 10.35 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended December 31, 2018 filed with the SEC on February 11, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.17Addendum to Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.30 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2014 filed with the SEC on February 9, 2015 and incorporated herein
by reference).*10.18Form of Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.43 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2018 filed with the SEC on February 11, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.19Form of Farmer
Bros. Co. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.45 to the Company's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2018 filed with the SEC on February 11, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.20Farmer Bros. Co. 2017 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 26, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.21Form of Farmer Bros. Co.
2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan Stock Option Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 4, 2017 and
incorporated herein by reference).*10.22Form of Farmer Bros. Co. 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan Stock Restricted Unit Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 22, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.23Form of Farmer Bros. Co. 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award
Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 4, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).*34Exhibit
No.Description10.24Form of Farmer Bros. Co. 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.24 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 filed with the SEC on September 12, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.25Form of Farmer Bros. Co. 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 9, 2023 and incorporated herein by
reference).*10.26Form of Farmer Bros. Co. 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Grant Agreement (Directors) (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed with the SEC on December 4, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.27Form of Farmer Bros. Co. 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Grant Agreement
(Employees) (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 4, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.28Farmer Bros. Co.
Amended and Restated 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Companya€ ™s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on December 28, 2021 and
incorporated herein by reference).*10.29Form of Farmer Bros Co. Amended and Restated 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Directors) (filed as Exhibit
10.3 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.30Form of
Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.29 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 filed with the SEC on September 12, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.31Form of Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated 2017 Long-Term
Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 9, 2023 and incorporated
herein by reference).*10.32Form of Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan Cash-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.30 to the
Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 filed with the SEC on September 12, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.33Form of Farmer
Bros. Co. Amended and Restated 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan Cash-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on November 9, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.34Farmer Bros. Co. 2020 Inducement Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Companya€™s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 16, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.35Form of Farmer Bros. Co. 2020 Inducement Incentive Plan Stock Option Award
Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 16, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.36Form of Farmer Bros. Co.
2020 Inducement Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 22, 2020 and incorporated
herein by reference).*10.37Form of Severance Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.34 to the Company&€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 filed with the SEC on
September 12, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.38Form of Amended and Restated Severance Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on July 6, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).* 10.39Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors and Officers of the Company, as adopted on December 8, 2017
(filed as Exhibit 10.32 to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, filed with the SEC on September 2, 2022).*10.40Interest Rate Swap
Confirmation, dated as of March 28, 2019, by and between Farmer Bros., Co. and Citibank, N.A. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March
29, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.41Credit Agreement dated as of dated as of April 26, 2021, by and among Farmer Bros. Co., a Delaware corporation, the other loan parties
named therein, the lenders named therein and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and lender (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on April 27, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference).35Exhibit No.Description10.42Consent and Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2021, by and among
Farmer Bros Co., the other loan parties named therein, the lenders named therein and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and lender (filed as Exhibit 10.47 to the Companya€™s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on September 2, 2022).10.43Increase Joinder and Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 8, 2022, by and among Farmer
Bros. Co., the other loan parties named therein, the lenders named therein and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and lender (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 9, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference).10.44Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement, dated August 31, 2022, by and among Farmer
Bros. Co., the other loan parties named therein, the lenders named therein and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and lender (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 31, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference).10.45Consent and Amendment No. 4 to Credit Agreement, dated June 30, 2023, by and among
Farmer Bros. Co., the other loan parties named therein, the lenders named therein and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and lender (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 6, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).10.46Consent and Amendment No. 5 to Credit Agreement, dated December 4, 2023, by and
among the Company, Boyd Assets Co., FBC Finance Company, Coffee Bean Holding Co., Inc., Coffee Bean International, Inc. and China Mist Brands, Inc., as borrowers, the lenders party
thereto, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company&a€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 7, 2023 and incorporated
herein by reference).10.47Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of April 26, 2021, by and among Farmer Bros. Co., a Delaware corporation, the other grantors named therein, and Wells
Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 27, 2021 and incorporated herein by
reference).10.48Credit Agreement dated as of April 26, 2021, by and among Farmer Bros. Co., a Delaware corporation, the other loan parties named therein, the lenders named therein and
MGG Investment Group LP, as administrative agent (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 27, 2021 and incorporated herein by
reference).10.49Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of April 26, 2021, by and among Farmer Bros. Co., a Delaware corporation, the other grantors named therein, and MGG Investment
Group LP, as administrative agent (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 27, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference).10.50ISDA



Master Agreement dated as of April 26, 2021, by and between Farmer Bros. Co. and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Companya€ ™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on April 27, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference).10.51Schedule of the ISDA Master Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2021, by and between Farmer Bros. Co. and Wells Fargo
Bank, N.A. (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 27, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference).10.52Replacement interest rate
swap with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. pursuant to a new interest rate swap confirmation (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 27, 2021
and incorporated herein by reference).10.53Letter Agreement, dated November 7, 2023, by and among the Company, JCP Investment Partnership, LP, JCP Investment Partners, LP, JCP
Investment Holdings, LLC, JCP Investment Management, LLC, James C. Pappas, 22NW, LP, 22NW Fund, LP, 22NW Fund GP, LLC, 22NW GP, Inc., Aron R. English and Bryson O. Hirai-Hadley
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 9, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).10.54Amendment, dated March 6, 2024,
to Letter Agreement, dated November 7, 2023, by and among the Company, JCP Investment Partnership, LP, JCP Investment Partners, LP, JCP Investment Holdings, LLC, JCP Investment
Management, LLC, James C. Pappas, 22NW, LP, 22NW Fund, LP, 22NW Fund GP, LLC, 22NW GP, Inc., Aron R. English and Bryson O. Hirai-Hadley (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Companya€™s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 9, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference).10.55Employment Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2024, by and between the Company
and John E. Moore III (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companya€™s Amendment No. 1 to Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on May 3, 2024 and incorporated herein by
reference).36Exhibit No.Description10.560ffer Letter, dated as of May 16, 2024, by and between the Company and Vance Fisher (filed herewith).*10.57Retention Agreement, dated August 7,
2023, by and between the Company and Matt Coffman (filed herewith).*10.58Retention Agreement, dated September 13, 2023, by and between the Company and Brad Bollner (filed as Exhibit
10.4 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 9, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.59Retention Agreement, dated September 13,
2023, by and between the Company and Jared Vitemb (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Companya€™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 9, 2023 and incorporated
herein by reference).*10.60Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated July 1, 2024, by and between the Company and Vance Fisher (filed herewith).*10.61Performance Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement, dated July 1, 2024, by and between the Company and Vance Fisher (filed herewith).*10.62Severance Agreement, effective September 13, 2019, by and between the Company and
Deverl Maserang (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 10, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*10.63Letter Agreement,
dated August 14, 2024, by and among the Company, 22NW, LP, 22NW Fund, LP, 22NW Fund GP, LLC, 22NW GP, Inc., Aron R. English and Bryson O. Hirai-Hadley (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 16, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference).*14.1Farmer Bros.A Co. Code of Conduct and Ethics adopted on

AugustA 26, 2010 and updated February 2013 and September 7, 2017 (filed as Exhibit 14.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 filed with the
SEC on September 29, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).16.1Letter of Deloitte & Touche LLP to the SEC dated December 22, 2021, (filed as Exhibit 16.1 to the Companya€™s Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 22, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference).19.1Farmer Bros. Co. Insider Trading Policy (filed herewith).*21.1List of all Subsidiaries of Farmer
Bros. Co. (filed as Exhibit 21.1 to the Companya€™s Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on September 2, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference).23.1Consent of Grant Thornton LLP,
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (filed herewith).31.1Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act RulesA 13a-14 and 15d-14 as Adopted
Pursuant to SectionA 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).31.2Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act RulesA 13a-14 and 15d-14 as
Adopted Pursuant to SectionA 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).32.1Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectionA 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to
SectionA 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).32.2Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectionA 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to SectionA 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).97.1Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated Policy on Executive Compensation in Restatement Situations (filed herewith).101.INSXBRL
Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document (furnished
herewith).101.SCHInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document (furnished herewith).101.CALInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document (furnished
herewith).101.DEFInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document (furnished herewith).101.LABInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document (furnished
herewith).101.PREInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document (furnished herewith).104Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page interactive data file does not
appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document (furnished herewith). *Management contract or compensatory plan or
arrangement.ItemA 16.Form 10-K SummaryNone.37SIGNATURESPursuant to the requirements of SectionA 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.A FARMER BROS.A CO.By:/s/ John E. Moore IIIA John E. Moore I1IPresident and Chief Executive
OfficerSeptember 12, 2024 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.A /s/ John E. Moore I1IPresident, Chief Executive Officer and Director (principal executive officer)September 12, 2024John E. Moore 111/s/ Vance Ratliff
FisherChief Financial Officer (principal financial officer)September 12, 2024Vance Ratliff Fisher/s/ Matthew CoffmanVice President and Controller (principal accounting officer)A September 12,
2024Matthew Coffman/s/ David A. PaceChairman of the Board and DirectorSeptember 12, 2024David A. Pace/s/ Stacy Loretz-CongdonDirectorA September 12, 2024Stacy Loretz-Congdon/s/
Terence C. O4€™ BrienDirectorA September 12, 2024Terence C. O4€ ™ Brien/s/ Bradley L. RadoffDirectorSeptember 12, 2024Bradley L. Radoff/s/ Waheed ZamanDirectorSeptember 12,
2024Waheed Zaman38A PageA A INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSReport of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID Numbers 248)F - 2Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2024 and 2023F - 3Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022F - 4Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
Income (Loss) for the Years Ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022F - 5Consolidated Statements of Stockholdersa€™ Equity for the Years Ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022F - 6Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022F - JAAA A A A A A A Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsF - 8F - 1IREPORT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM Board of Directors and StockholdersFarmer Bros. Co.Opinion on the financial statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Farmer Bros. Co. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the &€ceCompanya€) as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income (loss), stockholdersa€™ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the a€cefinancial
statementsa€). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.Basis for
opinion These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companya€™s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companya€™s financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (4€cePCAOBA4€) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in
accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of
our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Companya€™s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.Critical audit mattersCritical audit matters are matters arising from the current
period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. We determined that there are no critical audit matters./s/ GRANT THORNTON LLPWe have
served as the Companya€™s auditor since 2021.Dallas, TexasSeptemberA 12, 2024F - 2 FARMER BROS.A CO.CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS(In thousands, except share and per share
data)As of June 30,20242023ASSETSCurrent assets: A A Cash and cash equ1valents$5 830A $5,244A A A Restricted cash175A 175A A A Accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance for

lease asset535 241A 24,593A Other assets1,756A 2,917A A A A AAAA A A AAATotal assets$185 213A $187 781A LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERSa€ ™ EQUITYCurrent

liabilities:A A Accounts payable48, 478A 60,088A A A Accrued payroll expenses10,782A 10,082A A A Right-of-use operating lease liabilities - current14, 046A 8,040A A A Short-term derivative
liability730A 2,636A A A Other current liabilities2,997A 4,519A AAA A A A A A A A Total current liabilities77,033A 85,365A Long-term borrowings under revolving credit

facility23,300A 23,021A Accrued pension liabilities12, 287A 19,761A Accrued postretirement benefits789A 763A Accrued workersa€™ compensation liabilities2, 378A 3,065A Right-of-use
operating lease liabilities21,766A 17,157A Other long-term liabilities2,111A 537AAAAAAA A A A A A A Total liabilities$139,664A $149,669A Commitments and contingencies (Note
19)Stockholdersa€™ equity:Common stock, $1.00 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized; 21,264,327 and 20,142,973 shares issued and outstanding at JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively21,265A 20,144A A A Additional paid-in capital79, 963A 77,278A A A Accumulated deficit(30,354)(26, 479)A A Accumulated other comprehensive loss(25,325)
(32,831)AAAAAAA A A A A A Total stockholdersa€™ equity$45,549A $38,112AAAAAAAA A A A A A Total liabilities and stockholdersa€™ equity$185,213A $187,781A The accompanying
notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.F-3FARMER BROS.A CO.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS(In thousands, except share and per share
data)A A For the Years Ended JuneA 30,A 202420232022Net sales$341,094A $339,964A $314,783A Cost of goods sold207,201A 225,351A 180,968A Gross

profit133,893A 114,613A 133,815A Selling expenses111,371A 103,151A 99,458A General and administrative expenses41,649A 37,561A 43,243A Net gains from sale of assets(16,877)(5,140)
(2,905)Operating expensesl36,143A 135,572A 139,796A Loss from operations(2,250)(20,959)(5,981)Other (expense) income:Interest expense(7,835)(9,162)(4,009)Other,

net6,224A (4,242)8,140A Total other (expense) income(1,611)(1 3,404)4,131A Loss from continuing operations before taxes(3,861)(34,363)(1,850)Income tax expense

(benefit)14A (325)124A Loss from continuing operations$(3,875)$(34,038)$(1,974)Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxesa€”A (45,142)(13,687)Net
loss$(3,875)$(79,180)$(15,661)Less: Cumulative preferred dividends, undeclared and unpaid$é€"A $4€”A $594A Net loss available to common stockholders$(3,875)$(79,180)$(16,255)Loss
from continuing operations available to common stockholders per common share, basic and diluted$(0.19)$(1.74)$(0.14)Loss from discontinued operations available to common stockholders per
common share, basic and diluted$a€”A $(2.30)$(0.75)Net loss available to common stockholders per common share, basic and diluted$(0.19)$(4.04)$(0.89)Weighted average common shares
outstandinga€”basic and diluted20,873,266A 19,621,992A 18,200,080A The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.F - AFARMER

BROS.A CO.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (In thousands)For the Years Ended June 30,202420232022Net loss$(3,875)$(79,180)$(15,661)Other
comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges406A (2,384)12,172A Loss (gains) on derivatives designated as cash flow
hedges reclassified to cost of goods sold615A (1,392)(15,865)Losses on derivative instruments undesignated as cash flow hedges reclassified to interest expenseé€”A 909A 1,208A Change in
pension and retiree benefit obligations6,484A 8,467A 9,383A Total comprehensive income (loss) $3,630A $(73,580)$(8,763)The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.F - SFARMER BROS.A CO.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS4€™ EQUITY(In thousands, except share data)A Preferred SharesPreferred Stock
AmountCommonSharesCommon StockAmountAdditionalPaid-inCapitalRetainedEarnings (Accumulated Deficit)AccumulatedOtherComprehensivelncome (Loss)TotalBalance at June 30,
202114,700A $15A 17,852,793A $17,853A $66,109A $66,311A $(45,329)$104,959A Net lossa€”a€”a€"a€"a€”(15,661)a€”(15,661)Cash flow hedges, net of taxesa€”a€”a€”a€”a€”a€"A (2,485)
(2,485)Change in the funded status of retiree benefit obligations, net of taxesa€”a€”a€”a€"a€"4€"9,383A 9,383A ESOP compensation expense, including

reclassificationsa€”a€”371,566A 373A 3,271A 4€”4€”A 3,644A Share-based compensationa€”a€”a€”A a€”A 3,347A a€”4€”3,347A Issuance of common stock and stock option
exercisesa€”a€”240,607A 240A (730)a€”a€”(490)Cumulative preferred dividends, undeclared and unpaida€”a€”a€”A a€”A a€”A 2,051A a€”2,051A Balance at June 30,

202214,700A 15A 18,464,966A 18,466A 71,997A 52,701A (38,431)104,748A Net lossa€”a€”a€”a€"a€”(79,180)a€”(79,180)Cash flow hedges, net of taxesa€”a€”a€"a€"a€"a€" A (2,867)
(2,867)Postretirement benefits curtailment, net of taxesa€”a€"a€”4€"a€"4€"A 8,467A 8,467A 401(k) compensation expense, including

reclassificationsa€”4€”937,848A 938A 3,727A a€”a€”A 4,665A Share-based compensationa€”a€”a€”A a€”A 3,645A 4€”4€”3,645A Issuance of common stock and stock option
exercisesa€”a€”340,951A 341A (341)a€”a€”a€”A Cumulative preferred dividends, undeclared and unpaid(14,700)(15)399,208A 399A (1,750)a€”A a€”(1,366)Balance at June 30,

20234€”A 4€”A 20,142,973A 20,144A 77,278A (26,479)(32,831)38,112A Net lossa€”a€”a€”4€"4€"(3,875)a€”(3,875)Cash flow hedges, net of

taxesa€”a€”a€”a€”a€”a€”A 1,022A 1,022A Postretirement benefits curtailment, net of taxesa€”a€”a€”a€”a€”a€”A 6,484A 6,484A 401(k) compensation expense, including
reclassificationsa€”4€”595,031A 595A 1,099A a€”a€”A 1,694A Share-based compensationa€”a€”a€”A a€”A 2,112A 4€”4€”2,112A Issuance of common stock and stock option
exercisesa€”a€"526,323A 526A (526)a€"a€"4€"A Balance at June 30, 20244€”A $a€”A 21,264,327A $21,265A $79,963A $(30,354)$(25,325)$45,549A The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these consolidated financial statements.F - 6FARMER BROS.A CO.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS(In thousands)A For the Years Ended JuneA 30,202420232022Cash
flows from operating activities:Net loss$(3,875)$(79,180)$(15,661)Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activitiesDepreciation and

amortization11,588A 22,168A 23,810A Gain on settlement related to Boyd's acquisitiona€”A (1,917)a€”A Deferred income taxesa€”A (735)(425)Net (gains) losses from sale of
assets(18,091)22,275A (2,905)Net losses (gains) on derivative instruments113A 7,504A (21,620)ESOP and share-based compensation expense3,806A 8,311A 6,501A Provision for credit
losses748A 743A (353)Change in operating assets and liabilities:Accounts receivable, net10,448A (939)(6,260)Inventories(7,954)19,785A (22,828)Derivative assets,

net565A (6,235)19,554A Other assets2,335A (945)2,652A Accounts payable(11,777)7,087A 7,111A Accrued expenses and other (2,053)(4,802)(1,030)Net cash used in operating
activities$(14,147)$(6,880)$(11,454)Cash flows from investing activities:Sale of business(1,214)92,226A a€”A Purchases of property, plant and equipment(13,843)(15,016)(15,163)Proceeds
from sales of property, plant and equipment29,780A 11,235A 9,118A Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities$14,723A $88,445A $(6,045)Cash flows from financing activities:Proceeds
from Credit Facilities6,279A 54,000A 23,500A Repayments on Credit Facilities(6,000)(139,579)(5,900)Payment of financing costs(76)(368)(352)Payments of finance lease obligations(193)(193)
(193)Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities$10A $(86,140)$17,055A Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash$586A $(4,575)$(444)Cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period$5,419A $9,994A $10,438A Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period$6,005A $5,419A $9,994A Supplemental
disclosure of cash flow information:Cash paid for interest$2,803A $11,760A $7,503A Cash paid for income taxes164A 177A 142A Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing
activities:Non-cash additions to property, plant and equipment167A 124A 63A Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities13,508A 3,517A 7,684A Non-cash
issuance of ESOP and 401(K) common stock595A 938A 373A Cumulative preferred dividends, undeclared and unpaida€”A a4€”A 594A Conversion of preferred sharesa€”A 399A &4€”A The
accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.F - 7FARMER BROS.A CO.NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSNote 1. Introduction and
Basis of PresentationDescription of BusinessFarmer Bros.A Co., a Delaware corporation (including its consolidated subsidiaries unless the context otherwise requires, the 4€ceCompany,a€ or
d€ceFarmer Bros.a€), is a leading coffee roaster, wholesaler, equipment servicer and distributor of coffee, tea and other allied products. The Company serves a wide variety of customers, from
small independent restaurants and foodservice operators to large institutional buyers like restaurant, department and convenience store retailers, hotels, casinos, healthcare facilities, and



gourmet coffee houses, as well as grocery chains with private brand and consumer-branded coffee and tea products, and foodservice distributors. The Companya€™s product categories consist
of roast and ground coffee; frozen liquid coffee flavored and unflavored iced and hot teas and other beverages including cappuccino, cocoa, granitas, and concentrated and ready-to-drink cold
brew and iced coffee; culinary products and spices. The Company was founded in 1912 incorporated in California in 1923, and reincorporated in Delaware in 2004. The Company's principal
office and product development lab is located in Fort Worth, Texas ("Fort Worth facility"). The Company operates in one business segment. On June 30, 2023, the Company completed its sale of
certain assets of the Company related to its direct ship and private label business, including the Companya€™s production facility and corporate office building in Northlake, Texas (the "Sale").
The Sale and the related direct ship and private label operations are reported in loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes on the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 3,
Discontinued Operations for more information related to the Sale and the discontinued operations. All other footnotes present results of the continuing operations.The Company operates a
production facility in Portland, Oregon. Distribution takes place out of several distribution centers in Portland, Oregon; Northlake, Illinois; Rialto, California; and Moonachie, New Jersey. The
Companya€™s products reach its customers primarily through the Companya€™s nationwide direct-store-delivery ("DSD") network of 243 delivery routes and 104 branch warehouses as of
JuneA 30, 2024. The Company also does direct-ship via common carriers or third-party distributors. The Company operates a large fleet of trucks and other vehicles to distribute and deliver its
products through its DSD network, and relies on third-party logistic (a€ce3PLa€) service providers for its long-haul distribution. DSD sales are primarily made &€ceoff-trucka€ by the Company to
its customers at their places of business. NoteA 2. Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesBasis of PresentationThe accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (4€0eGAAP&€).Principles of ConsolidationThe consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
the Company and its direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. Use of EstimatesThe preparation of financial statements in
accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. The
Company reviews its estimates on an ongoing basis using currently available information. Changes in facts and circumstances may result in revised estimates and actual results may differ from
those estimates.Cash EquivalentsThe Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. Fair values of cash equivalents
approximate cost due to the short period of time to maturity.Allowance for credit lossesA portion of our accounts receivable is not expected to be collected due to non-payment, bankruptcies
and deductions. Our accounting policy for the allowance for credit losses requires us to reserve an amount based on the evaluation of the aging of accounts receivable, detailed analysis of high-
risk customersa€™ accounts, historical customer losses and the overall market and economic conditions of our customers to estimate future losses. This evaluation considers the customer
demographic, such as large commercial customers as compared to small businesses or individual customers. We consider our accounts receivable delinquent or past due based on payment
terms established with each customer. Accounts receivable are written off when the accounts are determined to be uncollectible.F - 8Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)Fair Value MeasurementsThe Company groups its assets and liabilities at fair value in three levels, based on the markets in which the assets and liabilities are traded and
the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value. These levels are:a€¢LevelA 1a€”Valuation is based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.a€
¢LevelA 2a€”Valuation is based upon inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly (i.e. interest rate and yield
curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, default rates, etc.). Observable inputs include quoted prices for similar instruments in active and non-active markets. Level 2 includes those
financial instruments that are valued with industry standard valuation models that incorporate inputs that are observable in the marketplace throughout the full term of the instrument, or can
otherwise be derived from or supported by observable market data in the marketplace. Level 2 inputs may also include insignificant adjustments to market observable inputs.a€

¢LevelA 34€”Valuation is based upon one or more unobservable inputs that are significant in establishing a fair value estimate. These unobservable inputs are used to the extent relevant
observable inputs are not available and are developed based on the best information available. These inputs may be used with internally developed methodologies that result in
managementa€™s best estimate of fair value.Securities with quotes that are based on actual trades or actionable bids and offers with a sufficient level of activity on or near the measurement
date are classified as Level 1. Securities that are priced using quotes derived from implied values, indicative bids and offers, or a limited number of actual trades, or the same information for
securities that are similar in many respects to those being valued, are classified as Level 2. If market information is not available for securities being valued, or materially-comparable securities,
then those securities are classified as Level 3. In considering market information, management evaluates changes in liquidity, willingness of a broker to execute at the quoted price, the depth
and consistency of prices from pricing services, and the existence of observable trades in the market. Derivative InstrumentsThe Company executes various derivative instruments to hedge its
commodity price and interest rate risks. These derivative instruments consist primarily of forward, option and swap contracts. The Company reports the fair value of derivative instruments on
its consolidated balance sheets in &€ceShort-term derivative assets,a€ a€oeOther assets,a€ a€ceShort-term derivative liabilities,a€ or a€oeOther long-term liabilities.&€ The Company determines
the current and noncurrent classification based on the timing of expected future cash flows of individual trades and reports these amounts on a gross basis. Additionally, the Company reports, if
any, cash held on deposit in margin accounts for coffee-related derivative instruments on a gross basis on its consolidated balance sheet in &€ceRestricted cash.a€The accounting for the
changes in fair value of the Company's derivative instruments can be summarized as follows:Derivative TreatmentAccounting MethodNormal purchases and normal sales exceptionAccrual
accountingDesignated in a qualifying hedging relationshipHedge accountingAll other derivative instrumentsMark-to-market accountingThe Company enters into green coffee purchase
commitments at a fixed price or at a price to be fixed (4€cePTFa€). PTF contracts are purchase commitments whereby the quality, quantity, delivery period, price differential to the coffee
4€0eCa€ market price and other negotiated terms are agreed upon, but the date, and therefore the price at which the base &€0eCa€ market price will be fixed has not yet been established. The
coffee &€0eCa€ market price is fixed at some point after the purchase contract date and before the futures market closes for the delivery month and may be fixed either at the direction of the
Company to the vendor, or by the application of a derivative that was separately purchased as a hedge. For both fixed-price and PTF contracts, the Company expects to take delivery of and to
utilize the coffee in a reasonable period of time and in the conduct of normal business. Accordingly, these purchase commitments qualify as normal purchases and are not recorded at fair value
on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.The Company follows the guidelines of Accounting Standards Codification (4€ceASCA€) 815, a€ceDerivatives and Hedginga€ (a€ceASCA 8154€), to
account for certain coffee-related derivative instruments as accounting hedges, in order to minimize the volatility created in the Company's quarterly results from utilizing these derivative
instruments and to improve comparability between reporting periods. For a derivative to qualify for designation in a hedging relationship, it must meet specific criteria and the Company must
maintain appropriate documentation. The Company establishes hedging relationships pursuant to its risk management policies. The hedging relationships are evaluated at inception and on an
ongoing basis to determine whether the hedging relationship is, and is expected to remain, highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the
underlying risk being hedged. The Company also regularly assesses whether the hedged F - 9Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)forecasted transaction is
probable of occurring. If a derivative ceases to be or is no longer expected to be highly effective, or if the Company believes the likelihood of occurrence of the hedged forecasted transaction is
no longer probable, hedge accounting is discontinued for that derivative, and future changes in the fair value of that derivative are recognized in &€ceOther, neta€ in the consolidated
statements of operations.For coffee-related derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, the change in fair value of the derivative is reported as accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) (4€eAOCI4€) and subsequently reclassified into cost of goods sold in the period or periods when the hedged transaction affects earnings. Gains or losses deferred in AOCI
associated with terminated derivative instruments, derivative instruments that cease to be highly effective hedges, derivative instruments for which the forecasted transaction is reasonably
possible but no longer probable of occurring, and cash flow hedges that have been otherwise discontinued remain in AOCI until the hedged item affects earnings. If it becomes probable that the
forecasted transaction designated as the hedged item in a cash flow hedge will not occur, any gain or loss deferred in AOCI is recognized in 4€ceOther, neta€ in the consolidated statements of
operations at that time. For derivative instruments that are not designated in a hedging relationship, and for which the normal purchases and normal sales exception has not been elected, the
changes in fair value are reported in &€ceOther, neta€ in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 5, Derivative Instruments.Concentration of Credit RiskAt JuneA 30, 2024, the
financial instruments which potentially expose the Company to concentration of credit risk consist of cash in financial institutions (in excess of federally insured limits), derivative instruments
and trade receivables. The Company does not have any credit-risk related contingent features that would require it to post additional collateral in support of its net derivative liability positions.
At JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023, none of the cash in the Company4€™s coffee-related derivative margin accounts was restricted. Further changes in commodity prices and the number of coffee-
related derivative instruments held, could have a significant impact on cash deposit requirements under certain of the Company's broker and counterparty agreements.Approximately 11% and
33% of the Companya€™s accounts receivable balance was with five customers at JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. There were no customers that accounted for more than 10% of the
Company4€™s accounts receivable balance as of JuneA 30, 2024. The Company estimates its credit risk for accounts receivable at the amount recorded on the balance sheet. The accounts
receivable are generally short-term and all estimated credit losses have been appropriately considered in establishing the allowance for credit losses.InventoriesInventories are valued at the
lower of cost or net realizable value. The Company uses the first in, first out ("FIFO") basis for accounting for coffee, tea and culinary products and coffee brewing equipment parts. The
Company regularly evaluates these inventories to determine the provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory. Inventory reserves are based on inventory obsolescence trends, historical
experience and application of specific identification. Property, Plant and EquipmentProperty, plant and equipment is carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed
using the straight-line method. The following useful lives are used: Buildings and facilities10 to 30 yearsMachinery and equipment3 to 15 yearsOffice furniture and equipment5 to 7
yearsCapitalized software3 to 5 yearsEquipment under finance leasesShorter of termA ofA lease or estimated useful lifel.easehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
lesser of the estimated useful life of the asset or the remaining lease term. When assets are sold or retired, the asset and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective
account balances and any gain or loss on disposal is included in operations. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense, and enhancements are capitalized. Coffee Brewing Equipment and
ServiceThe Company capitalizes coffee brewing equipment and depreciates it over five years and reports the depreciation expense in cost of goods sold. Other non-depreciation expenses
related to coffee brewing equipment provided to customers, such as the cost of servicing that equipment (including service employeesa€™ salaries, cost of transportation and the cost of
supplies and parts), are considered directly attributable to the generation of revenues from the customers. These non-depreciation expenses are also included in cost of goods sold. See Note 10,
Property, Plant and Equipment for details of the depreciation amounts and non-depreciation expenses.F - 10Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)LeasesThe
Company makes a determination if an arrangement constitutes a lease at inception, and categorizes the lease as either an operating or finance lease. Operating leases are included in right-of-
use operating lease assets and operating lease liabilities in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. Finance leases are included in property, plant and equipment, net and other liabilities in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.The Company has entered into leases for building
facilities, vehicles and other equipment. The Companya€™s leases have remaining contractual terms of up to 7 years, some of which have options to extend the lease for up to an additional 10
years. For purposes of calculating operating lease liabilities, lease terms are deemed not to include options to extend the lease renewals until it is reasonably certain that the Company will
exercise that option. The Company's lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.Right-of-use lease assets represent the Company's
right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease right-of-use assets and
liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of the Company's leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company
uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company uses the implicit rate when
readily determinable. Lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. Lease expense is primarily
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are combined for certain assets. Income TaxesDeferred
income taxes are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which
differences are expected to reverse. Estimating the Companya€™ s tax liabilities involves judgments related to uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations. The Company makes
certain estimates and judgments to determine tax expense for financial statement purposes as it evaluates the effect of tax credits, tax benefits and deductions, some of which result from
differences in the timing of recognition of revenue or expense for tax and financial statement purposes. Changes to these estimates may result in significant changes to the Companya€™s tax
provision in future periods. Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance The Company evaluates its deferred tax assets quarterly to determine if a valuation allowance is required and considers
whether a valuation allowance should be recorded against deferred tax assets based on the likelihood that the benefits of the deferred tax assets will or will not ultimately be realized in future
periods. In making this assessment, significant weight is given to evidence that can be objectively verified, such as recent operating results, and less consideration is given to less objective
indicators, such as future income projections. After consideration of positive and negative evidence, if the Company determines that it is more likely than not that it will generate future income
sufficient to realize its deferred tax assets, the Company will record a reduction in the valuation allowance.Revenue RecognitionThe Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the way
that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. We recognize revenue at a point in time upon delivery of the ordered goods to our customers. Revenues are recognized net of any discounts, returns, allowances, rebates and
incentives. The Company performs the following steps to determine revenue recognition for an arrangement: (1) identify the contract(s) with a customer, (2) identify the performance obligations
in the contract, (3) determine the transaction price, (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and (5) recognize revenue when (or as) the performance
obligations are satisfied.Net Loss Per Common ShareNet loss per share (&4€eEPSA€) represents net loss available to common stockholders divided by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding for the period. Dividends on the Company's outstanding Series A Convertible Participating Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, par value $1.00 per share ("Series A
Preferred Stock"), that the Company has paid or intends to pay are deducted from net loss in computing net loss available to common stockholders.Under the two-class method, net loss
available to nonvested restricted stockholders and holders of Series A Preferred Stock is excluded from net loss available to common stockholders for purposes of calculating basic and diluted
EPS.Diluted EPS represents net loss available to holders of common stock divided by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, inclusive of the dilutive impact of common
equivalent shares outstanding during the period. Common F - 11Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)equivalent shares include potentially dilutive shares
from share-based compensation including stock options, unvested restricted stock, unvested performance-based restricted stock units, and shares of Series A Preferred Stock, as converted,
because they are deemed participating securities. In the absence of contrary information, the Company assumes 100% of the target shares are issuable under performance-based restricted
stock units.The dilutive effect of Series A Preferred Stock is reflected in diluted EPS by application of the if-converted method. In applying the if-converted method, conversion will not be
assumed for purposes of computing diluted EPS if the effect would be anti-dilutive. The Series A Preferred Stock is antidilutive whenever the amount of the dividend declared or accumulated in
the current period per common share obtainable upon conversion exceeds basic EPS. Employee Stock Ownership PlanEffective January 1, 2022, the Company merged the ESOP plan into the
401(k) Plan and transferred all of the assets and shares in the ESOP to the 401(k) Plan.Share-based CompensationThe Company measures all share-based compensation cost at the grant date,
based on the fair values of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest, and recognizes that cost as an expense on a straight line-basis in its consolidated statements of operations over the
requisite service period. Fair value of restricted stock and performance-based restricted stock units is the closing price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The Company
estimates the fair value of option awards using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, which requires management to make certain assumptions for estimating the fair value of stock options
at the date of grant. In addition, the Company estimates the expected impact of forfeited awards and recognizes share-based compensation cost only for those awards ultimately expected to
vest. If actual forfeiture rates differ materially from the Companya€™ s estimates, share-based compensation expense could differ significantly from the amounts the Company has recorded in



the current period. The Company periodically reviews actual forfeiture experience and will revise its estimates, as necessary. The Company will recognize as compensation cost the cumulative
effect of the change in estimated forfeiture rates on current and prior periods in earnings of the period of revision. As a result, if the Company revises its assumptions and estimates, the
Companya€™s share-based compensation expense could change materially in the future. The Company's outstanding share-based awards include performance-based restricted stock units
("PBRSUs") that have performance-based vesting conditions in addition to time-based vesting. Awards with performance-based vesting conditions require the achievement of certain financial
and other performance criteria as a condition to the vesting. The Company recognizes the estimated fair value of performance-based awards, net of estimated forfeitures, as share-based
compensation expense over the service period based upon the Companya€™s determination of whether it is probable that the performance targets will be achieved. At each reporting period,
the Company reassesses the probability of achieving the performance criteria and the performance period required to meet those targets. Determining whether the performance criteria will be
achieved involves judgment, and the estimate of share-based compensation expense may be revised periodically based on changes in the probability of achieving the performance criteria.
Revisions are reflected in the period in which the estimate is changed. If performance goals are not met, no share-based compensation expense is recognized for the cancelled PNQs or PBRSUs
and, to the extent share-based compensation expense was previously recognized for those cancelled PNQs or PBRSUs, such share-based compensation expense is reversed. If performance goals
are exceeded and the payout is more than 100% of the target shares, additional compensation expense is recorded in the period when that determination is certified by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors. The Company also has Cash-Settled Restricted Stock Units ("CSRSUs") which are accounted for as liability awards, with compensation expense measured
at fair value on the date of grant and recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, net of forfeitures. Compensation expense is remeasured at each reporting date with a
cumulative adjustment to compensation cost during the period based on changes in the Common Stock's closing share price.Impairment of Indefinite-lived Intangible AssetsThe Company
accounts for its indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance with a€ceIntangibles-Goodwill and Othera€ (a€ceASC 3504a€). Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but instead are
reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change which indicate that an asset might be impaired. Pursuant to ASC 350, the Company tests its
indefinite-lived intangible assets, which consist of certain acquired trademarks, trade names and a brand name, for impairment by comparing their fair values to their carrying values. An
impairment charge is recorded if the estimated fair value of such assets has decreased below their carrying values. Other Intangible AssetsOther intangible assets consist of finite-lived
intangible assets including customer relationships. These assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives and are tested for impairment by grouping them with other assets at the lowest
level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets and liabilities. The estimated future F - 12Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)cash flows are based upon, among other things, assumptions about expected future operating performance, and may differ from actual cash flows. If the sum of
the projected undiscounted cash flows (excluding interest) is less than the carrying value of the assets, the assets will be written down to the estimated fair value in the period in which the
determination is made. The Company reviews the recoverability of its finite-lived intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets
may not be recoverable. Collective Bargaining AgreementsCertain Company employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements which expire on or before SeptemberA 30, 2027. At
JuneA 30, 2024 approximately 21% of the Company's workforce was covered by such agreements.Self-InsuranceThe Company uses a combination of insurance and self-insurance mechanisms to
provide for the potential liability of certain risks including workersa€™ compensation, health care benefits, general liability, product liability, property insurance and director and officersa€™
liability insurance. Liabilities associated with risks retained by the Company are not discounted and are estimated by considering historical claims experience, demographics, exposure and
severity factors and other actuarial assumptions.The Company's self-insurance for workersa€™ compensation liability includes estimated outstanding losses of unpaid claims, and allocated loss
adjustment expenses (A€ ALAEA€), case reserves, the development of known claims and incurred but not reported claims. ALAE are the direct expenses for settling specific claims. The
amounts reflect per occurrence and annual aggregate limits maintained by the Company. The estimated liability analysis does not include estimating a provision for unallocated loss adjustment
expenses.The estimated gross undiscounted workersa€™ compensation liability relating to such claims was $2.0 million and $3.3 million, as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The
estimated recovery from reinsurance was $0.2 million and $0.7 million, as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The short-term and long-term accrued liabilities for workersa€™
compensation claims are presented on the Company's consolidated balance sheets in &€ceOther current liabilitiesa€ and in &€ceAccrued workers' compensation liabilities,a€ respectively. The
estimated insurance receivable is included in 4€ceOther assetsa€ on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The Company had posted $4.1A million and $4.0 million letters of credit as a
security deposit for self-insuring workersa€™ compensation, general liability and auto insurance coverages as of JuneA 30, 2024 and JuneA 30, 2023, respectively. The estimated liability related
to the Company's self-insured group medical insurance was $0.6 million and $0.5 million for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, recorded on an incurred but not reported basis, within
deductible limits, based on actual claims and the average lag time between the date insurance claims are filed and the date those claims are paid. The Company accrues the cost for general
liability, product liability and commercial auto liability insurance based on estimates of the aggregate liability claims incurred using certain actuarial assumptions and historical claims
experience. The Company's liability reserve for such claims was $1.6 million and $1.4 million at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The estimated liability related to the Company's self-
insured group medical insurance, general liability, product liability and commercial auto liability is included on the Company's consolidated balance sheets in a€ceOther current
liabilities.a€Postretirement BenefitsThe Company provides a postretirement death benefit (d4€ceDeath Benefita€) to certain employees and retirees, subject, in the case of current employees, to
continued employment with the Company until retirement and certain other conditions related to the manner of employment termination and manner of death. The Company records the
actuarially determined liability for the present value of the postretirement death benefit. The Company purchased life insurance policies to fund the postretirement death benefit wherein the
Company owns the policy but the postretirement death benefit is paid to the employee's or retiree's beneficiary. The Company records an asset for the fair value of the life insurance policies
which equates to the cash surrender value of the policies.A Pension PlansThe Companya€™s defined benefit pension plans are not admitting new participants, therefore, changes to pension
liabilities are primarily due to market fluctuations of investments for existing participants and changes in interest rates. The Companya€™s defined benefit pension plans are accounted for
using the guidance of ASC 710, &€ceCompensationa€”Generala€ce and ASC 715, a€ceCompensation-Retirement Benefitsd€ce and are measured as of the end of the fiscal year.The Company
recognizes the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit pension as an asset or liability on its consolidated balance sheets. Changes in the funded status are recognized through
AOCI, in the year in which the changes occur. See Note 12, Employee Benefit Plans.F - 13Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)Recent Accounting
Pronouncements The Company considers the applicability and impact of all ASUs issued. ASUs not listed below were assessed and either determined to be not applicable or expected to have
minimal impact on its consolidated financial statements.The following table provides a brief description of the recent ASUs applicable to the company:StandardDescriptionEffective DateEffect
on the Financial Statements or Other Significant MattersIn December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, &€ceIncome Taxes (Topic 740)a€, Improvements to Income Tax DisclosuresThe
amendments in this Update address investor requests for more transparency about income tax information through improvements to income tax disclosures primarily related to the rate
reconciliation and income taxes paid information.Effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024.The Company is still evaluating the impact of this standard.In November 2023,
the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, &€ceSegment Reporting (Topic 280)a€, Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures.The amendments in this Update are to improve the disclosures
about a public entityd€™s reportable segments and address requests from investors for additional, more detailed information about a reportable segmenta€™ s expenses.Effective for annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2024.The Company is still evaluating the impact of this standard.NoteA 3. Discontinued OperationsOn June 30, 2023, the Company completed the sale of
certain assets of the Company related to its direct ship and private label business, including the Companya€™s production facility and corporate office building in Northlake, Texas, pursuant to
that certain Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of June 6, 2023, by and between the Company and TreeHouse Foods, Inc. (the "Buyer"), as amended by that certain Amendment to the Asset
Purchase Agreement, dated June 30, 2023. The aggregate purchase price was $91.7A million in cash including $2.0A million of escrow receivable. The Company recognized an after-tax loss on
the transaction of approximately $25.4A million. During Q2 2024, the Company recorded a net loss of $1.2A million related to a working capital adjustment in continuing operations.The
accounting requirements for reporting the Sale as a discontinued operation were met when the Sale was completed. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements reflect the results of the
Sale as a discontinued operation for all periods presented. The Company incurred approximately $0.5A million of transaction-related costs associated with the Sale during the year ended June
30, 2023, which was primarily for professional fees. These amounts are recorded in the loss on disposition of discontinued operations before income taxes component of loss from discontinued
operations, net of income taxes. Additionally, the Company was required to utilize a portion of the cash proceeds from the Sale to fully extinguish its outstanding term loan. The remaining
proceeds were utilized to repay a portion of the outstanding revolving credit facility.The Company also entered into (i) a Transition Services Agreement with the Buyer pursuant to which the
Company provided the Buyer certain specified services on a temporary basis, (ii) a Co-Manufacturing Agreement with the Buyer pursuant to which the Company and Buyer manufactured
certain products for each other on a temporary basis and (iii) a Lease Agreement with the Buyer pursuant to which the Company leased office and warehouse space from the Buyer on a
temporary basis. The Transition Services Agreement expired on March 31, 2024. The Co-Manufacturing Agreement and Lease Agreement expired June 30, 2024. F - 14Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)The operating results of the divested operations, have been reclassified as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, as detailed in the table below:For the year ended June 30,(In thousands)20232022Net sales$160,977A $154,410A Cost of goods

sold162,227A 151,309A Gross (loss) profit(1,250)3,101A Selling expenses6,578A 7,819A General and administrative expenses4,750A 3,929A Loss on sale of assets25,414A a€”A Operating
expense36,742A 11,748A Loss from discontinued operations(37,992)(8,647)Other (expense) income:Interest expense(9,008)(5,507)Other, net1,124A 42A Total other (expense)(7,884)
(5,465)Loss from discontinued operations before taxes(45,876)(14,112)Income tax benefit(734)(425)Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes$(45,142)$(13,687)Interest expense
for the Revolver was allocated on a ratio of net assets discontinued to the sum of consolidated net assets plus consolidated debt and the Term Loan was fully allocated to discontinued operations
as it was required to be repaid in full. Applicable Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow information related to the divested operations for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 are detailed in
the table below:For the Years Ended June 30,(In thousands)20232022Cash Flows from Discontinued OperationsNet cash provided by (used in) operating activities444A (13,192)Net cash
provided by (used in) investing activities88,105A (1,539)NoteA 4. Sales of AssetsSale of Branch PropertiesDuring the year ended JuneA 30, 2024, the Company completed the sale of 13 branch
properties. The total sales price was $31.7A million and net proceeds was $29.3A million. The completed sale of branch properties resulted in a gain on sale of $21.5A million.During the year
ended JuneA 30, 2023, the Company completed the sale of four branch properties. The total sales price was $12.5A million and net proceeds was $11.8A million. The completed sale of branch
properties resulted in a gain on sale of $10.8A million.Assets Held for SaleThe Company sometimes pursues options to divest corporate assets, primarily related to land and buildings. As of
JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023, certain branch properties met the accounting guidance criteria to be classified as held for sale. As such, the Company evaluated the assets to determine whether the
carrying value exceeded the fair value less any costs to sell. No loss was recorded as of JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023 and the aggregate assets held for sale are presented as a separate line item in
the consolidated balance sheet. The following table presents net carrying value related to the major classes of assets that were classified as held for sale at JuneA 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023 :
(In thousands)June 30, 2024June 30, 2023Building and facilities$120A $4,327A Land232A 3,443A Assets held for sale$352A $7,770A F - 15Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)NoteA 5. Derivative InstrumentsDerivative Instruments HeldCoffee-Related Derivative InstrumentsThe Company is exposed to commodity price risk associated with its
price to be fixed green coffee purchase contracts, which are described further in Note 2. The Company utilizes forward and option contracts to manage exposure to the variability in expected
future cash flows from forecasted purchases of green coffee attributable to commodity price risk. Certain of these coffee-related derivative instruments utilized for risk management purposes
have been designated as cash flow hedges, while other coffee-related derivative instruments have not been designated as cash flow hedges or do not qualify for hedge accounting despite
hedging the Company's future cash flows on an economic basis.The following table summarizes the notional volumes for the coffee-related derivative instruments held by the Company at
JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023:As of June 30,(In thousands)20242023Derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges:Long coffee poundsa€”A 1,538A Derivative instruments not designated as
cash flow hedges:Long coffee pounds71A 6,713A Less: Short coffee poundsa€”A (4,388)Total71A 3,863A Coffee-related derivative instruments not designated as cash flow hedges outstanding
as of JuneA 30, 2024 will expire within 1.5 years. At JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023 approximately none and 40%, respectively, of the Company's outstanding coffee-related derivative instruments
were designated as cash flow hedges.Interest Rate Swap Derivative InstrumentsPursuant to an International Swap Dealers Association, Inc. Master Agreement (a&€0eISDA&€) effective March 20,
2019, the Company on March 27, 2019, entered into a swap transaction utilizing a notional amount of $80.0 million, with an effective date of April 11, 2019 and a maturity date of OctoberA 11,
2023 (the &€ceOriginal Rate Swapa€). The Original Rate Swap was intended to manage the Companya€™s interest rate risk on its floating-rate indebtedness under the Companya€™ s revolving
credit facility.The Company had designated the Original Rate Swap derivative instrument as a cash flow hedge; however, during the quarter ended September 30, 2020, the Company de-
designated the Original Rate Swap derivative instruments. On May 16, 2023, the Company settled the Original Rate Swap. The net settlement of the Original Rate Swap was a $13A thousand
loss. Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Financial StatementsBalance SheetsFair values of derivative instruments on the Company's consolidated balance sheets:Derivative Instruments
Designated as Cash Flow HedgesDerivative Instruments Not Designated as Accounting HedgesAs of June 30,As of June 30,(In thousands)2024202320242023Financial Statement Location:Short-
term derivative assets:Coffee-related derivative instruments(1)$a€”A $4A $11A $64A Long-term derivative assets:Coffee-related derivative instruments(2)a€”A 4€”A 33A 4€”A Short-term
derivative liabilities:Coffee-related derivative instruments(3)a€”A 158A 730A 2,478A Long-term derivative liabilities:Coffee-related derivative

instruments(4)a€”A a€”A 1,505A a€”A (1) Included in &€ceShort-term derivative assetsa€ on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.(2) Included in 4€ceOther assetsa€ on
the Company's consolidated balance sheets.(3) Included in &€ceShort-term derivative liabilitya€ on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.(4) Included in 4€ceOther Long-term liabilitiesa€
on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.F - 16Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)Statements of OperationsThe following table presents pretax net
gains and losses for the Company's derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, as recognized in 4€AOCLa€ a€aeCost of goods solda€ and a€ceInterest expensea€.Year Ended June
30,Financial Statement Classification(In thousands)202420232022Net gains (losses) recognized from AOCI to earnings - Interest rate swapé€"A 396A (7)Interest ExpenseNet losses reclassified
from AOCI to earnings for partial unwind of interest swap - Interest rate swapé€"A (1,305)(1,201)Interest ExpenseNet (gains) losses recognized in AOCI - Coffee-

related(406)2,384A (12,172)A0CINet (loss) gains recognized in earnings - Coffee-related(61 5)1,392A 15,865A Costs of goods soldFor the fiscal years ended ]uneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
there were no gains or losses recognized in earnings as a result of excluding amounts from the assessment of hedge effectiveness. Net (gains) losses on derivative instruments in the Company's
consolidated statements of cash flows also includes net (gains) losses on coffee-related derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges reclassified to cost of goods sold from AOCI in the
fiscal years ended JuneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022. Gains and losses on derivative instruments not designated as accounting hedges are included in &€ceOther, neta€ in the Company's
consolidated statements of operations and in &€ceNet (gains) losses on derivative instruments and investmentsa€ in the Company's consolidated statements of cash flows. Net gains and losses
recorded in 4€ceOther, neta€ are as follows:A Year Ended JuneA 30,(In thousands)202420232022Net gains (losses) on coffee-related derivative instruments (1)$503A $(6,978)$4,498A Non-
operating pension and other postretirement benefit plans credits3,648A 2,910A 3,598A Other (losses) gains, net2,073A (174)44AAAAAAAA A A A A A A Other, net

$6,224A $(4,242)$8,140A (1) Excludes net losses and net gains on coffee-related derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges recorded in cost of goods sold in the fiscal
years ended ]uneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)The following table provides the balances and changes in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) related to derivative instruments for the indicated periods:]uneA 30,(In thousands)202420232022Accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) beginning

balance$1,175A $(1,692)$(4,177)Net gains (losses) recognized from AOCI to earnings - Interest rate swapa€”A 396A (7)Net losses reclassified from AOCI to earnings for partial unwind of
interest swap - Interest rate swapé€”A (1,305)(1,201)Net (gains) losses recognized in AOCI - Coffee-related(406)2,384A (12,172)Net (loss) gains recognized in earnings - Coffee-



related(615)1,392A 15,865A Accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) ending balance$154A $1,175A $(1,692)Offsetting of Derivative Assets and LiabilitiesThe Company has agreements
in place that allow for the financial right of offset for derivative assets and liabilities at settlement or in the event of default under the agreements. Additionally, under certain coffee derivative
agreements, the Company maintains accounts with its counterparties to facilitate financial derivative transactions in support of its risk management activities.The following table presents the
Companya€™s net exposure from its offsetting derivative asset and liability positions, as well as cash collateral on deposit with its counterparties as of the reporting dates indicated:(In
thousands)Gross Amount Reported on Balance SheetNetting AdjustmentsCash Collateral PostedNet ExposureAs of June 30, 2024 Derivative Assets$44A $(44)$a€”A $a4€”A Derivative
Liabilities2,235A (44)a€”A 2,191A As of June 30, 2023Derivative Assets68A (68)a€”A a€”A Derivative Liabilities2,636A (68)a€”A 2,568A F - 17Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)Cash Flow Hedges Changes in the fair value of the Companya€™s coffee-related derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges are deferred in AOCI and
subsequently reclassified into cost of goods sold in the same period or periods in which the hedged forecasted purchases affect earnings, or when it is probable that the hedged forecasted
transaction will not occur by the end of the originally specified time period. Based on recorded values at JuneA 30, 2024, $0.3 million of net gains on coffee-related derivative instruments
designated as cash flow hedge are expected to be reclassified into cost of goods sold within the next twelve months. These recorded values are based on market prices of the commodities as of
JuneA 30, 2024. NoteA 6. LeasesThe Company has entered into leases for building facilities, vehicles and other equipment. The Companya€ ™s leases have remaining contractual terms through
April 30, 2030, some of which have options to extend the lease for up to 10 years. For purposes of calculating operating lease liabilities, lease terms are deemed not to include options to extend
the lease renewal until it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. The Company's lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material
restrictive covenants.Supplemental consolidated balance sheet information related to leases is as follows:As of June 30,(In thousands)Classification202420230perating lease assetsRight-of-use
operating lease assets$35,241A $24,593A Finance lease assetsProperty, plant and equipment, net246A 410A Total lease assets$35,487A $25,003A Operating lease liabilities - currentOperating
lease liabilities - current14,046A 8,040A Finance lease liabilities - currentOther current liabilities193A 1930perating lease liabilities - noncurrentOperating lease liabilities -

noncurrent21,766A 17,157A Finance lease liabilities -noncurrentOther long-term liabilities82A 251Total lease liabilities$36,087A $25,641A The components of lease expense are as follows:For
the Years Ended JuneA 30,(In thousands)2024202320220perating lease expense$13,785A $7,943A $7,526A Finance lease expense:Amortization of finance lease assets164A 164A 164A Interest
on finance lease liabilities24A 34A 44A Total lease expense$13,973A $8,141A $7,734A The maturities of the lease liabilities are as follows:For the Years Ended JuneA 30,(In thousands)Operating
LeasesFinanceA Leases2025$14,046A $193A 20269,627A 96A 20277,205A a€”A 20286,244A a€”A 20293,220A a4€”A Thereafter317A a€”A Total lease payments40,659A 289A Less: interest
(4,847)(14)Total lease obligations$35,812A $275A Lease term and discount rate:For the Years Ended ]uneA 30,20242023Weighted-average remaining lease terms (in years):Operating
lease5.25.9Finance lease1.52.5Weighted-average discount rate:Operating lease6.65A %6.20A %Finance lease6.50A %6.50A %F - 18Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)Other Information:For the Years Ended JuneA 30,(In thousands)20242023Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:Operating cash flows from operating
leases$12,956A $7,845A Operating cash flows from finance leases24A 34A Financing cash flows from finance leases193A 193A NoteA 7. Fair Value MeasurementsAssets and liabilities
measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis were as follows:A (In thousands)TotalLevelA 1LevelA 2LevelA 3As of June 30, 2024Derivatives not designated as accounting
hedges:Coffee-related derivative assets (1)44A a€”A 44A a€”A Coffee-related derivative liabilities (1)2,235A a4€”A 2,235A 4€”A TotalLevelA 1LevelA 2LevelA 3As of June 30, 2023Derivative
instruments designated as cash flow hedges:Coffee-related derivative assets (1)$4A $a€”A $4A $a€”A Coffee-related derivative liabilities (1)158A 4€”A 158A &4€”A Derivatives not designated as
accounting hedges:Coffee-related derivative assets (1)64A 4€”A 64A a€”A Coffee-related derivative liabilities (1)2,478A 4€”A 2,478A a€”A A (1)The Company's coffee-related
derivative instruments are traded over-the-counter and, therefore, classified as Level 2. During the fiscal years ended JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers between the

levels.A Due to the highly liquid nature, the amount of the Company's other financial instruments represent the approximate fair value.NoteA 8. Accounts Receivable, NetA As of JuneA 30,(In
thousands)20242023Trade receivables$34,438A $42,914A Other receivables (1)1,419A 2,631A Allowance for credit losses(710)(416)A A A A Accounts receivable,

net$35,147A $45,129A A (1)Includes vendor rebates, transition services receivables and other non-trade receivables. Allowance for credit losses: A (In thousands)Balance at
June 30, 2022$(195)Provision(743)Write- offs288A Recovery234A Balance at June 30, 2023(416)Provision(748)Write- -0ffs306A Recovery148A Balance at June 30, 2024$(710)F - 19Farmer Bros.
Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contmued)NoteA 9. InventoriesAs of June 30,(In

productsA A A Processed25,166A 21,418A A A A Unprocessed41A 63AAAAAAA A AA Tota125 207A 21,481A Coffee brewmg equlpment parts3,486A 4,526AAAAAAAAAAAAAAATotal
inventories$57,230A $49,276A In addition to product cost, inventory costs include expenditures such as direct labor and certain supply, freight, warehousing, overhead variances, purchase
price variances and other expenses incurred in bringing the inventory to its existing condition and location. The a€ceUnprocesseda€ inventory values as stated in the above table represent the
value of raw materials and the 4€ceProcesseda€ inventory values represent all other products consisting primarily of finished goods. NoteA 10. Property, Plant and EquipmentA A As of

JuneA 30,(In thousands)20242023Buildings and facilities$20, 441A $20,146A Machinery and equipment108, 757A 144,473A Capitalized software9,190A 7,934A Office furniture and
equipment8,486A 8,231A 146,874A 180,784A Accumulated depreciation(113,790)(147, 920)Land918A 918A Property, plant and equipment, net$34, 002A $33,782A Depreciation and
amortization expense, related to continuing operations wasA $11.6 million, $12.9 million, and $12.4 million, for the years endedA JuneA 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.Maintenance and
repairs to property, plant and equipment, related to continuing operations charged to expense for the years ended JuneA 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were $8.3 million, $8.0 million and $7.3
million, respectively.Coffee Brewing Equipment (4€ceCBE&€) and ServiceCapitalized CBE included in machinery and equipment above are:As of JuneA 30,(In thousands)20242023Coffee
Brewing Equipment$66,596A $93,159A Accumulated depreciation(39,941)(66,953)A A Coffee Brewing Equipment, net$26,655A $26,206A Depreciation expense related to capitalized CBE and
other CBE related expenses (excluding CBE depreciation) provided to customers and reported in cost of goods sold were as follows:For the Years Ended JuneA 30,(In
thousands)202420232022Depreciation expense$7,344A $7,213A $7,492A Other CBE expenses36,859A 32,298A 25,773A Other expenses related to CBE provided to customers, such as the cost
of servicing that equipment (including service employeesa€™ salaries, cost of transportation and the cost of supplies and parts), are considered directly attributable to the generation of
revenues from the customers. Therefore, these costs are included in cost of goods sold.F - 20Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)NoteA 11. Intangible
AssetsThe following is a summary of the Companya€™s amortized and unamortized intangible assets: As of June 30, WeightedAverageAmortizationPeriod as ofJune 30, 202420242023(In
thousands)GrossCarryingAmountAccumulatedAmortizationNetGrossCarryingAmountAccumulatedAmortizationNetAmortized intangible assets:Customer

relationships2.8$33,003A $(26,292)$6,711A $33,003A $(24,092)$8,911A Recipes0.0930A (930)a€”A 930A (885)45A Trade name/brand name0.0510A (510)4€”A 510A (495)15A Total amortized
intangible assets34,443A (27,732)6,711A 34,443A (25,472)8,971A Unamortized intangible assets:Trademarks, trade names and brand name with indefinite

lives4,522A 4€”A 4,522A 4,522A 4€”A 4,522A Total unamortized intangible assets4,522A a€”A 4,522A 4,522A &4€”A 4,522A Total intangible

assets$38,965A $(27,732)$11,233A $38,965A $(25,472)$13,493A There were no indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment charges recorded in the fiscal years ended ]uneA 30, 2024, 2023
and 2022.The Company also assesses the recoverability of certain finite-lived intangible assets. No impairment was recorded for the finite-lived intangibles for the years ended JuneA 30, 2024,
2023, and 2022. Amortization expense for the year endedA JuneA 30, 2024 was $2.3 million. Amortization expense for the years ended June 30, 2023, and 2022 wereA $2.4 million each year, for
these assets.At JuneA 30, 2024, future annual amortization of finite-lived intangible assets for the fiscal yearsA 2025A throughA 2028 is estimated to be (in thousands):For the fiscal year
ending:June 30, 2025$2,200A June 30, 20262,200A June 30, 20271,911A June 30, 2028400A Total$6,711A NoteA 12. Employee Benefit PlansThe Company provides the following benefit plans
for full-time employees who work 30 hours or more per week:a€¢401(k);4€¢health and other welfare benefit plans; anda€¢in certain circumstances, pension and postretirement benefits.See
below for detail description of each benefit plan. Generally, the plans provide health benefits after 30 days of employment and other retirement benefits based on years of service and/or a
combination of years of service and earnings. F - 21Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)Single Employer Pension PlansAs of JuneA 30, 2024, the Company
has two defined benefit pension plans for certain employees (the "Farmer Bros. Plan" and the 4€ceHourly Employees' Plana€). A Farmer Bros. PlanAs of JuneA 30,HourlyA Employeesa€™ PlanAs
of JuneA 30,Total ($ in thousands)202420232024202320242023Change in projected benefit obligationBenefit obligation at the beginning of the

year$95,406A $102,508A $3,801A $3,951A $99,207A $106,459A Interest cost4,631A 4,451A 186A 173A 4,817A 4,624A Actuarial gain(2, 119)(5,008)(310)(132)(2,429)(5,140)Benefits paid(6,535)
(6,545)(194)(191)(6,729)(6, 736)Pr0]ected benefit obhgatmn at the end of the year$91 383A $95,406A $3,483A $3,801A $94, 866A $99, 207A Change in plan assetsFair value of plan assets at the
beginning of the year$75,934A $74,250A $3,690A $3,848A $79,624A $78,098A Actual return on plan assets7,543A 6,147A 165A 33A 7,708A 6,180A Employer

contributions2,332A 2,082A a4€”A a€”A 2,332A 2,082A Benefits paid(6,535)(6,545)(194)(191)(6,729)(6,736)Fair value of plan assets at the end of the

year$79,274A $75,934A $3,661A $3,690A $82,935A $79,624A Funded status at end of year (underfunded)$(12,109)$(19,472)$178A $(111)$(11,931)$(19,583)Amounts recognized in
consolidated balance sheetsNon-current assetsa€”A a€”A 178A a€”A 178A a€”A Noncurrent liabilities(12,109)(19,472)a€”A (111)(12,109)

(19,583)Total$(12,109)$(19,472)$178A $(111)$(11,931)$(19,583)Amounts recognized in AOCINet loss22,291A 28,444A (185)137A 22,106A 28,581A Total accumulated OCI (not adjusted for
applicable tax)$22,291A $28,444A $(185)$137A $22,106A $28,581A Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligationsDiscount

rate5.35A %5.05A %5.35A %5.05A %5.35A %5.05A %Rate of compensation increaseN/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/AA Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost andOther Changes Recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss) (OCI)A A Farmer Bros. PlanJuneA 30, HourlyA Employeesae ™ Plan June 30,Total($ in thousands)202420232022202420232022202420232022Components of net
periodic benefit costInterest cost4, 631A 4,451A 3,262A 186A 173A 129A 4,817A 4,624A 3,391A Expected return on plan assets(4,336)(3,906)(4,734)(152)(129)(214)(4,488)(4,035)
(4,948)Amortization of net loss827A 1,125A 1,356A a€”A a€”A 4€”A 827A 1,125A 1,356A Net periodic benefit cost$1,122A $1,670A $(116)$34A $44A $(85)$1,156A $1,714A $(201)Other
changes recognized in OCINet gain (1)$(5,326)$(7,249)$(7,542)$(322)$(36)$(279)$(5,648)$(7,285)$(7,821)Amortization of net loss(827)(1,125)(1,356)a€”A a€”A a€”A (827)(1,125)(1,356)Total
recognized in other comprehensive income (loss)$(6,153)$(8,374)$(8,898)$(322)$(36)$(279)$(6,475)$(8,410)$(9,177)Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and
0OCI$(5,031)$(6,704)$(9,014)$(288)$8A. $(364)$(5,319)$(6,696)$(9,378)Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit costDiscount

rate5.05A %4.50A %2.60A %5.05A %4.50A %2.60A %5.05A %4.50A %2.60A %Expected long-term return on plan

assets7.00A %6.50A %6.25A %5.50A %4.75A %6.50A %6.25A %5.63A %6.38A %Rate of compensation increaseN/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/A(1) Net gain for fiscal year ended June 30, 2024,
2023 and 2022 was primarily due to plan assets returns. Basis Used to Determine Expected Long-term Return on Plan AssetsThe expected long-term return on plan assets assumption was
developed as a weighted average rate based on the target asset allocation of the plan and the Long-Term Capital Market Assumptions (CMA) 2020. The capital market assumptions were
developed with a primary focus on forward-looking valuation models and market indicators. The key fundamental economic inputs for these models are future inflation, economic growth, and
interest rate environment. Due to the long-term nature of the pension obligations, the investment horizon for the CMA 2020 is 20 to 30 years. In addition to forward-looking models, F -
22Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)historical analysis of market data and trends was reflected, as well as the outlook of recognized economists,
organizations and consensus CMA from other credible studies. Description of Investment PolicyThe Companya€™s investment strategy is to build an efficient, well-diversified portfolio based on
a long-term, strategic outlook of the investment markets. The investment markets outlook utilizes both the historical-based and forward-looking return forecasts to establish future return
expectations for various asset classes. These return expectations are used to develop a core asset allocation based on the specific needs of each plan. The core asset allocation utilizes
investment portfolios of various asset classes and multiple investment managers in order to maximize the plana€™s return while providing multiple layers of diversification to help minimize
risk.Additional DisclosuresA Farmer Bros. PlanjuneA 30, HourlyA Employeesa€™ Plan]uneA 30,Total($ in thousands)202420232024202320242023Comparison of obligations to plan
assetsProjected benefit obligation$91,383A $95,406A $3,483A $3,801A $94,866A $99,207A Accumulated benefit obligation91,383A 95,406A 3,483A 3,801A 94,866A 99,207A Fair value of plan
assets at measurement date79,274A 75,934A 3,661A 3,690A 82,935A 79,624A Plan assets by categoryEquity securities37,849A 49,516A 4€”A 750A 37,84950,266A Debt

securities37,504A 20,765A 3,661A 2,940A 41,16523,705A Real estate3,921A 5,653A a€”A a€”A 3,9215,653A Total$79,274A $75,934A $3,661A $3,690A $82,935A $79,624A Plan assets by
categoryEquity securities47.7A %65.2A %&€”A %20.3A %45.6A %63.1A %Debt securities47.3A %27.3A %100.0A %79.7A %49.7A %29.8A %Real

estate5.0A %7.5A %a€”A %a€”A %4.7A %7.1A %Total100A %100A %100A %100A %100A %100A %Fair values of plan assets were as follows: As of June 30, 2024(In

thousands)TotalLevelA 1LevelA 2LevelA 3Investments measured at NAVFarmer Bros. Plan$79,274A $a€”A $4€”A $4€”A $79,274A Hourly Employeesa€™ Plan3,661A a€”A a€”A a€”A 3,661A As
of June 30, 2023(In thousands)TotalLevelA 1LevelA 2LevelA 3Investments measured at NAVFarmer Bros. Plan$75,934A $4€”A $a€”A $a€”A $75,934A Hourly Employeesa€™

Plan3,690A a€”A a€”A a€”A 3,690A The Company's single employer pension plana€”Hourly Employees' Plan target asset allocation remains in debt securities for fiscal 2025.The following is the
target asset allocation for the Company's single employer pension plana€” Farmer Bros. Plana€”for fiscal 2025:A Fiscal 2025U.S. large cap equity securities28.0A %U.S. small cap equity
securities10.0A %International equity securities22.0A %Debt securities35.0A %Real Asset5.0A %Total100.0A %Estimated Amounts in OCI Expected To Be RecognizedIn fiscal 2025, the
Company expects to recognize net periodic cost of $0.7 million for the Farmer Bros.A Plan and $73.3 thousand for the Hourly Employeesa€™ Plan. Estimated Future Contributions and RefundsF
- 23Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)In fiscal 2025, the Company expects to contribute $2.9 million to the Farmer Bros.A Plan and does not expect to
contribute to the Hourly Employeesa€™ Plan. Estimated Future Benefit PaymentsThe following benefit payments are expected to be paid over the next 10 fiscal years:(In thousands)Farmer
Bros.A PlanHourlyA Employeesa€™ PlanYear Ending:June 30, 2025$7,640A $260A June 30, 20267,210A 240A June 30, 20277,300A 260A June 30, 20287,310A 260A June 30,

20297,270A 260A June 30, 2030 to June 30, 203434,670A 1,270A These amounts are based on current data and assumptions and reflect expected future service, as appropriate.Multiemployer
Pension Plans The Company participates in one multiemployer defined benefit pension plan that is union sponsored and collectively bargained for the benefit of certain employees subject to
collective bargaining agreements, called the Western Conference of Teamsters Pension Plan ("WCTPP"). The Company makes contributions to this plan generally based on the number of hours
worked by the participants in accordance with the provisions of negotiated labor contracts. Pension Protection Act Zone StatusPension FundEIN-PNAs of 1/1/2022Western Conference of
Teamsters Pension Plan91-6145047-001GreenThe Company also contributes to two defined contribution pension plans ("All Other Plans") that are union sponsored and collectively bargained for
the benefit of certain employees subject to collective bargaining agreements. The Companya€™s minimum contributions to these plans are defined within the collective bargaining
agreements.Contributions made by the Company to the multiemployer pension plans were as follows:(In thousands)WCTPP(1)(2)(3)All Other PlansYear Ended:June 30, 2024$1,248A $35A June
30, 20231,280A 28A June 30, 2022961A 29A (1)Individually significant plan. (2)Less than 5% of total contribution to WCTPP based on WCTPP's FASB Disclosure Statement (3)The
Company guarantees that one hundred seventy-three (173) hours will be contributed upon for all employees who are compensated for all available straight time hours for each calendar month.
An additional 6.5% of the basic contribution must be paid for PEER or the Program for Enhanced Early Retirement.The risks of participating in multiemployer pension plans are different from
single-employer plans in that: (i)A assets contributed to a multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating employers; (ii)A if a
participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be borne by the remaining participating employers; and (iii)A if the Company stops participating
in the multiemployer plan, the Company may be required to pay the plan an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan, referred to as a withdrawal liability.Future collective
bargaining negotiations may result in the Company withdrawing from the remaining multiemployer pension plans in which it participates and, if successful, the Company may incur a
withdrawal liability, the amount of which could be material to the Company's results of operations and cash flows.Multiemployer Plans Other Than Pension PlansThe Company participates in



nine multiemployer defined contribution plans other than pension plans that provide medical, vision, dental and disability benefits for active, union-represented employees subject to collective
bargaining agreements. The plans are subject to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, and provide that participating employers make monthly contributions
to the plans in an amount as specified in the collective bargaining agreements. Also, the plans provide that participants make self-payments to the plans, the amounts of which are negotiated
through the collective bargaining process. The Company's participation in these plans is governed by collective bargaining agreements which expires on or before SeptemberA 30, 2027. The
Company's aggregate contributions to multiemployer plans other than pension plans in F - 24Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)the fiscal years ended June
30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $3.9 million, $3.6 million and $3.0 million, respectively. The Company expects to contribute an aggregate of approximately $3.9 million towards multiemployer
plans other than pension plans in fiscal 2025.401(k) PlanThe Farmer Bros. Co. 401(k) Plan (the "401(k) Plan") is available to all eligible employees. The 401(k) Plan match portion is available to
all eligible employees who have worked more than 1,000 hours during a calendar year and were employed at the end of the calendar year. Participants in the 401 (k) Plan may choose to
contribute a percentage of their annual pay subject to the maximum contribution allowed by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company's matching contribution is discretionary, based on
approval by the Company's Board of Directors. Effective January 1, 2023, the Company eliminated the 4% non-elective contribution and changed the Company match to 100% of the first 3%
each eligible employee contributes plus 50% on the next 2% they contribute.Effective January 1, 2024, the Company amended the 401 (k) matching program, whereby the Company on an annual
basis will contribute cash for 100% of the first 3% each eligible employee contributes plus 50% on the next 2% they contribute. The Company recorded matching contributions of $1.3 million,
$2.0 million and $2.0 million in operating expenses for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 the Company
contributed a total of 595,031 shares, 937,848 shares and 371,566 shares of the Companya€™s common stock with a value of $1.9 million, $4.6 million and $3.6 million, respectively, to eligible
participantsa€™ annual plan compensation. Effective August 1, 2024, the Company suspended the 401(k) matching program.Postretirement BenefitsIn June 2021, the Company amended the
Death Benefit Plan effective immediately, which triggered re-measurement of the plan. The Company surrendered the purchased life insurance policies that funded these death benefits, and
received cash proceeds from the insurance carriers. In conjunction with the amendment, the Company created a new Executive Death Benefit Plan (the 4€ceExecutive Death Benefit Plana€) for
a small group of participants in the Death Benefit Plan. Under the Executive Death Benefit Plan, the participants receive the same benefits they would have received under the Death Benefit
Plan. The Company also retained the life insurance policies to fund the postretirement death benefit of these participants, and have a long-term receivable in Other Assets of $0.5 million as of
JuneA 30, 2024 which equates to the cash surrender value of the policies.The following table shows the components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the Retiree Medical Plan and
Executive Death Benefit Plan for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022. Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for fiscal 2024 was based on employee census information as of
JuneA 30, 2024.A Year Ended JuneA 30,(In thousands)202420232022Components of Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost (Credit):Service cost$a€”A $a€”A $a€”A Interest

cost42A 39A 27A Amortization of net gaina€”A 4€”A 11A Net periodic postretirement benefit (credit) cost$42A $39A $38A The tables below show the remaining bases for the transition (asset)
obligation, prior service cost (credit), and the calculation of the amortizable gain or loss for the Executive Death Benefit Plan.A Year Ended June 30,($ in thousands)20242023Amortization of Net
(Gain) Loss:Net loss as of July 1$8A $17A Net loss subject to amortization8A 17A Corridor (10% of greater of APBO or assets)86A 83A Net loss in excess of corridor$a€”A $a€”A Amortization
years14.715.3F - 25Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)A The following tables provide a reconciliation of the benefit obligation and plan assets for the
Retiree Medical Plan, Death Benefit Plan and Executive Death Benefit Plan: A As of JuneA 30,(In thousands)20242023Change in Benefit Obligation:Projected postretirement benefit obligation at
beginning of year$826A $844A Service costa€”A a€”A Interest cost42A 39A Actuarial (gains) losses(9)(57)Benefits paida€”A 4€”A Projected postretirement benefit obligation at end of
year$859A $826A A Year Ended JuneA 30,(In thousands)20242023Change in Plan Assets:Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year$a€”A $4€”A Employer contributionsad€”A 4€”A Benefits
paida€”A &4€”A Fair value of plan assets at end of year$a€”A $a€”A Projected postretirement benefit obligation at end of year859A 826A Funded status of plan$(859)$(826)A JuneA 30,(In
thousands)20242023Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets Consist of:Current liabilities$(69)$(61)Noncurrent liabilities(790)(765)Total$(859)$(826)A (In thousands)Estimated
Future Benefit Payments:A Year Ending:June 30, 2025$71A June 30, 202673A June 30, 202774A June 30, 202875A June 30, 202975A June 30, 2030 to June 30, 2034351A Expected
Contributions:June 30, 2025$71A NoteA 13. Debt Obligations The following table summarizes the Companya€™s debt obligations:June 30, 2024June 30, 2023(In thousands)Debt Origination
DateMaturityPrincipal Amount BorrowedCarrying ValueWeighted Average Interest Rate Carrying ValueWeighted Average Interest

RateRevolvervarious4/26/2027N/A$23,300A 7.05A %$23,021A 6.66A % The weighted average interest rate excludes the fixed rate on the de-designated Amended Rate SwapOn

AprilA 26, 2021, the Company repaid in full all of the outstanding loans and other amounts payable under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of November 6, 2018, using
proceeds of loans received pursuant to a refinancing under a new senior secured facility composed of (a) the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement (the "Revolver Credit Facility Agreement") and
various loan documents relating thereto including the Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of AprilA 26, 2021 (the &€ceRevolver Security Agreementa€), by and among the Borrowers, as
grantors, and Wells Fargo, as administrative agent, and (b) a Credit Agreement, dated as of AprilA 26, 2021 (the a€eTerm Credit Facility Agreementa€) by and among the Borrowers, MGG
Investment Group LP. (4€eMGGa€), as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto, and various loan documents F - 26Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)relating thereto including the Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of AprilA 26, 2021 (the &€ceTerm Security Agreementa€), by and among the Borrowers, as grantors, and
MGG, as administrative agent.On August 8, 2022, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into the Increase Joinder and Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement (the a&€ce2nd
Amendmenta€), with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for each member of the lender group and as a lender. The 2nd Amendment amends that certain Revolver Credit Facility
Agreement, originally entered into by the parties on AprilA 26, 2021, which governs the Companya€ ™s revolving credit facility (the "Revolver Credit Facility"). The 2nd Amendment amends
certain terms and conditions of the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement by, among other things: (i) increasing the maximum revolver amount by $10,000,000 to an aggregate maximum revolver
commitment amount of $90,000,000; and (ii) replacing the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) interest rate benchmark (which had an applicable margin of 2.25% for LIBOR rate loans) with
the secured overnight financing rate (SOFR) interest rate benchmark (which has an applicable margin of 1.75% for SOFR rate loans).On August 31, 2022, the Company entered into Amendment
No. 3 to Credit Agreement (the 4€ce3rd Amendmenta€), with the lenders party thereto, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for each member of the lender group and as a
lender. The 3rd Amendment amends certain terms and conditions of the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement by, among other things: (i) adding a new $47.0A million term loan (the &€ceTerm
Loanéa€); (ii) extending the maturity date of the Companya€™s obligations under the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement from April 25, 2025 to April 26, 2027; provided, that if the maturity date
of the Revolver Commitments is extended on or prior to April 1, 2027 to a date that is after April 26, 2027, then the maturity of the Term Loan shall be August 31, 2037; (iii) releasing liens
securing the obligations under the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement on various real properties owned by the Company; (iv) commencing on or around June 30, 2023, obligating the Company
to maintain a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, calculated for each 12-month period ending on the last day of each fiscal month, of at least 1:00 to 1:00; and (v) lowering the Letter of Credit Fee
payable with respect to letters of credit issued under the Credit Agreement from 2.25% to 1.75% of the average amount of the Letter of Credit Usage during the immediately preceding month.
The proceeds of the Term Loan were used to repay the outstanding term loans under the Term Credit Facility Agreement. With the repayment of the Companya€ ™s outstanding loans and other
obligations under the Term Credit Facility Agreement, the Company is no longer subject to the minimum EBITDA covenants contained therein.On JuneA 30, 2023, the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries entered into that certain Consent and Amendment No. 4 to Credit Agreement (the &€ceFourth Amendmenta€), with the lenders party thereto, and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as administrative agent for each member of the lender group. The Fourth Amendment amends that certain Revolver Credit Facility Agreement, originally entered into by and among
the parties on AprilA 26, 2021. The Fourth Amendment includes a consent to the Sale by the administrative agent and the lenders and amends certain terms and conditions of the Credit
Agreement by, among other things: (i) reflecting the payoff in full, with proceeds from the Sale, of the $47.0A million outstanding amount of the Term Loan, (ii) reflecting the paydown, with
proceeds from the Sale, of the Revolver Credit Facility (and a reduction of the maximum commitment of the lenders under the Revolver Credit Facility to $75.0A million), (iii) releasing liens of
the administrative agent securing the obligations under the Credit Agreement on assets sold pursuant to the Sale, and (iv) amending the Credit Agreement so that the Company's financial
covenant (i.e., fixed charge coverage ratio) is only in effect during such times when the Company's liquidity falls below certain thresholds.On December 4, 2023 (the 4€ceEffective Dateéd€), the
Company, and certain of its subsidiaries entered into that certain Consent and Amendment No. 5 to Credit Agreement (the &€ceConsent and Amendmenta€), with the lenders party thereto (the
d€ceLendersa€), and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent for each member of the lender group (in such capacity, the 4€ceAgenta€) to amend certain terms of the
Revolver Credit Facility Agreement, including the definition of specified real property and the release of security interests in certain real properties. The following is a summary description of
the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement and the Revolver Security Agreement (the "Revolver Security Facility") key items. The Revolver Credit Facility Agreement, among other things include:
1.a commitment of up to $75.0 million (d€ceRevolvera€) calculated as the lesser of (a) $75.0 million or (b) the amount equal to the sum of (i) 85% of eligible accounts receivable (less a dilution
reserve), plus (ii) the lesser of: (a) 80% of eligible raw material inventory, eligible in-transit inventory and eligible finished goods inventory (collectively, &€ceEligible Inventory4€), and (b) 85% of
the net orderly liquidation value of Eligible Inventory, minus (c) applicable reserve;2.sublimit on letters of credit of $10.0 million;3.maturity date of AprilA 26, 2027 and has no scheduled
payback required on the principal prior to the maturity date;4.fully collateralized by all existing and future capital stock of the Borrowers (other than the Company) and all of the Borrowers'
personal and real property;5.interest under the Revolver is either a€7if the relevant Obligation is a SOFR Loan, at a per annum rate equal to Term F - 27Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)SOFR plus the SOFR Margin (1.75%), and otherwise, at a per annum rate equal to the Base Rate (the greater of the Federal Funds Rate + 0.50% or Term SOFR
+1%) plus the Base Rate Margin (0.75%).; and6.in the event that Borrowersa€™ availability to borrow under the Revolver falls below $9.375 million, the financial covenant requires the
Company to meet or exceed a fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.00:1.00 at all such times.The Revolver Credit Facility Agreement and the Revolver Security Agreement contain customary
affirmative and negative covenants and restrictions typical for a financing of this type that, among other things, require the Company to satisfy certain financial covenants and restrict the
Company's and its subsidiaries' ability to incur additional debt, pay dividends and make distributions, make certain investments and acquisitions, repurchase its stock and prepay certain
indebtedness, create liens, enter into agreements with affiliates, modify the nature of its business, transfer and sell material assets and merge or consolidate. Non-compliance with one or more
of the covenants and restrictions could result in the full or partial principal balance of the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement becoming immediately due and payable and termination of the
commitments. There are no required principal payments on the Revolver debt obligation.At JuneA 30, 2024, the Company had outstanding borrowings on the Revolver Credit Facility of $23.3
million and had utilized $4.1 million of the letters of credit sublimit, and had $27.8 million of availability under our Credit Facility. As of JuneA 30, 2024, the Company was in compliance with all
of the financial covenants under the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement.A Furthermore, the Company believes it will be in compliance with the related financial covenants under these
agreements for the next twelve months.NoteA 14. Share-based CompensationFarmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated 2017 Long-Term Incentive PlanOn June 20, 2017 (the &€ceEffective
Datea€ce), the Companya€™s stockholders approved the Farmer Bros. Co. 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the a€ceOriginal 2017 Plana€), which was subsequently amended to increase the
number of shares of Common Stock available for grant to 3,550,000 shares of Common Stock plus the number of shares of Common Stock subject to the outstanding prior plan awards. The plan
may also be utilized to award and incentive non-employee consultants. The Amended 2017 Plan provides for the grant of stock options (including incentive stock options and non-qualified stock
options), stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, dividend equivalents, performance shares and other stock- or cash-based awards to eligible participants. Non-
employee directors, employees and non-employee consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries are eligible to receive awards under the Amended 2017 Plan. Subject to certain
limitations, shares of Common Stock covered by awards granted under the Amended 2017 Plan that are forfeited, expire or lapse, or are repurchased for or paid in cash, may be used again for
new grants under the Amended 2017 Plan. As of JuneA 30, 2024, there were 1,759,363 shares that remain available under the Amended 2017 Plan including shares that were forfeited under the
Prior Plans for future issuance. Shares of Common Stock granted under the Amended 2017 Plan may be authorized but unissued shares, shares purchased on the open market or treasury
shares. In no event will more than 3,550,000 shares of Common Stock be issuable pursuant to the exercise of incentive stock options under the Amended 2017 Plan. The Amended 2017 Plan
also includes limits on the aggregate grant date fair value of all equity-based awards granted to any non-employee director during any calendar year for services as a member of the Board.The
Amended 2017 Plan contains a minimum vesting requirement, subject to limited exceptions, that awards made under the Amended 2017 Plan may not vest earlier than the date that is one year
following the grant date of the award. The Amended 2017 Plan also contains provisions with respect to payment of exercise or purchase prices, vesting and expiration of awards, adjustments
and treatment of awards upon certain corporate transactions, including stock splits, recapitalizations and mergers, transferability of awards and tax withholding requirements.The Amended
2017 Plan may be amended or terminated by the Board at any time, subject to certain limitations requiring stockholder consent or the consent of the applicable participant. In addition, the
administrator may not, without the approval of the Companya€™s stockholders, authorize certain re-pricings of any outstanding stock options or stock appreciation rights granted under the
Amended 2017 Plan. The Amended 2017 Plan will expire on JuneA 20, 2027.Farmer Bros. Co. 2020 Inducement Incentive PlanIn March 2020, the Companya€™ s Board of Directors approved
the Farmer Bros. Co. 2020 Inducement Incentive Plan (the 4€0e2020 Inducement Plana€). The 2020 Inducement Plan&d€™s purpose is to enhance the Companya€™s ability to attract persons
who make (or are expected to make) important contributions to the Company by providing these individuals with equity ownership opportunities. Awards under the 2020 Inducement Plan has
the same terms and conditions as the Amended 2017 Plan. The Board of Directors has reserved 300,000 shares of the Companya€™s Common Stock for issuance under the 2020 Inducement
Plan. As ofJuneA 30, 2024, there were 182,919 shares that remain available under the 2020 Inducement Plan for future issuance. F - 28Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)Non-qualified stock options with time-based vesting (4€ceNQOsa€)One-third of the total number of NQO vest ratably on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant
date, contingent on continued employment, and subject to accelerated vesting in certain circumstances.There were no options granted during fiscal years ended JuneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
The following table summarizes NQO activity for the year ended June 30, 2024:Outstanding NQOs:Number of NQOsWeighted Average Exercise Price ($)Weighted Average Remaining Life
(Years)Aggregate Intrinsic Value ($ inA thousands)Outstanding at JuneA 30,

2023331,658A 11.693.35a€”A Granteda€”A 4€”a€”4€”A Exerciseda€”A 4€”4€”4€”A Cancelled/Forfeiteda€”A 4€”a€”4€”A Expired(312,208)11.314€”4€”A Outstanding at JuneA 30,

202419,450A 17.752.144€”A Exercisable, JuneA 30, 202419,450A 17.752.144€”A The aggregate intrinsic values outstanding at the end of each fiscal period in the table above represent the
total pretax intrinsic value, based on the Companya€™s closing stock price of $2.68 at JuneA 28, 2024 and $2.77 at JuneA 30, 2023, representing the last trading day of the respective fiscal
years, which would have been received by NQO holders had all award holders exercised their NQOs that were in-the-money as of those dates. The aggregate intrinsic value of NQO exercises in
each fiscal period above represents the difference between the exercise price and the value of the Common Stock at the time of exercise. NQOs outstanding that are expected to vest are net of
estimated forfeitures.There were no NQOs exercised during fiscal year ended JuneA 30, 2024. The Company received no proceeds from exercises of vested NQOs in fiscal 2024, 2023 and
2022.As ofJuneA 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to NQOs. Total compensation expense for NQOs was zero, $0.1 million and $0.6 million
in fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.Non-qualified stock options with performance-based and time-based vesting (&€0ePNQsa€)PNQ shares were not granted during the fiscal years ended
JuneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.The following table summarizes PNQ activity for the year ended June 30, 2024:Outstanding PNQs:Number of PNQsWeighted Average Exercise Price ($)Weighted
AverageRemaining Life (Years)Aggregate Intrinsic Value ($ inA thousands)Outstanding at JuneA 30,

2023991A 32.850.364€”A Granteda€”A a€”a€”a€”A Exerciseda€”A 4€”a€”a€”A Cancelled/Forfeiteda€”A a€”a€”4€”A Expired(991)32.85a€”4€”A Outstanding at JuneA 30,

20244€”A 4€”0.004€”A Exercisable, JuneA 30, 20244€”A 4€”0.004€”A There were no PNQs exercised during the fiscal years ended JuneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022. As ofJuneA 30, 2024 and
2023, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to PNQs. There was no compensation expense related to PNQs in fiscal years ended JuneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.Restricted



StockRestricted stock awards cliff vest on the earlier of the one year anniversary of the grant date or the date of the first annual meeting of the Companya€™s stockholders immediately
following the grant date, in the case of non-employee directors, and the third anniversary of the grant date, in the case of eligible employees, in each case subject to continued service to the
Company through the vesting date and the acceleration provisions of the award plan and restricted stock agreement. Restricted stock is expected to vest net of estimated forfeitures.F -
29Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)The following table summarizes restricted stock activity for the year ended June 30, 2024:Outstanding and Nonvested
Restricted Stock Awards:Shares AwardedWeighted Average GrantA Date Fair Value ($)Outstanding at JuneA 30,

2023882,554A 6.14Granted531,678A 3.02Vested(443,923)5.67Cancelled/Forfeited(307,648)6.610utstanding and nonvested ]uneA 30, 2024662,661A 3.72The weighted average grant date fair
value of RSUs granted during the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $3.02, $5.68, and $7.20, respectively. The total grant-date fair value of restricted stock granted during the
year ended June 30, 2024 was $1.6 million. The total fair value of awards vested during the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $1.3 million, $1.7 million, and $2.3 million,
respectively.As of JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023, there was $1.7 million and $3.6 million, respectively, of unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock. The unrecognized compensation
cost related to restricted stock at JuneA 30, 2024 is expected to be recognized over the weighted average period of 1.78 years. Total compensation expense for restricted stock was $1.7 million,
$2.6 million and $2.1 million, for the fiscal years ended JuneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (4€cePBRSUs&€)PBRSU awards either cliff vest
on the third anniversary of the date of grant based on the Companya€ ™s achievement of certain financial performance goals during the performance periods or certain PBRSU awards vest
based on the achievement of a share price target before the third anniversary of the date of the grant. All PBRSU awards are subject to certain continued employment conditions and subject to
acceleration provisions of the award plan and restricted stock unit agreement. At the end of the performance period, the number of PBRSUs that actually vest will be a percentage of the target
amount, depending on the extent to which the Company meets or exceeds the achievement of those financial performance goals measured over the performance period. PBRSUs are expected to
vest net of estimated forfeitures.The following table summarizes PBRSU activity for the year ended June 30, 2024:Outstanding and Nonvested PBRSUs:PBRSUs AwardedWeighted Average
GrantA Date Fair Value ($)Outstanding at JuneA 30, 2023549,291A 5.92Granted394,576A 2.95Vested(134,660)4.10Cancelled/Forfeited(414,631)6. 510utstanding and nonvested JuneA 30,
2024394,576A 2.95The weighted average grant date fair value of PBRSUs granted during the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $2.95, $6.40, and $8.91, respectively. The total
grant-date fair value of PBRSUs granted during the year ended June 30, 2024 was $1.2 million. The total fair value of awards vested during the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were $0.3
million and $3.2 thousand, respectively. As ofJuneA 30, 2024 and 2023, there was $0.9 million and $1.7 million, respectively, of unrecognized compensation cost related to PBRSUs. The
unrecognized compensation cost related to PBRSUs at JuneA 30, 2024 is expected to be recognized over the weighted average period of 1.97 years. Total compensation expense for PBRSUs was
$0.5 million for the year ended JuneA 30, 2024, $0.7 million for the year ended June 30,A 2023 and $0.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2022. Cash-Settled Restricted Stock Units
(&€eCSRSUsa€)In December 2020, the Company granted CSRSUs under the Amended 2017 Plan to certain employees. CSRSUs vest in equal installments over a three-year period from the
grant date, and are cash-settled upon vesting based on the Common Stock's closing share price on the vesting date. The CSRSUs are accounted for as liability awards, and compensation
expense is measured at fair value on the date of grant and recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period net of forfeitures. Compensation expense is remeasured at each reporting
date with a cumulative adjustment to compensation cost during the period based on changes in the Common Stock's closing share price. F - 30Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)The following table summarizes CSRSU activity during the year ended June 30, 2024:Outstanding and Nonvested CSRSUs:CSRSUs AwardedWeighted Average

GrantA Date Fair Value ($)Outstanding at JuneA 30, 2023184,807A 6.15Granted556,000A 2.50Vested(68,538)5.95Cancelled/Forfeited(52,942)4.540utstanding and nonvested JuneA 30,
2024619,327A 2.94The weighted average grant date fair value of CSRSUs granted during the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $2.50, $6.07 and $8.91, respectively. The total
grant-date fair value of CSRSUs granted during the year ended June 30, 2024 was $1.3 million. The total fair value of awards vested during the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was
$0.2 million, $0.2 million and $0.4 million, respectively. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, there was $1.6 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of unrecognized compensation cost related to CSRSU.
The unrecognized compensation cost related to CSRSU at June 30, 2024 is expected to be recognized over the weighted average period of 2.25 years. Total compensation expense for CSRSUs
was $0.5 million, $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.NoteA 15. Other Current LiabilitiesOther current liabilities consist of the
following:A As of JuneA 30,(In thousands)202420230ther (1)$2,323A $3,334A Accrued workersa€™ compensation liabilities481A 992A Finance lease liabilities193A 193A Other current
liabilities$2,997A $4,519A (1) Includes accrued property taxes, sales and use taxes and insurance liabilities.Note 16. Other Long-Term LiabilitiesOther long-term liabilities include the
following:As of June 30,(In thousands)20242023Derivative liabilities&€”noncurrent$1, 505A $a€”A Deferred compensation (1)505A 267A Finance lease liabilities101A 270A Other long-term
liabilities$2,111A $537A (1) Includes performance cash awards liability and payroll taxes. NoteA 17. Income TaxesThe current and deferred ‘components of the provision for income
taxes consist of the following:A A For the Years Ended JuneA 30,(In thousands)202420232022Current: Federal$a€”A $a€”A $a€ ”A State14A 142A 124A Total current income tax

expensel4A 142A 124A Deferred:Federala€”A (373)a€”A Statea€”A (94)a€”A Total deferred income tax (benefit) expensea€” "A (467)4€”A Income tax expense (beneflt) $14A $(325)$124A F -
31Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)A reconciliation of income tax expense to the federal statutory tax rate is as follows:A For the Years Ended JuneA 30,
(In thousands)202420232022Statutory tax rate21%21%21%Income tax benefit at statutory rate$(811)$(7,216)$(389)State income tax expense (benefit) (net of federal tax

benefit)933A 2,407A (754)Valuation allowance(3,223)3,788A 1,767A Change in tax rate(26)(111)(210)Post-retirement medical plan and other offset in OCIA€”A (467)a€”A Other

(net)3,141A 1,274A (290)Income tax expense (benefit)$14A $(325)$124A Our federal corporate tax rate is 21%. Deferred tax amounts are calculated based on the rates at which they are
expected to reverse in the future.The primary components of the temporary differences which give rise to the Companya€™s net deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:A A As of

JuneA 30,(In thousands)20242023Deferred tax assets:Postretirement benefits$3,290A $5,349A Accrued liabilities2,121A 2,642A 163(j) Interest Limitation 9,633A 7,772A Net operating loss
carryforward54,981A 55,566A Intangible assets5,476A 6,481A Right-of-use operating lease liabilities9,009A 6,346A Other5,128A 5,436A Total deferred tax assets89,638A 89,592A Deferred tax
liabilities:Property, plant and equipment(4,086)(725)Right-of-use operating lease assets(8,865)(6,194)O0ther(1,284)(2,238)Total deferred tax liabilities(14,235)(9,157)Valuation
allowance(75,403)(80,435)Net deferred tax liability$a€ "A $a€”A At June 30, 2024, the Company had approximately $134.0 million of federal and $170.9 million of state net operating loss
carryforwards that will begin to expire in the years ending June 30, 2027 and June 30, 2024, respectively. Net operating losses of $77.1 million in federal and $10.0 million of state are indefinite
lived and will not expire. Additionally, at June 30, 2024, the Company had $0.9 million of federal and state tax credits.In assessing if the deferred tax assets will be realized, the Company
considers whether it is probable that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In determining whether the deferred taxes are realizable, the Company considers the period of
expiration of the tax asset, historical and projected taxable income, and tax liabilities for the tax jurisdiction in which the tax asset is located. Valuation allowances are provided to reduce the
amounts of deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized based on an assessment of positive and negative evidence, including estimates of future taxable income
necessary to realize future deductible amounts.For the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, due to recent cumulative losses, the Company concluded that certain federal and state net
operating loss carry forwards and tax credit carryovers will not be utilized before expiration. The amounts of valuation allowance recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were $75.4
million and $80.4 million to reduce deferred tax assets as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of, and for the three years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company

hadA noA significant uncertain tax positions.On August 16, 2022 the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 was signed into law. The Company does not anticipate any material impact to our
consolidated financial statements.The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. and in various state jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations. The Company is no longer subject to
U.S. income tax examinations for the fiscal years prior to JuneA 30, 2021. We report income-based tax in multiple states with various years open to examination. Although the outcome of tax
audits is always uncertain, the F - 32Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)Company does not believe the outcome of any future audit will have a material
adverse effect on the Companya€™s consolidated financial statements. The Companya€™s policy is to recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters as a component of
income tax expense. There were no amount of interest and penalties recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, associated with uncertain
tax positions. Additionally, the Company did not record any income tax expense related to interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and
2022.NoteA 18. Net Loss Per Common ShareA Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to the Company by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the periods presented. Diluted net loss per common share is calculated by dividing diluted net loss attributable to the Company by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding adjusted to include the effect, if dilutive, of the exercise of in-the-money stock options, unvested performance-based restricted stock units, unvested RSUs and
shares of Series A Preferred Stock, as converted, during the periods presented. The calculation of dilutive shares outstanding excludes out-of-the-money stock options (i.e., such optiona€™s
exercise prices were greater than the average market price of our common shares for the period). Potentially dilutive securities include unvested RSUs and performance-based restricted stock
units. For the year ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, shares of the Companya€™s outstanding RSUs, PBRSUs, preferred stock and stock options were not included in the computation of
diluted loss per common share as their effects were anti-dilutive.The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted loss per common share, net of income taxes:For the Years
Ended JuneA 30,(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)202420232022Loss from continuing operations$(3,875)$(34,038)$(2,568)Loss from discontinued

0perations$é€"A $(45,142)$(13,687)Net loss available to common stockholdersa€”basic$(3,875)$(79,180)$(16,255)Weighted average common shares outstandinga€”basic and
diluted20,873,266A 19,621,992A 18,200,080A Loss from continuing operations per common share available to common stockholdersa€”basic and diluted$(0.19)$(1.74)$(0.14)Loss from
discontinued operations per common share available to common stockholdersa€“basic and diluted$a€”A $(2.30)$(0.75)Net loss per common share available to common stockholdersa€”basic
and diluted$(0.19)$(4.04)$(0.89)The following table summarizes anti-dilutive securities excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per common share for the periods indicated:For the
Years Ended JuneA 30,202420232022Shares issuable under stock options19,450A 331,658A 452,537A Shares issuable under convertible preferred stocka€”A 4€”A 452,667A Shares issuable
under RSUs and PBRSUs203,726A 491,564A 426,243A NoteA 19. Commitments and ContingenciesPurchase Commitments As of JuneA 30, 2024, the Company had committed to purchase green
coffee inventory totaling $34.0 million under fixed-price contracts and $17.7 million in inventory and other purchases under non-cancelable purchase orders.Legal ProceedingsThe Company is a
party to various pending legal and administrative proceedings. It is managementa€™s opinion that the outcome of such proceedings will not have a material impact on the Companya€™s
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.Note 20. Revenue Recognition The Companya€™ s primary sources of revenue are sales of coffee, tea and culinary products. The Company
recognizes revenue when control of the promised good or service is transferred to the customer and in amounts that the Company expects to collect. The timing of revenue recognition takes
into consideration the various shipping terms applicable to the Companya€™s sales. F - 33Farmer Bros. Co.Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)The Company delivers
products to customers through DSD to the Companya€™s customers at their place of business and directly from the Companya€™s warehouse to the customera€™s warehouse, facility or
address. Each delivery or shipment made to a third party customer is to satisfy a performance obligation. Performance obligations generally occur at a point in time and are satisfied when
control of the goods passes to the customer. The Company is entitled to collection of the sales price under normal credit terms in the regions in which it operates.The Company disaggregates
net sales from contracts with customers based on the characteristics of the products sold:For the Years Ended JuneA 30,202420232022(In thousands)$% of total$% of total$% of totalNet Sales
by Product Category:Coffee (Roasted)$158,113A 46.4A %$160,009A 31.9A %$151,843A 32.4A %Tea & Other Beverages

(1)90,069A 26.4A %88,241A 17.6A %80,547A 17.2A %Culinary65,938A 19.3A %64,429A 12.9A %55,782A 11.9A %Spices21,911A 6.4A %23,502A 4.7A %22,248A 4.7A %Delivery
Surcharge5,063A 1.5A %3,783A 0.8A %4,363A 0.9A %Net sales from continuing operations 341,094A 100.0A %339,964A 67.9A %314,783A 67.1A %Net sales from discontinued

operationsa€”A 4€”A %160,977A 32.1A %154,410A 32.9A %Net sales by product category$341,094A 100.0A %$500,941A 100.0A %$469,193A 100.0A % (1)Includes all beverages
other than roasted coffee, including frozen liquid coffee, and iced and hot tea, including cappuccino, cocoa, granitas, and concentrated and ready-to drink cold brew and iced coffee.The
Company does not have any material contract assets and liabilities as ofA JuneA 30, 2024. Receivables from contracts with customers are included in &€ceAccounts receivable, neta€ on the
Companya€™s consolidated balance sheets. At JuneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 a€ceAccounts receivable, neta€ included, $34.4 million, $42.9 million and $44.2 million respectively, in
receivables from contracts with customers.Note 21. Preferred StockThe Company is authorized to issue 500,000 shares of preferred stock at a par value of $1.00, including 21,000 authorized
shares of Series A Preferred Stock. There are no preferred shares issued and outstanding as ofJuneA 30, 2024.Effective August 25, 2022, 12,964 shares of Series A Preferred Stock were
converted into 399,208 shares of common stock at a conversion price of $38.32, in accordance with the terms of the Companya€™s Designation of Series A Preferred Stock. The shares of Series
A Preferred Stock were originally issued to Boyd on October 2, 2017 pursuant to the Boyd Purchase Agreement. 1,736 shares of Series A Preferred Stock originally issued to Boyd in accordance
with the terms of the Boyd Purchase Agreement were previously reacquired and cancelled by the Company as part of a settlement with Boyd on July 26, 2022. The shares of Series A Preferred
Stock converted represented all of the issued and outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock. In connection therewith, the Company withheld the Holdback Shares against Boyd.In fiscal
year 2023, as a result of the settlement entered into with Boyd, the Company recorded a $1.9 million gain on settlement with Boyd, in general and administrative expense on the consolidated
statement of operations, which included the cancellation of preferred shares and settlement of acquisition-related contingent liabilities.F - 34 EX-10.56 2 farm-63024x10560fferletter.htm EX-
10.56 DocumentExhibit 10.56May 17, 2024Vance FisherRe: Offer of EmploymentDear Vance,On behalf of Farmer Bros. Co. (the 4€ceCompanya€), I am pleased to offer you full-time employment
in the position of Chief Financial Officer, based in Fort Worth, TX. You will report directly to John Moore, President and CEO. You will perform and execute such duties assigned with your
position. Your target start date is June 1, 2024.As discussed, your offer includes the following:4€¢Your annualized salary for this exempt position is $400,000.00 (or $15,384.62 per 26 bi-weekly
pay periods).a€¢You will also be eligible to participate in the Management Incentive Plan so long as the plan remains in effect. You will be eligible for a 60% annual target, currently based on
Company and individual achievement of goals, payable after the end of the Companya€™s fiscal year following certification by the Compensation Committee (4€ceCompensation Committeea€)
of the Companya€™s Board of Directors (a€ceBoarda€), subject to your continued service through the payment date.a€¢Upon joining, you will be receive the following one-time grants: (1) a
time-based restricted stock unit (4€ceRSU4€) grant valued at $250,000.00; and (2) a performance-based restricted stock unit (4€cePBRSU4€) grant valued at $300,000.00. The grants will be
made under the Companya€™s 2020 Inducement Incentive Plan (the &€ceInducement Plana€) and/or 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the &€0eLTIP&€, together with the Inducement Plan, the
4€cePlansa€). The number of units will be determined based on the closing stock price on the first day of the month following the date you start in this role.The RSU grant will vest ratably over
three years from the grant date and is subject to accelerated vesting in the event of a change in control (as defined under the applicable Plan or RSU award agreement). Should you have a
qualifying resignation (as defined under your RSU award agreement and as determined in the sole discretion of the Board), any unvested portion of this grant will be accelerated and shall vest
upon the effective date of your resignation and be settled within 75 days thereof.The PBRSU grant will vest in full upon the date on which the volume-weighted average price per share of the
Companya€™s common stock reaches at least $6.00 per share over the preceding 90 consecutive trading days or a change in control valuing the Companya€™s common stock at the target
price or higher. The PBRSU grant expires upon the earlier ofthe end of your employment with the Company or three years from the grant date if the target price is not reached within either
time period. Should you have a qualifying resignation (as defined under your PBRSU award agreement and as determined in the sole discretion of the Board), any unvested portion of this
Exhibit 10.56grant will remain eligible to vest through the third anniversary of the grant date, notwithstanding your separation from service. The PBRSU award will be settled within 75 days of
achieving the stock price hurdle.&€¢You will be eligible to receive additional grants on an annual basis under our Long-Term Incentive Program (the 4€ceLTI Programéa€), subject to annual
approval by the Compensation Committee. For your anticipated LTI Program grant for the Companya€™s 2025 fiscal year, you will receive only a PBRSU grant valued at $250,000.00. Your
annual LTI Program target grant in future years is expected to be $500,000.00. All grants will be subject to the terms of the award agreements and the plan documents.For your 2025 fiscal year



PBRSU grant, should you have a qualifying resignation (as defined under your PBRSU award agreement and as determined in the sole discretion of the Board), any unvested portion of this
grant will remain eligible to vest based on actual performance through the last day of the performance period, subject to Committee certification of the performance results, notwithstanding
your separation from service. Any vested and earned PBRSUs will be settled within 75 days of the last day of the performance period, and the rest will forfeit.For your 2026 fiscal year LTI
Program grants, should you have a qualifying resignation (as defined under your LTI Program award agreements and as determined in the sole discretion of the Board), (i) all but 1/3 of your
total RSUs shall vest upon the effective date of your resignation and will be settled within 75 days thereof and (ii) in the case of your PBRSU grant, all but 2/3rds of the total PBRSU grant will
remain eligible to vest based on actual performance through the last day of the performance period, subject to Committee certification of the performance results, notwithstanding your
separation from service. Any vested and earned PBRSUs will be settled within 75 days of the last day of the performance period, and the rest will forfeit.4€¢Subject to the language in the
underlying award agreements, a 4€cequalifying resignationa€ shall generally mean a voluntary &€ceseparation from servicea€ (as such term is defined under Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code, as amended) as a result of your retirement occurring on or after the second anniversary of your hire date, provided that: (1) the Company has achieved positive free cash flow in
each of the four quarters completed immediately prior to your resignation (as determined in the sole discretion of the Board); (2) the Company, in the reasonable discretion of the Board, has a
well-qualified internal successor for the CFO position; and (3) facts or circumstances do not exist that would entitle the Company to terminate you for cause (as defined under your severance
agreement) at the time of such resignation.&€¢You are eligible to participate in Farmer Bros. Co. benefit programs after meeting the designated waiting periods. These benefits include a 401(k),
as well as, Healthcare, Vision and Dental options. All compensation and benefits programs are subject to the conditions set forth by Farmer Bros. Co. at the time of receipt. Changes are made
periodically to these programs at the sole discretion of Farmer Bros. Co.a€¢You will be eligible to enter into the standard severance and indemnification agreements with the Company. The
forms of the agreements were filed as exhibits 10.34 and 10.36, respectively, to the Companya€™s annual report on September 12, 2023.4€¢You agree and consent to the application of the
Companya€™s compensation recovery policy as in effect from time to time and, to the extent applicable, agree that compensation payable to you (pursuant to this offer letter or otherwise) may
be subject to clawback or recovery thereunder.Except as described in the severance agreement, your employment at the Company is &€ceat-willa€. This means that it is not for any specified
period of time and can be terminated by you or by the Company at any time, with or without notice, and for any or no particular reason or cause. Nothing in this offer is intended to modify this
d€ceat willa€ status. It also means that your job duties, title, responsibilities, reporting level, compensation and benefits, as well as the Companya€™s personnel policies and procedures, may be
changed with or without notice Exhibit 10.56at any time at the sole discretion of the Company. This 4€ceat-willa€ nature of your employment may only be changed by an express written
agreement that is signed by you and the President and CEO of the Company.This offer and subsequent employment is conditioned upon the following:4€¢Successful completion, as determined
by the Companya€™ s Board of Directors, of background, drug and reference checks. These checks must be completed prior to your start with the Company. The Company reserves the right to
modify your start date should these necessary checks be delayed for any reason.a€¢In compliance with current immigration law, you will need to provide satisfactory documentary proof of your
identity and right to work in the United States of America on your first day of employment.If you accept this offer, and the conditions set forth are satisfied, this letter shall constitute the
complete agreement between you and the Company regarding the initial terms and conditions of your employment. Any representations, whether written or oral, not contained in this letter, or
contrary to this letter that have been made to you are expressly cancelled and superseded by this offer.Please confirm your acceptance of this offer by signing this letter and retain a copy for
your records.We are pleased to offer you this position and are confident that your employment with the Company will be mutually rewarding. It is an exciting time and we look forward to your
acceptance of our offer.Sincerely,/s/Jared Vitemb Jared VitembI have reviewed and understand the terms and conditions of this offer and accept this position:Dated: May 17 , 2024 Signature: /s/
Vance Fisher Print Name: Vance Fisher EX-10.57 3 ex1057-retentionawardlette.htm EX-10.57 DocumentEx 10.57August 7, 2023Re: Retention AwardDear Matthew Coffman,As we move forward
with our focus on our direct store delivery business, it is critical that key employees like you remain with Farmer Brothers (the "Company"). You possess a highly valuable skill set and
knowledge, and your efforts and contributions are vital to the stability and future of the business.The Company is offering you a special retention award in recognition of your importance to the
future of the Company. I am pleased to offer you a special one-time retention bonus of $50,000 (the "Retention Bonus"). In return for your commitment to remain with the Company, the
Retention Bonus will be paid to you, subject to the terms set forth on the following pages.Please return a signed copy of this letter agreement (the "Agreement") to Amber Jefferson, Chief
Human Resources Officer, no later than Friday, August 11, 2023.Matt we truly appreciate your previous, current and future dedicated service to Farmer Brothers.Sincerely, Deverl
MaserangPresident and Chief Executive OfficerEx 10.571. Payment Date(s). The Company will pay fifty percent of the Retention Bonus ($25,000) on March 15, 2024 and fifty percent of the
Retention Bonus ($25,000) on September 13, 2024. 2. Eligibility. You must be actively employed by the Company on each of the Payment Date(s) to be eligible to receive payment. If you
voluntarily resign from the Company for any reason or you are terminated by the Company for Cause prior to each of the Payment Date(s), you are not entitled to the Retention Bonus.
a€ceCaused€ means (a) the willful and continued failure of Executive to perform Executived€™ s material job duties with the Company Group (other than any such failure resulting from
becoming Disabled), after a written demand for substantial performance is delivered to Executive by the Company which specifically identifies the manner in which the Company believes that
Executive has not substantially performed Executivea€™s duties and Executive has had an opportunity for thirty (30) days to cure such failure after receipt of such written demand; (b) engaging
in an act (whether by act or omission) of willful misconduct, fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation or theft which results in damage to the Company Group; (c) conviction of Executive of, or
Executive pleading guilty or nolo contendere to, a felony (other than a violation of a motor vehicle or moving violation law) or a misdemeanor if such misdemeanor (A) is reasonably expected to
or actually causes material damage to the Company Group; or (B) involves the commission of a criminal act against the Company Group; or (d) the breach by Executive of any material provision
of, or inaccuracy in any material respect of any representation made by Executive in, the Companya€™s policies or any agreement to which the Executive is party with the Company or its
affiliates, that is not cured within 30 days of written notice from the Company setting forth with reasonable particularity such breach or inaccuracy, provided that, if such breach or inaccuracy
is not capable of being cured within 30 days after receipt of such notice, Executive shall not be entitled to such cure period.3. Tax Withholding. The Company may withhold from the Retention
Bonus such federal, state and local taxes as are required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation. The Company is not making any warranties or representations to you with
respect to the income tax consequences of the Retention Bonus. You are hereby advised to consult with your own tax advisor with respect the tax consequences to you of the Retention Bonus
and, if applicable, the repayment thereof. 4. Other Benefits. The Retention Bonus is a special payment to you and will not be considered in computing the amount of salary or compensation for
purposes of determining any other bonus, incentive, pension, retirement, death, or other benefit under any other bonus, incentive, pension, retirement, insurance, or other employee benefit
plan of the Company, unless such plan or agreement expressly provides otherwise. 5. Employment at Will. The payment of the Retention Bonus (and your acceptance thereof) does not change
the at-will nature of your employment relationship, which means that both you and the Company have the right to terminate your employment at any time, with or without advance notice and
with or without cause. It also means that your job duties, title, responsibilities, reporting level, compensation and benefits, as well as the Companya€ ™s personnel policies and procedures, may
be changed with or without notice at any time at the sole discretion of the Company. 6. Miscellaneous. You agree that you will use your best efforts to perform your duties and responsibilities to
the Company. You also agree that you will keep the terms of this Agreement confidential, and will not, except as required by law, disclose the terms of this Agreement to any person other than
your spouse or professional advisors (who must also keep the terms of this Agreement confidential). You further agree that you will comply with all other confidentiality and other restrictive
covenants that you may be subject to under any other agreement with, or policy of, the Company or any of its affiliates. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties with
respect to the subject matter hereof. ACCEPTEDSignature: /s/Matthew Coffman Name: Matthew Coffman Date:

_8/10/2023 cc: Amber Jefferson EX-10.60 4 farm63024-ex1060xinducemen.htm EX-10.60 DocumentEXHIBIT 10.60FARMER BROS. CO. AMENDED AND RESTATED 2017 LONG-
TERM INCENTIVE PLANRESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENTFarmer Bros. Co. (the &€eCompanya€) has granted to the participant listed below (&€ceParticipanta€) the restricted
stock units (the &€eRSUsa€) described in this Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (this &€ceAgreementda€), subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Farmer Bros. Co.
Amended and Restated 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan (as amended from time to time, the &€cePlana€), which is incorporated into this Agreement by reference. For purposes of this Agreement,
references to the 4€ceCompanya€ shall include any Subsidiary employer, as applicable. To the extent not defined herein, terms used in this Agreement which are defined in the Plan shall have
the same meanings as set forth in the Plan.Participant:Vance FisherGrant Date:July 1, 2024Number of RSUs Granted:[[SHARESGRANTED]]Vesting ScheduleSubject to and conditioned upon
Participanta€™s continued employment with the Company through the applicable Vesting Date, and further subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan, the RSUs shall
vest and become payable as follows: Vesting DatePercentage of RSUs vestingFirst Anniversary of Grant Date33 1/3%Second Anniversary of Grant Date33 1/3%Third Anniversary of Grant
Date33 1/3%Notwithstanding the foregoing, the RSUs shall be subject to accelerated vesting in certain circumstances as provided in this Agreement.In no event shall the RSUs vest and become
payable with respect to any additional RSUs following Participanta€™ s Termination of Service. ELECTRONIC Acceptance of Award:By clicking on the &0 ACCEPT&€ box on the a€ceAccept
Granta€ page, you agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan (4€0eRSU Termsa€). The Companya€™s issuance to you of the RSUs is conditioned upon your
timely acceptance of the RSU Terms. Please promptly indicate your acceptance as soon as possible, but in no event later than 30 days following the Grant Date noted above (the d€ceAcceptance
Deadlinea€). Failure to accept the RSU Terms by the Acceptance Deadline will result in cancellation of the RSUs, and you will have no rights to the RSUs if you do not accept the RSUs by the
Acceptance DeadlineYou acknowledge that you have reviewed and fully understand all of the provisions of this Agreement and the Plan, and have had the opportunity to obtain advice of counsel
prior to accepting the grant of the RSUs pursuant to this Agreement. You hereby agree to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the Administrator upon any
questions arising under the Plan or relating to the RSUSEXHIBIT 10.60Article I. AWARD; VESTING; FORFEITURE AND SETTLEMENT1. 1A A A A RSUs and Dividend Equivalents.

(a)A A A A Each RSU represents the right to receive one Share on the terms, and subject to the conditions, set forth in this Agreement. Participant will have no right to the distribution of any
Shares until such time (if ever) as the RSUs have vested and been earned hereunder. As noted above, failure to accept the RSU Terms by the Acceptance Deadline will result in the cancellation
of the RSUs, and you will have no further rights with respect to the Award.(b)A A A A The Company hereby grants to Participant, with respect to each RSU, a corresponding Dividend Equivalent
right attributable to one Share that shall, to the extent that any dividend becomes payable on Common Stock while such Dividend Equivalent right remains outstanding, and subject to the terms
set forth below, entitle Participant to a cash payment in the amount of any such dividend paid by the Company in respect of one Share. The Dividend Equivalent right shall remain outstanding
from the Grant Date through the earlier to occur of (i) the termination or forfeiture for any reason of the RSU to which such Dividend Equivalent right corresponds, or (ii) the delivery to the
Participant of the Share in respect of the RSU to which such Dividend Equivalent right corresponds (in any case, the 4&€0eRSU Termination Datea€). For clarity, each Dividend Equivalent right
will entitle Participant to a cash payment in the amount of any dividend(s) paid by the Company in respect of one Share to the extent that such dividend(s) are declared and have ex dividend
date(s), in each case, that occur on or after the applicable Grant Date and on or prior to the applicable RSU Termination Date, payable upon the settlement date in respect of the RSU to which
such Dividend Equivalent right corresponds as provided in Section 1.4 of this Agreement; provided, that with respect to any dividends meeting such criteria that are paid after the RSU
Termination Date, the applicable Dividend Equivalent payment will be paid if and when the Company pays the underlying dividend (but in no event later than March 15th of the year following
the year in which the applicable ex dividend date occurs). For the avoidance of doubt, (x) if an RSU does not ultimately vest hereunder, no Dividend Equivalent payments shall be made with
respect to such unvested RSU, and (y) in no event shall a Dividend Equivalent payment be made that would result in Participant receiving both the Dividend Equivalent payment (in respect of a
dividend) and the actual dividend with respect to the same RSU and corresponding Share. Dividend Equivalent rights and any amounts that may become distributable in respect thereof shall be
treated separately from the RSUs and the rights arising in connection therewith for purposes of the designation of time and form of payments required by Section 409A.1.2A A A A Vesting.
Except as otherwise provided in Section 1.3 of this Agreement, the RSU will become vested and nonforfeitable (&€oeVested RSUsa€) according to the vesting schedule set forth above.

1.3A A A A Termination of Service; Change in Control. (a)A A A A In the event of Participant&€™s Termination of Service for any reason, Participant will immediately and automatically forfeit
the right to receive any Shares underlying the RSU that are not Vested RSUs (the &€ceUnvested RSUsa€) at the time of Participantd€™s Termination of Service, except as otherwise provided for
in this Agreement. Upon forfeiture of Unvested RSUs, the Participant will have no further rights with respect to the Unvested RSUs.(b)A A A A Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein,
in the event of a Change in Control, the following provisions shall apply:(i)A A A A In the event that the Award is not continued, converted, assumed, or replaced by the successor corporation or
a parent or subsidiary of the successor corporation in a EXHIBIT 10.60Change in Control, in any case, as determined by the Administrator, any then-Unvested RSUs shall become fully vested
and non-forfeitable as of immediately prior to such Change in Control. The Administrator may condition such accelerated vesting upon Participanta€™s timely execution of an effective release
and/or other transaction-related documents in a form or forms prescribed by the Company.(ii)A A A A In the event of Participanta€™s Termination of Service by the Company without Cause or
by Participant for Good Reason, in either case, within twenty-four (24) months following a Change in Control, subject to and conditioned upon Participanta€™s timely execution of an effective
release in a form prescribed by the Administrator, any then-Unvested RSUs shall become fully vested and non-forfeitable as of the date of such Termination of Service. For purposes of this
Agreement, 4€eGood Reasona€ shall mean the occurrence of any one or more of the following conditions without Participanta€™s consent: (i) a material diminution of Participanta€™s base
salary, (ii) a material diminution in Participanta€™ s authority, duties or responsibilities, or (iii) the requirement by the Company that Participanta€™s principal place of employment be based
more than fifty (50) miles from Participanta€™s primary office location; provided, further, that, a termination for Good Reason will not have occurred unless Participant gives written notice to
the Company of Participanta€™s intention to terminate employment within thirty (30) days after the occurrence of the event constituting Good Reason, specifying in reasonable detail the
circumstances constituting Good Reason, and the Company has failed within thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice to cure the circumstances constituting Good Reason, and Participant
terminates employment within sixty (60) days after the end of such thirty (30)-day cure period.1.4A A A A Settlement.(a)A A A A All of Participanta€™s RSUs which are then vested pursuant to
Sections 1.2 will be paid in Shares, and any related Dividend Equivalents (including any Dividend Equivalent Account balance) will be paid in cash, in each case, during the thirty (30)-day period
beginning with the earliest to occur of the following events:(i)A A A A the Vesting Date; or(ii)A A A A subject to Section 1.4(b), Participanta€™s Termination of Service by the Company without
Cause (other than due to death or Disability) or by Participant for Good Reason, in either case, following a Change in Control. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or the
Plan, no RSUs or Dividend Equivalents shall be distributed to Participant pursuant to this Section 1.4(a)(ii) during the six-month period following Participanta€™s Separation from Service if the
Company determines that distributing such RSUs and Dividend Equivalents at the time or times indicated in this Agreement would be a prohibited distribution under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of
the Code. If the distribution of any of Participanta€™s RSUs and Dividend Equivalents is delayed as a result of the previous sentence, then such RSUs and Dividend Equivalents (including any
Dividend Equivalent Account balance) shall be paid to Participant during the thirty (30)-day period beginning on the first business day following the end of such six-month period (or such earlier
date upon which such RSUs and Dividend Equivalents can be distributed under Section 409A without resulting in a prohibited distribution, including as a result of Participanta€™s death).
MAAAA Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 1.4(a), in the event that the vesting of the RSUs accelerates pursuant to Section 1.3(b)(ii), Shares shall be distributed to
Participant in settlement of such RSUs, and any related Dividend Equivalents (including any EXHIBIT 10.60Dividend Equivalent Account balance) shall be paid to Participant, in each case,
immediately prior to the consummation of such Change in Control. ARTICLE II. TAXATION AND TAX WITHHOLDING1.5A A A A Responsibility for Taxes. (a)A A A A Participant acknowledges
that, regardless of any action taken by the Company, the ultimate liability for all income tax, social insurance, payroll tax, employment tax, fringe benefit tax, payment on account or other tax-
related items related to Participantd€™ s participation in the Plan and legally applicable to Participant or deemed by the Company in its discretion to be an appropriate charge to Participant
even if legally applicable to the Company (a€ceTax-Related Itemsa€) is and remains Participanta€™s responsibility and may exceed the amount actually withheld by the Company. Participant
further acknowledges that the Company (i) makes no representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax-Related Items in connection with any aspect of the RSUs, including,




but not limited to, the grant or vesting of the RSUs or any related Dividend Equivalents, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired upon vesting, and the receipt of any dividends; and (ii) does not
commit to and is under no obligation to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the RSUs to reduce or eliminate Participanta€™s liability for Tax-Related Items or achieve any
particular tax result. Further, if Participant is subject to Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction, Participant acknowledges that the Company may be required to withhold or account for
Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction.(b)A A A A Prior to the relevant taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, Participant agrees to cooperate with the Company in satisfying
any applicable withholding obligations for Tax-Related Items. In this regard, the Company or its agents, at their discretion, may satisfy, or allow Participant to satisfy, the withholding obligation
with regard to all Tax-Related Items by any of the following, or a combination thereof:(i)A A A A By delivery of cash, check or wire transfer of immediately available funds by Participant to the
Company; provided that the Administrator may limit the use of one of the foregoing methods if one or more of the methods below is permitted.(ii)A A A A Unless the Administrator otherwise
determines, (A) delivery (including telephonically to the extent permitted by the Administrator) of a notice to the Company that the Participant has placed a market sell order with a broker
acceptable to the Administrator with respect to Shares then issuable and that the broker has been directed to deliver promptly to the Company funds sufficient to satisfy the tax obligations, or
(B) the Participanta€™s delivery to the Company of a copy of irrevocable and unconditional instructions to a broker acceptable to the Administrator to deliver promptly to the Company an
amount sufficient to satisfy the tax withholding by cash, check or wire transfer of immediately available funds; provided, that such amount is paid to the Company at such time as may be
required by the Administrator; or provided.(iii)A A A A To the extent permitted by the Administrator, delivery to the Company of Shares, including Shares delivered by attestation and Shares
then issuable in settlement of the RSUs, valued at their Fair Market Value on the date of delivery (or such other date determined by the Administrator). (c)A A A A The Company has the right
and option, but not the obligation, to treat Participanta€™s failure to provide timely payment of any tax withholding with regard to all Tax-Related Items as Participanta€™s election to satisfy all
or a portion of the tax withholding pursuant to Section 2.1(b)(iii) above. EXHIBIT 10.60(d)A A A A Depending on the withholding method, the Company may withhold or account for Tax-Related
Items by considering applicable statutory withholding amounts or other applicable withholding rates, including maximum applicable rates, in which case Participant may receive a refund of any
over-withheld amount in cash through the Companya€™ s normal payroll processes and will have no entitlement to the Common Stock equivalent. (e)A A A A Finally, Participant agrees to pay to
the Company any amount of Tax-Related Items that the Company may be required to withhold or account for as a result of Participanta€™s participation in the Plan that cannot be satisfied by
the means previously described. The Company may refuse to honor the vesting of the RSUs and/or refuse to issue or deliver the Shares or the proceeds from the sale of the Shares if Participant
fails to comply with Participanta€™s obligations in connection with the Tax-Related Items.ARTICLE III. OTHER PROVISIONS1.6A A A A Nature of Grant. In accepting the RSUs, Participant

understands, acknowledges, and agrees that:(a)A A A A the Plan is established _voluntarily by the Company, it is discretionary in nature and it may be modified, amended, suspended or

terminated by the Company at any time in accordance with its terms;(b)A A A A the grant of the RSUs is exceptional, voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right

to receive future grants of RSUs, or benefits in lieu of RSUs, even if RSUs have been granted in the past; (c)A A A A all decisions with respect to future RSU or other grants, if any, will be at the
sole discretion of the Administrator; (d)A A A A the RSU grant and participation in the Plan shall not create a right to employment or service or be interpreted as forming or amending an
employment or service contract with the Company or any other Subsidiary and shall not interfere with the ability of the Company or any other Subsidiary, as applicable, to terminate
Participanta€™s employment or service relationship (if any) at any time with or without cause; (e)A A A A Participant is voluntarily participating in the Plan; (HA A A A the RSUs and any Shares
acquired under the Plan, and the income and value of same, are not intended to replace any pension rights or compensation (if any);(g)A A A A the RSUs and any Shares acquired under the
Plan, and the income and value of same, are not part of normal or expected compensation for purposes of calculating any severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, dismissal, end of
service payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement benefits, welfare benefits or other similar payments (if any);(h)A A A A the future value of the Shares underlying the RSUs
is unknown, indeterminable and cannot be predicted with certainty;(i)A A A A no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the RSUs resulting from
Participantd€™s Termination of Service (for any reason whatsoever, whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of Applicable Laws or the terms of Participanta€™s employment or
service agreement, if any);(j)A A A A unless otherwise agreed with the Company, the RSUs and the Shares underlying the RSUs, and the income and value of same, are not granted as
consideration for, or in connection with, any services Participant may provide as a director of a Subsidiary; EXHIBIT 10.60(k)A A A A as specified in Section 3.17 hereof, the RSUs are subject to
any compensation recoupment policy required to be applied to such award under Applicable Law and/or adopted by the Company from time to time, including after the Grant Date;

and(1)A A A A unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by the Administrator, the RSUs and the benefits evidenced by this Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the RSUs or any such
benefits transferred to, or assumed by, another company, nor to be exchanged, cashed out or substituted for, in connection with any corporate transaction affecting the Common Stock or
Company.1.7A A A A No Advice Regarding Grant. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is any such party making recommendations
regarding participation in the Plan, or Participanta€™ s acquisition or sale of the underlying Shares. Participant understands and agrees that Participant should consult with Participanta€™s
own personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding participation in the Plan before taking any action related to his or her Awards under the Plan.1.8A A A A Transferability. The RSUs are
not transferable, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution or as permitted by the Administrator in accordance with the terms of the Plan. Any permitted transfer of an Award
hereunder shall be without consideration, except as required by Applicable Law.1.9A A A A Adjustments. Participant acknowledges that the RSUs, the Shares subject to the RSUs and the
Dividend Equivalents are subject to adjustment, modification and termination in certain events as provided in this Agreement and the Plan.1.10A A A A Defined Terms; Titles. Capitalized terms
not defined in this Agreement have the meanings given to them in the Plan. Titles are provided herein for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction of
this Agreement.1.11A A A A Conformity to Applicable Laws. Participant acknowledges that the Plan and this Agreement are intended to conform to the extent necessary with all Applicable Laws
and, to the extent Applicable Laws permit, will be deemed amended as necessary to conform to Applicable Laws.1.12A A A A Successors and Assigns; Third-Party Beneficiaries. The Company
may assign any of its rights under this Agreement to single or multiple assignees, and this Agreement will inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to the
transfer provisions set forth in the Plan, this Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.
Each Subsidiary is an intended third-party beneficiary of any rights or entitlements conferred on any such party hereunder, and shall be entitled to enforce such rights and entitlements
hereunder as if such entity was a signatory to this Agreement.1.13A A A A Entire Agreement and Imposition of Other Terms. The Plan and this Agreement (including all exhibits and appendices
hereto) constitute the entire agreement of the parties and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company (or between any other Subsidiary) and Participant
with respect to the subject matter hereof. Nonetheless, the Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on Participanta€ ™s participation in the Plan, on the RSUs and on any
Shares acquired under the Plan, to the extent the Administrator determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require Participant to sign any additional
agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing. In the event of any inconsistency between the Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the Plan will

control. EXHIBIT 10.601.14A A A A Severability. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held illegal or invalid, the provision will be severable from, and the illegality or invalidity of
the provision will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions of this Agreement.1.15A A A A Waiver. Participant acknowledges that a waiver by the Company of breach of
any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by Participant or any other

person.1.16A A A A Limitation on Participanta€™s Rights. Participation in the Plan confers no rights or interests other than as herein provided. This Agreement creates a contractual
arrangement between the Company and Participant only (except as expressly provided above with respect to third-party rights of Subsidiaries) and shall not be construed as creating a trust for
the benefit of Participant. Neither the Plan nor any underlying program, in and of itself, has any assets. Participant will have only the rights of a general unsecured creditor of the Company with
respect to amounts credited and benefits payable, if any, with respect to the RSUs and Dividend Equivalents, and rights no greater than the right to receive the Shares or cash as a general
unsecured creditor with respect to the RSUs and Dividend Equivalents, as and when settled pursuant to the terms hereof.1.17A A A A Electronic Delivery and Acceptance. The Company may, in
its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to current or future participation in the Plan by electronic means (including without limitation the Plan, Awards, Award Agreements,
prospectuses required by applicable securities law) and all other documents that the Company is required to deliver to its security holders (including without limitation, annual reports and
proxy statements). Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and
maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.1.18A A A A Notices. Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to the Company must be in writing and
addressed to the Company in care of the Companya€™s Secretary at the Companya€™ s principal office or the Secretarya€™ s then-current email address or facsimile number. Any notice to be
given under the terms of this Agreement to Participant must be in writing and addressed to Participant at Participanta€™ s last known mailing address, email address or facsimile number in the
Companya€™s personnel files. By a notice given pursuant to this Section, either party may designate a different address for notices to be given to that party. Any notice will be deemed duly
given when actually received, when sent by email, when sent by certified mail (return receipt requested) and deposited with postage prepaid in a post office or branch post office regularly
maintained by the United States Postal Service, when delivered by a nationally recognized express shipping company or upon receipt of a facsimile transmission

confirmation.1.19A A A A Limitations Applicable to Section 16 Persons. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or this Agreement, if Participant is subject to Section 16 of the Exchange
Act, the Plan, this Agreement and the RSUs will be subject to any additional limitations set forth in any applicable exemptive rule under Section 16 of the Exchange Act (including any
amendment to Rule 16b-3) that are requirements for the application of such exemptive rule. To the extent Applicable Laws permit, this Agreement will be deemed amended as necessary to
conform to such applicable exemptive rule.1.20A A A A Insider Trading Restrictions/Market Abuse Laws. Participant acknowledges that Participant may be subject to insider trading restrictions
and/or market abuse laws, which may affect Participanta€™s ability to acquire or sell Shares or rights to Shares under the Plan during such times when Participant is considered to have
a€ceinside informationa€ regarding the Company (as defined by Applicable Laws). Any restrictions under these laws or regulations are separate from and in addition to any restrictions that may
be imposed under any applicable insider trading policy of the Company. EXHIBIT 10.60Participant acknowledges that Participant is responsible for ensuring compliance with any applicable
restrictions and should consult Participanta€™ s personal legal advisor on these matters.1.21A A A A Section 409A. The intent of the parties is that the payments and benefits under this
Agreement comply with or be exempt from Section 409A and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder and, accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted, this Agreement shall be
interpreted to be in compliance therewith. For purposes of Section 409A, each payment that Participant may be eligible to receive under this Agreement shall be treated as a separate and
distinct payment. To the extent Participant must enter into a release as noted in Section 1.3 of this Agreement, the payment with respect to the RSU is not exempt from Section 409A, and the
date of the Change in Control or Termination of Service occurs in a different calendar year than the date the release will become effective, then settlement of the RSU may not occur before
January 1 of the second year.1.22A A A A Clawback Provisions. In consideration of the grant of this Award, Participant agrees that this Award and related Dividend Equivalents (including the
gross amount of any proceeds, gains or other economic benefit Participant actually or constructively receives upon receipt of this Award, the receipt or resale of any Shares underlying this
Award or any other amounts or benefits as required by Applicable Law) will be subject to recoupment by the Company to the extent required to comply with Applicable Laws or any policy of the
Company providing for the reimbursement of compensation (including any policy adopted after the Grant Date).1.23A A A A Governing Law. This Agreement and the RSUs and the Dividend
Equivalents will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, disregarding the choice-of-law principles of the State of Delaware and any other state
requiring the application of a jurisdictiona€™ s laws other than the State of Delaware. EX-10.61 5 farm63024-ex1061xinducemen.htm EX-10.61 DocumentEXHIBIT 10.61FARMER BROS. CO.
2017 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLANRESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENTFarmer Bros. Co. (the &€cCompanya€) has granted to the participant listed below (a€ceParticipanta€)
the restricted stock units (the 4€0eRSUsa€) described in this Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (this &€ceAgreementa€), subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the
Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan (as amended from time to time, the &€cePlana€), which is incorporated into this Agreement by reference. For purposes
of this Agreement, references to the &€ceCompanya€ shall include any Subsidiary employer, as applicable. To the extent not defined herein, terms used in this Agreement which are defined in
the Plan shall have the same meanings as set forth in the Plan.Participant:Vance FisherGrant Date:July 1, 2024Number of RSUs Granted:[[SHARESGRANTED]]Performance Goal Performance
PeriodGrant Date thru the 3rd anniversary of Grant Date (the a€cePerformance Perioda€)Vesting ScheduleSubject to and conditioned upon Participanta€™ s continued employment with the
Company through the last day of the Performance Period, the RSUs shall vest and shall be earned (or not) based on achievement of the Performance Goal set forth in Exhibit A to this
Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the RSUs shall be subject to accelerated vesting in certain circumstances as provided in this Agreement. ELECTRONIC Acceptance of Award:By
clicking on the &€0eACCEPTA€ box on the d€ceAccept Granta€ page, you agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan (4€0eRSU Termsa€). The Companya€™s
issuance to you of the RSUs is conditioned upon your timely acceptance of the RSU Terms. Please promptly indicate your acceptance as soon as possible, but in no event later than 30 days
following the Grant Date noted above (the 4&€aeAcceptance Deadlinea€). Failure to accept the RSU Terms by the Acceptance Deadline will result in cancellation of the RSUs, and you will have no
rights to the RSUs if you do not accept the RSUs by the Acceptance DeadlineYou acknowledge that you have reviewed and fully understand all of the provisions of this Agreement and the Plan,
and have had the opportunity to obtain advice of counsel prior to accepting the grant of the RSUs pursuant to this Agreement. You hereby agree to accept as binding, conclusive and final all
decisions or interpretations of the Administrator upon any questions arising under the Plan or relating to the RSUSEXHIBIT 10.61Article I. AWARD; VESTING; FORFEITURE AND
SETTLEMENT1.1A A A A RSUs (a)A A A A Each RSU represents the right to receive one Share on the terms, and subject to the conditions, set forth in this Agreement. Participant will have no
right to the distribution of any Shares until such time (if ever) as the RSUs have vested and been earned hereunder. As noted above, failure to accept the RSU Terms by the Acceptance Deadline
will result in the cancellation of the RSUs, and you will have no further rights with respect to the Award.1.2A A A A Determination of Performance Goal Achievement and Earned RSUs
Forfeiture.(a)A A A A The RSUs subject to this Award shall vest and become earned, if at all, if the Committee determines the stock price hurdle goal for the Performance Period described at
Exhibit A attached hereto (the &€cePerformance Goald€), has been achieved as set forth on Exhibit A (the 4€ceAchievement Datea€).The Committee shall certify performance with respect to the
Performance Goal for the Performance Period within thirty (30) days of the Achievement Date (such date of determination, the d4€ceCertification Date&€). Subject to Participanta€™s continued
employment through the Achievement Date, 100% of the RSUs shall be earned based on the Committeed€™ s certification of performance with respect to the Performance Goal; provided that in
certifying performance, the Committee shall have the discretion to adjust the number of RSUs that vest and are earned and to adjust the Performance Goals set forth on Exhibit A for any of the
objectively determinable adjustments set forth in part (b) of the definition of &€cePerformance Criteriad€ under of the Plan. All RSUs that are not earned as of the Certification Date shall be
forfeited.(b)A A A A Unless the Administrator otherwise determines or as otherwise provided for in the Plan or this Agreement with respect to Participanta€™s Termination of Service, unvested
and unearned RSUs will immediately and automatically be cancelled and forfeited as of Participanta€™s Termination of Service during the Performance Period. In addition, the RSUs will
immediately and automatically be cancelled and forfeited (including vested RSUs) upon Participantd€™ s Termination of Service for Cause prior to the Certification Date. Dividend Equivalents
(including any Dividend Equivalent Account balance) will vest or be forfeited, as applicable, upon the vesting or forfeiture of the RSU with respect to which the Dividend Equivalent (including
the Dividend Equivalent Account) relates. 1.3A A A A Termination of Service; Change in Control. (a)A A A A Effect of Termination of Service.(i)A A A A Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
in Section 1.2, if Participanta€™s Termination of Service occurs by reason of death or Disability prior to the end of the Performance Period, subject to and conditioned upon Participanta€™s (or
Participanta€™ s guardian or estate, as applicable) timely execution of an effective release in a form prescribed by the Administrator, the RSUs shall remain outstanding following
Participanta€™s Termination of Service and Participant shall be eligible to earn the number of RSUs that would have been earned based on actual performance through the end of the
Performance Period, as certified by the Committee on the Certification Date, had no Termination of Service occurred, with such number of earned RSUs (if any) pro-rated based on the number



of days elapsed in the Performance Period through the Termination of Service over the total number of days in the Performance Period.(ii))A A A A Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in
Section 1.2, if Participantd€™s Termination of Service occurs by reason of a Qualifying Resignation prior to the EXHIBIT 10.61Achievement Date and the end of the Performance Period, the
RSUs shall remain outstanding following Participanta€™s Termination of Service and Participant shall be eligible to earn the number of RSUs that would have been earned based on actual
performance through the end of the Performance Period, as certified by the Committee on the Certification Date, had no Termination of Service occurred. For purposes of this Agreement, a
4€ceQualifying Resignationa€ shall generally mean a voluntary &€oeseparation from servicea€ (as such term is defined under Section 409A of the Code) occurring on or after the second
anniversary of the Participanta€™s June 10, 2024 hire date, provided that: (A) the Company has achieved positive free cash flow in each of the four (4) quarters completed immediately prior to
Participanta€™ s resignation (as determined in the sole discretion of the Board); (B) the Company, in the sole discretion of the Board, has a well-qualified internal successor for the position of
Chief Financial Officer; and (C) facts or circumstances do not exist that would entitle the Company to terminate the Participant for Cause (as defined under Participanta€™s severance
agreement) at the time of such resignation. The Boarda€™s determination as to whether Participanta€™ s resignation is a Qualifying Resignation will occur by the earlier of (x) thirty (30) days
following the date of the Termination of Service or (y) the Certification Date.(b) Effect of Change in Control. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the event of a Change in
Control, the following provisions shall also apply: (i) In the event of Participanta€™s Termination of Service by the Company without Cause (other than due to death or Disability) or by
Participant for Good Reason, in either case, within twenty-four (24) months following a Change in Control, subject to and conditioned upon Participanta€™s timely execution of an effective
release in a form prescribed by the Administrator, the Number of RSUs Granted, as indicated above, shall become fully vested and shall be deemed earned as of the date of such Termination of
Service. All RSUs granted hereunder in excess of the Number of RSUs Granted shall be forfeited. For purposes of this Agreement, 4€ceGood Reasona€ shall have the meaning ascribed to it in
Participanta€™s employment, services or similar agreement with the Company, and if no such agreement exists or such agreement does not contain a definition of &4€ceGood Reasona€, then
a€eGood Reasona€ shall mean the occurrence of any one or more of the following conditions without Participantd€™s consent: (A) a material diminution of Participanta€™s base salary, (B) a
material diminution in Participanta€™ s authority, duties or responsibilities, or (C) the requirement by the Company that Participanta€™s principal place of employment be based more than fifty
(50) miles from Participanta€™ s primary office location; provided, further, that, a termination for Good Reason will not have occurred unless Participant gives written notice to the Company of
Participanta€™s intention to terminate employment within thirty (30) days after the occurrence of the event constituting Good Reason, specifying in reasonable detail the circumstances
constituting Good Reason, and the Company has failed within thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice to cure the circumstances constituting Good Reason, and Participant terminates
employment within sixty (60) days after the end of such thirty (30)-day cure period.1.4A A A A Settlement.(a)A A A A All of Participanta€™s RSUs which are then vested pursuant to Sections 1.2
or 1.3 will be paid in Shares, and any related Dividend Equivalents (including any Dividend Equivalent Account balance) will be paid in cash, in each case, during the thirty (30)-day period
beginning with the earliest to occur of the following events:(i)A A A A the Certification Date;(ii)A A A A subject to Section 1.4(c), Participantd€™s Termination of Service by the Company without
Cause (other than due to death or Disability) or by Participant for Good reason, in either case, following a Change in Control. EXHIBIT 10.61(b)A A A A Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
in this Agreement or the Plan, no RSUs or Dividend Equivalents shall be distributed to Participant pursuant to this Section 1.4 during the six-month period following Participanta€™s
Termination from Service if the Company determines that distributing such RSUs and Dividend Equivalents at the time or times indicated in this Agreement would be a prohibited distribution
under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code. If the distribution of any of Participanta€™s RSUs and Dividend Equivalents is delayed as a result of the previous sentence, then such RSUs and
Dividend Equivalents (including any Dividend Equivalent Account balance) shall be paid to Participant during the thirty (30)-day period beginning on the first business day following the end of
such six-month period (or such earlier date upon which such RSUs and Dividend Equivalents can be distributed under Section 409A without resulting in a prohibited distribution, including as a
result of Participanta€™s death).(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 1.4(a), in the event that the vesting of the RSUs accelerates pursuant to Section 1.3(b)(ii), Shares shall
be distributed to Participant in settlement of such RSUs, and any related Dividend Equivalents (including any Dividend Equivalent Account balance) shall be paid to Participant, in each case,
immediately prior to the consummation of such Change in Control. ARTICLE II. TAXATION AND TAX WITHHOLDING2.1A A A A Responsibility for Taxes. (a)A A A A Participant acknowledges
that, regardless of any action taken by the Company, the ultimate liability for all income tax, social insurance, payroll tax, employment tax, fringe benefit tax, payment on account or other tax-
related items related to Participanta€™s participation in the Plan and legally applicable to Participant or deemed by the Company in its discretion to be an appropriate charge to Participant
even if legally applicable to the Company (4€ceTax-Related Itemsa€) is and remains Participanta€™s responsibility and may exceed the amount actually withheld by the Company. Participant
further acknowledges that the Company (i) makes no representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax-Related Items in connection with any aspect of the RSUs, including,
but not limited to, the grant or vesting of the RSUs or any related Dividend Equivalents, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired upon vesting, and the receipt of any dividends; and (ii) does not
commit to and is under no obligation to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the RSUs to reduce or eliminate Participanta€™s liability for Tax-Related Items or achieve any
particular tax result. Further, if Participant is subject to Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction, Participant acknowledges that the Company may be required to withhold or account for
Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction.(b)A A A A Prior to the relevant taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, Participant agrees to cooperate with the Company in satisfying
any applicable withholding obligations for Tax-Related Items. In this regard, the Company or its agents, at their discretion, may satisfy, or allow Participant to satisfy, the withholding obligation
with regard to all Tax-Related Items by any of the following, or a combination thereof:(i)A A A A By delivery of cash, check or wire transfer of immediately available funds by Participant to the
Company; provided that the Administrator may limit the use of one of the foregoing methods if one or more of the methods below is permitted.(ii)A A A A Unless the Administrator otherwise
determines, (A) delivery (including telephonically to the extent permitted by the Administrator) of a notice to the Company that the Participant has placed a market sell order with a broker
acceptable to the Administrator with respect to Shares then issuable and that the broker has been directed EXHIBIT 10.61to deliver promptly to the Company funds sufficient to satisfy the tax
obligations, or (B) the Participanta€™s delivery to the Company of a copy of irrevocable and unconditional instructions to a broker acceptable to the Administrator to deliver promptly to the
Company an amount sufficient to satisfy the tax withholding by cash, check or wire transfer of immediately available funds; provided, that such amount is paid to the Company at such time as
may be required by the Administrator.(iii)A A A A To the extent permitted by the Administrator, delivery to the Company of Shares, including Shares delivered by attestation and Shares then
issuable in settlement of the RSUs, valued at their Fair Market Value on the date of delivery (or such other date determined by the Administrator). (c)A A A A The Company has the right and
option, but not the obligation, to treat Participanta€™s failure to provide timely payment of any tax withholding with regard to all Tax-Related Items as Participanta€™s election to satisfy all or
a portion of the tax withholding pursuant to Section 2.1(b)(iii) above. (d)A A A A Depending on the withholding method, the Company may withhold or account for Tax-Related Items by
considering applicable statutory withholding amounts or other applicable withholding rates, including maximum applicable rates, in which case Participant may receive a refund of any over-
withheld amount in cash through the Companya€™s normal payroll processes and will have no entitlement to the Common Stock equivalent. (e)A A A A Finally, Participant agrees to pay to the
Company any amount of Tax-Related Items that the Company may be required to withhold or account for as a result of Participantd€™s participation in the Plan that cannot be satisfied by the
means previously described. The Company may refuse to honor the vesting of the RSUs and/or refuse to issue or deliver the Shares or the proceeds from the sale of the Shares if Participant fails
to comply with Participanta€™s obligations in connection with the Tax-Related Items.ARTICLE III. OTHER PROVISIONS3.1A A A A Nature of Grant. In accepting the RSUs, Participant
understands, acknowledges, and agrees that:(a)A A A A the Plan is established _voluntarily by the Company, it is discretionary in nature and it may be modified, amended, suspended or
terminated by the Company at any time in accordance with its terms;(b)A A A A the grant of the RSUs is exceptional, voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right
to receive future grants of RSUs, or benefits in lieu of RSUs, even if RSUs have been granted in the past; (c)A A A A all decisions with respect to future RSU or other grants, if any, will be at the
sole discretion of the Administrator; (d)A A A A the RSU grant and participation in the Plan shall not create a right to employment or service or be interpreted as forming or amending an
employment or service contract with the Company or any other Subsidiary and shall not interfere with the ability of the Company or any other Subsidiary, as applicable, to terminate
Participanta€™s employment or service relationship (if any) at any time with or without cause; (e)A A A A Participant is voluntarily participating in the Plan; (f)A A A A the RSUs and any Shares
acquired under the Plan, and the income and value of same, are not intended to replace any pension rights or compensation (if any); EXHIBIT 10.61(g)A A A A the RSUs and any Shares acquired
under the Plan, and the income and value of same, are not part of normal or expected compensation for purposes of calculating any severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, dismissal,
end of service payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement benefits, welfare benefits or other similar payments (if any);(h)A A A A the future value of the Shares underlying
the RSUs is unknown, indeterminable and cannot be predicted with certainty;(i)A A A A no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the RSUs resulting
from Participanta€™s Termination of Service (for any reason whatsoever, whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of Applicable Laws or the terms of Participanta€™s employment
or service agreement, if any);(j)A A A A unless otherwise agreed with the Company, the RSUs and the Shares underlying the RSUs, and the income and value of same, are not granted as
consideration for, or in connection with, any services Participant may provide as a director of a Subsidiary; (k)A A A A as specified in Section 3.17 hereof, the RSUs are subject to any
compensation recoupment policy required to be applied to such award under Applicable Law and/or adopted by the Company from time to time, including after the Grant Date;

and(1)A A A A unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by the Administrator, the RSUs and the benefits evidenced by this Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the RSUs or any such
benefits transferred to, or assumed by, another company, nor to be exchanged, cashed out or substituted for, in connection with any corporate transaction affecting the Common Stock or
Company.3.2A A A A No Advice Regarding Grant. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is any such party making recommendations
regarding participation in the Plan, or Participanta€™s acquisition or sale of the underlying Shares. Participant understands and agrees that Participant should consult with Participanta€™s
own personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding participation in the Plan before taking any action related to his or her Awards under the Plan.3.3A A A A Transferability. The RSUs are
not transferable, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution or as permitted by the Administrator in accordance with the terms of the Plan. Any permitted transfer of an Award
hereunder shall be without consideration, except as required by Applicable Law.3.4A A A A Adjustments. Participant acknowledges that the RSUs, the Shares subject to the RSUs and the
Dividend Equivalents are subject to adjustment, modification and termination in certain events as provided in this Agreement and the Plan.3.5A A A A Defined Terms; Titles. Capitalized terms
not defined in this Agreement have the meanings given to them in the Plan. Titles are provided herein for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction of

this Agreement.3.6A A A A Conformity to Applicable Laws. Participant acknowledges that the Plan and this Agreement are intended to conform to the extent necessary with all Applicable Laws
and, to the extent Applicable Laws permit, will be deemed amended as necessary to conform to Applicable Laws.3.7A A A A Successors and Assigns; Third-Party Beneficiaries. The Company may
assign any of its rights under this Agreement to single or multiple assignees, and this Agreement will inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to the transfer
provisions set forth in the Plan, this Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto. Each
Subsidiary is an intended third-EXHIBIT 10.61party beneficiary of any rights or entitlements conferred on any such party hereunder, and shall be entitled to enforce such rights and
entitlements hereunder as if such entity was a signatory to this Agreement.3.8A A A A Entire Agreement and Imposition of Other Terms. The Plan and this Agreement (including all exhibits and
appendices hereto) constitute the entire agreement of the parties and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company (or between any other Subsidiary) and
Participant with respect to the subject matter hereof. Nonetheless, the Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on Participanta€™ s participation in the Plan, on the RSUs and
on any Shares acquired under the Plan, to the extent the Administrator determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require Participant to sign any
additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing. In the event of any inconsistency between the Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the Plan will
control.3.9A A A A Severability. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held | illegal or invalid, the provision will be severable from, and the illegality or invalidity of the provision will
not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions of this Agreement.3.10A A A A Waiver. Participant acknowledges that a waiver by the Company of breach of any provision of
this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by Participant or any other person.3.11A A A A Limitation on
Participanta€™ s Rights. Participation in the Plan confers no rights or interests other than as herein provided. This Agreement creates a contractual arrangement between the Company and
Participant only (except as expressly provided above with respect to third-party rights of Subsidiaries) and shall not be construed as creating a trust for the benefit of Participant. Neither the
Plan nor any underlying program, in and of itself, has any assets. Participant will have only the rights of a general unsecured creditor of the Company with respect to amounts credited and
benefits payable, if any, with respect to the RSUs and Dividend Equivalents, and rights no greater than the right to receive the Shares or cash as a general unsecured creditor with respect to
the RSUs and Dividend Equivalents, as and when settled pursuant to the terms hereof.3.12A A A A Electronic Delivery and Acceptance. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver
any documents related to current or future participation in the Plan by electronic means (including without limitation the Plan, Awards, Award Agreements, prospectuses required by applicable
securities law) and all other documents that the Company is required to deliver to its security holders (including without limitation, annual reports and proxy statements). Participant hereby
consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or a third
party designated by the Company.3.13A A A A Notices. Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to the Company must be in writing and addressed to the Company in care of the
Companya€™s Secretary at the Companya€™ s principal office or the Secretarya€™s then-current email address or facsimile number. Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement
to Participant must be in writing and addressed to Participant at Participanta€™s last known mailing address, email address or facsimile number in the Companya€ ™s personnel files. By a
notice given pursuant to this Section, either party may designate a different address for notices to be given to that party. Any notice will be deemed duly given when actually received, when
sent by email, when sent by certified mail (return receipt requested) and deposited with postage prepaid in a post office or branch post office regularly maintained by the United States Postal
Service, when delivered by a nationally recognized express shipping company or upon receipt of a facsimile transmission confirmation. EXHIBIT 10.613.14A A A A Limitations Applicable to
Section 16 Persons. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or this Agreement, if Participant is subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, the Plan, this Agreement and the RSUs will be
subject to any additional limitations set forth in any applicable exemptive rule under Section 16 of the Exchange Act (including any amendment to Rule 16b-3) that are requirements for the
application of such exemptive rule. To the extent Applicable Laws permit, this Agreement will be deemed amended as necessary to conform to such applicable exemptive

rule.3.15A A A A Insider Trading Restrictions/Market Abuse Laws. Participant acknowledges that Participant may be subject to insider trading restrictions and/or market abuse laws, which may
affect Participanta€™ s ability to acquire or sell Shares or rights to Shares under the Plan during such times when Participant is considered to have &€oeinside informationa€ regarding the
Company (as defined by Applicable Laws). Any restrictions under these laws or regulations are separate from and in addition to any restrictions that may be imposed under any applicable
insider trading policy of the Company. Participant acknowledges that Participant is responsible for ensuring compliance with any applicable restrictions and should consult Participanta€™s
personal legal advisor on these matters.3.16A A A A Section 409A. The intent of the parties is that the payments and benefits under this Agreement comply with or be exempt from Section 409A
and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder and, accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted, this Agreement shall be interpreted to be in compliance therewith. For purposes
of Section 409A, each payment that Participant may be eligible to receive under this Agreement shall be treated as a separate and distinct payment. To the extent Participant must enter into a
release as noted in Section 1.3 of this Agreement, the payment with respect to the RSU is not exempt from Section 409A, and the date of the Change in Control or Termination of Service occurs
in a different calendar year than the date the release will become effective, then settlement of the RSU may not occur before January 1 of the second year.3.17A A A A Clawback Provisions. In
consideration of the grant of this Award, Participant agrees that this Award and related Dividend Equivalents (including the gross amount of any proceeds, gains or other economic benefit
Participant actually or constructively receives upon receipt of this Award, the receipt or resale of any Shares underlying this Award or any other amounts or benefits as required by Applicable



Law) will be subject to recoupment by the Company to the extent required to comply with Applicable Laws or any policy of the Company providing for the reimbursement of compensation
(including any policy adopted after the Grant Date).3.18A A A A Governing Law. This Agreement and the RSUs and the Dividend Equivalents will be governed by and interpreted in accordance
with the laws of the State of Delaware, disregarding the choice-of-law principles of the State of Delaware and any other state requiring the application of a jurisdictiona€™ s laws other than the
State of Delaware.EXHIBIT Aln order for the RSUs to be eligible to vest and become earned, the Performance Goal must be achieved within the Performance Period.The Performance Goal shall
be deemed to be achieved upon the earlier of (i) the date the preceding ninety (90) consecutive trading day volume-weighted average price per Share equals or exceeds $6.00 per Share
(provided, the Performance Goal cannot be achieved prior to the 91st trading day of the Performance Period for this romanette (i)) or (ii) the date of the consummation of a Change in Control
valuing the Companya€™s Common Stock at $6.00 per Share or higher, in each case provided that the date the goal is met occurs within the Performance Period. EX-19.1 6 farm-
63024x191insidertradi.htm EX-19.1 DocumentExhibit-19.1INSIDER TRADING POLICYDate: January 31, 2024To: ALL EMPLOYEES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, CONSULTANTS AND OTHER
ASSOCIATES OF FARMER BROS. CO. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (COLLECTIVELY, 4€ceFARMER BROS.&€ OR THE 4€ceCOMPANY&€)Re: INSIDER TRADING IntroductionGenerally, there are
laws that prohibit trading in the securities of a company on the basis of material nonpublic information (sometimes referred to as a€ceinsidea€ information). Anyone violating these laws is
subject to personal liability and could face criminal penalties. In light of the severity of the possible sanctions, both to you individually and to us as a company, we have established this Insider
Trading Policy (this a&€cePolicya€) to assist all of us in complying with our obligations. In order to preserve your and the Companya€™s reputation, it is important not only to avoid, but also to
avoid the appearance of, trading on material nonpublic information or the tipping of material nonpublic information to others. Farmer Bros. has worked hard over the years to establish a
reputation for integrity and ethical conduct, and will work steadfastly in the future to preserve this reputation.This Policy is not intended to replace your responsibility to understand and comply
with the applicable laws and regulations on insider trading where you work or do business. If you have specific questions regarding this Policy, please contact our Compliance Officer at the
number set forth in this Policy below.Applicability of this PolicyThis Policy applies to all transactions in the Companya€™s securities, including common stock, options for common stock, and
any other securities the Company may issue from time to time, such as preferred stock, warrants and convertible debentures, as well as to derivative securities relating to the Companya€™s
stock, whether or not issued by the Company, such as exchange-traded options, for example. This Policy applies to you, as an employee, officer, director, consultant or other associate of the
Company, who receives or has access to material nonpublic information. It applies regardless of position or location. This Policy also applies to your family members who reside with you, anyone
else who lives in your household, and family members who do not live in your household but whose securities transactions are directed by you or are subject to your influence or control, as well
as trusts or other entities for which you make investment decisions. You may be responsible for the transactions of these persons and, therefore, you should make them aware of the need to
confer with you before they trade in the Companya€ ™s securities or the securities of a company they or you know is a Farmer Bros. Business Associate (as defined below). The persons to whom
this Policy applies are referred to as 4€ceCovered Persons.a€Because of their particular access to financial and key business information concerning the Company, Section 16 Individuals and
Other Restricted Persons (each as defined below), in addition to being Covered Persons, have additional responsibilities relating to pre-clearance of all trades in the Companya€™ s securities
and prohibition of trading during certain blackout periods, each as more fully described below.Every Covered Person has the individual responsibility to comply with this Policy. A Covered
Person may, from time to time, have to forego a proposed transaction in the Companya€™s securities even if he or she planned to make the transaction before learning of the material nonpublic
information and even though the Covered Person believes he or she may suffer an economic loss or forego anticipated profit by waiting.Exhibit-19.1What is Farmer Bros. Insider Trading Policy?
Except for the limited exceptions set forth below (see &€ceWhat are the Limited Exceptions to this Policy?a€), you may NOT:a€¢Buy or sell Farmer Bros. securities for your own account or for
any account in which you have a direct or indirect beneficial interest (including an account held by or for any of your family members) while aware of material information concerning Farmer
Bros. that has not been disclosed to the general public (so-called a€cematerial nonpublic informationa€).a€¢Pass along (or recommend or express an opinion regarding a transaction in Farmer
Bros. securities based on) any material nonpublic information concerning Farmer Bros. to others (a€cetipa€ others), including co-workers, customers, suppliers, friends and family members.
Penalties can be imposed whether or not you trade in the securities and whether or not you receive any benefit.a€¢Buy or sell securities of any company, including any of our vendors, suppliers
and customers (collectively, &€ceFarmer Bros. Business Associatesa€), for your own account or any account in which you have a direct or indirect beneficial interest (including an account held
by or for your family members) while aware of, or tip others of, material nonpublic information concerning such Farmer Bros. Business Associate obtained in the course of employment with, or
the performance of services on behalf of, the Company.a€¢Disclose material nonpublic information relating to the Company or any Farmer Bros. Business Associate to third parties.4&€¢Comment
on stock price movement or rumors of other corporate developments that are of possible significance to the investing public unless it is part of your job (such as Investor Relations) or you have
been specifically authorized by the President and Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer in each instance.a€¢Enter into certain other transactions as described below under a€oeOther
Prohibited Transactions.&€4€¢If you are a Section 16 Individual or Other Restricted Person, buy or sell Farmer Bros. securities without first seeking pre-clearance or during any of the four
a€meBlackout Periodsa€ that occur during each fiscal year (see a€aePre-Clearance Procedure, Blackout Periods and Suspension of Tradinga€ below).This does not mean that you cannot ever buy
or sell Farmer Bros. securities or the securities of a Farmer Bros. Business Associate. It only means that you cannot buy or sell such securities if you have material nonpublic information until
the information is deemed public, subject to the pre-clearance procedures and Blackout Periods in the case of Section 16 Individuals and Other Restricted Persons described below. See
4€ceWhen is Information Deemed Public?a€ below. When in doubt as to whether information in your possession is material or if you are unsure as to whether the information has been disclosed
to the public, you should contact our Compliance Officer who will advise you concerning whether you may make the proposed transaction.Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for
independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an emergency expenditure) are not excepted from this Policy. The securities laws do not recognize such mitigating circumstances, and,
in any event, the appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve the Companya€™s reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct.What is Nonpublic
Information?In general, 4€cenonpublic informationa€ is any information relating to the business of Farmer Bros. or a Farmer Bros. Business Associate that is not deemed public. Information
received under circumstances indicating that it is not yet deemed public, or where you know or should know that the information could only have been provided on a confidential basis, is also
deemed nonpublic information until it is deemed public.When is Information Deemed Public?Information is considered public (and no longer &€cenonpublic informationa€) if it has been made
generally available to the securities marketplace and sufficient time has passed for the information to become available in the market. To show that information is public, it is generally
necessary to point to some fact verifying that the information has become generally available, such as disclosure by filing a report on Form 10-Q, Form 10-K, Form 8-K or other report with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (4€ceSECa€), or disclosure by press release to a Exhibit-19.1national business and financial wire service (such as Dow Jones or Reuters), a national news
service, or a national newspaper (such as The Wall Street Journal). The circulation of rumors or &€cetalk on the street,a€ even if accurate, widespread and reported in the media, does not
constitute public disclosure. Similarly, only disclosing part of the information does not constitute public disclosure. So long as any material portion of the information has yet to be publicly
disclosed, the information is deemed &€cenonpublicd€ and may not be misused. In the case of information concerning the Company, we believe that at least one full trading day should elapse
before you buy or sell any Farmer Bros. securities (e.g., if Farmer Bros. issues its press release containing certain matters on a Tuesday, and assuming there is no intervening holiday, you could
buy or sell Farmer Bros. securities beginning on Thursday, subject to any pre-clearance procedures or Blackout Periods, if applicable, and provided you are not aware of any other material
nonpublic information).What is Material Information?In general, material information is any information, positive or negative, for which there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable
investor would consider such information important in making his or her investment decisions, or information that likely would affect the trading price of a companya€™s stock. Information can
be material even if it relates to future, speculative or contingent events and even if it is significant only when considered in combination with publicly available information. It is important to
remember that materiality will be judged with the benefit of hindsight, which is always 20/20. While it is not possible to define all categories of material information, there are various categories
of information that are particularly sensitive and, as a general rule, should always be considered material. Examples of such information include:a€¢Financial results, including quarterly or
annual earnings;a4€¢Earnings estimates or changes in previously announced earnings estimates;a€¢Determination that there is an impairment to one or more of the Companya€™ s assets;a€
¢Change in the Companya€™s fiscal year;a€¢Proposal or agreement for a significant merger, acquisition, divestiture, tender offer or joint venture, or the termination of such agreement;a€
¢Purchase or sale of a significant asset;a€¢New products;a€¢Developments regarding customers or suppliers, or the acquisition or loss of a significant contract;a€¢Change in control of the
Company;a€¢Changes in management or the departure or election of a director;a€¢Major labor dispute, including a strike or lockout;a€¢Amendment to the Companya€™s Certificate of
Incorporation or Bylaws;a€¢The waiver of a provision of the Companya€™s Code of Conduct and Ethics;a€¢A change in the Companya€™ s independent auditor;a€¢Discovery of an error in the
Companya€™s financial statements or notification from the Companya€™s independent auditor that the Company may no longer rely on a previously issued audit report or completed interim
review;a€¢Creation of a financial obligation of the Company, including long-term or short-term debt, capital or operating leases, and off-balance sheet arrangements;a€¢Increase or acceleration
of, or default on, a financial obligation of the Company;a€¢Change in dividend policy;a€¢Stock split or stock dividend;a€¢Failure by Farmer Bros. to satisfy a rule or standard for the continued
listing of the Companya€™s common stock on Nasdaq;Exhibit-19.1a€¢Significant litigation or government investigation;a€¢Significant financial liquidity problems; anda€¢Other favorable or
unfavorable significant business developments.The foregoing are examples only. If you have any question as to whether information is material, please err on the side of caution and direct an
inquiry to our Compliance Officer.What Should I Do if a Securities Analyst, the Media or Someone Else Asks Me Questions Regarding Material Nonpublic Information? The SECa€™ s Regulation
FD prohibits the selective disclosure of material nonpublic information to securities market professionals and investors who may trade on the basis of the information. Regulation FD requires
that any disclosure of material nonpublic information must be made by simultaneous broad dissemination. Accordingly, the following procedures should be followed in handling inquiries from
the media, stock exchanges, securities analysts and other outside parties regarding Farmer Bros.Only those employees who have been specifically authorized to do so may answer questions
about or disclose information concerning Farmer Bros. Only specifically designated spokespersons should deal with inquiries from the media, stock exchanges and others regarding rumors,
unusual trading activity, acquisitions and other material information. The President and Chief Executive Officer will designate official spokespersons from time to time. Inquiries from the
financial media, Nasdaq or the SEC should be referred to the Chief Financial Officer.Those employees who interact with the media, analysts and the stock exchanges should refer any inquiries
concerning material information to the spokespersons designated above. If such inquiries are made to directors, officers or employees of Farmer Bros. (other than a designated spokesperson),
the following response generally will be appropriate:a€ceAs to these types of matters, the Farmer Bros. spokesperson is the President and Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.
If there is any comment, he or she would be the one to speak with.a&€Care should be taken not to make statements such as, &€cethere is or the Company knows of no corporate development.a€
Even if Farmer Bros. has no material nonpublic information at the time such a statement is made, by making such a statement, it may be undertaking an affirmative disclosure obligation if the
facts change, and also may make reliance on a &€ceno commenta€ policy considerably more difficult in the future.How can I protect material nonpublic information?Material nonpublic
information (and all other Farmer Bros. confidential information) should be communicated only to those people who need to know it for a legitimate business purpose and who are authorized to
receive the information in connection with their employment responsibilities.In accordance with this Policy, you should NOT:4€¢Discuss material nonpublic information in public, not even in a
public setting on the Companya€™ s premises.a€¢Discuss material nonpublic information on cellular or wireless telephones. These are open airways that can be overheard, deliberately or
inadvertently.a€¢Discuss material nonpublic information in Internet chat rooms or message boards, or post it on Internet websites.a€¢Send material nonpublic information by e-mail to anyone,
except persons who need such information to do their work.4€¢Discuss material nonpublic information with friends or family. Even seemingly inadvertent releases of this information can expose
the Company, you and your friends and family to civil and criminal penalties. Keep in mind that friends and family may not fully understand the consequences of disclosing or using material
nonpublic information.a€¢Be careless when working with written material containing material nonpublic information in public settings, including on public transportation. Always put
confidential documents away when not in use. Do Exhibit-19.1not leave documents containing confidential information where they may be seen by persons who do not have a need to know the
content of the documents.a€¢Give your computer IDs and passwords to any other person. Password protect computers and log off when they are not in use.What are the limited exceptions to
this Policy? Stock Option ExercisesThis Policy does not apply to the exercise of stock options for cash under the Companya€™s Omnibus or Long Term Incentive Plans (but does apply to the sale
of shares issued upon such exercise and to any cashless exercised accomplished by the sale of a portion of the shares issued upon exercise of an option), since the other party to these
transactions is the Company itself and the price does not vary with the market, but is fixed by the terms of the option agreement or plan, as applicable.Employee Stock Ownership PlanThis
Policy does not apply to allocations of stock through our Employee Stock Ownership Plan (but does apply to the sale of any such shares).Mutual FundsThis Policy does not apply to transactions
in mutual funds that are invested in securities of the Company.Rule 10b5-1 PlanRule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act provides a defense from insider trading liability under Rule 10b-5. In order
to be eligible to rely on this defense, a person subject to this Policy must enter into a Rule 10b5-1 plan for transactions in Company securities that meets certain conditions specified in the Rule
(a &€ceRule 10b5-1 Plana€). If the plan meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, Company securities may be purchased or sold without regard to certain insider trading restrictions. To comply
with the Policy, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be approved in advance by the Compliance Officer and meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 and the Individual Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan Guidelines
attached to this Policy as Appendix A. In general, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be entered into at a time when the person entering into the plan is not aware of material nonpublic information. Once
the plan is adopted, the person must not exercise any influence over the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date of the trade. The plan must either
specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on these matters to an independent third party. Persons subject to this Policy who desire to establish a
Rule 10b5-1 contract, instruction or plan should consult with their counsel and broker (who may have a preferable form).Rule 10b5-1 Plans do not exempt individuals from complying with
Section 16 short-swing profit rules or liability. Furthermore, Rule 10b5-1 Plans only provide an d€ceaffirmative defensea€ in the event there is an insider trading lawsuit. A Rule 10b5-1 Plan will
not prevent someone from bringing a lawsuit. PLEASE NOTE THAT FARMER BROS. CANNOT GUARANTEE AND MAKES NO REPRESENTATION THAT CONTRACTS, INSTRUCTIONS OR
PLANS INTENDED OR DESIGNED TO TAKE ADVANTAGE OF RULE 10b5-1 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT WILL PREVENT CIVIL OR CRIMINAL LIABILITY UNDER STATE OR FEDERAL INSIDER
TRADING LAWS. RULE 10b5-1 PURPORTS TO PROTECT INSIDERS FROM FEDERAL INSIDER TRADING LIABILITY WHEN PURCHASES AND SALES ARE MADE PURSUANT TO
CONTRACTS, INSTRUCTIONS OR PLANS THAT COMPLY WITH SUCH RULE. SOME STATE JURISDICTIONS DO NOT PROVIDE SUCH PROTECTION, EVEN THOUGH THE PROTECTION
MAY BE AVAILABLE ON THE UNITED STATES FEDERAL LEVEL. PERSONS ELECTING TO PURCHASE OR SELL SECURITIES PURSUANT TO THESE PLANS DO SO AT THEIR OWN
RISK.Pre-Clearance Procedure, Blackout Periods and Suspension of Trading Pre-Clearance ProcedureCertain insiders must contact our Compliance Officer to obtain d€cepre-clearancea€ at any
time prior to buying or selling our securities. Individuals subject to this pre-clearance requirement are:Exhibit-19.14€¢Section 16 Individuals. All members of our Board of Directors and our
executive officers are our Section 16 Individuals. We will inform each person who is subject to the reporting and penalty provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act that they are deemed to be
a d€ceSection 16 Individual .4€4€¢Other Restricted Persons. From time-to-time we will notify other persons that they are subject to the pre-clearance requirement if we believe that, in the
normal course of their duties, they are likely to have regular access to material nonpublic information (4€ceOther Restricted Personsa€). Examples of persons subject to pre-clearance by virtue
of their jobs are accounting managers, internal auditors, controller, and senior sales executives. Occasionally, certain individuals may have access to material nonpublic information for a limited
period of time. During such a period, such persons may be notified that they are also subject to the pre-clearance procedure. A list of categories of Other Restricted Persons is attached hereto
as Exhibit A.All transactions in the Companya€™s securities by Section 16 Individuals and Other Restricted Persons must be pre-cleared with our Compliance Officer who will advise such
Section 16 Individuals and Other Restricted Persons whether or not the transaction is permitted and the time frame during which the transaction may be consummated. Our Compliance Officer
will consult as necessary with senior management and/or counsel to the Company before clearing any proposed trade. Requests should be made at least two business days prior to an intended



trade. You may use the pre-clearance form attached hereto as Exhibit B or may telephone our Compliance Officer at (682) 549-6670. The pre-clearance form may be sent to our Compliance
Officer via e-mail at complianceofficer@farmerbros.com. If our Compliance Officer does not respond to your request, do not assume the transaction has been approved. It is your responsibility
to personally speak with the Compliance Officer and receive his affirmative approval prior to undertaking the transaction. If the trade order is not initiated within the specified period of time
approved by our Compliance Officer, the pre-clearance form must be resubmitted. All Section 16 Individuals and Other Restricted Persons must notify our Compliance Officer of the completed
trade as soon as possible, no later than the end of the day on which the trade is executed.Blackout PeriodsTo ensure compliance with this Policy and applicable federal and state securities laws,
the Company requires that all Section 16 Individuals and Other Restricted Persons, and any persons acting on behalf of such persons, not conduct transactions (for their own or related
accounts) involving the purchase or sale of the Companya€™s securities from 12:01 a.m. New York City time on the 14th calendar day before the end of each of the Companya€™ s four fiscal
quarters (including fiscal year end) through 11:59 p.m. New York City time on the business day following the date of the public release containing the Companya€™ s quarterly (including
annual) results of operations. These periods are referred to as a€oeBlackout Periods.a€ The Companya€™s fiscal quarters end on March 31, June 30 (fiscal year end), September 30 and
December 31. If the 14th calendar day before the end of each of the Companya€™s four fiscal quarters falls on a weekend or a Nasdaq holiday, the Blackout Period will start when the Nasdaq
closes on the last trading day prior to the weekend or Nasdaq holiday. The prohibition against trading during a Blackout Period encompasses the fulfillment of 4€celimit ordersa€ by any broker
for a Section 16 Individual or Other Restricted Person, and the brokers with whom any such limit order is placed must be so instructed at the time it is placed.Assuming Nasdaq is open each
day, below is an example of when you can trade:Announcement on MondayFirst Day You Can TradeBefore Market OpensTuesdayWhile Market is OpenWednesdayAfter Market
ClosesWednesdayThe safest period for trading in the Companya€ ™s securities, assuming the absence of material nonpublic information, generally is the first ten trading days following the end
of a Blackout Period. The Blackout Periods are particularly sensitive periods and particular attention must be made to ensure that transactions in the Companya€™ s securities are made in
accordance with applicable laws. This is because officers, directors and certain other employees will, as any quarter progresses, be increasingly likely to possess material nonpublic information
about the expected financial results for the quarter. Trading in the Companya€™ s securities outside a Blackout Period should not be considered a &€cesafe harbor,a€ and all Covered Persons
should use good judgment at all times.Exhibit-19.1Suspension of TradingFrom time-to-time, we may recommend that Section 16 Individuals and Other Restricted Persons suspend trading in our
securities, including outside the Blackout Periods, because of developments that have not yet been disclosed to the public. All those affected should not trade in our securities while the
suspension is in effect, and should not disclose to others that we have suspended trading for certain individuals since a statement to that effect could be construed that there exists some
material nonpublic information.Other Prohibited TransactionsBecause of adverse perceptions that may be created by short-term or speculative transactions in the Companya€™s or a Farmer
Bros. Business Associatea€™s securities, the Company considers it inappropriate for any Covered Person to engage in, and it is the Companya€™s policy that Covered Persons may not engage
in, any of the following transactions:Short SalesShort sales of the Companya€™s or a Farmer Bros. Business Associated€™s securities evidence an expectation on the part of the seller that the
securities will decline in value. It could also be a signal to the market that the seller does not have confidence in the Company (or the Farmer Bros. Business Associate) or its prospects. In
addition, short sales of Company securities may reduce the sellera€™s incentive to improve the Companya€™ s performance since the seller can benefit from a decline in the value of Farmer
Bros. (or a Farmer Bros. Business Associatea€™s) securities. For these reasons, short sales of the Companya€™s (and a Farmer Bros. Business Associatea€™s) securities by Covered Persons
are prohibited. In addition, Section 16(c) of the Exchange Act prohibits officers and directors of the Company from engaging in short sales.Publicly Traded OptionsA transaction in options is, in
effect, a bet on the short-term movement of the Companya€™ s or a Farmer Bros. Business Associatea€™s stock and, therefore, could create an impression that the trader is trading based on
material nonpublic information. Transactions in options also may focus a Covered Persond€™ s attention on short-term performance at the expense of the Companya€™s long-term objectives.
Accordingly, transactions by Covered Persons in puts, calls or other derivative securities regarding the Company or a Farmer Bros. Business Associate on an exchange or in any other organized
market are prohibited. Hedging TransactionsCertain forms of hedging or monetization transactions, such as zero-cost collars and forward sale contracts, allow a person to lock in much of the
value of his or her stock holdings, often in exchange for giving up all or part of the potential for upside appreciation in the stock. These transactions allow the person to continue to own the
covered securities, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, a Covered Person may no longer have the same objectives as the Companya€™s or Farmer Bros.
Business Associated€™s other stockholders. Therefore, Covered Persons are prohibited from engaging in any such transactions that involve the securities of the Company or a Farmer Bros.
Business Associate.Margin Accounts and PledgesSecurities held in a margin account may be sold by the broker without the customera€™s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call.
Similarly, securities pledged (or hypothecated) as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan or, in many instances, if the value of the collateral falls.
Because a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when the pledgor is aware of material nonpublic information about the Company (or a Farmer Bros. Business Associate), Covered
Persons are prohibited from holding securities of the Company or a Farmer Bros. Business Associate in a margin account or pledging such securities as collateral for a loan. It is the SECa€™s
position that margin and pledge arrangements do not qualify for the protections afforded by Rule 10b5-1 discussed above. An exception to this prohibition may be granted where a person
wishes to pledge securities of the Company or a Farmer Bros. Business Associate as collateral for a loan (but not for margin debt) at a time he or she is unaware of material nonpublic
information and demonstrates the financial capacity to repay the loan without resort to the pledged securities. Any person who wishes to pledge securities of the Company or a Farmer Bros.
Business Associate as collateral for a loan must submit a request for approval to our Compliance Officer well in advance of the proposed execution of documents evidencing the proposed
pledge.Exhibit-19.1What are the Potential Consequences of a Violation of this Policy?The matters set forth in this Policy are guidelines only, and appropriate judgment should be exercised in
connection with all securities trading. Also, these guidelines are not a substitute for any applicable laws and regulations which may apply in the jurisdictions where you work or do business. You
are expected to remain familiar with, and comply with, all applicable laws and regulations in your region. If there are any inconsistencies between this Policy and the laws in your region, then
the local laws will apply to the extent of the inconsistency. Compliance with this Policy is not voluntary. Compliance is required by law and by the Company. This Policy must be strictly adhered
to.Potential Governmental ActionThe consequences of an insider trading violation can be devastating, and can ruin both your professional and personal life. The SEC researches any suspicious
trading, and does not care if you are trading 10,000 shares or 10 shares. A person can be subject to some or all of the penalties below even if he or she does not personally benefit from the
violation (i.e., if the violation only involved passing the information to someone else, called a a€cetippeea€). The SEC, the stock exchanges and the National Association of Securities Dealers,
Inc. use sophisticated electronic surveillance techniques to uncover insider trading.Governmental penalties could include criminal and civil penalties for the Covered Person and possibly for the
Company.For those who trade on material nonpublic information (or &€cetipa€ such information to others):4€¢Criminal prosecution, prison sentence or substantial criminal fines;a€
¢Disgorgement of any profit gained or loss avoided in a civil enforcement action by the SEC;4€¢A civil penalty of up to three times the amount of the profit gained or loss avoided (in addition to
disgorgement);a€ ¢Administrative proceedings and cease-and-desist orders by the SEC; anda€¢Civil liability for damages to private plaintiffs who traded contemporaneously in the market.In
addition, the federal securities laws also impose potential liability on companies and other &€cecontrolling personsa€ (such as managerial and supervisory personnel) if they fail to take
appropriate steps to prevent insider trading by company personnel. Charges of insider trading, even where defensible, are made with the benefit of hindsight and typically result in adverse
publicity and embarrassment for the individual and the company involved.Potential Company ActionThe failure to comply with this Policy may subject you to Company-imposed sanctions,
including termination of employment or dismissal, whether or not the failure to comply results in a violation of law.Priority of Statutory or Regulatory Trading RestrictionsThe trading
prohibitions and restrictions set forth in this Policy will be superseded by any greater prohibitions or restrictions prescribed by federal or state securities laws and regulations, e.g., short-swing
trading by Section 16 Individuals or restrictions on the sale of securities subject to Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Any employee who is uncertain whether other
prohibitions or restrictions apply should ask our Compliance Officer.Additional Information for Section 16 Individuals OnlySection 16 Individuals must also comply with the reporting obligations
and limitations on &€ceshort-swinga€ transactions set forth in Section 16 of the Exchange Act. The practical effect of these provisions is that Section 16 Individuals who purchase and sell the
Companya€™s securities within a six-month period must disgorge all profits to the Company, whether or not they had knowledge of any material nonpublic information. Under these provisions,
and so long as certain other criteria are met, the receipt of an option under the Companya€™s Omnibus Plan, the exercise of that option, or the allocation of shares through the Employee Stock
Ownership Plan is deemed a purchase under Section 16, and the sale of any such shares is considered a sale under Section 16. Additionally, Section 16 Individuals may never make a short sale
of the Companya€™s securities. A short sale is a sale of securities Exhibit-19.1not owned by the seller or, if owned, not delivered. The Company has provided, or will provide, a separate
memoranda to its Section 16 Individuals regarding compliance with these rules.Post-Termination TransactionsThis Policy continues to apply to your transactions in Company (and Farmer Bros.
Business Associate) securities even after you have terminated your employment or other relationship with us. If you are in possession of material nonpublic information when your employment
or other relationship terminates, you may not trade in Company or Farmer Bros. Business Associate securities until that information is deemed public or is no longer material. Compliance
OfficerOur Compliance Officer under this Policy is our Chief Compliance Officer. We may, in our sole discretion, change the Compliance Officer from time-to-time. You may contact our
Compliance Officer by telephone at (682) 549-6670 or by e-mail at complianceofficer@farmerbros.com.The duties of the Compliance Officer, or his or her designee, which may be executed on
the advice of counsel, shall include, but not be limited to:4€¢Determining who the Section 16 Individuals are and notifying them;a€¢Determining who the Other Restricted Persons are and
notifying them;&€¢Pre-clearing all securities transactions by Section 16 Individuals and Other Restricted Persons to determine compliance with this Policy, insider trading laws and other
applicable securities laws and regulations;a€¢Assisting Section 16 Individuals in the preparation and filing of Section 16 reports (Forms 3, 4 and 5);a€¢Serving as the Companya€™ s designated
recipient of copies of reports filed with the SEC by Section 16 Individuals;a€¢Reminding all Section 16 Individuals periodically of their reporting obligations;a€¢Performing periodic cross-
checks of available materials, which may include Forms 3, 4 and 5, Form 144, Schedules 13D and 13G, officersa€™ and directorsa€™ questionnaires, and reports received from our stock
administrator and transfer agent, to determine trading activity by officers, directors and others who have, or may have, access to material nonpublic information;a€¢Providing this Policy and
other appropriate materials to all employees, officers, directors, consultants and other associates of the Company;a€¢Assisting the Company in implementation of this Policy; anda€
¢Coordinating with Company counsel regarding compliance activities with respect to Rule 144 requirements and regarding changing requirements and recommendations for compliance with
Section 16 of the Exchange Act and insider trading laws to ensure that this Policy is amended as necessary to comply with such requirements.Company AssistanceCovered Persons at all times
should avoid even the appearance of impropriety with respect to trading in Farmer Bros. securities or the securities of any Farmer Bros. Business Associate. When there is any question as to a
potential application of insider trading laws or any other restrictions on insider trading, or if you know of a suspected violation of these laws, please contact our Compliance Officer. Remember,
the ultimate responsibility for adhering to this Policy and avoiding improper transactions rests with you. Because those reviewing your transactions will be doing so after the fact, before
engaging in any transaction, you should carefully consider how enforcement authorities and others might view the transaction with the benefit of 20/20 hindsight.Certification As a condition to
employment, all employees will be required to certify their understanding of and intent to comply with this Policy. Section 16 Individuals and Other Restricted Persons may be required to certify
compliance on an annual basis.Exhibit-19.1APPENDIX AFarmer Bros. Co.Individual Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan GuidelinesThe Securities and Exchange Commission enacted Rule 10b5-1 (the
a€ceRulea€) to give directors, officers, employees and others who were often in possession of material, nonpublic information (&€ceInsidersa€) greater clarity and flexibility with respect to
engaging in transactions in their companya€™s stock. If Insiders follow the requirements of the Rule, they have an affirmative defense from insider trading liability for trades made under an
effective written plan for trading securities (commonly referred to as a Rule 10b5-1 Plan). In each case, Insiders must act in good faith with respect to the Plan and not as part of a scheme to
evade the prohibitions against unlawful insider trading. As set forth in the Insider Trading Policy (the &€cePolicya€) of Farmer Bros. Co. (the 4€ceCompanya€), the Company permits its Insiders
to purchase or sell shares of Company common stock pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan (a &€cePlana€) under certain circumstances. The office of the General Counsel has set forth the following
guidelines (the &€ceGuidelinesa€) to provide Insiders with clarity as to what parameters must be followed in order to adopt a Plan that is compliant with the Policy. These Guidelines are in
addition to, and not in lieu of, the requirements and conditions of the Policy and the Rule. Any questions regarding the Guidelines should be directed to the Compliance Officer.1Pre-Clearance.
All Plans must be submitted in writing and pre-cleared by the Compliance Officer at least five (5) business days prior to the entry into the Plan. The Company reserves the right to withhold pre-
clearance of any Plan that the Company determines is not consistent with the rules regarding such Plans. Notwithstanding any pre-clearance of a Plan, the Company assumes no liability for the
consequences of any transaction made pursuant to such Plan. Insiders who are directors and/or executive officers are reminded of their obligations under the Companya€™s share ownership
guidelines and shall ensure they remain in compliance with such guidelines after giving effect to the proposed Plan. 2Plan Adoption. All Plans and contracts or instructions relating thereto must
be entered into, adopted, amended and/or replaced, as applicable, during an open trading window and when the Insider is not in possession of any material, nonpublic information.3Plan
Format. All Plans must be in writing and must not allow the Insider to exercise any subsequent influence over how, when or whether to effect trades in Company securities under the Plan.
Additionally, Plans must (a) expressly state the amount, price and dates on which transactions may be executed, (b) provide a written formula for determining amounts, prices and dates or (c)
delegate discretion on those matters to an independent third party. 4Cooling-Off Period. After the adoption of a Plan, no trades may be commenced under the Plan until the expiration of an
applicable cooling-off period: alf the Insider is a Company director or officer (as defined in Rule 16a-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (a a&€ceSection 16 Persona€)), the
Plan must not permit any trades to occur until the later of (a) 90 days following adoption or modification of the Plan or (b) two business days following the disclosure of the Companya€™s
financial results in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the fiscal quarter in which the Plan was adopted or modified (but, in any event, this required cooling-off period is subject to a maximum of 120
days after adoption of the Plan).bIf the Insider is not a Section 16 Person (but is also not the Company), the Plan must not permit any trades to occur until 30 days after the adoption or
modification of such Plan.5Multiple Plans. Pursuant to the Rule, a person may only rely on the affirmative defense for a a&€cesingle-trade plana€ once during any consecutive 12-month period. A
single-trade plan is a Plan designed to effect the purchase or sale of the total amount of the securities subject to the plan as a single transaction. Further, only one Plan may be in effect at any
time, unless one of three exemptions is met, which are:Exhibit-19.1aA person may enter into more than one Plan with different broker-dealers or other agents and treat the Plans as a single
Plan so long as, when taken as a whole, the &€ceplana€ complies with all of the ruled€™s requirements;bA person may adopt one later-commencing Plan so long as trading under the later-
commencing Plan is not authorized to begin until after all trades under the earlier-commencing Plan are completed or expire without execution. If the earlier-commencing Plan is terminated
earlier, the later-commencing Plan must have a cooling-off period that starts when the first Plan terminates; andcA person may have an additional Plan set up solely to sell securities as
necessary to satisfy tax-withholding obligations arising exclusively from the vesting of a compensatory award, otherwise known as a€cesell-to-covera€ transactions.6Trades Outside of the Plan.
Once a Plan is established, Insiders may transact in securities that are not subject to the currently existing Plan. Such transactions continue to require pre-clearance and be subject to the
Policy. Under no circumstances will opposite-way open market transactions be permitted.7Plan Duration. The minimum duration of a Plan is six months and the maximum duration is two years.
8Certification. When entering into a Plan, an Insider must certify that at the time of adoption of the Plan that the Insider: (1) is not aware of any material, non-public information; and (2) is
adopting the Plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of the Rule.9Modifications. Unless otherwise approved in advance by the Compliance Officer, Plan
modifications are prohibited. As provided in the Rule, any modification or change to the amount, price, or timing of the purchase or sale of the securities underlying a Plan is a termination of
such Plan and the adoption of a new Plan, and the modifying Insider will be subject to the applicable cooling-off period, as noted above in Section 4. In addition, a Plan modification, such as the
substitution or removal of a broker that is executing trades pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 arrangement on behalf of the person, that changes the price or date on which purchases or sales are to be
executed, is a termination of such Plan and the adoption of a new Plan. 10Early Terminations. The early termination of a Plan could affect the availability of the Rulea€™ s affirmative defense for
prior Plan transactions if it calls into question whether the Insider is acting in good faith with respect to the Plan and whether the Plan was entered into in good faith and not as part of a plan to



avoid the insider trading rules. Because of this risk, early terminations are strongly discouraged. In the event an Insider determines to terminate a Plan early, every effort should be taken to
terminate the Plan during an open window. Early termination of a Plan during a blackout (or quiet) period requires extenuating circumstances and is subject to pre-clearance by the Compliance
Officer. In the event an Insider early terminates the Insidera€™s Plan (whether during an open window or a blackout period), such Insider (i) will be subject to the applicable cooling-off period
for a subsequent Plan, as noted above in Section 4, beginning when the first Plan is terminated, and (ii) may be (A) prohibited from adopting future Plans, (B) prohibited from transacting in
securities outside of a Plan, or (C) subject to other restrictions at the sole discretion of the Compliance Officer. 11Brokers and Broker Reporting. Each Plan must require the broker counterparty
to promptly report to the Companya€™s designated representative the details of every transaction executed under a Plan, but in any event, such detail shall be provided no later than one
business day after the execution date. 12Public Disclosure of Plan Transactions. Transactions executed pursuant to a Plan will be indicated as such on the Insidera€™s Form 4. In addition, the
Company is required to disclose in its periodic reports (i.e., 10-Qs and 10-Ks) the adoption or termination of a Plan by any Section 16 Person during the last completed quarter, including a
description of the material terms of such a Plan, other than terms with respect to price. Any Section 16 Person is required to confirm the adoption, modification or termination of a Plan to the
Compliance Officer not later than the next business day after such action so that it can be appropriately disclosed by the Company, even if pre-clearance of such action was previously
obtained.13Securities Laws. A Plan does not relieve Insiders from their obligations to comply with the requirements of applicable securities laws. You will need to coordinate with your broker
and the Company to ensure that all of these requirements are satisfied and that all required notices and reports are timely and accurately filed. Exhibit-19.1INSIDER TRADING POLICY
CERTIFICATIONThe undersigned hereby certifies that he/she has read and understands, and agrees to comply with, the Insider Trading Policy of Farmer Bros. Co., a copy of which was
distributed with this Certification, and understands that the Companya€™s Compliance Officer is available to answer any questions the undersigned may have regarding the Insider Trading
Policy.Date: Signature Print Name: Telephone Number: EXHIBIT AOTHER RESTRICTED PERSONS*1. All employees Vice President level and above2. All employees in the following
departments:a€¢Finance & Accountinga€¢Internal Audit3. All employees Director level and above4. Certain other employees, consultants or other associates of Farmer Bros. as designated from
time to time by the Companya€™s Compliance Officer* Includes employees of Farmer Bros. Co., its subsidiaries and divisions.EXHIBIT BINSIDER TRADING COMPLIANCE PRE-CLEARANCE
FORM (Page 1 to be completed by Requestor)To: Farmer Bros. Co. Ladies and Gentlemen:Pursuant to the Farmer Bros. Co. Insider Trading Policy, I am seeking pre-clearance of the following
proposed transactions in securities of the Company:Type and Amount of Security*Purchase or Sale**Date of Transaction*If stock option exercise indicate specific stock options proposed to be
exercised. ** If sale to pay taxes on earned equity awards, check here Other Conditions (e.g., minimum price condition): Exhibit-19.1Broker Responsible for Transaction:Name:Telephone:E-
mail:I certify that:4€¢I am not in possession of any material non-public information concerning the securities;a€¢I have not violated any provision of the Insider Trading Policy; anda€¢I have
fully and honestly disclosed all material information concerning this transaction.I understand that the clearance granted by the Company may be rescinded prior to my effecting the above
transaction if material nonpublic information regarding the Company arises and, in the reasonable judgment of the Company, the completion of my trade would be inadvisable. I also understand
that the ultimate responsibility for compliance with the insider trading provisions of the federal securities laws rests with me and that clearance of any proposed transaction should not be
construed as a guarantee that I will not later be found to have been in possession of material nonpublic information.Date: Signature Print Name: Telephone Number: INSIDER TRADING
COMPLIANCEPRE-CLEARANCE FORM (Page 2 to be completed by Chief Compliance Officer)Individual Proposing to Trade: Number of Shares Covered by Proposed Trade: Purchase & Sale
4"Date:  Request for Pre-clearance Received. Page 1 completed and signed by individual requesting pre-clearance.  No Blackout Period. Confirm that the trade will not be made during a
Blackout Period.  Section 16 Compliance. If the individual is subject to Section 16, confirm that the proposed trade will not give rise to any potential liability under Section 16 as a result of
matched past (or intended future) transactions.  Form 4 Compliance. Instruct insider to inform Chief Compliance Officer and Director of Financial Reporting by close of business on the day
of transaction regarding the transaction details required to file Form 4 (Form 4 must be filed within 2 business days of the transaction)._ Prohibited Trades. Confirm that __If the individual
is subject to Section 16, that the proposed transaction is not a &€ceshort sale,a€ put, call or other prohibited transaction;  If the individual is a director or an officer of the Company, such
individual has complied with the Companya€™s Stock Ownership Guidelines.Note: Selling to satisfy current year income tax obligation only on current year restricted stock vesting or option
exercise is permissible even if ownership guideline minimums have not been met.  Option Exercise/Restricted Stock. If option exercise, confirm vested. If sale of restricted stock, confirm
restrictions have lapsed._ Rule 144 Compliance* (applicable only to Section 16 Insiders). Confirm that:  Current public information requirement has been met;Exhibit-19.1  Shares are
not restricted, or, if restricted (&€cerestrictiona€ here applies to securities acquired in unregistered, private sales from the issuer or from an affiliate of the issuer), the one year holding period
has been met;  Volume limitations are not exceeded (confirm that the individual is not part of an aggregated group);  The manner of sale requirements have been met; and____ The Notice
of Form 144 Sale has been completed and filed. *For additional information see http://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/rule144.htm __ Rule 10b-5 Concerns. Confirm that: (i) the individual has been
reminded that trading is prohibited when in possession of any material information regarding us that has not been adequately disclosed to the public, and (ii) the Companya€™s Chief
Compliance Officer has discussed with the individual any information known to the individual or the Chief Compliance Officer which might be considered material, so that the individual has
made an informed judgment as to the presence of inside information.Clearance of the above trade is granted &~ denied a"Signature of Chief Compliance OfficerSignature of Director of Financial
ReportingDate:Date:(Note: Two signatures required to approve any transaction.)In accordance with Farmer Bros. Co. (2€0eFBCa€) Standard Policy and Procedure regarding Corporate Standard
Policies and Procedures (FBC 001), the following persons, representing all of FBC officers, by their signature below approve the preceding Corporate Standard Policy and Procedure regarding
Contracting, Decision Approval and Signing Authority (the &€cePolicya€) effective as of the Policy Effective Date set forth in the Policy.By: Name: John E. Moore III Title: Interim Chief Executive
OfficerBy: Name: Brad BollnerTitle: Interim Chief Financial OfficerBy: Name: Jared Vitemb Title: Vice President, General Counsel, Chief Compliance Officer and SecretaryBy: Name: Tom
BauerTitle: Head of Direct Store DeliveryBy: Name: Matthew CoffmanTitle: Vice President and Controller EX-23.1 7 ex231gtconsent10k-fy24.htm EX-23.1 DocumentExhibit 23.1CONSENT OF
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMWe have issued our report dated September 12, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements included in the Annual
Report of Farmer Bros. Co. on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2024. We consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statements of Farmer Bros. Co. on
Forms S-3 (File No. 333-260973, File No. 333-221346 and File No. 333-213132) and on Forms S-8 (File No. 333-261921, File No. 333-251230, File No. 333-251227, File No. 333-218997, File
No. 333-207170, and File No. 333-157169)./s/ Grant Thornton LLPDallas, TexasSeptember 12, 2024 EX-31.1 8 farm-6302024xex311.htm EX-31.1 DocumentEXHIBITA 31.1Certification Pursuant
to SectionA 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20021, John E. Moore III, certify that:1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on FormA 10-K of Farmer Bros.A Co.;2. Based on my knowledge, this
report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;4. The
registranta€™s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act RulesA 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act RulesA 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or
caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such
internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registranta€ ™s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrantd€™s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registranta€™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™ s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting; and5. The
registranta€™s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registranta€™s auditors and the audit
committee of the registranta€™s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registranta€™ s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and(b) Any
fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting.Date: SeptemberA 12,
2024 AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA /S/A John E. Moore IIlJohn E. Moore IlIPresident and Chief Executive Officer(principal executive officer) EX-31.2 9 farm-
6302024xex312.htm EX-31.2 DocumentEXHIBITA 31.2Certification Pursuant to SectionA 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20021, Vance Ratliff Fisher, certify that:1. I have reviewed this Annual
Report on FormA 10-K of Farmer Bros.A Co.;2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;3. Based on my knowledge, the
financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;4. The registranta€™s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act RulesA 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act RulesA 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;(b) Designed such
internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the
registranta€™ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registranta€™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrantd€™s internal control over financial reporting; and5. The registranta€™s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registranta€™s auditors and the audit committee of the registranta€™s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):(a) All significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registranté€“‘s ability to record

Financial Officer(principal financial ofﬁcer) EX 32.1 10 farm- 6302024xex321 htm EX-32.1 DocumentEXHIBITA 32.1Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to SectionA 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002In connection with the Annual Report of Farmer Bros.A Co. (the &€ceCompany4€) on FormA 10-K for the fiscal year ended JuneA 30, 2024, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 4€ceReporta€), I, John E. Moore III, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectionA 1350, as
adopted pursuant to SectionA 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:l. The Report fully complies with the requirements of SectionA 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ]::xchange Act of 1934;

this written statement required by SectionA 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retalned by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request. EX-32.2 11 farm-6302024xex322.htm EX-32.2 DocumentEXHIBITA 32.2Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to SectionA 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002In
connection with the Annual Report of Farmer Bros.A Co. (the 4€ceCompanya€) on FormA 10-K for the fiscal year ended JuneA 30, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
the date hereof (the a€ceReporta€), I, Vance Ratliff Fisher, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectionA 1350, as adopted pursuant to SectionA 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of SectionA 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and2. The information contained in the
Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the Company.Dated: SeptemberA 12, 2024
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA/S/A Vance Ratliff FisherVance Ratliff FisherChief Financial Officer(principal financial officer)A signed original of this written
statement required by SectionA 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
EX-97.1 12 farm-63024x971recoupmentpo.htm EX-97.1 DocumentExhibit 97.1Farmer Bros. Co.Amended and Restated Policy on Executive Compensation in Restatement

Situations1.A A A A Purpose. The purpose of this Amended and Restated Policy on Executive Compensation in Restatement Situations of the Company (as amended from time to time, the
4€cePolicya€), dated as of August 16, 2023 (the a€ceAdoption Dated€) is to describe the circumstances in which current and former Executive Officers will be required to repay or return
Erroneously Awarded Compensation to members of the Company Group. The Company has adopted this Policy to comply with Section 954 of the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act of 2010, as codified by Section 10D of the Exchange Act, Exchange Act Rule 10D-1 promulgated thereunder, and the rules and requirements of NASDAQ (including NASDAQ
Listing Rule 5608) (such legal requirements, and rules and requirements of NASDAQ, collectively, the &€0eSEC/NASDAQ Clawback Rulesa€). Each Executive Officer shall be required to sign
and return to the Company the form of acknowledgment to this Policy in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A pursuant to which such Executive Officer will agree to be bound by the terms and
comply with this Policy.2.A A A A Administration. This Policy shall be administered by the Committee. The Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all
determinations necessary, appropriate, or advisable for the administration of this Policy, and any such determinations made by the Committee shall be in the Committeed€™s sole discretion,
and shall be final and binding on all affected individuals. Except as otherwise required by applicable legal requirements or the rules and requirements of NASDAQ, any determinations of the
Committee hereunder need not be uniform with respect to one or more Executive Officers (whether current and/or former).3.A A A A Definitions. For purposes of this Policy, the following
capitalized terms shall have the meanings set forth below:(a)A A A A 4€ceAccounting Restatementa€ shall mean an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company
with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement (i) to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is

Compensationa€ shall mean all Incentive-Based Compensation Recelved by any current or former Executn{eAOAfﬁAcer on or after the NASDAQ Effective Date, provided that:(i)A A A A such
Incentive-Based Compensation is Received after such individual began serving as an Executive Officer;(ii))A A A A such individual served as an Executive Officer at any time during the

performance period for such Incentive-Based Compensation;(iii)A A A A such Incentive-Based Compensation is Received while the Company has a class of securities listed on NASDAQ;
and(iv)A A A A such Incentive-Based Compensation is Received during the applicable Clawback Period.(d)A A A A 4€eClawback Perioda€ shall mean, with respect to any Accounting
Restatement, the three completed fiscal years of the Company immediately preceding the Restatement Date and any transition Exhibit 97.1period (that results from a change in the

Company&€™s fiscal year) of less than nine months within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years.(e)A A A A 4€ceCommittee&€ shall mean the Compensation Committee of



mean, with respect to any current or former Executive Officer in connection with any Accounting Restatement, the amount of Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation Received by such
current or former Executive Officer that exceeds the amount of Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation that otherwise would have been Received by such current or former Executive Officer

any successor prov131on thereof) under the Exchange Act.(1)A A A A d€ceFinancial Reportlng Measuresa€ shall mean measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the
accounting principles used in preparing the Companya€ ™ s financial statements, and any other measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures. For purposes of this Policy,
stock price and total shareholder return (and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from stock price or total shareholder return) shall be considered Financial Reporting Measures.
For the avoidance of doubt, a Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented within the Companya€™s financial statements or included in a filing with the SEC.(m)A A A A a€celncentive-
Based Compensationa€ shall mean any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.(n)A A A A 46ceNASDAQ&€
shall mean the NASDAQ Global Select Market.(0)A A A A 4€eNASDAQ Effective Datea€ shall mean October 2, 2023 (which is the effective date of the final NASDAQ listing standards).

(p)A A A A 4€ceReceiveda€ shall mean when Incentive-Based Compensation is received, and Incentive- Based Compensation shall be deemed received in the Companya€™s fiscal period during
which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if payment or grant of the Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of
that period.(q)A A A A a€ceRestatement Datea€ shall mean the earlier to occur of (i) the date the Board, a committee of the Board or the officers of the Company authorized to take such action if
Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (ii) the date a court, regulator or other
legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement. (r)A A A A 4€0eSECA€ shall mean the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.4.A A A A Recoupment of
Erroneously Awarded Compensation.(a)A A A A In the event that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, (i) the Committee shall determine the amount of any
Erroneously Awarded Compensation for each applicable Exhibit 97.1current or former Executive Officer (whether or not such individual is serving as an Executive Officer at such time) (the
a€meApplicable Executivesa€) in connection with such Accounting Restatement, and (ii) the Company will reasonably promptly require the recoupment of such Erroneously Awarded
Compensation from any such Applicable Executive, and any such Applicable Executive shall surrender such Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the Company, at such time(s), and via such
method(s), as determined by the Committee in accordance with the terms of this Policy.(b)A A A A For Incentive-Based Compensation based on (or derived from) stock price or total shareholder
return where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the applicable Accounting Restatement, (i) such
amount shall be determined by the Committee based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the
Incentive-Based Compensation was Received, and (ii) the Company will maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to NASDAQ.
(c)A A A A The Committee shall determine, in its sole discretion, the method(s) for recouping any Erroneously Awarded Compensation from any Applicable Executive, which may include one or
more of the following:(i)A A A A requiring one or more cash payments to the Company Group from such Applicable Executive, including, but not limited to, the repayment of cash Incentive-
Based Compensation previously paid by the Company Group to such Applicable Executive;(ii)A A A A seeking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer or
other disposition of any equity-based awards previously made by the Company to such Applicable Executive and/or, subject to applicable legal requirements, otherwise requiring the delivery to
the Company of shares of Common Stock held by such Applicable Executive;(iii)A A A A withholding, reducing or eliminating future cash compensation (including cash incentive payments),
future equity awards and/or other benefits or amounts otherwise to be paid or awarded by the Company Group to such Applicable Executive;(iv)A A A A offsetting amounts against compensation
or other amounts otherwise payable by the Company Group to any Applicable Executive; (v)A A A A cancelling, adjusting or offsetting against some or all outstanding vested or unvested equity
awards of the Company held by such Applicable Executive; and/or(vi)A A A A taking any other remedial and recovery actions with respect to such Applicable Executive permitted by applicable
legal requirements and the rules and regulations of NASDAQ, as determined by the Committee.(d)A A A A Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not be required to
recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation from any Applicable Executive pursuant to the terms of this Policy if (1) the Committee determines that such recovery would be impracticable, and
(2) any of the following conditions is met:(i)A A A A the direct expenses paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered, provided that, before
concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on expense of enforcement pursuant to this clause (i), the Company has (x) made
a reasonable attempt to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, (y) documented such reasonable attempt(s) to recover, and (z) provided such documentation to NASDAQ;

(ii)A A A A recovery would violate home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022, provided that, before determining that it would be impracticable to recover Exhibit
97.1any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on violation of home country law, the Company has obtained an opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to NASDAQ, that
recovery would result in such a violation, has provided copy of the opinion is provided to NASDAQ; or(iii)A A A A recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under
which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company Group, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder.5.A A A A No
Indemnification, Etc. The Company Group shall not (x) indemnify any current or former Executive Officer against (i) the loss of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation that is repaid, returned
or recovered pursuant to the terms of this Policy, or (ii) any claims relating to the Company Groupa€™s enforcement of its rights under this Policy, or (y) pay or reimburse any current or former
Executive Officers for insurance premiums to recover losses incurred under this Policy.6.A A A A Supersedure. This Policy will supersede any provisions in (x) any agreement, plan or other
arrangement applicable to any member of the Company Group, and (y) any organizational documents of any entity that is part of Company Group that, in any such case, (a) exempt any
Incentive- Based Compensation from the application of this Policy, (b) waive or otherwise prohibit or restricts the Company Groupa€™s right to recover any Erroneously Awarded
Compensation, including, without limitation, in connection with exercising any right of setoff as provided herein, and/or (c) require or provide for indemnification to the extent that such
indemnification is prohibited under Section 5 above.7.A A A A Amendment; Termination; Interpretation. The Committee may amend or terminate this Policy at any time, subject to compliance
with all applicable legal requirements and the rules and requirements of NASDAQ. It is intended that this Policy be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the SEC/NASDAQ Clawback
Rules. This Policy amends and restates the clawback policy of the Company as originally adopted on October 1, 2009 (the 4€cePrior Policya€) in its entirety and the Prior Policy will be of no
further force and effect, including in connection with any Accounting Restatements for any fiscal period(s) prior to the Adoption Date.8.A A A A Other Recoupment Rights; No Additional
Payments.(a)A A A A Subject to Section 8(b) of this Policy below, any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recoupment that
may be available to the Company Group pursuant to (i) the terms of any recoupment provisions in any employment agreement, incentive or equity compensation plan or award or other
agreement, (ii) any other legal requirements, including, but not limited to, Section 304 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and (iii) any other legal rights or remedies available to the Company.

(b)A A A A Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, to prevent duplicative recovery, to the extent that any Erroneously Awarded Compensation includes any amounts that have been
actually reimbursed to the Company Group from any Applicable Executive pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (any such amounts that have been reimbursed to the Company
Group, the 4€ceApplicable SOX Recoupment Amounta€), the amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation to be recovered from any such Applicable Executive shall be reduced by the
Applicable SOX Recoupment Amount.9.A A A A Successors. This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all current and former Executive Officers and their beneficiaries, heirs,
executors, administrators or other legal representatives.Exhibit 97.1Exhibit AForm of AcknowledgmentBy signing below, the undersigned acknowledges and confirms that the undersigned has
received and reviewed a copy of the Farmer Bros. Co. NASDAQ Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy (such policy, as amended from time to time, the &€cePolicya€). Capitalized terms
used but not otherwise defined in this acknowledgment shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Policy.By signing this acknowledgment, the undersigned acknowledges and agrees
that the undersigned is and will continue to be subject to the Policy and that the Policy will apply both during and after the undersigneda€™ s employment with the Company Group. Further, by
signing below, the undersigned agrees to abide by the terms of the Policy, including, without limitation, by returning any Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the Company Group to the
extent required by the Policy.SignaturePrint NameDate EX-101.SCH 13 farm-20240630.xsd XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION SCHEMA DOCUMENT 0000001 - Document - Cover Page
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adjustment expense Liability for Claims and Claims Adjustment Expense Allowance for doubtful accounts Beginning Balance Ending Balance Accounts Receivable, Allowance for Credit Loss
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes: Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax [Abstract] Inventories Inventory Disclosure [Text Block] Letter of credit posted as security
deposit Loss Contingency, Undiscounted Amount of Insurance-related Assessment Liability Employee Stock Option Share-Based Payment Arrangement, Option [Member] Defined contribution
plan, hours threshold for eligibility Defined Contribution Plan, Number of Hours Threshold Defined Contribution Plan, Number of Hours Threshold 2025 Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, to be
Paid, Year One Deferred compensation Multiemployer Plan Holdback Liability Multiemployer Plan Holdback Liability Schedule of Antidilutive Securities Excluded from Computation of Earnings
Per Share [Table] Antidilutive Security, Excluded EPS Calculation [Table] Total comprehensive income (loss) Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax, Attributable to Parent Weighted-average
discount rate, finance lease Finance Lease, Weighted Average Discount Rate, Percent Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units [Member]
Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units Real estate Employee Benefit Plan, Real Estate [Member] Repayments on Credit Facilities Repayments of Lines of Credit 2025 Finance Lease,
Liability, to be Paid, Year One Number of delivery routes number of delivery routes number of delivery routes Award Type [Axis] Award Type [Axis] Net deferred tax liability Deferred Tax
Liabilities, Net Number of defined benefit plans Number Of Defined Benefit Plans Number Of Defined Benefit Plans Property, plant and equipment, net Property, plant and equipment, net
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net Repayments of debt Repayments of Debt ICFR Auditor Attestation Flag ICFR Auditor Attestation Flag Total liabilities Liabilities Continuing Operations
Continuing Operations [Member] Options, vested and exercisable, Weighted Average Exercise Price (in dollars per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment
Award, Options, Exercisable, Weighted Average Exercise Price Common stock, par value (in dollars per share) Common Stock, Par or Stated Value Per Share Schedule of Share-based
Compensation Arrangements by Share-based Payment Award [Table] Schedule of Share-Based Compensation Arrangements by Share-Based Payment Award [Table] Weighted Average
Amortization Period as of June 30, 2024 Acquired Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Weighted Average Useful Life Revolving Credit Facility Revolving Credit Facility [Member] Expiration Date
Trading Arrangement Expiration Date Cash flows from investing activities: Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities [Abstract] Right-of-use operating lease liabilities - current
Operating lease liabilities - current Operating Lease, Liability, Current Total Shareholder Return Amount Total Shareholder Return Amount Equity Awards Adjustments, Footnote Equity Awards
Adjustments, Footnote [Text Block] Net operating loss carryforward Deferred Tax Assets, Operating Loss Carryforwards Other (net) Effective Income Tax Rate Reconciliation, Other Reconciling
Items, Amount Property, plant, and equipment, gross Coffee Brewing Equipment Property, Plant and Equipment, Gross Retirement Plan Name [Axis] Retirement Plan Name [Axis] Issuance of
common stock and stock option exercises (in shares) Number of options exercised (in shares) Number of NQOs, exercised (in shares) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based
Payment Award, Options, Exercises in Period Named Executive Officers, Footnote Named Executive Officers, Footnote [Text Block] Weighted Average Exercise Price ($) Share-Based
Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding, Weighted Average Exercise Price [Abstract] Losses on derivative instruments undesignated as cash flow
hedges reclassified to interest expense Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Cash Flow Hedge, Reclassification, for Discontinuance, after Tax Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Cash Flow
Hedge, Reclassification, for Discontinuance, after Tax Basis of Presentation Basis of Accounting, Policy [Policy Text Block] Weighted average common shares outstandinga€”diluted (in shares)
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding, Diluted Preferred stock, number of shares converted (in shares) Preferred Stock, Number Of Shares Converted Preferred Stock, Number Of
Shares Converted MNPI Disclosure Timed for Compensation Value MNPI Disclosure Timed for Compensation Value [Flag] AOCI Attributable to Parent, Net of Tax [Roll Forward] AOCI
Attributable to Parent, Net of Tax [Roll Forward] Total stockholdersa€™ equity Beginning Balance Ending Balance Beginning balance Ending balance Equity, Attributable to Parent Total
deferred tax assets Deferred Tax Assets, Gross Death Benefit Plan Postretirement Life Insurance [Member] Undiscounted workers' compensation liability Workers' Compensation Liability Net
sales Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, Revenue Short-term derivative assets Derivative Asset, Current Capitalized software Capitalized software Software and Software
Development Costs [Member] Concentration Risk Type [Domain] Concentration Risk Type [Domain] Discontinued Operation, Gain (Loss) on Disposal, Statement of Income or Comprehensive
Income [Extensible Enumeration] Discontinued Operation, Gain (Loss) on Disposal, Statement of Income or Comprehensive Income [Extensible Enumeration] Cost of goods sold Cost of Sales
[Member] Shares authorized (shares) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Number of Shares Authorized Expected employer contributions in the next year
Multiemployer Plans, Estimated Employer Contributions in Next Fiscal Year Multiemployer Plans, Estimated Employer Contributions in Next Fiscal Year Document Fiscal Period Focus
Document Fiscal Period Focus All Executive Categories All Executive Categories [Member] Balance Sheet Location [Domain] Statement of Financial Position Location, Balance [Domain] Finite-
lived intangible asset, expected amortization, year two Finite-Lived Intangible Asset, Expected Amortization, Year Two Changed Peer Group, Footnote Changed Peer Group, Footnote [Text
Block] Weighted Average Remaining Life, Beginning balance Weighted Average Remaining Life, Ending balance Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award,
Options, Outstanding, Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term ASSETS Assets [Abstract] Retirement Plan Type [Domain] Retirement Plan Type [Domain] Retirement Plan Contribution
[Axis] Retirement Plan Contribution [Axis] Retirement Plan Contribution Branch properties sold Number Of Branch Properties Number Of Branch Properties Document Type Document Type
Derivative Contract [Domain] Derivative Contract [Domain] Actuarial gain Actuarial (gains) losses Defined Benefit Plan, Benefit Obligation, Actuarial Gain (Loss) Defined contribution plan,
employer matching contribution, maximum annual contribution percentage Defined Contribution Plan, Maximum Annual Contributions Per Employee, Percent Weighted Average Remaining
Life, exercisable Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Exercisable, Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term Recorded Unconditional
Purchase Obligation by Category of Item Purchased [Axis] Recorded Unconditional Purchase Obligation by Category of Item Purchased [Axis] Schedule of Defined Benefit Plans Disclosures
Defined Benefit Plan [Table] Schedule of Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Future Amortization Expense Schedule of Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Future Amortization Expense [Table Text Block]
Maximum Maximum [Member] Debt covenant, availability to borrow, minimum threshold Debt Instrument, Debt Covenant, Line Of Credit Facility, Minimum Borrowing Capacity Threshold Debt
Instrument, Debt Covenant, Line Of Credit Facility, Minimum Borrowing Capacity Threshold Equity Valuation Assumption Difference, Footnote Equity Valuation Assumption Difference,
Footnote [Text Block] Finite-lived intangible assets, net Total Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Net Office furniture and equipment Furniture and Fixtures [Member] Accounts payable Accounts
Payable, Current Weighted Average Exercise Price, expired (in dollars per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangements by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Expirations in Period,
Weighted Average Exercise Price Schedule of Offsetting Liabilities Offsetting Liabilities [Table Text Block] Total lease expense Lease, Cost Range Statistical Measurement [Axis] Non-Rule 10b5-
1 Arrangement Terminated Non-Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Terminated [Flag] Loss from continuing operations before taxes Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations before Income Taxes,
Noncontrolling Interest Non-PEO NEO Average Total Compensation Amount Non-PEO NEO Average Total Compensation Amount Property, plant and equipment Deferred Tax Liabilities,
Property, Plant and Equipment Non-cash issuance of ESOP and 401(K) common stock Other Significant Noncash Transaction, Value of Consideration Given Name Outstanding Recovery,
Individual Name Disaggregation of Revenue [Line Items] Disaggregation of Revenue [Line Items] Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued
Operations [Table Text Block] Schedule of Antidilutive Securities Excluded from Computation of Earnings Per Share Schedule of Antidilutive Securities Excluded from Computation of Earnings
Per Share [Table Text Block] Other (expense) income: Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, Income Statement Disclosures [Abstract] Award Timing Predetermined Award Timing
Predetermined [Flag] Defined contribution plan, shares contributed Defined Contribution Plan, Number of Shares Contributed Defined Contribution Plan, Number of Shares Contributed Sale of
business Proceeds From (Payments For) Divestiture Of Business Proceeds From (Payments For) Divestiture Of Business Expected Contributions: Defined Benefit Plan, Expected Future
Employer Contributions [Abstract] Customer relationships Customer Relationships [Member] Net loss available to common stockholders per common share, diluted (in dollars per share)



Earnings Per Share, Diluted Estimated Future Benefit Payments: Defined Benefit Plan, Expected Future Benefit Payment [Abstract] Revenue Recognition Revenue from Contract with Customer
[Policy Text Block] State and Local Jurisdiction State and Local Jurisdiction [Member] Total current income tax expense Current Income Tax Expense (Benefit) Restatement does not require
Recovery Restatement Does Not Require Recovery [Text Block] Vesting percentage Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Award Vesting Rights, Percentage
Retirement Benefits [Abstract] Retirement Benefits [Abstract] Defined contribution plan, employer matching contribution, percent of eligible income Defined Contribution Plan, Employer
Matching Contribution, Percent of Employees' Gross Pay Preferred stock, issued (in shares) Preferred Stock, Shares Issued Deferred tax liabilities: Deferred Tax Liabilities, Gross [Abstract]
Customer [Axis] Customer [Axis] Statement of Financial Position [Abstract] Statement of Financial Position [Abstract] Self-Insurance Self Insurance Reserve [Policy Text Block] Other Deferred
Tax Liabilities, Other Total fair value of awards vested Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Vested in Period, Fair
Value Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant, and Equipment NQOs NQOs Non-qualified Stock Options with Time-based Vesting (NQO)
[Member] Non-qualified Stock Options with Time-based Vesting (NQO) [Member] Net gains (losses) on coffee-related derivative instruments Derivative Instruments Not Designated as Hedging
Instruments, Gain (Loss), Net Income tax expense (benefit) Income tax expense (benefit) Income Tax Expense (Benefit) Interest cost Defined Benefit Plan, Interest Cost Other (expense) income:
Nonoperating Income (Expense) [Abstract] Notional amount Derivative, Notional Amount Components of net periodic benefit cost Defined Benefit Plan, Net Periodic Benefit Cost (Credit)
[Abstract] Derivative asset, net Derivative Asset Number of NQOs, cancelled/forfeited (in shares) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Forfeitures
and Expirations in Period Period for recognition Share-Based Payment Arrangement, Nonvested Award, Cost Not yet Recognized, Period for Recognition Net sales Revenue from Contract with
Customer, Excluding Assessed Tax Product Information Product Information [Line Items] Statement of Comprehensive Income [Abstract] Statement of Comprehensive Income [Abstract]
Amounts recognized in balance sheet Net periodic benefit cost Defined Benefit Plan, Amounts Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) [Abstract] Finance Lease, Liability,
Noncurrent, Statement of Financial Position [Extensible Enumeration] Finance Lease, Liability, Noncurrent, Statement of Financial Position [Extensible Enumeration] Net cash provided by
(used in) investing activities Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities Income Tax Authority Income Tax Jurisdiction [Axis] All Adjustments to Compensation All Adjustments to
Compensation [Member] Accrued payroll expenses Employee-related Liabilities, Current Additional paid-in capital Additional Paid in Capital Defined Benefit Plan Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Credit Amortization Of Gain Loss Statement Of Income Or Comprehensive Income Extensible List Not Disclosed Flag Defined Benefit Plan Net Periodic Benefit Cost Credit Amortization Of Gain
Loss Statement Of Income Or Comprehensive Income Extensible List Not Disclosed Flag Defined Benefit Plan Net Periodic Benefit Cost Credit Amortization Of Gain Loss Statement Of Income
Or Comprehensive Income Extensible List Not Disclosed Flag Derivative Instruments, Gain (Loss) by Hedging Relationship, by Income Statement Location, by Derivative Instrument Risk [Table]
Derivative Instruments, Gain (Loss) [Table] Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) [Line Items] Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) [Line Items] Commitments and
Contingencies Disclosure [Abstract] Commitments and Contingencies Disclosure [Abstract] Interest expense Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, Interest Expense Restricted cash
Restricted Cash Accumulated Gain (Loss), Net, Cash Flow Hedge, Parent Accumulated Gain (Loss), Net, Cash Flow Hedge, Parent [Member] Total other (expense) Disposal Group, Including
Discontinued Operation, Nonoperating Income (Expense) Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, Nonoperating Income (Expense) Loss from discontinued operations available to
common stockholders per common share, diluted (in dollars per share) Discontinued Operation, Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operation, Net of Tax, Per Basic Share Long-term Debt, Type
[Domain] Long-Term Debt, Type [Domain] Entity Address, State or Province Entity Address, State or Province Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities Disclosure [Abstract] Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities Disclosure [Abstract] Erroneous Compensation Analysis Erroneous Compensation Analysis [Text Block] Plan Asset Categories Defined Benefit Plan, Plan
Assets, Category [Domain] Inventory [Domain] Inventory [Domain] Purchase price Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, Consideration Defined Benefit Plan Disclosure Defined
Benefit Plan Disclosure [Line Items] Defined Benefit Plan Net Periodic Benefit Cost Credit Expected Return Loss Statement Of Income Or Comprehensive Income Extensible List Not Disclosed
Flag Defined Benefit Plan Net Periodic Benefit Cost Credit Expected Return Loss Statement Of Income Or Comprehensive Income Extensible List Not Disclosed Flag Defined Benefit Plan Net
Periodic Benefit Cost Credit Expected Return Loss Statement Of Income Or Comprehensive Income Extensible List Not Disclosed Flag Weighted average grant date fair value, beginning
balance (in dollars per share) Weighted average grant date fair value, ending balance (in dollars per share) Weighted average grant date fair value (in dollars per share) Share-Based
Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Nonvested, Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS&€™ EQUITY Liabilities and Equity [Abstract] Total Liability, Defined Benefit Plan Schedule of Net Benefit Costs Schedule of Net Benefit Costs [Table Text Block] Restatement
Determination Date Restatement Determination Date Estimate of Fair Value Measurement Estimate of Fair Value Measurement [Member] Pay vs Performance Disclosure Pay vs Performance
Disclosure [Table] Property, Plant and Equipment [Table] Schedule of Property, Plant and Equipment Property, Plant and Equipment [Table] Weighted Average Exercise Price, Beginning
balance (in dollars per share) Weighted Average Exercise Price, Ending balance (in dollars per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options,
Outstanding, Weighted Average Exercise Price Operating lease assets Operating Lease, Right-of-Use Asset Erroneously Awarded Compensation Recovery Erroneously Awarded Compensation
Recovery [Table] Derivative Instruments, Gain (Loss) [Line Items] Derivative Instruments, Gain (Loss) [Line Items] Number of NQOs - Beginning balance (in shares) Number of NQOs - Ending
balance (in shares) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding, Number Contractual Obligations Contractual Obligations [Line Items]
Contractual Obligations [Line Items] Property, Plant and Equipment [Abstract] Property, Plant and Equipment [Abstract] Amortization of Net (Gain) Loss Calculation Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income, Calculation of Net Gains (Losses) Subject to Amortization [Abstract] Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, Calculation of Net Gains (Losses) Subject to
Amortization [Abstract] Net Loss Per Common Share Earnings Per Share [Text Block] Discontinued Operations Discontinued Operations [Member] Other Long-Term Liabilities Other Liabilities,
Noncurrent Disclosure [Text Block] Other Liabilities, Noncurrent Disclosure [Text Block] Issuance of common stock and stock option exercises Stock Issued During Period, Value, Stock Options
Exercised Inventory [Axis] Inventory [Axis] Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges Net (gains) losses recognized in AOCI - Coffee-related Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss), Cash Flow Hedge, Gain (Loss), before Reclassification, after Tax Weighted average grant date fair value (in dollars per share) Weighted average grant date fair value, granted (in
dollars per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Grants in Period, Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value
Derivative assets, net Gain (Loss) on Investments Other Inventory Other Inventory [Member] Other Inventory [Member] Income Taxes and Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance Income Tax,
Policy [Policy Text Block] Peer Group Issuers, Footnote Peer Group Issuers, Footnote [Text Block] Accrued postretirement benefits Liability, Other Postretirement Defined Benefit Plan,
Noncurrent Proceeds from Credit Facilities Proceeds from Lines of Credit Coffee-related derivative liabilities designated as cash flow hedges Price Risk Cash Flow Hedge Liability, at Fair Value
PEO PEO [Member] Name Trading Arrangement, Individual Name Funded status at end of year (underfunded) Defined Benefit Plan, Funded (Unfunded) Status of Plan Fair Values Derivatives,
Balance Sheet Location, by Derivative Contract Type [Table] Fair Values Derivatives, Balance Sheet Location, by Derivative Contract Type [Table] Property, Plant and Equipment, Type [Axis]
Long-Lived Tangible Asset [Axis] Total accumulated OCI (not adjusted for applicable tax) Defined Benefit Plan, Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Income) Loss, before Tax Entity Public Float
Entity Public Float Disposal Group Name [Axis] Disposal Group Name [Axis] Benefit obligation at the beginning of the year Projected benefit obligation at the end of the year Projected benefit
obligation Defined Benefit Plan, Benefit Obligation Amount expected to be recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost in the next fiscal year Defined Benefit Plan, Expected
Amortization, Next Fiscal Year Awards Close in Time to MNPI Disclosures, Table Awards Close in Time to MNPI Disclosures [Table Text Block] Payments of finance lease obligations
Repayments Of Capital Lease Obligations Repayments Of Capital Lease Obligations Prior Year End Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted in Any Prior Year that Fail to Meet Applicable Vesting
Conditions During Covered Year Prior Year End Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted in Any Prior Year that Fail to Meet Applicable Vesting Conditions During Covered Year [Member]
Reinsurance recoveries Reinsurance Recoverables, Including Reinsurance Premium Paid 2017 Plan 2017 Plan [Member] 2017 Plan [Member] Income Tax Disclosure Income Tax Disclosure
[Line Items] Income Tax Disclosure [Line Items] Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Amount Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Amount Gross (loss) profit Disposal Group, Including
Discontinued Operation, Gross Profit (Loss) Loss from discontinued operations available to common stockholders per common share, basic (in dollars per share) Discontinued Operation, Income
(Loss) from Discontinued Operation, Net of Tax, Per Diluted Share Local Phone Number Local Phone Number Intangible assets, gross Intangible Assets, Gross (Excluding Goodwill) Valuation
allowance Valuation allowance Deferred Tax Assets, Valuation Allowance Schedule of Multiemployer Plans Multiemployer Plan [Table Text Block] Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Not Yet
Determined Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Not Yet Determined [Text Block] Shares issuable under convertible preferred stock Cumulative Preferred Stock [Member] Operating expenses
Operating Expenses All Other Plans All Other Plans [Member] All Other Plans [Member] Short-Term Derivative Liabilities Short-Term Derivative Liabilities [Member] Short-Term Derivative
Liabilities [Member] Weighted Average Remaining Life (Years) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Additional Disclosures [Abstract] Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) [Member] PEO Total Compensation Amount PEO Total Compensation Amount Derivative liability, fair value
Derivative Liability, Subject to Master Netting Arrangement, before Offset Property, Plant and Equipment, Type [Domain] Long-Lived Tangible Asset [Domain] Income Statement Location [Axis]
Statement of Income Location, Balance [Axis] Defined Benefit Plan, Asset Categories Defined Benefit Plan, Target Asset Allocation Defined Benefit Plan, Plan Assets, Category [Axis] Debt
Disclosure [Abstract] Debt Disclosure [Abstract] Common Shares Common Stock [Member] Forgone Recovery due to Expense of Enforcement, Amount Forgone Recovery due to Expense of
Enforcement, Amount Line of Credit Line of Credit [Member] Entity Central Index Key Entity Central Index Key General and Administrative Expense General and Administrative Expense
[Member] Gain on settlement Gain (Loss) Related to Referred Stock Settlement Gain (Loss) Related to Referred Stock Settlement Schedule of Inventory, Current Schedule of Inventory, Current
[Table Text Block] Second Threshold Second Threshold [Member] Second Threshold Discontinued Operations and Disposal Groups [Abstract] Discontinued Operations and Disposal Groups
[Abstract] Non-PEO NEO Average Compensation Actually Paid Amount Non-PEO NEO Average Compensation Actually Paid Amount Award Timing, How MNPI Considered Award Timing, How
MNPI Considered [Text Block] Other receivables Other Receivables, Gross, Current Share-based compensation APIC, Share-Based Payment Arrangement, Increase for Cost Recognition
Restricted Stock Restricted Stock [Member] Measurement Basis [Axis] Measurement Basis [Axis] Title Trading Arrangement, Individual Title Multiemployer plans, number of plans
Multiemployer Plan, Number of Plans Multiemployer Plan, Number of Plans Impairment of Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Intangible Assets, Indefinite-Lived,
Policy [Policy Text Block] Employee Stock Ownership Plan Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP), Policy [Policy Text Block] Position [Domain] Position [Domain] City Area Code City Area
Code Income tax benefit Discontinued Operation, Tax Effect of Discontinued Operation Current liabilities: Liabilities, Current [Abstract] Auditor Location Auditor Location Accrued liabilities
Deferred Tax Assets, Tax Deferred Expense, Reserves and Accruals, Accrued Liabilities Schedule of Pretax Effect of Derivative Instruments on Earnings and OCI Schedule of Cash Flow Hedging
Instruments, Statements of Financial Performance and Financial Position, Location [Table Text Block] Other Intangible Assets Long-Lived Assets, Excluding Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Assets
[Policy Text Block] Long-Lived Assets, Excluding Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Assets [Policy Text Block] Culinary Culinary [Member] Culinary [Member] Disposal Group Classification [Domain]
Disposal Group Classification [Domain] Insider Trading Policies and Procedures Not Adopted Insider Trading Policies and Procedures Not Adopted [Text Block] Coffee (Roasted) Coffee
(Roasted) [Member] Coffee (Roasted) [Member] Schedule of Defined Benefit Plan Amounts Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Schedule of Defined Benefit Plan Amounts
Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) [Table Text Block] Net gains from sale of assets Gain (Loss) on Disposition of Assets Preferred Shares Preferred Stock [Member] Remaining
borrowing capacity Line of Credit Facility, Remaining Borrowing Capacity Postretirement Benefits and Pension Plans Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, Policy [Policy Text Block] Accrued
workersa€™ compensation liabilities Workers' Compensation Liability, Noncurrent Change in tax rate Effective Income Tax Rate Reconciliation, Change in Enacted Tax Rate, Amount Security
Deposit - Letter of Credit Financial Standby Letter of Credit [Member] Weighted Average GrantA Date Fair Value ($) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award,
Equity Instruments Other than Options, Nonvested, Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value [Abstract] Earnings Per Share [Abstract] Earnings Per Share [Abstract] Equity [Abstract] Equity
[Abstract] Accumulated deficit Retained Earnings (Accumulated Deficit) Finance Lease, Right-of-Use Asset, Statement of Financial Position [Extensible Enumeration] Finance Lease, Right-of-
Use Asset, Statement of Financial Position [Extensible Enumeration] Long Long [Member] 2020 Plan 2020 Plan [Member] 2020 Plan [Member] Class of Stock [Domain] Class of Stock [Domain]
Weighted Average Exercise Price, cancelled/forfeited (in dollars per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Forfeitures and Expirations in
Period, Weighted Average Exercise Price Cash flow hedge gain (loss) to be reclassified within twelve months Cash Flow Hedge Gain (Loss) to be Reclassified within 12 Months Discontinued
operation, transaction-related costs Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, Transaction Costs Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, Transaction Costs Inventories
Increase (Decrease) in Inventories Schedule of Debt Schedule of Debt [Table Text Block] General and administrative expenses General and Administrative Expense Aggregate Available Trading
Arrangement, Securities Aggregate Available Amount Equity Awards Adjustments Equity Awards Adjustments [Member] Total lease obligations Operating Lease, Liability Underlying Securities
Award Underlying Securities Amount Defined Benefit Plans and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans Disclosures [Table] Defined Benefit Plans and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
Disclosures [Table] Accrued workersa€™ compensation liabilities Workers' Compensation Liability, Current Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost Defined
Benefit Plan, Weighted Average Assumptions Used in Calculating Net Periodic Benefit Cost [Abstract] 2029 Finance Lease, Liability, to be Paid, Year Five Amendment Flag Amendment Flag Net
(gains) losses from sale of assets Gain (Loss) on Disposition of Property Plant Equipment Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) [Member] Machinery and
equipment Machinery and Equipment [Member] Debt securities Defined Benefit Plan, Debt Security [Member] Amortization of finance lease assets Finance Lease, Right-of-Use Asset,
Amortization Actual return on plan assets Defined Benefit Plan, Plan Assets, Increase (Decrease) for Actual Return (Loss) Debt Obligations Debt Disclosure [Text Block] Fair Value Hierarchy
and NAV [Domain] Fair Value Hierarchy and NAV [Domain] Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation Disclosure [Line Items] Term loan Debt Instrument, Face Amount Derivative
liabilitiesa€”noncurrent Derivative Liability, Noncurrent Entity Address, Postal Zip Code Entity Address, Postal Zip Code Interest Rate Swap Interest Rate Swap [Member] Land Land Schedule
of Allowance for Accounts and Notes Receivable Schedule of Allowance for Accounts and NotesReceivable [Table Text Block] Schedule of Allowance for Accounts and Note Receivable [Table
Text Block] Cash and cash equivalents Cash and Cash Equivalents, at Carrying Value Executive Death Benefit Plan Schedule of Executive Death Benefit Plan [Table Text Block] Schedule of
Executive Death Benefit Plan Other Liability, Pension and Other Postretirement and Postemployment Benefits, Current Other Assets Other Noncurrent Assets [Member] Year-over-Year Change
in Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted in Prior Years That are Outstanding and Unvested Year-over-Year Change in Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted in Prior Years That are Outstanding
and Unvested [Member] Auditor Name Auditor Name Percent of workforce covered by collective bargaining agreement Percent Of Workforce Covered By Collective Bargaining Agreement
Percent Of Workforce Covered By Collective Bargaining Agreement Weighted average grant date fair value, cancelled/forfeited (in dollars per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement
by Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Forfeitures, Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value Current: Current Income Tax Expense (Benefit), Continuing
Operations [Abstract] Year-end Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted in Covered Year that are Outstanding and Unvested Year-end Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted in Covered Year that are
Outstanding and Unvested [Member] Long-term borrowings under revolving credit facility Long-Term Line of Credit, Noncurrent Property, plant and equipment useful life Property, Plant and
Equipment, Useful Life Number of NQOs Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding [Roll Forward] Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization, Nonproduction Fair Value Measurement [Domain] Fair Value Measurement [Domain] Accounts payable Increase (Decrease) in Accounts Payable
Adjustment To PEO Compensation, Footnote Adjustment To PEO Compensation, Footnote [Text Block] PNQs Non-qualified Stock Options with Performance-based and Time-based Vesting (PNQ)
[Member] Non-qualified Stock Options with Performance-based and Time-based Vesting (PNQ) Financing cash flows from finance leases Finance Lease, Principal Payments Designated as
Hedging Instrument Designated as Cash Flow Hedges Designated as Hedging Instrument [Member] Conversion price (in US$ per share) Preferred Stock, Conversion Price Per Share Preferred
Stock, Conversion Price Per Share Net loss available to common stockholders Net Income (Loss) Available to Common Stockholders, Basic Compensation Actually Paid vs. Other Measure



Compensation Actually Paid vs. Other Measure [Text Block] Schedule of Stock by Class [Table] Stock, Class of Stock [Table] Vesting Date Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted and Vested in
Covered Year Vesting Date Fair Value of Equity Awards Granted and Vested in Covered Year [Member] Total assets Assets Cost of goods sold Cost of Goods and Services Sold Other long-term
liabilities Other long-term liabilities Other Liabilities, Noncurrent Forgone Recovery due to Violation of Home Country Law, Amount Forgone Recovery due to Violation of Home Country Law,
Amount Commitments and contingencies (Note 19) Commitments and Contingencies Share-based Compensation Share-Based Payment Arrangement [Policy Text Block] Schedule of Effective
Income Tax Rate Reconciliation Schedule of Effective Income Tax Rate Reconciliation [Table Text Block] Termination Date Trading Arrangement Termination Date Introduction and Basis of
Presentation Business Description and Basis of Presentation [Text Block] Fair Value, Assets and Liabilities Measured on Recurring and Nonrecurring Basis [Line Items] Fair Value, Assets and
Liabilities Measured on Recurring and Nonrecurring Basis [Line Items] 2026 Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, to be Paid, Year Two Not Designated as Hedging Instrument Not Designated as
Hedging Instrument [Member] Deferred tax assets: Deferred Tax Assets, Gross [Abstract] Debt Instrument Debt Instrument [Axis] Net loss Net loss Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Parent
Trading Arrangement: Trading Arrangement [Axis] June 30, 2030 to June 30, 2034 June 30, 2030 to June 30, 2034 Defined Benefit Plan, Expected Future Benefit Payment, after Year Five for
Next Five Years Pay vs Performance Disclosure, Table Pay vs Performance [Table Text Block] Schedule of Offsetting Assets Offsetting Assets [Table Text Block] Schedule of Allocation of Plan
Assets Schedule of Allocation of Plan Assets [Table Text Block] Equity Awards Adjustments, Excluding Value Reported in Compensation Table Equity Awards Adjustments, Excluding Value
Reported in the Compensation Table [Member] Escrow receivable Escrow Deposit Entity File Number Entity File Number Cumulative preferred dividends, undeclared and unpaid Preferred
Stock Dividends, Income Statement Impact, Net Of Adjustment Preferred Stock Dividends, Income Statement Impact, Net Of Adjustment Fixed charge coverage ratio Debt Instrument, Debt
Covenant, Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, Minimum Debt Instrument, Debt Covenant, Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, Minimum Income Statement [Abstract] Income Statement [Abstract] Entity
Address, Address Line One Entity Address, Address Line One Schedule of Real Estate Properties [Table] Real Estate Property, Ownership [Table] Federal Current Federal Tax Expense (Benefit)
Accrued expenses and other Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities and Other Operating Liabilities Name Forgone Recovery, Individual Name Options, vested and exercisable, Aggregate
Intrinsic Value Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Exercisable, Intrinsic Value Compensation and Retirement Discosure [Abstract]
Compensation and Retirement Discosure [Abstract] Compensation and Retirement Discosure [Abstract] Weighted-average remaining lease terms (in years), operating lease Operating Lease,
Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term Loss Contingency, Nature [Domain] Loss Contingency, Nature [Domain] Deferred income taxes Increase (Decrease) in Deferred Income Taxes Award
Timing MNPI Considered Award Timing MNPI Considered [Flag] Schedule of Expected Benefit Payments Schedule of Expected Benefit Payments [Table Text Block] Borrowing base, percentage
Debt Instrument, Borrowing Base, Inventory Debt Instrument, Borrowing Base, Inventory Line of Credit Facility Line of Credit Facility [Line Items] Inventory Disclosure [Abstract] Inventory
Disclosure [Abstract] Outstanding Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Amount Outstanding Aggregate Erroneous Compensation Amount PEO Actually Paid Compensation Amount PEO Actually
Paid Compensation Amount Discontinued Operations, Disposed of by Sale Discontinued Operations, Disposed of by Sale [Member] Loss from continuing operations available to common
stockholders per common share, diluted (in dollars per share) Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations, Per Diluted Share Employer contribution percentage Multiemployer Plan, Pension,
Significant, Employer Contribution under Collective-Bargaining Arrangement to All Participating Employer Contributions, Percentage Right-of-use operating lease liabilities Deferred Tax Asset,
Right-of-Use Operating Lease Assets Deferred Tax Asset, Right-of-Use Operating Lease Assets Adjustment to Compensation: Adjustment to Compensation [Axis] Loss (gains) on derivatives
designated as cash flow hedges reclassified to cost of goods sold Other comprehensive income (loss), cash flow hedge, reclassified from AOCI to earnings Other Comprehensive Income (Loss),
Cash Flow Hedge, Gain (Loss), Reclassification, after Tax Change in pension and retiree benefit obligations Change in the funded status of retiree benefit obligations, net of taxes Other
Comprehensive (Income) Loss, Defined Benefit Plan, after Tax and Reclassification Adjustment, Attributable to Parent Accumulated other comprehensive loss Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax Pension Adjustments Service Cost Pension Adjustments Service Cost [Member] Trade name/brand name Trade Secrets [Member] Weighted average
common shares outstanding - basic (in shares) Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding, Basic Stock Price or TSR Estimation Method Stock Price or TSR Estimation Method [Text
Block] Target Plan Asset Allocations Defined Benefit Plan, Plan Assets, Target Allocation, Percentage Net proceeds Proceeds From Sale of Property Held-for-Sale, Gross Proceeds From Sale of
Property Held-for-Sale, Gross Name Awards Close in Time to MNPI Disclosures, Individual Name Coffee Coffee [Member] Coffee [Member] Revenue Benchmark Revenue Benchmark [Member]
Entity Filer Category Entity Filer Category Beginning Balance (in shares) Ending Balance (in shares) Shares, Issued Post-retirement medical plan and other offset in OCI Effective Income Tax
Rate Reconciliation, Post-retirement Medical Plan and Other Offset Effective Income Tax Rate Reconciliation, Post-retirement Medical Plan and Other Offset, Amount Fed Funds Effective Rate
Overnight Index Swap Rate Fed Funds Effective Rate Overnight Index Swap Rate [Member] Range Statistical Measurement [Domain] Lease, Cost Lease, Cost [Table Text Block] Letter of credit
fee payable Letter Of Credit Fee Payable Letter Of Credit Fee Payable Derivatives, Fair Value [Line Items] Derivatives, Fair Value [Line Items] Cash-Settled Restricted Stock Units Cash-Settled
Restricted Stock Units [Member] Cash-Settled Restricted Stock Units Other current liabilities Other current liabilities Other Liabilities, Current Schedule of Notional Amounts of Outstanding
Derivative Positions Schedule of Notional Amounts of Outstanding Derivative Positions [Table Text Block] All Trading Arrangements All Trading Arrangements [Member] Compensation Actually
Paid vs. Net Income Compensation Actually Paid vs. Net Income [Text Block] Schedule of Computation of Basic and Diluted Loss per Common Share Schedule of Earnings Per Share, Basic and
Diluted [Table Text Block] Award vesting period Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Award Vesting Period Federal business tax credits Tax Credit
Carryforward, Amount Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Adopted Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Adopted [Flag] Loss from discontinued operations Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation,
Operating Income (Loss) Awards Close in Time to MNPI Disclosures Awards Close in Time to MNPI Disclosures [Table] Derivative [Line Items] Derivative [Line Items] Cash paid for income
taxes Income Taxes Paid, Net Pay vs Performance Disclosure [Line Items] Peer Group Total Shareholder Return Amount Peer Group Total Shareholder Return Amount Derivative [Table]
Derivative [Table] Deferred: Deferred Income Tax Expense (Benefit), Continuing Operations [Abstract] Schedule of Fair Values of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets
Schedule of Derivative Instruments in Statement of Financial Position, Fair Value [Table Text Block] Other Performance Measure, Amount Other Performance Measure, Amount Finite-lived
intangible asset, expected amortization, year three Finite-Lived Intangible Asset, Expected Amortization, Year Three Total lease assets Leases, Right Of Use Assets Leases, Right Of Use Assets
Defined Benefit Plan, Net Periodic Benefit Cost (Credit) Excluding Service Cost, Statement of Income or Comprehensive Income [Extensible Enumeration] Defined Benefit Plan, Net Periodic
Benefit Cost (Credit) Excluding Service Cost, Statement of Income or Comprehensive Income [Extensible Enumeration] Goodwill Goodwill [Line Items] Leases Lessee, Operating Leases [Text
Block] Common stock, shares outstanding (in shares) Common Stock, Shares, Outstanding Documents Incorporated by Reference Documents Incorporated by Reference [Text Block] Coffee-
related derivative assets not designated as accounting hedges Price Risk Derivative Instruments Not Designated as Hedging Instruments Asset, at Fair Value Operating lease expense Operating
Lease, Cost Shares available for grant (in shares) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Number of Shares Available for Grant Operating lease liabilities -
noncurrent Operating Lease, Liability, Noncurrent Benefits paid Defined Benefit Plan, Benefit Obligation, Benefits Paid Cash Flow Hedging Cash Flow Hedging [Member] Interest on finance
lease liabilities Finance Lease, Interest Expense Common stock issued upon conversion (in shares) Convertible Preferred Stock, Shares Issued upon Conversion Service cost Defined Benefit
Plan, Service Cost Entity Tax Identification Number Entity Tax Identification Number Equity securities Defined Benefit Plan, Equity Securities [Member] Schedule of Finite-Lived Intangible
Assets [Table] Intangible Asset, Finite-Lived [Table] Derivative liability, cash collateral posted Derivative Liability, Subject to Master Netting Arrangement, Collateral, Right to Reclaim Cash
Offset Retirement Plan Type [Axis] Retirement Plan Type [Axis] Accounts Receivable, Net Loans, Notes, Trade and Other Receivables Disclosure [Text Block] Retirement Plan Contribution
[Domain] Retirement Plan Contribution [Domain] Retirement Plan Contribution [Domain] Plan Name [Axis] Plan Name [Axis] Thereafter Finance Lease, Liability, to be Paid, after Year Five
Equity Components [Axis] Equity Components [Axis] Finance Lease, Liability, Payment, Due Finance Lease, Liability, to be Paid Trademarks, trade names and brand name with indefinite lives
Trade Names [Member] Auditor Information [Abstract] Auditor Information Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities, Discontinued
Operations Derivative asset, cash collateral posted Derivative Asset, Subject to Master Netting Arrangement, Collateral, Obligation to Return Cash, Offset Against Derivative Asset Aggregate
Intrinsic Value Aggregate Intrinsic Value, exercisable Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding, Intrinsic Value Term SOFR margin Debt
Instrument, Term SOFR Margin Debt Instrument, Term SOFR Margin Loss on disposal Discontinued Operation, Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Discontinued Operation, Net of Tax Other, net
Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, Other Income (Expense) Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, Other Income (Expense) Spices Spice [Member] Spice [Member]
2029 Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, to be Paid, Year Five Derivative notional amount Derivative, Nonmonetary Notional Amount Aggregate Grant Date Fair Value of Equity Award Amounts
Reported in Summary Compensation Table Aggregate Grant Date Fair Value of Equity Award Amounts Reported in Summary Compensation Table [Member] Employee Benefit Plans
Compensation and Employee Benefit Plans [Text Block] Other CBE expenses Cost of Property Repairs and Maintenance Coffee-related Derivative Instruments Coffee-related Derivative
Instruments [Member] Coffee-related Derivative Instruments [Member] Coffee Brewing Equipment and Service Cost of Goods and Service [Policy Text Block] Cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash at beginning of period Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents Borrowing base,
net orderly liquidation, percentage Debt Instrument, Borrowing Base, Net Orderly Liquidation Debt Instrument, Borrowing Base, Net Orderly Liquidation Weighted Average Interest Rate Debt,
Weighted Average Interest Rate Amortization of net loss Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Defined Benefit Plan, Gain (Loss), Reclassification Adjustment from AOCI, after Tax Compensation
cost not yet recognized Share-Based Payment Arrangement, Nonvested Award, Cost Not yet Recognized, Amount Employer contributions (hours) Multiemployer Plans, Collective-Bargaining
Arrangement, Hours of Contributions Multiemployer Plans, Collective-Bargaining Arrangement, Hours of Contributions Accounts Receivable Benchmark Accounts Receivable Benchmark
[Member] Accounts Receivable Benchmark Current assets: Assets, Current [Abstract] Coffee-related derivative liabilities not designated as accounting hedges Price Risk Derivative Instruments
Not Designated as Hedging Instruments Liability, at Fair Value Five Customers Five Customers [Member] Five Customers [Member] Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets, Major Class Name
Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets, Major Class Name [Domain] Corridor (10% of greater of APBO or assets) Defined Benefit Plan, Corridor Defined Benefit Plan, Corridor Delivery Surcharge
Delivery [Member] Delivery Fixed charge coverage ratio, period Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Period Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Period Forgone Recovery due to Disqualification of Tax
Benefits, Amount Forgone Recovery due to Disqualification of Tax Benefits, Amount Product and Service [Domain] Product and Service [Domain] Weighted average grant date fair value, vested,
(in dollars per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Vested in Period, Weighted Average Grant Date Fair
Value The following is a summary of the changes in the carrying value of goodwill Goodwill [Roll Forward] Fair Value Disclosures [Abstract] Fair Value Disclosures [Abstract] Preferred stock,
outstanding (in shares) Preferred Stock, Shares Outstanding Recorded Unconditional Purchase Obligation, Category [Domain] Recorded Unconditional Purchase Obligation, Category [Domain]
Unprocessed Inventory, Raw Materials and Supplies, Net of Reserves Security Exchange Name Security Exchange Name Basis spread on variable rate Debt Instrument, Basis Spread on
Variable Rate Weighted Average Exercise Price, exercised (in dollars per share) Share-Based Compensation Arrangements by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Exercises in Period,
Weighted Average Exercise Price Shares Awarded Shares Awarded Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options,
Nonvested, Number of Shares [Roll Forward] State Current State and Local Tax Expense (Benefit) Forgone Recovery, Explanation of Impracticability Forgone Recovery, Explanation of
Impracticability [Text Block] Goodwill and Intangible Assets Disclosure [Abstract] Goodwill and Intangible Assets Disclosure [Abstract] Gain (loss) on sale of properties Gain (Loss) on Sale of
Properties Common stock, shares issued (in shares) Common Stock, Shares, Issued Retirement Plan Name [Domain] Retirement Plan Name [Domain] Line of credit, maximum borrowing
capacity Line of Credit Facility, Maximum Borrowing Capacity Concentration risk (percent) Concentration Risk, Percentage Derivative liability, net Derivative Liability Insider Trading Policies
and Procedures Adopted Insider Trading Policies and Procedures Adopted [Flag] Accumulated depreciation Accumulated Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization, Property, Plant, and
Equipment Gain on settlement related to Boyd's acquisition Goodwill and Intangible Asset Impairment Common stock, shares authorized (in shares) Common Stock, Shares Authorized U.S.
small cap equity securities U.S. Small Cap Equity Securities [Member] U.S. Small Cap Equity Securities [Member] Intangible assets Deferred Tax Assets, Goodwill and Intangible Assets Long-
term Debt, Type [Axis] Long-Term Debt, Type [Axis] Entity Voluntary Filers Entity Voluntary Filers Defined contribution plan, employer matching contribution Defined Contribution Plan,
Employer Matching Contribution, Amount Defined Contribution Plan, Employer Matching Contribution, Amount Farmer Brothers Plan Farmer Brothers Plan [Member] Farmer Brothers Plan
[Member] Amortization of net loss Amortization of net gain Defined Benefit Plan, Amortization of Gain (Loss) Option to extend lease term, operating Lessee, Operating Lease, Renewal Term
Branch Warehouses Branch Warehouses [Member] Branch Warehouses [Member] Balance Sheet Location [Axis] Statement of Financial Position Location, Balance [Axis] Hedging Designation
[Domain] Hedging Designation [Domain] Interest expense Interest Expense, Nonoperating Total deferred income tax (benefit) expense Deferred Income Tax Expense (Benefit) Property, Plant
and Equipment Property, Plant and Equipment Disclosure [Text Block] Discount rate Defined Benefit Plan, Assumptions Used Calculating Benefit Obligation, Discount Rate ESOP compensation
expense, including reclassifications (in shares) Adjustments To Additional Paid In Capital, Share-based Compensation, Employee Stock Ownership Program, Requisite Service Period
Recognition, Shares Adjustments To Additional Paid In Capital, Share-based Compensation, Employee Stock Ownership Program, Requisite Service Period Recognition, Shares Write-offs
Accounts Receivable, Allowance for Credit Loss, Writeoff Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and OCI Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit
Plans, Adjustment and Net Periodic Benefit Cost, Net of Tax Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans, Adjustment and Net Periodic Benefit Cost,
Net of Tax Number of NQOs, granted (in shares) Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Grants in Period, Gross Antidilutive Securities Excluded
from Computation of Earnings Per Share [Line Items] Antidilutive Securities Excluded from Computation of Earnings Per Share [Line Items] Assets held for sale Asset, Held-for-Sale, Not Part of
Disposal Group, Current Pension Adjustments Prior Service Cost Pension Adjustments Prior Service Cost [Member] Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year Fair value of plan assets
at the end of the year Fair value of plan assets at measurement date Defined Benefit Plan, Plan Assets, Amount Defined contribution plan, employer matching contribution, matching
contribution percentage Defined Contribution Plan, Employer Matching Contribution, Percent of Match Trade receivables Receivables from contracts with customers Accounts Receivable,
before Allowance for Credit Loss, Current Accrued pension liabilities Liability, Defined Benefit Pension Plan, Noncurrent 163(j) Interest Limitation Deferred Tax Assets, Interest Limitation
Deferred Tax Assets, Interest Limitation Pension Benefits Adjustments, Footnote Pension Benefits Adjustments, Footnote [Text Block] Total Shareholder Return Vs Peer Group Total Shareholder
Return Vs Peer Group [Text Block] Document Annual Report Document Annual Report 2027 Finance Lease, Liability, to be Paid, Year Three Shares awarded, vested (in shares) Share-Based
Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other than Options, Vested in Period Amortization years Defined Benefit Plan, Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income, Net Gains (Losses) Subject to Amortization, Remaining Amortization Period Defined Benefit Plan, Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, Net Gains (Losses)
Subject to Amortization, Remaining Amortization Period Indefinite-lived intangible assets Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets (Excluding Goodwill) Tea and culinary products Tea and Culinary
Products [Member] Tea and Culinary Products [Member] Amortization of intangible assets Amortization of Intangible Assets Payment of financing costs Payments of Financing Costs Program
for Enhanced Early Retirement Program for Enhanced Early Retirement [Member] Program for Enhanced Early Retirement [Member] Accounting Policies [Abstract] Accounting Policies
[Abstract] Less: Cumulative preferred dividends, undeclared and unpaid Preferred Stock Dividends, Income Statement Impact Fair Value Measurements Fair Value Measurement, Policy [Policy
Text Block] Current Fiscal Year End Date Current Fiscal Year End Date Less: interest Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, Undiscounted Excess Amount PEO Name PEO Name Award Type
[Domain] Award Type [Domain] Compensation Actually Paid vs. Company Selected Measure Compensation Actually Paid vs. Company Selected Measure [Text Block] Noncurrent liabilities
Liability, Defined Benefit Plan, Noncurrent Schedule of Intangible Assets and Goodwill Schedule of Intangible Assets and Goodwill [Table Text Block] Non-PEO NEO Non-PEO NEO [Member]
Net gains (losses) recognized in AOCI OCI, before Reclassifications, Net of Tax, Attributable to Parent Additional Paid-in Capital Additional Paid-in Capital [Member] Finance lease liabilities -
noncurrent Finance Lease, Liability, Noncurrent Hedging Relationship [Axis] Hedging Relationship [Axis] Total amortized intangible assets Amortized Intangible Assets Amortized Intangible



Assets [Member] Amortized Intangible Assets [Member] Schedule of Accounts, Notes, Loans and Financing Receivable Schedule of Accounts, Notes, Loans and Financing Receivable [Table Text
Block] Class of Stock [Line Items] Class of Stock [Line Items] Recent Accounting Pronouncements New Accounting Pronouncements, Policy [Policy Text Block] Series A Preferred Stock Series A
Preferred Stock [Member] Class of Stock Class of Stock [Axis] Finite-Lived Intangible Assets by Major Class [Axis] Finite-Lived Intangible Assets by Major Class [Axis] Accumulated Amortization
Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Accumulated Amortization 2028 Finance Lease, Liability, to be Paid, Year Four Name Measure Name Entity Interactive Data Current Entity Interactive Data
Current Operating Activities [Axis] Operating Activities [Axis] Number of operating segments Number of Operating Segments Investment horizon period Investment Period For Long Term
Capital Market Assumptions Investment Period For Long Term Capital Market Assumptions Schedule of Assets and Liabilities Measured and Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
Schedule of Fair Value, Assets and Liabilities Measured on Recurring Basis [Table Text Block] Disaggregation of Revenue [Table] Disaggregation of Revenue [Table] ESOP and share-based
compensation expense Share-Based Payment Arrangement, Noncash Expense Investments measured at NAV Fair Value Measured at Net Asset Value Per Share [Member] Accounts Receivable,
Allowance for Credit Loss [Roll Forward] Accounts Receivable, Allowance for Credit Loss [Roll Forward] Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: Supplemental Cash Flow Information
[Abstract] Total other (expense) income Nonoperating Income (Expense) Concentration Risk Benchmark [Domain] Concentration Risk Benchmark [Domain] Share-Based Compensation
Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Vested and Expected to Vest [Abstract] Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Vested and
Expected to Vest [Abstract] Auditor Firm ID Auditor Firm ID Loss from operations Operating Income (Loss) Inventories Inventories [Member] Commodity Commodity [Member] Variable Rate
[Domain] Variable Rate [Domain] Net loss subject to amortization Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Defined Benefit Plan, Gain (Loss), after Tax Valuation allowance Effective
Income Tax Rate Reconciliation, Change in Deferred Tax Assets Valuation Allowance, Amount Total liabilities and stockholdersa€™ equity Liabilities and Equity Cumulative preferred dividends,
undeclared and unpaid (in shares) Dividends, Paid-in-kind, Shares Dividends, Paid-in-kind, Shares Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Terminated Rule 10b5-1 Arrangement Terminated [Flag] Fair Value
Hierarchy and NAV [Axis] Fair Value Hierarchy and NAV [Axis] ESOP compensation expense, including reclassifications Adjustments To Additional Paid In Capital, Share-based Compensation,
Employee Stock Ownership Program, Requisite Service Period Recognition Adjustments To Additional Paid In Capital, Share-based Compensation, Employee Stock Ownership Program,
Requisite Service Period Recognition Hedging Designation [Axis] Hedging Designation [Axis] Short-term derivative liability Derivative Liability, Current Derivative Instruments Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities Disclosure [Text Block] 2026 Finance Lease, Liability, to be Paid, Year Two Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes Loss from discontinued
operations, net of income taxes Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax, Including Portion Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Major Class
Name Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Major Class Name [Domain] Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Major Class Name [Domain] Schedule of Share-based Compensation, Restricted Stock and
Restricted Stock Units Activity Share-Based Payment Arrangement, Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Unit, Activity [Table Text Block] Finance lease expense: Amortization of Deferred
Charges [Abstract] First Threshold First Threshold [Member] First Threshold Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities Right-of-Use Asset Obtained in
Exchange for Operating Lease Liability Underlying Security Market Price Change Underlying Security Market Price Change, Percent Expected return on plan assets Defined Benefit Plan,
Expected Return (Loss) on Plan Assets Individual: Individual [Axis] Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) AOCI Attributable to Parent [Member] Inventories Total Inventory, Net
Product and Service [Axis] Product and Service [Axis] Property, Plant and Equipment Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items] Statement [Line Items] Statement [Line Items] Benefits paid
Benefits paid Defined Benefit Plan, Plan Assets, Benefits Paid Schedule of Property, Plant and Equipment Property, Plant and Equipment [Table Text Block] Compensation Actually Paid vs. Total
Shareholder Return Compensation Actually Paid vs. Total Shareholder Return [Text Block] Term of contract Derivative, Term of Contract Derivative Instruments Derivatives, Policy [Policy Text
Block] Allowance for Credit Losses Credit Loss, Financial Instrument [Policy Text Block] Depreciation expense and amortization Depreciation Expense, Including Amortization Expense For
Assets Under Capital Leases Depreciation Expense, Including Amortization Expense For Assets Under Capital Leases Minimum Minimum [Member] Adoption Date Trading Arrangement
Adoption Date Provision for credit losses Provision Accounts Receivable, Credit Loss Expense (Reversal) Change in Fair Value as of Vesting Date of Prior Year Equity Awards Vested in Covered
Year Change in Fair Value as of Vesting Date of Prior Year Equity Awards Vested in Covered Year [Member] Statutory tax rate Effective Income Tax Rate Reconciliation, at Federal Statutory
Income Tax Rate, Percent Derivative Instrument Risk [Axis] Derivative Instrument [Axis] Carrying Value Long-Term Debt, Gross Exercise Price Award Exercise Price General and administrative
expenses Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, General and Administrative Expense Net loss as of July 1 Defined Benefit Plan, Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, Net
Gains (Losses) before Market Adjustment, after Tax Defined Benefit Plan, Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, Net Gains (Losses) before Market Adjustment, after Tax Schedule of
Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities Schedule of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities [Table Text Block] Preferred Stock Preferred Stock [Text Block] Real Estate Properties Real Estate Properties
[Line Items] Arrangement Duration Trading Arrangement Duration Operating loss carryforwards Operating Loss Carryforwards Leases Lessee, Finance Leases [Text Block] Intangible Assets
Goodwill and Intangible Assets Disclosure [Text Block] Loss from continuing operations available to common stockholders per common share, basic (in dollars per share) Income (Loss) from
Continuing Operations, Per Basic Share Stockholdersa€™ equity: Equity, Attributable to Parent [Abstract] Federal Domestic Tax Jurisdiction [Member] Revolver Security Agreement Revolver
Security Agreement [Member] Revolver Security Agreement Material Terms of Trading Arrangement Material Terms of Trading Arrangement [Text Block] Finite-lived intangible asset, expected
amortization, year four Finite-Lived Intangible Asset, Expected Amortization, Year Four Finance Lease, Liability Finance Lease, Liability All Individuals All Individuals [Member] Buildings and
facilities Buildings and facilities Building [Member] Variable Rate [Axis] Variable Rate [Axis] Income Tax Disclosure [Abstract] Income Tax Disclosure [Abstract] Other, net Other, net Other
Nonoperating Income (Expense) Other Postretirement Benefits Plan Other Postretirement Benefits Plan [Member] Statement of Stockholders' Equity [Abstract] Statement of Stockholders'
Equity [Abstract] Intangible assets, net Intangible Assets, Net (Excluding Goodwill) Receivables [Abstract] Receivables [Abstract] Loss from continuing operations Net Income (Loss) from
Continuing Operations Available to Common Shareholders, Basic Unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock Share-Based Payment Arrangement, Nonvested Award, Excluding
Option, Cost Not yet Recognized, Amount Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line Items] Income Statement,
Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line Items] Change in plan assets Defined Benefit Plan, Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets
[Roll Forward] Current liabilities Liability, Defined Benefit Plan, Current Conversion of preferred shares Stock Issued Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Table] Disposal
Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Table] Net operating losses Deferred Tax Assets, Operating Loss Carryforwards, Not Subject to Expiration Amended Revolving Credit Facility
Amended Revolving Credit Facility [Member] Amended Revolving Credit Facility Operating lease, remaining contractual term Operating Lease, Remaining Contractual Term Operating Lease,
Remaining Contractual Term Total unamortized intangible assets Unamortized Intangible Assets [Member] Unamortized Intangible Assets [Member] Interest expense Interest Expense
[Member] Other assets Increase (Decrease) in Other Operating Assets Total recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) Other Comprehensive (Income) Loss, Defined Benefit Plan, after
Reclassification Adjustment, after Tax Federal Deferred Federal Income Tax Expense (Benefit) Schedule of Other Current Liabilities Schedule of Accrued Liabilities [Table Text Block] Cash
Equivalents Cash and Cash Equivalents, Policy [Policy Text Block] Commitments and Contingencies Commitments and Contingencies Disclosure [Text Block] Change in projected benefit
obligation Defined Benefit Plan, Change in Benefit Obligation [Roll Forward] Measure: Measure [Axis] International equity securities International Equity Securities [Member] International
Equity Securities [Member] Recipes Noncompete Agreements [Member] Share price (in dollars per share) Share Price Long Lived Assets Held-for-sale by Asset Type [Axis] Long-Lived Asset,
Held-for-Sale, Type [Axis] Preferred stock, shares authorized (in shares) Preferred Stock, Shares Authorized Term Loan Term Loan [Member] Term Loan June 30, 2025 Defined Benefit Plan,
Expected Future Benefit Payment, Year One Entity Emerging Growth Company Entity Emerging Growth Company Fixed charge coverage ratio Debt Instrument, Covenant, Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio Debt Instrument, Covenant, Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets by Major Class Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets [Axis] Short Short [Member] Cost of
goods sold Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, Costs of Goods Sold Non-GAAP Measure Description Non-GAAP Measure Description [Text Block] Tea & Other Beverages Tea &
Other Beverages [Member] Tea & Other Beverages Finance lease assets Finance Lease, Right-of-Use Asset, after Accumulated Amortization Preferred stock, par value (in US$ per share)
Preferred Stock, Par or Stated Value Per Share Equity Component [Domain] Equity Component [Domain] Total Defined Benefit Plan, Amounts for Asset (Liability) Recognized in Statement of
Financial Position Other Long Term Liabilities Other Long Term Liabilities [Member] Other Long Term Liabilities [Member] Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities Cash Provided by
(Used in) Operating Activities, Discontinued Operations Additional 402(v) Disclosure Additional 402(v) Disclosure [Text Block] Entity Shell Company Entity Shell Company Total lease liabilities
Leases, Liabilities Leases, Liabilities Entity Incorporation, State or Country Code Entity Incorporation, State or Country Code June 30, 2028 Defined Benefit Plan, Expected Future Benefit
Payment, Year Four Coffee Brewing Equipment Coffee Brewing Equipment [Member] Coffee Brewing Equipment [Member] Eligible accounts receivable Debt Instrument, Borrowing Base,
Accounts Receivable Debt Instrument, Borrowing Base, Accounts Receivable Hourly Employeesa€™ Plan Hourly Employees' Plan [Member] Hourly Employees' Plan [Member] Loss on sale of
assets Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, Gain (Loss) on Sale of Asset Disposal Group, Including Discontinued Operation, Gain (Loss) on Sale of Asset Statement [Table]
Statement [Table] Direct Ship And Private Label Business Direct Ship And Private Label Business [Member] Direct Ship And Private Label Business Life insurance policies Other Assets, Life
Insurance Policies Other Assets, Life Insurance Policies London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) (1) [Member] London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)
(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Significant Accounting Policies [Text Block] Loss from discontinued operations before taxes Discontinued Operation, Income (Loss) from
Discontinued Operation, before Income Tax Schedule of Net Realized and Unrealized Gains and Losses Recorded in 'Other, net' Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments [Table Text
Block] Change in operating assets and liabilities: Increase (Decrease) in Operating Assets [Abstract] Cash paid for interest Interest Paid, Excluding Capitalized Interest, Operating Activities
LevelA 1 Fair Value, Inputs, Level 1 [Member] Concentration Risk Benchmark [Axis] Concentration Risk Benchmark [Axis] Total current assets Assets, Current Statement of Cash Flows
[Abstract] Statement of Cash Flows [Abstract] Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities: Noncash Investing and Financing Items [Abstract] Cumulative preferred
dividends, undeclared and unpaid Adjustments to Additional Paid in Capital, Dividends in Excess of Retained Earnings Options, vested and exercisable, outstanding (in shares) Share-Based
Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Exercisable, Number Short-term Derivative Assets Derivative Assets, Current [Member] Derivative Assets, Current Total
grant-date fair value Share-Based Compensation Arrangement By Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other Than Options, Granted, Fair Value Share-Based Compensation
Arrangement By Share-Based Payment Award, Equity Instruments Other Than Options, Granted, Fair Value Employer contributions Defined Benefit Plan, Plan Assets, Contributions by
Employer Cumulative preferred dividends, undeclared and unpaid Dividends, Paid-In-Kind, Net Of Adjustments Dividends, Paid-In-Kind, Net Of Adjustments Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss) [Table] Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) [Table] Entity Well-known Seasoned Issuer Entity Well-known Seasoned Issuer Income Taxes Income Tax Disclosure
[Text Block] 2028 Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, to be Paid, Year Four Assets And Liabilities, Lessee Assets And Liabilities, Lessee [Table Text Block] Assets And Liabilities, Lessee [Table
Text Block] Organization, Consolidation and Presentation of Financial Statements [Abstract] Organization, Consolidation and Presentation of Financial Statements [Abstract] Weighted-average
discount rate, operating lease Operating Lease, Weighted Average Discount Rate, Percent Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
Credit Facility Credit Facility [Axis] Selling expenses Selling Expense Minimum number of hours to quality for the company's benefit plan Minimum Number Of Hours To Qualify For The Benefit
Plan Minimum Number Of Hours To Qualify For The Benefit Plan Loss Contingency Nature [Axis] Loss Contingency Nature [Axis] Entity Registrant Name Entity Registrant Name Adjustment to
Non-PEO NEO Compensation Footnote Adjustment to Non-PEO NEO Compensation Footnote [Text Block] Gross profit Gross Profit State Deferred State and Local Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
Fair Value as of Grant Date Award Grant Date Fair Value Customer Concentration Risk Customer Concentration Risk [Member] Non-current assets Assets for Plan Benefits, Defined Benefit Plan
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12 Months Ended
Cover Page - USD ($) Dec.
$ in Millions Jun. 30, 2024

Cover [Abstract]

Document Type 10-K
Document Annual
Report

Document Period End
Date

Current Fiscal Year End
Date

Document Transition
Report

Entity File Number 001-34249

Entity Registrant Name Farmer Brothers Co

Entity Incorporation DE

State or Country Code

I]::I?l‘mnfby;}l;ax Identification 95-0725980

Entity Address, Address

Line One 14501 N Fwy

ﬁy Address, City or Fort Worth

Entity Address, State or

Province RS

Entity Addr P 1

b téyOdéld ess, Postal 76177

City Area Code 682

Local Phone Number 549-6600

Title of 12(b) Security = Common Stock, par value $1.00 per share
Trading Symbol FARM

Security Exchange

Name NASDAQ

Entity Well-known No

Seasoned Issuer

Entity Voluntary Filers No

Entity Current Yes

Reporting Status

Entity Interactive Data

Current Yes

Entity Filer Category Non-accelerated Filer

Entity Small Business  true

Entity Emerging Growth
Company

ICFR Auditor
Attestation Flag
Document Financial
Statement Error false
Correction

Entity Public Float $
47.6

true
Jun. 30, 2024
--06-30

false

false

false

Entity Shell Company false
Entity Common Stock,
Shares Outstanding 21,254,343

Documents DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Incorporated by Specified portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with the

Reference registrant’s 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference into Part Ill of this report. Such proxy statement will be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the
conclusion of the registrant’s fiscal year ended June 30, 2024.

Amendment Flag false

Document Fiscal Period

F FY
ocus

Document Fiscal Year

Focus

Entity Central Index 0000034563
Key
XML 24 R2 hitm IDEA-XBRL- DOCUMENT
12 Months Ended
Jun. 30, 2024

2024

Audit Information

Auditor Information [Abstract]

Auditor Name GRANT THORNTON LLP
Auditor Location Dallas, Texas
Auditor Firm ID 248
XML25 R hitmIDEA-XBRL-DOCUMENT
CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEETS -
USD ($) Jun. 30, 2024 Jun. 30, 2023

$ in Thousands
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Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $710 and $416, respectively
Inventories

Short-term derivative assets
Prepaid expenses

Assets held for sale

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net

Operating lease assets
Other assets

Total assets

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued payroll expenses

Right-of-use operating lease liabilities - current

Short-term derivative liability
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Long-term borrowings under revolving credit facility
Accrued pension liabilities

Accrued postretirement benefits

Accrued workers’ compensation liabilities

Operating lease liabilities - noncurrent

Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 19
Stockholders’ equity:

$ 5,830
175
35,147
57,230
11
4,236
352
102,981
34,002
11,233
35,241
1,756
185,213

48,478
10,782
14,046
730
2,997
77,033
23,300
12,287
789
2,378
21,766
2,111
139,664

Common stock, $1.00 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized; 21,264,327 and 20,142,973 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively 21,265

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
XML 26 R4 bt IDEA: XBRIE-DOCUMENT
CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEETS
(Parenthetical) - USD
($)

$ in Thousands

Statement of Financial Position [Abstract]

Jun. 30, 2024 Jun. 30, 2023

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 710 $ 416
Common stock, par value (in dollars per share) $ 1.00 $ 1.00
Common stock, shares authorized (in shares) 50,000,000 50,000,000
Common stock, shares issued (in shares 21,264,327 21,264,327
20,142,973

Common stock, shares outstanding (in shares) 20,142,973
XML 27 R5AmAPEAXBREDOCUMENT

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF
OPERATIONS - USD
%)
$ in Thousands
Income Statement [Abstract]
Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Net gains from sale of assets
Operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Other, net
Total other (expense) income
Loss from continuing operations before taxes
Income tax expense (benefit
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Net loss
Less: Cumulative preferred dividends, undeclared and unpaid
Net loss available to common stockholders

Loss from continuing operations available to common stockholders per common share, basic (in dollars per share
Loss from continuing operations available to common stockholders per common share, diluted (in dollars per share

79,963
(30,354)
(25,325)
45,549

$ 185,213

12 Months Ended

Jun. 30, 2024 Jun. 30, 2023 Jun. 30, 2022

$ 341,094
207,201
133,893
111,371
41,649
(16,877)
136,143
(2,250)

(7,835)
6,224
(1,611)
(3,861)
14
(3,875)
0
(3,875)
0

$ (3,875)
$(0.19)
(0.19)

Loss from discontinued operations available to common stockholders per common share, basic (in dollars per share) 0
Loss from discontinued operations available to common stockholders per common share, diluted (in dollars per share) 0

Net loss available to common stockholders per common share, basic (in dollars per share
Net loss available to common stockholders per common share, diluted (in dollars per share)
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic (in shares
Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted (in shares)
XML-28 R6 htm TDEAXBRL-DOCUMENT
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (LOSS) -
USD ($)
$ in Thousands
Statement of Comprehensive Income [Abstract]
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Loss (gains) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges reclassified to cost of goods sold

(0.19)
$(0.19)
20,873,266
20,873,266

$ 339,964
225,351
114,613
103,151
37,561
(5,140)
135,572
(20,959)

(9,162)
(4,242)
(13,404)
(34,363)
(325)
(34,038)
(45,142)
(79,180)

0
$(79,180)
$(1.74)
(1.74)
(2.30)
(2.30)
(4.04)

$ (4.04)
19,621,992
19,621,992

12 Months Ended

Jun. 30, 2024 Jun. 30, 2023 Jun. 30, 2022

$ (3,875)

406
615

Losses on derivative instruments undesignated as cash flow hedges reclassified to interest expense 0

Change in pension and retiree benefit obligations
Total comprehensive income (loss)
XML29-R7Zmm APEAXBRE-DOCUMENT

CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENTS OF

STOCKHOLDERS'

Preferred Common

Total

6,484
$ 3,630

Additional Paid-in

$ (79,180)

(2,384)
(1,392)
909

8,467

$ (73,580)

$ (15,661)

12,172
(15,865)
1,208
9,383
$ (8,763)

Retained Earnings

$ 314,783
180,968
133,815
99,458
43,243
(2,905)
139,796
(5,981)

(4,009)
8,140
4,131
(1,850)
124
(1,974)
(13,687)
(15,661)
594

$ (16,255)
$(0.14)
(0.14)
(0.75)
(0.75)
(0.89)

$ (0.89)
18,200,080
18,200,080

$ 5,244
175
45,129
49,276
68
5,334
7,770
112,996
33,782
13,493
24,593
2,917
187,781

60,088
10,082
8,040
2,636
4,519
85,365
23,021
19,761
763
3,065
17,157
537
149,669

20,144
77,278
(26,479)
(32,831)
38,112

$ 187,781

Accumulated Other Comprehensive
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EQUITY - USD ($)
$ in Thousands

Beginning Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2021
Beginning Balance at Jun. 30, 2021

Shares Shares

14,700 17,852,793

$
104,959 % 15 $ 17,853

Increase (Decrease) in Stockholders' Equity
[Roll Forward]

Net loss

Cash flow hedges, net of taxes

Change in the funded status of retiree benefit
obligations, net of taxes

ESOP compensation expense, including
reclassifications (in shares)

ESOP compensation expense, including
reclassifications

Share-based compensation

Issuance of common stock and stock option exercises
in shares

Issuance of common stock and stock option exercises (490)
Cuml}lative preferred dividends, undeclared and 2051
unpaid ’
Ending Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2022

Ending Balance at Jun. 30, 2022

Increase (Decrease) in Stockholders' Equity
[Roll Forward]

Net loss

Cash flow hedges. net of taxes

Change in the funded status of retiree benefit
obligations, net of taxes

ESOP compensation expense, including
reclassifications (in shares)

ESOP compensation expense, including
reclassifications

Share-based compensation

Issuance of common stock and stock option exercises
in shares

Issuance of common stock and stock option exercises 0
Cumulative preferred dividends, undeclared and
unpaid (in shares

Cumulative preferred dividends, undeclared and
unpaid (1,366) $ (15)
Ending Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2023 0
Ending Balance at Jun. 30, 2023 38,112 $0
Increase (Decrease) in Stockholders' Equity
[Roll Forward]

Net loss

Cash flow hedges, net of taxes

Change in the funded status of retiree benefit
obligations, net of taxes

ESOP compensation expense, including
reclassifications (in shares)

ESOP compensation expense, including
reclassifications

Share-based compensation

Issuance of common stock and stock option exercises
in shares

Issuance of common stock and stock option exercises 0

Ending Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2024 0

Ending Balance at Jun. 30, 2024
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(15,661)
(2,485)

9,383
371,566

3,644
3,347

$ 373

240,607
$ 240

14,700
104,748 $ 15

18,464,966
$ 18,466

(79,180)
(2,867)

8,467
937,848

4,665
3,645

$ 938

340,951
$ 341
399,208

(14,700)

$ 399

20,142,973
$ 20,144

(3,875)
1,022

6,484
595,031

1,694
2,112

$ 595

526,323

$ 526
21,264,327

$ 21,265

$
45,549 $0

Capital

$ 66,109

3,271
3,347

(730)

71,997

3,727
3,645

(341)

(1,750)

77,278

1,099
2,112

(526)

$ 79,963

(Accumulated Deficit)

$ 66,311

(15,661)

2,051

52,701

(79,180)

(26,479)

(3,875)

$ (30,354)

12 Months Ended

%) Jun. 30, 2024 Jun. 30, 2023 Jun. 30, 2022

$ in Thousands
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 11,588
Gain on settlement related to Boyd's acquisition 0
Deferred income taxes 0
Net (gains) losses from sale of assets (18,091)
Net losses (gains) on derivative instruments 113
ESOP and share-based compensation expense 3,806
Provision for credit losses 748
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net 10,448
Inventories (7,954)
Derivative assets, net 565
Other assets 2,335
Accounts payable (11,777)
Accrued expenses and other (2,053)
Net cash used in operating activities (14,147)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Sale of business
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from Credit Facilities 6,279
Repayments on Credit Facilities (6,000)
Payment of financing costs (76)
Payments of finance lease obligations (193)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 10
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 586
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 5,419
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period 6,005
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest 2,803
Cash paid for income taxes 164

$(3,875)

(1,214)
(13,843)
29,780
14,723

$(79,180)

22,168
(1,917)
(735)
22,275
7,504
8,311
743

(939)
19,785
(6,235)
(945)
7,087
(4,802)
(6,880)

92,226
(15,016)
11,235
88,445

54,000
(139,579)
(368)
(193)
(86,140)
(4,575)
9,994
5,419

11,760
177

$ (15,661)

23,810
0

(425)
(2,905)
(21,620)
6,501
(353)

(6,260)
(22,828)
19,554
2,652
7,111
(1,030)
(11,454)

0
(15,163)
9,118
(6,045)

23,500
(5,900)
(352)
(193)
17,055
(444)
10,438
9,994

7,503
142

Income (Loss)

$ (45,329)

(2,485)
9,383

(38,431)

(2,867)
8,467

(32,831)

1,022
6,484

$ (25,325)
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Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:

Non-cash additions to property, plant and equipment 167 124 63
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities 13,508 3,517 7,684
Non-cash issuance of ESOP and 401(K) common stock 595 938 373
Cumulative preferred dividends, undeclared and unpaid 0 0 594
Conversion of preferred shares $0 $ 399 $0
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Introduction and
Basis of Presentation

Organization
Consolidation and
Presentation of
Financial Statements
[Abstract]
Introduction and Basis
of Presentation

12 Months Ended
Jun. 30, 2024

Note 1. Introduction and Basis of Presentation
Description of Business

Farmer Bros. Co., a Delaware corporation (including its consolidated subsidiaries unless the context otherwise requires, the “Company,” or “Farmer Bros.”), is a leading coffee roaster, wholesaler,
equipment servicer and distributor of coffee, tea and other allied products. The Company serves a wide variety of customers, from small independent restaurants and foodservice operators to large institutional
buyers like restaurant, department and convenience store retailers, hotels, casinos, healthcare facilities, and gourmet coffee houses, as well as grocery chains with private brand and consumer-branded coffee
and tea products, and foodservice distributors. The Company’s product categories consist of roast and ground coffee; frozen liquid coffee flavored and unflavored iced and hot teas and other beverages
including cappuccino, cocoa, granitas, and concentrated and ready-to-drink cold brew and iced coffee; culinary products and spices. The Company was founded in 1912 incorporated in California in 1923, and
reincorporated in Delaware in 2004. The Company's principal office and product development lab is located in Fort Worth, Texas ("Fort Worth facility"). The Company operates in one business segment.

On June 30, 2023, the Company completed its sale of certain assets of the Company related to its direct ship and private label business, including the Company’s production facility and corporate office
building in Northlake, Texas (the "Sale"). The Sale and the related direct ship and private label operations are reported in loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes on the consolidated statements
of operations. See Note 3, Discontinued Operations for more information related to the Sale and the discontinued operations. All other footnotes present results of the continuing operations.

The Company operates a production facility in Portland, Oregon. Distribution takes place out of several distribution centers in Portland, Oregon; Northlake, lllinois; Rialto, California; and Moonachie, New
Jersey.
The Company’s products reach its customers primarily through the Company’s nationwide direct-store-delivery ("DSD") network of 243 delivery routes and 104 branch
warehouses as of June 30, 2024. The Company also does direct-ship via common carriers or third-party distributors. The Company operates a large fleet of trucks and
other vehicles to distribute and deliver its products through its DSD network, and relies on third-party logistic (“3PL") service providers for its long-haul distribution.
DSD sales are primarily made “off-truck” by the Company to its customers at their places of business.
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Summary of
Significant
Accounting Policies
Accounting Policies
[Abstract]
Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

12 Months Ended
Jun. 30, 2024

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and

the accompanying notes. The Company reviews its estimates on an ongoing basis using currently available information. Changes in facts and circumstances may result in revised estimates and actual results
may differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. Fair values of cash equivalents approximate cost due to the short period of time
to maturity.

Allowance for credit losses

A portion of our accounts receivable is not expected to be collected due to non-payment, bankruptcies and deductions. Our accounting policy for the allowance for credit losses requires us to reserve an
amount based on the evaluation of the aging of accounts receivable, detailed analysis of high-risk customers’ accounts, historical customer losses and the overall market and economic conditions of our
customers to estimate future losses. This evaluation considers the customer demographic, such as large commercial customers as compared to small businesses or individual customers. We consider our
accounts receivable delinquent or past due based on payment terms established with each customer. Accounts receivable are written off when the accounts are determined to be uncollectible.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company groups its assets and liabilities at fair value in three levels, based on the markets in which the assets and liabilities are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair
value. These levels are:

* Level 1—Valuation is based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.

+ Level 2—Valuation is based upon inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly (i.e. interest rate and yield curves
observable at commonly quoted intervals, default rates, etc.). Observable inputs include quoted prices for similar instruments in active and non-active markets. Level 2 includes those financial
instruments that are valued with industry standard valuation models that incorporate inputs that are observable in the marketplace throughout the full term of the instrument, or can otherwise be
derived from or supported by observable market data in the marketplace. Level 2 inputs may also include insignificant adjustments to market observable inputs.

+ Level 3—Valuation is based upon one or more unobservable inputs that are significant in establishing a fair value estimate. These unobservable inputs are used to the extent relevant observable
inputs are not available and are developed based on the best information available. These inputs may be used with internally developed methodologies that result in management’s best estimate of
fair value.

Securities with quotes that are based on actual trades or actionable bids and offers with a sufficient level of activity on or near the measurement date are classified as Level 1. Securities that are priced
using quotes derived from implied values, indicative bids and offers, or a limited number of actual trades, or the same information for securities that are similar in many respects to those being valued, are
classified as Level 2. If market information is not available for securities being valued, or materially-comparable securities, then those securities are classified as Level 3. In considering market information,
management evaluates changes in liquidity, willingness of a broker to execute at the quoted price, the depth and consistency of prices from pricing services, and the existence of observable trades in the
market.

Derivative Instruments

The Company executes various derivative instruments to hedge its commodity price and interest rate risks. These derivative instruments consist primarily of forward, option and swap contracts. The
Company reports the fair value of derivative instruments on its consolidated balance sheets in “Short-term derivative assets,” “Other assets,” “Short-term derivative liabilities,” or “Other long-term liabilities.”
The Company determines the current and noncurrent classification based on the timing of expected future cash flows of individual trades and reports these amounts on a gross basis. Additionally, the Company
reports, if any, cash held on deposit in margin accounts for coffee-related derivative instruments on a gross basis on its consolidated balance sheet in “Restricted cash.”

The accounting for the changes in fair value of the Company's derivative instruments can be summarized as follows:

Derivative Treatment Accounting Method
Normal purchases and normal sales exception Accrual accounting
Designated in a qualifying hedging relationship Hedge accounting
All other derivative instruments Mark-to-market accounting

The Company enters into green coffee purchase commitments at a fixed price or at a price to be fixed (“PTF”). PTF contracts are purchase commitments whereby the quality, quantity, delivery period, price
differential to the coffee “C” market price and other negotiated terms are agreed upon, but the date, and therefore the price at which the base “C” market price will be fixed has not yet been established. The
coffee “C” market price is fixed at some point after the purchase contract date and before the futures market closes for the delivery month and may be fixed either at the direction of the Company to the
vendor, or by the application of a derivative that was separately purchased as a hedge. For both fixed-price and PTF contracts, the Company expects to take delivery of and to utilize the coffee in a reasonable
period of time and in the conduct of normal business. Accordingly, these purchase commitments qualify as normal purchases and are not recorded at fair value on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

The Company follows the guidelines of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (“ASC 815"”), to account for certain coffee-related derivative instruments as accounting
hedges, in order to minimize the volatility created in the Company's quarterly results from utilizing these derivative instruments and to improve comparability between reporting periods. For a derivative to
qualify for designation in a hedging relationship, it must meet specific criteria and the Company must maintain appropriate documentation. The Company establishes hedging relationships pursuant to its risk
management policies. The hedging relationships are evaluated at inception and on an ongoing basis to determine whether the hedging relationship is, and is expected to remain, highly effective in achieving
offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the underlying risk being hedged. The Company also regularly assesses whether the hedged

forecasted transaction is probable of occurring. If a derivative ceases to be or is no longer expected to be highly effective, or if the Company believes the likelihood of occurrence of the hedged forecasted
transaction is no longer probable, hedge accounting is discontinued for that derivative, and future changes in the fair value of that derivative are recognized in “Other, net”in the consolidated statements of
operations.

For coffee-related derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, the change in fair value of the derivative is reported as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) and
subsequently reclassified into cost of goods sold in the period or periods when the hedged transaction affects earnings. Gains or losses deferred in AOCI associated with terminated derivative instruments,
derivative instruments that cease to be highly effective hedges, derivative instruments for which the forecasted transaction is reasonably possible but no longer probable of occurring, and cash flow hedges
that have been otherwise discontinued remain in AOCI until the hedged item affects earnings. If it becomes probable that the forecasted transaction designated as the hedged item in a cash flow hedge will not
occur, any gain or loss deferred in AOCI is recognized in “Other, net” in the consolidated statements of operations at that time. For derivative instruments that are not designated in a hedging relationship, and
for which the normal purchases and normal sales exception has not been elected, the changes in fair value are reported in “Other, net” in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 5, Derivative
Instruments.

Concentration of Credit Risk

At June 30, 2024, the financial instruments which potentially expose the Company to concentration of credit risk consist of cash in financial institutions (in excess of federally insured limits), derivative
instruments and trade receivables.

The Company does not have any credit-risk related contingent features that would require it to post additional collateral in support of its net derivative liability positions. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, none of
the cash in the Company’s coffee-related derivative margin accounts was restricted. Further changes in commodity prices and the number of coffee-related derivative instruments held, could have a significant
impact on cash deposit requirements under certain of the Company's broker and counterparty agreements.

Approximately 11% and 33% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance was with five customers at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. There were no customers that accounted for more than 10% of
the Company’s accounts receivable balance as of June 30, 2024. The Company estimates its credit risk for accounts receivable at the amount recorded on the balance sheet. The accounts receivable are
generally short-term and all estimated credit losses have been appropriately considered in establishing the allowance for credit losses.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The Company uses the first in, first out ("FIFO") basis for accounting for coffee, tea and culinary products and coffee brewing equipment
parts. The Company regularly evaluates these inventories to determine the provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory. Inventory reserves are based on inventory obsolescence trends, historical
experience and application of specific identification.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method. The following useful lives are used:
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Buildings and facilities 10 to 30 years

Machinery and equipment 3 to 15 years
Office furniture and equipment 5to 7 years
Capitalized software 3 to 5 years
Equipment under finance leases Shorter of term of lease or estimated useful life

Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the estimated useful life of the asset or the remaining lease term. When assets are sold or retired, the asset and related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective account balances and any gain or loss on disposal is included in operations. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense, and enhancements
are capitalized.

Coffee Brewing Equipment and Service

The Company capitalizes coffee brewing equipment and depreciates it over five years and reports the depreciation expense in cost of goods sold. Other non-depreciation expenses related to coffee brewing
equipment provided to customers, such as the cost of servicing that equipment (including service employees’ salaries, cost of transportation and the cost of supplies and parts), are considered directly
attributable to the generation of revenues from the customers. These non-depreciation expenses are also included in cost of goods sold. See Note 10, Property, Plant and Equipment for details of the
depreciation amounts and non-depreciation expenses.

Leases

The Company makes a determination if an arrangement constitutes a lease at inception, and categorizes the lease as either an operating or finance lease. Operating leases are included in right-of-use
operating lease assets and operating lease liabilities in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. Finance leases are included in property, plant and equipment, net and other liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company has entered into leases for building facilities, vehicles and other equipment. The Company’s leases have remaining contractual terms of up to 7 years, some of which have options to extend
the lease for up to an additional 10 years. For purposes of calculating operating lease liabilities, lease terms are deemed not to include options to extend the lease renewals until it is reasonably certain that the
Company will exercise that option. The Company's lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

Right-of-use lease assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the
lease. Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of the Company's leases do not
provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company uses
the implicit rate when readily determinable. Lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. Lease expense is
primarily recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are combined for certain assets.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which
differences are expected to reverse. Estimating the Company’s tax liabilities involves judgments related to uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations. The Company makes certain estimates
and judgments to determine tax expense for financial statement purposes as it evaluates the effect of tax credits, tax benefits and deductions, some of which result from differences in the timing of recognition
of revenue or expense for tax and financial statement purposes. Changes to these estimates may result in significant changes to the Company’s tax provision in future periods.

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance

The Company evaluates its deferred tax assets quarterly to determine if a valuation allowance is required and considers whether a valuation allowance should be recorded against deferred tax assets based
on the likelihood that the benefits of the deferred tax assets will or will not ultimately be realized in future periods. In making this assessment, significant weight is given to evidence that can be objectively
verified, such as recent operating results, and less consideration is given to less objective indicators, such as future income projections. After consideration of positive and negative evidence, if the Company
determines that it is more likely than not that it will generate future income sufficient to realize its deferred tax assets, the Company will record a reduction in the valuation allowance.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the way that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. We recognize revenue at a point in time upon delivery of the ordered goods to our customers. Revenues are recognized net of any discounts,
returns, allowances, rebates and incentives. The Company performs the following steps to determine revenue recognition for an arrangement: (1) identify the contract(s) with a customer, (2) identify the
performance obligations in the contract, (3) determine the transaction price, (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and (5) recognize revenue when (or as) the
performance obligations are satisfied.

Net Loss Per Common Share

Net loss per share (“EPS”) represents net loss available to common stockholders divided by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Dividends on the Company's
outstanding Series A Convertible Participating Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, par value $1.00 per share ("Series A Preferred Stock"), that the Company has paid or intends to pay are deducted from net
loss in computing net loss available to common stockholders.

Under the two-class method, net loss available to nonvested restricted stockholders and holders of Series A Preferred Stock is excluded from net loss available to common stockholders for purposes of
calculating basic and diluted EPS.

Diluted EPS represents net loss available to holders of common stock divided by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, inclusive of the dilutive impact of common equivalent shares
outstanding during the period. Common

equivalent shares include potentially dilutive shares from share-based compensation including stock options, unvested restricted stock, unvested performance-based restricted stock units, and shares of Series
A Preferred Stock, as converted, because they are deemed participating securities. In the absence of contrary information, the Company assumes 100% of the target shares are issuable under performance-
based restricted stock units.

The dilutive effect of Series A Preferred Stock is reflected in diluted EPS by application of the if-converted method. In applying the if-converted method, conversion will not be assumed for purposes of
computing diluted EPS if the effect would be anti-dilutive. The Series A Preferred Stock is antidilutive whenever the amount of the dividend declared or accumulated in the current period per common share
obtainable upon conversion exceeds basic EPS.

Employee Stock Ownership Plan
Effective January 1, 2022, the Company merged the ESOP plan into the 401(k) Plan and transferred all of the assets and shares in the ESOP to the 401(k) Plan.
Share-based Compensation

The Company measures all share-based compensation cost at the grant date, based on the fair values of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest, and recognizes that cost as an expense on a
straight line-basis in its consolidated statements of operations over the requisite service period. Fair value of restricted stock and performance-based restricted stock units is the closing price of the Company's
common stock on the date of grant. The Company estimates the fair value of option awards using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, which requires management to make certain assumptions for
estimating the fair value of stock options at the date of grant.

In addition, the Company estimates the expected impact of forfeited awards and recognizes share-based compensation cost only for those awards ultimately expected to vest. If actual forfeiture rates differ
materially from the Company’s estimates, share-based compensation expense could differ significantly from the amounts the Company has recorded in the current period. The Company periodically reviews
actual forfeiture experience and will revise its estimates, as necessary. The Company will recognize as compensation cost the cumulative effect of the change in estimated forfeiture rates on current and prior
periods in earnings of the period of revision. As a result, if the Company revises its assumptions and estimates, the Company’s share-based compensation expense could change materially in the future.

The Company's outstanding share-based awards include performance-based restricted stock units ("PBRSUs") that have performance-based vesting conditions in addition to time-based vesting. Awards
with performance-based vesting conditions require the achievement of certain financial and other performance criteria as a condition to the vesting. The Company recognizes the estimated fair value of
performance-based awards, net of estimated forfeitures, as share-based compensation expense over the service period based upon the Company’s determination of whether it is probable that the performance
targets will be achieved. At each reporting period, the Company reassesses the probability of achieving the performance criteria and the performance period required to meet those targets. Determining
whether the performance criteria will be achieved involves judgment, and the estimate of share-based compensation expense may be revised periodically based on changes in the probability of achieving the
performance criteria. Revisions are reflected in the period in which the estimate is changed. If performance goals are not met, no share-based compensation expense is recognized for the cancelled PNQs or
PBRSUs and, to the extent share-based compensation expense was previously recognized for those cancelled PNQs or PBRSUs, such share-based compensation expense is reversed. If performance goals are
exceeded and the payout is more than 100% of the target shares, additional compensation expense is recorded in the period when that determination is certified by the Compensation Committee of the Board
of Directors. The Company also has Cash-Settled Restricted Stock Units ("CSRSUs") which are accounted for as liability awards, with compensation expense measured at fair value on the date of grant and
recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, net of forfeitures. Compensation expense is remeasured at each reporting date with a cumulative adjustment to compensation cost during the period
based on changes in the Common Stock's closing share price.

Impairment of Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

The Company accounts for its indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance with “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other” (“ASC 350”). Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but instead are
reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change which indicate that an asset might be impaired. Pursuant to ASC 350, the Company tests its indefinite-lived
intangible assets, which consist of certain acquired trademarks, trade names and a brand name, for impairment by comparing their fair values to their carrying values. An impairment charge is recorded if the
estimated fair value of such assets has decreased below their carrying values.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets consist of finite-lived intangible assets including customer relationships. These assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives and are tested for impairment by grouping them
with other assets at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets and liabilities. The estimated future
cash flows are based upon, among other things, assumptions about expected future operating performance, and may differ from actual cash flows. If the sum of the projected undiscounted cash flows
(excluding interest) is less than the carrying value of the assets, the assets will be written down to the estimated fair value in the period in which the determination is made. The Company reviews the
recoverability of its finite-lived intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.

Collective Bargaining Agr

Certain Company employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements which expire on or before September 30, 2027. At June 30, 2024 approximately 21% of the Company's workforce was covered
by such agreements.

Self-Insurance

The Company uses a combination of insurance and self-insurance mechanisms to provide for the potential liability of certain risks including workers’ compensation, health care benefits, general liability,
product liability, property insurance and director and officers’ liability insurance. Liabilities associated with risks retained by the Company are not discounted and are estimated by considering historical claims
experience, demographics, exposure and severity factors and other actuarial assumptions.

The Company's self-insurance for workers’ compensation liability includes estimated outstanding losses of unpaid claims, and allocated loss adjustment expenses (“ALAE"”), case reserves, the development
of known claims and incurred but not reported claims. ALAE are the direct expenses for settling specific claims. The amounts reflect per occurrence and annual aggregate limits maintained by the Company.
The estimated liability analysis does not include estimating a provision for unallocated loss adjustment expenses.

The estimated gross undiscounted workers’ compensation liability relating to such claims was $2.0 million and $3.3 million, as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The estimated recovery from
reinsurance was $0.2 million and $0.7 million, as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The short-term and long-term accrued liabilities for workers’ compensation claims are presented on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets in “Other current liabilities” and in “Accrued workers' compensation liabilities,” respectively. The estimated insurance receivable is included in “Other assets” on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets.

The Company had posted $4.1 million and $4.0 million letters of credit as a security deposit for self-insuring workers’ compensation, general liability and auto insurance coverages as of June 30, 2024 and
June 30, 2023, respectively.

The estimated liability related to the Company's self-insured group medical insurance was $0.6 million and $0.5 million for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, recorded on an incurred but not
reported basis, within deductible limits, based on actual claims and the average lag time between the date insurance claims are filed and the date those claims are paid.

The Company accrues the cost for general liability, product liability and commercial auto liability insurance based on estimates of the aggregate liability claims incurred using certain actuarial assumptions
and historical claims experience. The Company's liability reserve for such claims was $1.6 million and $1.4 million at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The estimated liability related to the Company's self-
insured group medical insurance, general liability, product liability and commercial auto liability is included on the Company's consolidated balance sheets in “Other current liabilities.”

Postretirement Benefits

The Company provides a postretirement death benefit (“Death Benefit”) to certain employees and retirees, subject, in the case of current employees, to continued employment with the Company until
retirement and certain other conditions related to the manner of employment termination and manner of death. The Company records the actuarially determined liability for the present value of the
postretirement death benefit. The Company purchased life insurance policies to fund the postretirement death benefit wherein the Company owns the policy but the postretirement death benefit is paid to the
employee's or retiree's beneficiary. The Company records an asset for the fair value of the life insurance policies which equates to the cash surrender value of the policies.

Pension Plans

The Company’s defined benefit pension plans are not admitting new participants, therefore, changes to pension liabilities are primarily due to market fluctuations of investments for existing participants
and changes in interest rates. The Company’s defined benefit pension plans are accounted for using the guidance of ASC 710, “Compensation—General” and ASC 715, “Compensation-Retirement Benefits” and
are measured as of the end of the fiscal year.

The Company recognizes the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit pension as an asset or liability on its consolidated balance sheets. Changes in the funded status are recognized through
AOCI, in the year in which the changes occur. See Note 12, Employee Benefit Plans.

Recent A ing Pr

The Company considers the applicability and impact of all ASUs issued. ASUs not listed below were assessed and either determined to be not applicable or expected to have minimal impact on its
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consolidated financial statements.

The following table provides a brief description of the recent ASUs applicable to the company:

Effect on the Fi cial Statements
Standard Description ive Date or Other Si cant Matters
In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, “Income ~ The amendments in this Update address investor requests for more transparency about income tax Effective for . The Company is still evaluating the
Taxes (Topic 740)", Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures information through improvements to income tax disclosures primarily related to the rate annual periods bezgmmng after impact of this standard.
reconciliation and income taxes paid information. December 15, 2024.
In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, The amendments in this Update are to improve the disclosures about a public entity’s reportable Effective for . The Company is still evaluating the
“Segment Reporting (Topic 280)", Improvements to Reportable  segments and address requests from investors for additional, more detailed information about a annual periods bezgmmng after impact of this standard
Segment Disclosures. reportable segment’s expenses. December 15, 2024.
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Note 3. Discontinued Operations

On June 30, 2023, the Company completed the sale of certain assets of the Company related to its direct ship and private label business, including the Company’s production facility and corporate office
building in Northlake, Texas, pursuant to that certain Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of June 6, 2023, by and between the Company and TreeHouse Foods, Inc. (the "Buyer"), as amended by that certain
Amendment to the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 30, 2023. The aggregate purchase price was $91.7 million in cash including $2.0 million of escrow receivable. The Company recognized an after-tax
loss on the transaction of approximately $25.4 million. During Q2 2024, the Company recorded a net loss of $1.2 million related to a working capital adjustment in continuing operations.

The accounting requirements for reporting the Sale as a discontinued operation were met when the Sale was completed. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements reflect the results of the Sale as
a discontinued operation for all periods presented.

The Company incurred approximately $0.5 million of transaction-related costs associated with the Sale during the year ended June 30, 2023, which was primarily for professional fees. These amounts are
recorded in the loss on disposition of discontinued operations before income taxes component of loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes. Additionally, the Company was required to utilize a
portion of the cash proceeds from the Sale to fully extinguish its outstanding term loan. The remaining proceeds were utilized to repay a portion of the outstanding revolving credit facility.

The Company also entered into (i) a Transition Services Agreement with the Buyer pursuant to which the Company provided the Buyer certain specified services on a temporary basis, (ii) a Co-
Manufacturing Agreement with the Buyer pursuant to which the Company and Buyer manufactured certain products for each other on a temporary basis and (iii) a Lease Agreement with the Buyer pursuant to
which the Company leased office and warehouse space from the Buyer on a temporary basis. The Transition Services Agreement expired on March 31, 2024. The Co-Manufacturing Agreement and Lease
Agreement expired June 30, 2024.

The operating results of the divested operations, have been reclassified as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, as detailed in
the table below:

For the year ended June 30,

(In thousands) 2023 2022
Net sales $ 160,977 $ 154,410
Cost of goods sold 162,227 151,309
Gross (loss) profit (1,250) 3,101
Selling expenses 6,578 7,819
General and administrative expenses 4,750 3,929
Loss on sale of assets 25,414 —
Operating expense 36,742 11,748
Loss from discontinued operations (37,992) (8,647)
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (9,008) (5,507)
Other, net 1,124 42
Total other (expense) (7,884) (5,465)
Loss from discontinued operations before taxes (45,876) (14,112)
Income tax benefit (734) (425)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes $ (45,142) $ (13,687)

Interest expense for the Revolver was allocated on a ratio of net assets discontinued to the sum of consolidated net assets plus consolidated debt and the Term Loan was fully allocated to discontinued
operations as it was required to be repaid in full.

Applicable Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow information related to the divested operations for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 are detailed in the table below:

For the Years Ended June 30,

(In thousands) 2023 2022

Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 444 (13,192)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 88,105 (1,539)

Note 4. Sales of Assets
Sale of Branch Properties

During the year ended June 30, 2024, the Company completed the sale of 13 branch properties. The total sales price was $31.7 million and net proceeds was $29.3 million. The completed sale of branch
properties resulted in a gain on sale of $21.5 million.

During the year ended June 30, 2023, the Company completed the sale of four branch properties. The total sales price was $12.5 million and net proceeds was $11.8 million. The completed sale of branch
properties resulted in a gain on sale of $10.8 million.

Assets Held for Sale

The Company sometimes pursues options to divest corporate assets, primarily related to land and buildings. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, certain branch properties met the accounting guidance criteria to
be classified as held for sale. As such, the Company evaluated the assets to determine whether the carrying value exceeded the fair value less any costs to sell. No loss was recorded as of June 30, 2024 and
2023 and the aggregate assets held for sale are presented as a separate line item in the consolidated balance sheet.

The following table presents net carrying value related to the major classes of assets that were classified as held for sale at June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023 :

(In thousands) June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023

Building and facilities $ 120 $ 4,327

Land 232 3,443
Assets held for sale $ 352§ 7,770
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Note 3. Discontinued Operations

On June 30, 2023, the Company completed the sale of certain assets of the Company related to its direct ship and private label business, including the Company’s production facility and corporate office
building in Northlake, Texas, pursuant to that certain Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of June 6, 2023, by and between the Company and TreeHouse Foods, Inc. (the "Buyer"), as amended by that certain
Amendment to the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 30, 2023. The aggregate purchase price was $91.7 million in cash including $2.0 million of escrow receivable. The Company recognized an after-tax
loss on the transaction of approximately $25.4 million. During Q2 2024, the Company recorded a net loss of $1.2 million related to a working capital adjustment in continuing operations.

The accounting requirements for reporting the Sale as a discontinued operation were met when the Sale was completed. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements reflect the results of the Sale as
a discontinued operation for all periods presented.

The Company incurred approximately $0.5 million of transaction-related costs associated with the Sale during the year ended June 30, 2023, which was primarily for professional fees. These amounts are
recorded in the loss on disposition of discontinued operations before income taxes component of loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes. Additionally, the Company was required to utilize a
portion of the cash proceeds from the Sale to fully extinguish its outstanding term loan. The remaining proceeds were utilized to repay a portion of the outstanding revolving credit facility.

The Company also entered into (i) a Transition Services Agreement with the Buyer pursuant to which the Company provided the Buyer certain specified services on a temporary basis, (ii) a Co-
Manufacturing Agreement with the Buyer pursuant to which the Company and Buyer manufactured certain products for each other on a temporary basis and (iii) a Lease Agreement with the Buyer pursuant to
which the Company leased office and warehouse space from the Buyer on a temporary basis. The Transition Services Agreement expired on March 31, 2024. The Co-Manufacturing Agreement and Lease
Agreement expired June 30, 2024.

The operating results of the divested operations, have been reclassified as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, as detailed in
the table below:

For the year ended June 30,

In thousands) 2023 2022
Net sales $ 160,977 $ 154,410
Cost of goods sold 162,227 151,309
Gross (loss) profit (1,250) 3,101
Selling expenses 6,578 7,819
General and administrative expenses 4,750 3,929
Loss on sale of assets 25,414 —
Operating expense 36,742 11,748
Loss from discontinued operations (37,992) (8,647)
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (9,008) (5,507)
Other, net 1,124 42
Total other (expense) (7,884) (5,465)
Loss from discontinued operations before taxes (45,876) (14,112)
Income tax benefit (734) (425)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes $ (45,142) $ (13,687)

Interest expense for the Revolver was allocated on a ratio of net assets discontinued to the sum of consolidated net assets plus consolidated debt and the Term Loan was fully allocated to discontinued
operations as it was required to be repaid in full.

Applicable Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow information related to the divested operations for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 are detailed in the table below:
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For the Years Ended June 30,

(In thousands) 2023 2022

Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 444 (13,192)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 88,105 (1,539)

Note 4. Sales of Assets
Sale of Branch Properties

During the year ended June 30, 2024, the Company completed the sale of 13 branch properties. The total sales price was $31.7 million and net proceeds was $29.3 million. The completed sale of branch
properties resulted in a gain on sale of $21.5 million.

During the year ended June 30, 2023, the Company completed the sale of four branch properties. The total sales price was $12.5 million and net proceeds was $11.8 million. The completed sale of branch
properties resulted in a gain on sale of $10.8 million.

Assets Held for Sale

The Company sometimes pursues options to divest corporate assets, primarily related to land and buildings. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, certain branch properties met the accounting guidance criteria to
be classified as held for sale. As such, the Company evaluated the assets to determine whether the carrying value exceeded the fair value less any costs to sell. No loss was recorded as of Jjune 30, 2024 and
2023 and the aggregate assets held for sale are presented as a separate line item in the consolidated balance sheet.

The following table presents net carrying value related to the major classes of assets that were classified as held for sale at June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023 :

(In thousands) June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023

Building and facilities $ 120 $ 4,327

Land 232 3,443
Assets held for sale $ 352§ 7,770
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Note 5. Derivative Instruments
Derivative Instruments Held
Coffee-Related Derivative Instruments

The Company is exposed to commodity price risk associated with its price to be fixed green coffee purchase contracts, which are described further in Note 2. The Company utilizes forward and option
contracts to manage exposure to the variability in expected future cash flows from forecasted purchases of green coffee attributable to commodity price risk. Certain of these coffee-related derivative
instruments utilized for risk management purposes have been designated as cash flow hedges, while other coffee-related derivative instruments have not been designated as cash flow hedges or do not qualify
for hedge accounting despite hedging the Company's future cash flows on an economic basis.

The following table summarizes the notional volumes for the coffee-related derivative instruments held by the Company at June 30, 2024 and 2023:

As of June 30,

(In thousands) 2024 2023
Derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges:

Long coffee pounds — 1,538
Derivative instruments not i as cash flow

Long coffee pounds 71 6,713
Less: Short coffee pounds — (4,388)
Total 71 3,863

Coffee-related derivative instruments not designated as cash flow hedges outstanding as of June 30, 2024 will expire within 1.5 years. At June 30, 2024 and 2023 approximately none and 40%, respectively,
of the Company's outstanding coffee-related derivative instruments were designated as cash flow hedges.

Interest Rate Swap Derivative Instruments

Pursuant to an International Swap Dealers Association, Inc. Master Agreement (“ISDA”) effective March 20, 2019, the Company on March 27, 2019, entered into a swap transaction utilizing a notional
amount of $80.0 million, with an effective date of April 11, 2019 and a maturity date of October 11, 2023 (the “Original Rate Swap”). The Original Rate Swap was intended to manage the Company’s interest
rate risk on its floating-rate indebtedness under the Company’s revolving credit facility.

The Company had designated the Original Rate Swap derivative instrument as a cash flow hedge; however, during the quarter ended September 30, 2020, the Company de-designated the Original Rate
Swap derivative instruments. On May 16, 2023, the Company settled the Original Rate Swap. The net settlement of the Original Rate Swap was a $13 thousand loss.

Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Financial Statements
Balance Sheets
Fair values of derivative instruments on the Company's consolidated balance sheets:

Derivative Instruments Derivative Instruments Not Designated as Accounting
Designated as Cash Flow Hedges Hedges
As of June 30, As of June 30,
thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Financial Statement Location:
Short-term derivative assets:
Coffee-related derivative instruments(1) $ - % 4 % 1 $ 64
Long-term derivative assets:
Coffee-related derivative instruments(2) = = 33 =
Short-term derivative liabilities:
Coffee-related derivative instruments(3) = 158 730 2,478
Long-term derivative liabilities:
Coffee-related derivative instruments(4) = = 1,505 -

(1) Included in “Short-term derivative assets” on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
(2) Included in “Other assets” on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
(3) Included in “Short-term derivative liability” on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
(4) Included in “Other Long-term liabilities” on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
Statements of Operations
The following table presents pretax net gains and losses for the Company's derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, as recognized in “AOCI,” “Cost of goods sold” and “Interest expense”.

Year Ended June 30,

In thousands) 2024 2023 2022 Financial Cl

Net gains (losses) recognized from AOCI to earnings - Interest rate swap — 396 (7) Interest Expense
Net losses reclassified from AOCI to earnings for partial unwind of interest swap - Interest rate swap — (1,305) (1,201) Interest Expense
Net (gains) losses recognized in AOCI - Coffee-related (406) 2,384 (12,172)

Net (loss) gains recognized in earnings - Coffee-related (615) 1,392 15,865 Costs of goods sold

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, there were no gains or losses recognized in earnings as a result of excluding amounts from the assessment of hedge effectiveness.

Net (gains) losses on derivative instruments in the Company's consolidated statements of cash flows also includes net (gains) losses on coffee-related derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges
reclassified to cost of goods sold from AOCI in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022. Gains and losses on derivative instruments not designated as accounting hedges are included in “Other,
net” in the Company's consolidated statements of operations and in “Net (gains) losses on derivative instruments and investments” in the Company's consolidated statements of cash flows.

Net gains and losses recorded in “Other, net” are as follows:

Year Ended June 30,

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Net gains (losses) on coffee-related derivative instruments (1) $ 503 $ (6,978) $ 4,498
Non-operating pension and other postretirement benefit plans credits 3,648 2,910 3,598
Other (losses) gains, net 2,073 (174) 44

Other, net $ 6,224 $ (4242) $ 8,140
(1) Excludes net losses and net gains on coffee-related derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges recorded in cost of goods sold in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

tatement of Comprehensive Income (Lt
The following table provides the balances and changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to derivative instruments for the indicated periods:
June 30,

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) beginning balance $ 1,175 $ (1,692) $ (4,177)
Net gains (losses) recognized from AOCI to earnings - Interest rate swap — 396 (7)
Net losses reclassified from AOCI to earnings for partial unwind of interest swap - Interest rate swap — (1,305) (1,201)
Net (gains) losses recognized in AOCI - Coffee-related (406) 2,384 (12,172)
Net (loss) gains recognized in earnings - Coffee-related (615) 1,392 15,865
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) ending balance $ 154 $ 1,175 $ (1,692)

Offsetting of Derivative Assets and Liabilities
The Company has agreements in place that allow for the financial right of offset for derivative assets and liabilities at settlement or in the event of default under the agreements. Additionally, under certain
coffee derivative agreements, the Company maintains accounts with its counterparties to facilitate financial derivative transactions in support of its risk management activities.

The following table presents the Company’s net exposure from its offsetting derivative asset and liability positions, as well as cash collateral on deposit with its counterparties as of the reporting dates
indicated:

Gross Amount Reported on Balance
Sheet

In thousands) Netting Adjustments Cash Collateral Posted Net Exposure

As of June 30, 2024 Derivative Assets $ 44 s (44) s — 3 =
Derivative Liabilities 2,235 (44) — 2,191

As of June 30, 2023 Derivative Assets 68 (68) - -
Derivative Liabilities 2,636 (68) — 2,568

Cash Flow Hedges

Changes in the fair value of the Company’s coffee-related derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges are deferred in AOCI and subsequently reclassified
into cost of goods sold in the same period or periods in which the hedged forecasted purchases affect earnings, or when it is probable that the hedged forecasted
transaction will not occur by the end of the originally specified time period. Based on recorded values at June 30, 2024, $0.3 million of net gains on coffee-related
derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedge are expected to be reclassified into cost of goods sold within the next twelve months. These recorded values are
based on market prices of the commodities as of June 30, 2024.
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Leases Note 6. Leases
The Company has entered into leases for building facilities, vehicles and other equipment. The Company’s leases have remaining contractual terms through April 30, 2030, some of which have options to
extend the lease for up to 10 years. For purposes of calculating operating lease liabilities, lease terms are deemed not to include options to extend the lease renewal until it is reasonably certain that the
Company will exercise that option. The Company's lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.
Supplemental consolidated balance sheet information related to leases is as follows:
As of June 30,
Classification 2024 2023
Operating lease assets Right-of-use operating lease assets $ 35,241 $ 24,593
Finance lease assets Property, plant and equipment, net 246 410
Total lease assets $ 35,487 $ 25,003
Operating lease liabilities - current Operating lease liabilities - current 14,046 8,040
Finance lease liabilities - current Other current liabilities 193 193
Operating lease liabilities - noncurrent Operating lease liabilities - noncurrent 21,766 17,157
Finance lease liabilities -noncurrent Other long-term liabilities 82 251
Total lease liabilities $ 36,087 $ 25,641
The components of lease expense are as follows:
For the Years Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Operating lease expense $ 13,785 $ 7,943 $ 7,526
Finance lease expense:
Amortization of finance lease assets 164 164 164
Interest on finance lease liabilities 24 34 44
Total lease expense $ 13973 $ 8,141 S 7,734
The maturities of the lease liabilities are as follows:
For the Years Ended June 30,
(In thousands) Operating Leases Finance Leases
2025 $ 14,046 $ 193
2026 9,627 96
2027 7,205 -
2028 6,244 —
2029 3,220 -
Thereafter 317 —
Total lease payments 40,659 289
Less: interest (4,847) (14)
Total lease obligations $ 35,812 $ 275
Lease term and discount rate:
For the Years Ended June 30,
2024 2023
Weighted-average remaining lease terms (in years):
Operating lease 5.2 5.9
Finance lease 15 2.5
Weighted-average discount rate:
Operating lease 6.65 % 6.20 %
Finance lease 6.50 % 6.50 %
Other Information:
For the Years Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 12,956 $ 7,845
Operating cash flows from finance leases 24 34
Financing cash flows from finance leases 193 193
Leases

Note 6. Leases

The Company has entered into leases for building facilities, vehicles and other equipment. The Company’s leases have remaining contractual terms through April 30, 2030, some of which have options to
extend the lease for up to 10 years. For purposes of calculating operating lease liabilities, lease terms are deemed not to include options to extend the lease renewal until it is reasonably certain that the
Company will exercise that option. The Company's lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

Supplemental consolidated balance sheet information related to leases is as follows:

(In thousands)

Operating lease assets

Finance lease assets
Total lease assets

Operating lease liabilities - current

Finance lease liabilities - current

Operating lease liabilities - noncurrent

Finance lease liabilities -noncurrent
Total lease liabilities

The components of lease expense are as follows:

Operating lease expense

Finance lease expense:
Amortization of finance lease assets
Interest on finance lease liabilities

Total lease expense

The maturities of the lease liabilities are as follows:

(In thousands)
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
Thereafter
Total lease payments
Less: interest
Total lease obligations

Lease term and discount rate:

Weighted-average remaining lease terms (in years):
Operating lease
Finance lease
Weighted-average discount rate:
Operating lease
Finance lease

Other Information:

(In thousands)

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases
Operating cash flows from finance leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases
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Fair Value M remen Note 7. Fair Value Measurements

Assets and liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis were as follows:

Classification

Right-of-use operating lease assets
Property, plant and equipment, net

Operating lease liabilities - current
Other current liabilities

Operating lease liabilities - noncurrent
Other long-term liabilities

As of June 30,

2024 2023
$ 35,241 $ 24,593
246 410
$ 35,487 $ 25,003
14,046 8,040
193 193
21,766 17,157
82 251
$ 36,087 $ 25,641

For the Years Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2022
$ 13,785 $ 7,943 $ 7,526
164 164 164
24 34 44
3 13,973 $ 8141 $ 7,734

12 Months Ended
Jun. 30, 2024

For the Years Ended June 30,
Operating Leases Finance Leases

$ 14,046 $ 193
9,627 2

7,205 -

6,244 —

3,220 -

317 —

40,659 289

(4,847) (14)

5 35812 $ 275

For the Years Ended June 3!

2024 2023
5.2 5.9
1.5 215
6.65 % 6.20 %
6.50 % 6.50 %

For the Years Ended June 30,

2024 2023
$ 12,956 $ 7,845
24 34
193 193
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(In thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

As of June 30, 2024

Derivatives not designated as accounting hedges:
Coffee-related derivative assets (1) 44

— 44 —

Coffee-related derivative liabilities (1) 2,235 = 2,235 -
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

As of June 30, 2023

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges:

Coffee-related derivative assets (1) $ 4 % — 3 4 % —

Coffee-related derivative liabilities (1) 158 — 158 —

Derivatives not designated as accounting hedges:

Coffee-related derivative assets (1) 64 — 64 =

Coffee-related derivative liabilities (1) 2,478 — 2,478 —

(1) The Company's coffee-related derivative instruments are traded over-the-counter and, therefore, classified as Level 2.

During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers between the levels. Due to the highly liquid nature, the amount of the Company's other financial instruments
represent the approximate fair value.

Accounts Receivable, 12 Months Ended
Net Jun. 30, 2024
Receivables [Abstract]
Accounts Receivable, Net Note 8. Accounts Receivable, Net
As of June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Trade receivables $ 34,438 $ 42,914
Other receivables (1) 1,419 2,631
Allowance for credit losses (710) (416)
Accounts receivable, net $ 35147 $ 45129

(1) Includes vendor rebates, transition services receivables and other non-trade receivables.
Allowance for credit losses:
(In thousands]

Balance at June 30, 2022 $ (195)
Provision (743)
Write-offs 288
Recovery 234

Balance at June 30, 2023 (416)
Provision (748)
Write-offs 306
Recovery 148

Balance at June 30, 2024 $ (710)
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[Abstract]
Inventories Note 9. Inventories
As of June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Coffee
Processed $ 22,432 $ 15,860
Unprocessed 6,105 7,409
Total 28,537 23,269
Tea and culinary products
Processed 25,166 21,418
Unprocessed 41 63
Total 25,207 21,481
Coffee brewing equipment parts 3,486 4,526
Total inventories $ 57,230 $ 49,276

In addition to product cost, inventory costs include expenditures such as direct labor and certain supply, freight, warehousing, overhead variances, purchase price
variances and other expenses incurred in bringing the inventory to its existing condition and location. The “Unprocessed” inventory values as stated in the above table
represent the value of raw materials and the “Processed” inventory values represent all other products consisting primarily of finished goods.
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Property, Plant and 12 Months Ended
Equipment Jun. 30, 2024
Property, Plant and
Equipment [Abstract]

Property, Plant and Note 10. Property, Plant and Equipment
Equipment As of June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Buildings and facilities $ 20,441 $ 20,146
Machinery and equipment 108,757 144,473
Capitalized software 9,190 7,934
Office furniture and equipment 8,486 8,231
146,874 180,784
Accumulated depreciation (113,790) (147,920)
Land 918 918
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 34,002 $ 33,782

Depreciation and amortization expense, related to continuing operations was $11.6 million, $12.9 million, and $12.4 million, for the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

Maintenance and repairs to property, plant and equipment, related to continuing operations charged to expense for the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were $8.3 million, $8.0 million and
$7.3 million, respectively.

Coffee Brewing Equipment (“CBE”) and Service

Capitalized CBE included in machinery and equipment above are:

As of June 30,

(In thousands) 2024 2023

Coffee Brewing Equipment $ 66,596 $ 93,159

Accumulated depreciation (39,941) (66,953)
Coffee Brewing Equipment, net $ 26,655 $ 26,206

Depreciation expense related to capitalized CBE and other CBE related expenses (excluding CBE depreciation) provided to customers and reported in cost of goods sold were as follows:

For the Years Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Depreciation expense $ 7,344 3 7,213 $ 7,492
Other CBE expenses 36,859 32,298 25,773

Other expenses related to CBE provided to customers, such as the cost of servicing that equipment (including service employees’ salaries, cost of transportation and the cost of supplies and parts), are
considered directly attributable to the generation of revenues from the customers. Therefore, these costs are included in cost of goods sold.
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12 Months Ended
Jun. 30, 2024

Intangible Assets

Goodwill and Intangible
Assets Disclosure
[Abstract]
Intangible Assets Note 11. Intangible Assets
The following is a summary of the Company’s amortized and unamortized intangible assets:
As of June 30,

Vreignted 2024 2023
Amortization Gross Gross
Period as of Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
{In thousands) June 30, 2024 Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net
Amortized intangible assets:
Customer relationships 2.8 $ 33,003 $ (26,292) 3 6,711 $ 33,003 $ (24,092) s 8,911
Recipes 0.0 930 (930) = 930 (885) 45
Trade name/brand name 0.0 510 (510) — 510 (495) 15
Total amortized intangible assets 34,443 (27,732) 6,711 34,443 (25,472) 8,971
Unamortized intangible assets:
Trademarks, trade names and brand name with indefinite lives 4,522 - 4,522 4,522 - 4,522
Total unamortized intangible assets 4,522 — 4,522 4,522 — 4,522
Total intangible assets $ 38,965 $ (27,732) $ 11,233 $ 38,965 $ (25,472) $ 13,493

There were no indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment charges recorded in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

The Company also assesses the recoverability of certain finite-lived intangible assets. No impairment was recorded for the finite-lived intangibles for the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022.
Amortization expense for the year ended June 30, 2024 was $2.3 million. Amortization expense for the years ended June 30, 2023, and 2022 were $2.4 million each year, for these assets.
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At June 30, 2024, future annual amortization of finite-lived intangible assets for the fiscal years 2025 through 2028 is estimated to be (in thousands):
For the fiscal year ending:

June 30, 2025 $ 2,2
June 30, 2026 2,2
June 30, 2027 1]
June 30, 2028 4

Total $ 6,7
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Employee Benefit
Plans

Retirement Benefits

[Abstract]

12 Months Ended
Jun. 30, 2024

Employee Benefit Plans Note 12. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company provides the following benefit plans for full-time employees who work 30 hours or more per week:
*  401(k);

« health and other welfare benefit plans; and

* in certain circumstances, pension and postretirement benefits.

See below for detail description of each benefit plan. Generally, the plans provide health benefits after 30 days of employment and other retirement benefits based on years of service and/or a combination
of years of service and earnings.

Single Employer Pension Plans
As of June 30, 2024, the Company has two defined benefit pension plans for certain employees (the "Farmer Bros. Plan" and the “Hourly Employees' Plan”).

Farmer Bros. Plan HourIX Employees’ Plan
s of Tune 30,

As of June 30, Total
$ in thousands| 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Change in projected benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at the beginning of the year $ 95,406 $ 102,508 $ 3,801 $ 3,951 $ 99,207 $ 106,459
Interest cost 4,631 4,451 186 173 4,817 4,624
Actuarial gain (2,119) (5,008) (310) (132) (2,429) (5,140)
Benefits paid (6,535) (6,545) (194) (191) (6,729) (6,736)
Projected benefit obligation at the end of the year $ 91,383 _ § 95406 _ $ 3483  $ 3801 § 94,866 $ 99,207
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year $ 75,934 $ 74,250 $ 3,690 $ 3,848 $ 79,624 $ 78,098
Actual return on plan assets 7,543 6,147 165 33 7,708 6,180
Employer contributions 2,332 2,082 — — 2,332 2,082
Benefits paid (6,535) (6,545) (194) (191) (6,729) (6,736)
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year $ 79274 $ 75934 _ § 3,661 _ 3 3690 3 82,935 S 79,624
Funded status at end of year (underfunded) $ (12,109) $ (19,472) $ 178  $ (111) $ (11,931) $ (19,583)
i in i balance sheets
Non-current assets — — 178 — 178 —
Noncurrent liabilities (12,109) (19,472) = (111) (12,109) (19,583)
Total 3 (12,109)  § (19,472)  $ 178§ (111 $ (11,931)  $ (19,583)
Amounts recognized in AOCI —
Net loss 22,291 28,444 (185) 137 22,106 28,581
Total accumulated OCI (not adjusted for applicable tax) $ 22291 § 28,444 § (185) _ § 137 % 22,106 $ 28,581
Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations
Discount rate 535% 5.05 % 535% 5.05 % 535% 5.05 %
Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Components of Net Periodic Bene Cost and
Other Ci i in Other Comprehensive (Loss) (OCI)
Farmer Bros. Plan
June 30, Hourly Employees’ Plan June 30, Total
$ in thousands] 2024 2023 2022 24 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022
Components of net periodic benefit cost
Interest cost 4,631 4,451 3,262 186 173 129 4,817 4,624 3,391
Expected return on plan assets (4,336) (3,906) (4,734) (152) (129) (214) (4,488) (4,035) (4,948)
Amortization of net loss 827 1,125 1,356 - - 827 1,125 1,356
Net periodic benefit cost $ 1,122 $ 1,670 $ (116) $ 34 $ 44 $ (85) $ 1,156 $ 1,714 $ (201)
Other changes recognized in OCI
Net gain (1) $ (5,326) $ (7,249) $ (7,542) $ (322) $ (36) $ (279) $ (5,648) $ (7,285) $ (7,821)
Amortization of net loss (827) (1,125) (1,356) = — — (827) (1,125) (1,356)
Total recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) S (6,153) E3 (8,374) S (8,898) S (322) S (36)  $ (279) _ $ (6,475) S (8,410) _ $ (9,177)
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and OCI $ (5,031) $ (6,704) $ (9,014) $ (288) $ 8 $ (364) $ (5,319) $ (6,696) $ (9,378)
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost
Discount rate 5.05% 4.50 % 2.60 % 5.05 % 4.50 % 2.60 % 5.05 % 4.50 % 2.60 %
Expected long-term return on plan assets 7.00 % 6.50 % 6.25 % 5.50 % 4.75% 6.50 % 6.25 % 5.63 % 6.38 %
Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

(1) Net gain for fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was primarily due to plan assets returns.

Basis Used to Determine Expected Long-term Return on Plan Assets

The expected long-term return on plan assets assumption was developed as a weighted average rate based on the target asset allocation of the plan and the Long-Term Capital Market Assumptions (CMA)
2020. The capital market assumptions were developed with a primary focus on forward-looking valuation models and market indicators. The key fundamental economic inputs for these models are future
inflation, economic growth, and interest rate environment. Due to the long-term nature of the pension obligations, the investment horizon for the CMA 2020 is 20 to 30 years. In addition to forward-looking
models,
historical analysis of market data and trends was reflected, as well as the outlook of recognized economists, organizations and consensus CMA from other credible studies.

Description of Investment Policy

The Company’s investment strategy is to build an efficient, well-diversified portfolio based on a long-term, strategic outlook of the investment markets. The investment markets outlook utilizes both the
historical-based and forward-looking return forecasts to establish future return expectations for various asset classes. These return expectations are used to develop a core asset allocation based on the

specific needs of each plan. The core asset allocation utilizes investment portfolios of various asset classes and multiple investment managers in order to maximize the plan’s return while providing multiple
layers of diversification to help minimize risk.

Additional Disclosures

Farmer Bros. Plan Hourly Empln!ees' Plan
June 30, June 30, Total
($ in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Comparison of obligations to plan assets
Projected benefit obligation $ 91,383 $ 95,406 $ 3,483 $ 3,801 $ 94,866 $ 99,207
Accumulated benefit obligation 91,383 95,406 3,483 3,801 94,866 99,207
Fair value of plan assets at measurement date 79,274 75,934 3,661 3,690 82,935 79,624
Plan assets by category
Equity securities 37,849 49,516 = 750 37,849 50,266
Debt securities 37,504 20,765 3,661 2,940 41,165 23,705
Real estate 3,921 5,653 = = 3,921 5,653
Total $ 79,274 $ 75,934 $ 3,661 $ 3,690 $ 82,935 $ 79,624
— i —
Plan assets by category
Equity securities 47.7 % 65.2 % — % 203 % 45.6 % 63.1%
Debt securities 473 % 273% 100.0 % 79.7% 49.7 % 29.8%
Real estate 5.0% 75% —% —% 4.7 % 71%
Total 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %
Fair values of plan assets were as follows:
As of June 30, 2024
(In thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Investments measured at NAV
Farmer Bros. Plan $ 79,274 $ = $ = $ = $ 79,274
Hourly Employees’ Plan 3,661 — - — 3,661
As of June 30, 2023
(In thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Investments measured at NAV
Farmer Bros. Plan $ 75,934 $ - $ - $ - $ 75,934
Hourly Employees’ Plan 3,690 — — - 3,690

The Company's single employer pension plan—Hourly Employees' Plan target asset allocation remains in debt securities for fiscal 2025.The following is the target asset allocation for the Company's single
employer pension plan— Farmer Bros. Plan—for fiscal 2025:

Fiscal 2025
U.S. large cap equity securities 28.0 %
U.S. small cap equity securities 10.0 %
International equity securities 22.0%
Debt securities 35.0 %
Real Asset 5.0%
Total 100.0 %
Estimated Amounts in OCI Expected To Be Recognized
In fiscal 2025, the Company expects to recognize net periodic cost of $0.7 million for the Farmer Bros. Plan and $73.3 thousand for the Hourly Employees’ Plan.
Estimated Future Contributions and Refunds
In fiscal 2025, the Company expects to contribute $2.9 million to the Farmer Bros. Plan and does not expect to contribute to the Hourly Employees’ Plan.
Estimated Future Benefit Payments
The following benefit payments are expected to be paid over the next 10 fiscal years:
(In thousands) Farmer Bros. Plan Hourly Employees’ Plan
Year Ending:
June 30, 2025 $ 7,640 $ 260
June 30, 2026 7,210 240
June 30, 2027 7,300 260
June 30, 2028 7,310 260
June 30, 2029 7,270 260
June 30, 2030 to June 30, 2034 34,670 1,270

These amounts are based on current data and assumptions and reflect expected future service, as appropriate.
Multiemployer Pension Plans
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The Company participates in one multiemployer defined benefit pension plan that is union sponsored and collectively bargained for the benefit of certain employees subject to collective bargaining
agreements, called the Western Conference of Teamsters Pension Plan ("WCTPP"). The Company makes contributions to this plan generally based on the number of hours worked by the participants in
accordance with the provisions of negotiated labor contracts.

Pension Protection Act Zone Status
Pension Fund EIN-PN As of 1/1/2022
Western Conference of Teamsters Pension Plan 91-6145047-001 Green

The Company also contributes to two defined contribution pension plans ("All Other Plans") that are union sponsored and collectively bargained for the benefit of certain employees subject to collective
bargaining agreements. The Company’s minimum contributions to these plans are defined within the collective bargaining agreements.

Contributions made by the Company to the multiemployer pension plans were as follows:

In thousands) WCTPP(1)(2)(3) All Other Plans

Year Ended:

June 30, 2024 $ 1,248 3 35
June 30, 2023 1,280 28
June 30, 2022 961 29

(1) Tndividually significant plan

(2) Less than 5% of total contribution to WCTPP based on WCTPP's FASB Disclosure Statement

(3) The Company guarantees that one hundred seventy-three (173) hours will be contributed upon for all employees who are compensated for all available straight time hours for each calendar month. An additional 6.5% of the basic contribution
must be paid for PEER or the Program for Enhanced Early Retirement.

The risks of participating in multiemployer pension plans are different from single-employer plans in that: (i) assets contributed to a multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to
employees of other participating employers; (i) if a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be borne by the remaining participating employers; and
(iii) if the Company stops participating in the multiemployer plan, the Company may be required to pay the plan an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan, referred to as a withdrawal liability.

Future collective bargaining negotiations may result in the Company withdrawing from the remaining multiemployer pension plans in which it participates and, if successful, the Company may incur a
withdrawal liability, the amount of which could be material to the Company's results of operations and cash flows.

Multiemployer Plans Other Than Pension Plans

The Company participates in nine multiemployer defined contribution plans other than pension plans that provide medical, vision, dental and disability benefits for active, union-represented employees
subject to collective bargaining agreements. The plans are subject to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, and provide that participating employers make monthly
contributions to the plans in an amount as specified in the collective bargaining agreements. Also, the plans provide that participants make self-payments to the plans, the amounts of which are negotiated
through the collective bargaining process. The Company's participation in these plans is governed by collective bargaining agreements which expires on or before September 30, 2027. The Company's
aggregate contributions to multiemployer plans other than pension plans in
the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $3.9 million, $3.6 million and $3.0 million, respectively. The Company expects to contribute an aggregate of approximately $3.9 million towards
multiemployer plans other than pension plans in fiscal 2025.

401(k) Plan

The Farmer Bros. Co. 401(k) Plan (the "401(k) Plan") is available to all eligible employees. The 401(k) Plan match portion is available to all eligible employees who have worked more than 1,000 hours
during a calendar year and were employed at the end of the calendar year. Participants in the 401(k) Plan may choose to contribute a percentage of their annual pay subject to the maximum contribution
allowed by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company's matching contribution is discretionary, based on approval by the Company's Board of Directors. Effective January 1, 2023, the Company eliminated the
4% non-elective contribution and changed the Company match to 100% of the first 3% each eligible employee contributes plus 50% on the next 2% they contribute.

Effective January 1, 2024, the Company amended the 401(k) matching program, whereby the Company on an annual basis will contribute cash for 100% of the first 3% each eligible employee contributes
plus 50% on the next 2% they contribute.

The Company recorded matching contributions of $1.3 million, $2.0 million and $2.0 million in operating expenses for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 the Company contributed a total of 595,031 shares, 937,848 shares and 371,566 shares of the Company’s common stock with a value of $1.9
million, $4.6 million and $3.6 million, respectively, to eligible participants’ annual plan compensation.

Effective August 1, 2024, the Company suspended the 401(k) matching program.
Postretirement Benefits

In June 2021, the Company amended the Death Benefit Plan effective immediately, which triggered re-measurement of the plan. The Company surrendered the purchased life insurance policies that funded
these death benefits, and received cash proceeds from the insurance carriers. In conjunction with the amendment, the Company created a new Executive Death Benefit Plan (the “Executive Death Benefit
Plan”) for a small group of participants in the Death Benefit Plan. Under the Executive Death Benefit Plan, the participants receive the same benefits they would have received under the Death Benefit Plan. The
Company also retained the life insurance policies to fund the postretirement death benefit of these participants, and have a long-term receivable in Other Assets of $0.5 million as of June 30, 2024 which
equates to the cash surrender value of the policies.

The following table shows the components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the Retiree Medical Plan and Executive Death Benefit Plan for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for fiscal 2024 was based on employee census information as of June 30, 2024.

Year Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Components of Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost (Credit):
Service cost $ — 3 — % —
Interest cost 42 39 27
Amortization of net gain = = 11
Net periodic postretirement benefit (credit) cost $ 42 % 39 $ 38

The tables below show the remaining bases for the transition (asset) obligation, prior service cost (credit), and the calculation of the amortizable gain or loss for the Executive Death Benefit Plan.

Year Ended June 30,

($ in thousands 2024 2023

Amortization of Net (Gain) Loss:

Net loss as of July 1 $ 8 3 17
Net loss subject to amortization 8 17
Corridor (10% of greater of APBO or assets) 86 83
Net loss in excess of corridor $ - $ —
Amortization years 14.7 15.3

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the benefit obligation and plan assets for the Retiree Medical Plan, Death Benefit Plan and Executive Death Benefit Plan:
As of June 30,

(In thousands) 2024 2023

Change in Benefit Obligation:

Projected postretirement benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 826 $ 844
Service cost — —
Interest cost 42 39
Actuarial (gains) losses (9) (57)
Benefits paid — —

Projected postretirement benefit obligation at end of year $ 859 $ 826

Year Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ - % —
Employer contributions — —
Benefits paid — —

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ — % —
Projected postretirement benefit obligation at end of year 859 826
Funded status of plan $ (859) $ (826)
June 30,
In thousands) 2024 2023
i in the C i Balance Sheets Consist of:
Current liabilities $ (69) $ (61)
Noncurrent liabilities (790) (765)
Total $ (859) $ (826)
(In thousands)
Estimated Future Benefit Payments:
Year Ending:
June 30, 2025 $ 71
June 30, 2026 73
June 30, 2027 74
June 30, 2028 75
June 30, 2029 75
June 30, 2030 to June 30, 2034 351

Expected Contributions:
June 30, 2025 $ 71
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Debt Obligations

Debt Disclosure
[Abstract]
Debt Obligations

12 Months Ended
Jun. 30, 2024

Note 13. Debt Obligations

The following table summarizes the Company’s debt obligations:

June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023
Weighted Average
Principal Amount Interest Rate Weighted Average
(In thousands) Debt Origination Date Maturity Borrowed Carrying Value Carrying Value Interest Rate
Revolver various 4/26/2027 N/A $ 23,300 7.05% $ 23,021 6.66 %

The weighted average interest rate excludes the fixed rate on the de-designated Amended Rate Swap

On April 26, 2021, the Company repaid in full all of the outstanding loans and other amounts payable under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of November 6, 2018, using proceeds of
loans received pursuant to a refinancing under a new senior secured facility composed of (a) the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement (the "Revolver Credit Facility Agreement") and various loan documents
relating thereto including the Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2021 (the “Revolver Security Agreement”), by and among the Borrowers, as grantors, and Wells Fargo, as administrative
agent, and (b) a Credit Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2021 (the “Term Credit Facility Agreement”) by and among the Borrowers, MGG Investment Group LP. (“MGG”), as administrative agent, and the
lenders party thereto, and various loan documents
relating thereto including the Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2021 (the “Term Security Agreement”), by and among the Borrowers, as grantors, and MGG, as administrative agent.

On August 8, 2022, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into the Increase Joinder and Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement (the “2nd Amendment”), with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as
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administrative agent for each member of the lender group and as a lender. The 2nd Amendment amends that certain Revolver Credit Facility Agreement, originally entered into by the parties on April 26, 2021,
which governs the Company’s revolving credit facility (the "Revolver Credit Facility"). The 2nd Amendment amends certain terms and conditions of the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement by, among other
things: (i) increasing the maximum revolver amount by $10,000,000 to an aggregate maximum revolver commitment amount of $90,000,000; and (ii) replacing the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)
interest rate benchmark (which had an applicable margin of 2.25% for LIBOR rate loans) with the secured overnight financing rate (SOFR) interest rate benchmark (which has an applicable margin of 1.75% for
SOFR rate loans).

On August 31, 2022, the Company entered into Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement (the “3rd Amendment”), with the lenders party thereto, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for each
member of the lender group and as a lender. The 3rd Amendment amends certain terms and conditions of the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement by, among other things: (i) adding a new $47.0 million term
loan (the “Term Loan”); (ii) extending the maturity date of the Company’s obligations under the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement from April 25, 2025 to April 26, 2027; provided, that if the maturity date of
the Revolver Commitments is extended on or prior to April 1, 2027 to a date that is after April 26, 2027, then the maturity of the Term Loan shall be August 31, 2037; (iii) releasing liens securing the obligations
under the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement on various real properties owned by the Company; (iv) commencing on or around June 30, 2023, obligating the Company to maintain a Fixed Charge Coverage
Ratio, calculated for each 12-month period ending on the last day of each fiscal month, of at least 1:00 to 1:00; and (v) lowering the Letter of Credit Fee payable with respect to letters of credit issued under the
Credit Agreement from 2.25% to 1.75% of the average amount of the Letter of Credit Usage during the immediately preceding month. The proceeds of the Term Loan were used to repay the outstanding term
loans under the Term Credit Facility Agreement. With the repayment of the Company’s outstanding loans and other obligations under the Term Credit Facility Agreement, the Company is no longer subject to
the minimum EBITDA covenants contained therein.

On June 30, 2023, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into that certain Consent and Amendment No. 4 to Credit Agreement (the “Fourth Amendment”), with the lenders party thereto, and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent for each member of the lender group. The Fourth Amendment amends that certain Revolver Credit Facility Agreement, originally entered into by
and among the parties on April 26, 2021. The Fourth Amendment includes a consent to the Sale by the administrative agent and the lenders and amends certain terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement
by, among other things: (i) reflecting the payoff in full, with proceeds from the Sale, of the $47.0 million outstanding amount of the Term Loan, (ii) reflecting the paydown, with proceeds from the Sale, of the
Revolver Credit Facility (and a reduction of the maximum commitment of the lenders under the Revolver Credit Facility to $75.0 million), (iii) releasing liens of the administrative agent securing the obligations
under the Credit Agreement on assets sold pursuant to the Sale, and (iv) amending the Credit Agreement so that the Company's financial covenant (i.e., fixed charge coverage ratio) is only in effect during
such times when the Company's liquidity falls below certain thresholds.

On December 4, 2023 (the “Effective Date”), the Company, and certain of its subsidiaries entered into that certain Consent and Amendment No. 5 to Credit Agreement (the “Consent and Amendment”),
with the lenders party thereto (the “Lenders”), and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent for each member of the lender group (in such capacity, the “Agent”) to amend certain terms
of the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement, including the definition of specified real property and the release of security interests in certain real properties.

The following is a summary description of the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement and the Revolver Security Agreement (the "Revolver Security Facility") key items.
The Revolver Credit Facility Agreement, among other things include:

1. a commitment of up to $75.0 million (“Revolver”) calculated as the lesser of (a) $75.0 million or (b) the amount equal to the sum of (i) 85% of eligible accounts receivable (less a dilution reserve), plus
(ii) the lesser of: (a) 80% of eligible raw material inventory, eligible in-transit inventory and eligible finished goods inventory (collectively, “Eligible Inventory”), and (b) 85% of the net orderly liquidation
value of Eligible Inventory, minus (c) applicable reserve;

sublimit on letters of credit of $10.0 million;
maturity date of April 26, 2027 and has no scheduled payback required on the principal prior to the maturity date;
fully collateralized by all existing and future capital stock of the Borrowers (other than the Company) and all of the Borrowers' personal and real property;

vk wnN

interest under the Revolver is either if the relevant Obligation is a SOFR Loan, at a per annum rate equal to Term
SOFR plus the SOFR Margin (1.75%), and otherwise, at a per annum rate equal to the Base Rate (the greater of the Federal Funds Rate + 0.50% or Term SOFR +1%) plus the Base Rate Margin (0.75%).;
and

6. in the event that Borrowers’ availability to borrow under the Revolver falls below $9.375 million, the financial covenant requires the Company to meet or exceed a fixed charge coverage ratio of at least
1.00:1.00 at all such times.

The Revolver Credit Facility Agreement and the Revolver Security Agreement contain customary affirmative and negative covenants and restrictions typical for a financing of this type that, among other
things, require the Company to satisfy certain financial covenants and restrict the Company's and its subsidiaries' ability to incur additional debt, pay dividends and make distributions, make certain
investments and acquisitions, repurchase its stock and prepay certain indebtedness, create liens, enter into agreements with affiliates, modify the nature of its business, transfer and sell material assets and
merge or consolidate. Non-compliance with one or more of the covenants and restrictions could result in the full or partial principal balance of the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement becoming immediately due
and payable and termination of the commitments.

There are no required principal payments on the Revolver debt obligation.

At June 30, 2024, the Company had outstanding borrowings on the Revolver Credit Facility of $23.3 million and had utilized $4.1 million of the letters of credit sublimit, and had $27.8 million of availability
under our Credit Facility.

As of June 30, 2024, the Company was in compliance with all of the financial covenants under the Revolver Credit Facility Agreement. Furthermore, the Company believes it will be in compliance with the
related financial covenants under these agreements for the next twelve months.
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Farmer Bros. Co. Amended and Restated 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan

On June 20, 2017 (the “Effective Date”), the Company’s stockholders approved the Farmer Bros. Co. 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Original 2017 Plan”), which was subsequently amended to increase
the number of shares of Common Stock available for grant to 3,550,000 shares of Common Stock plus the number of shares of Common Stock subject to the outstanding prior plan awards. The plan may also
be utilized to award and incentive non-employee consultants.

The Amended 2017 Plan provides for the grant of stock options (including incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options), stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, dividend
equivalents, performance shares and other stock- or cash-based awards to eligible participants. Non-employee directors, employees and non-employee consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries are
eligible to receive awards under the Amended 2017 Plan. Subject to certain limitations, shares of Common Stock covered by awards granted under the Amended 2017 Plan that are forfeited, expire or lapse, or
are repurchased for or paid in cash, may be used again for new grants under the Amended 2017 Plan. As of June 30, 2024, there were 1,759,363 shares that remain available under the Amended 2017 Plan
including shares that were forfeited under the Prior Plans for future issuance. Shares of Common Stock granted under the Amended 2017 Plan may be authorized but unissued shares, shares purchased on the
open market or treasury shares. In no event will more than 3,550,000 shares of Common Stock be issuable pursuant to the exercise of incentive stock options under the Amended 2017 Plan. The Amended
2017 Plan also includes limits on the aggregate grant date fair value of all equity-based awards granted to any non-employee director during any calendar year for services as a member of the Board.

The Amended 2017 Plan contains a minimum vesting requirement, subject to limited exceptions, that awards made under the Amended 2017 Plan may not vest earlier than the date that is one year
following the grant date of the award. The Amended 2017 Plan also contains provisions with respect to payment of exercise or purchase prices, vesting and expiration of awards, adjustments and treatment of
awards upon certain corporate transactions, including stock splits, recapitalizations and mergers, transferability of awards and tax withholding requirements.

The Amended 2017 Plan may be amended or terminated by the Board at any time, subject to certain limitations requiring stockholder consent or the consent of the applicable participant. In addition, the
administrator may not, without the approval of the Company’s stockholders, authorize certain re-pricings of any outstanding stock options or stock appreciation rights granted under the Amended 2017 Plan.
The Amended 2017 Plan will expire on June 20, 2027.

Farmer Bros. Co. 2020 Inducement Incentive Plan

In March 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the Farmer Bros. Co. 2020 Inducement Incentive Plan (the “2020 Inducement Plan”). The 2020 Inducement Plan’s purpose is to enhance the
Company'’s ability to attract persons who make (or are expected to make) important contributions to the Company by providing these individuals with equity ownership opportunities. Awards under the 2020
Inducement Plan has the same terms and conditions as the Amended 2017 Plan. The Board of Directors has reserved 300,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock for issuance under the 2020 Inducement
Plan. As of June 30, 2024, there were 182,919 shares that remain available under the 2020 Inducement Plan for future issuance.

Ne ptic with til b, d ing (“NQOs”)

One-third of the total number of NQO vest ratably on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant date, contingent on continued employment, and subject to accelerated vesting in certain
circumstances.

stock

There were no options granted during fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
The following table summarizes NQO activity for the year ended June 30, 2024:

Weighted Average Exercise Average ini Intrinsic Value

Outstanding NQOs: Number of NQOs Price (8) Life (Years) ($'in thousands)
Outstanding at June 30, 2023 331,658 11.69 3.35 —
Granted — — — —
Exercised — — — —
Cancelled/Forfeited — — — —
Expired (312,208) 1131 = =
Outstanding at June 30, 2024 19,450 17.75 2.14 —
Exercisable, June 30, 2024 19,450 17.75 2.14 —

The aggregate intrinsic values outstanding at the end of each fiscal period in the table above represent the total pretax intrinsic value, based on the Company’s closing stock price of $2.68 at June 28, 2024
and $2.77 at June 30, 2023, representing the last trading day of the respective fiscal years, which would have been received by NQO holders had all award holders exercised their NQOs that were in-the-money
as of those dates. The aggregate intrinsic value of NQO exercises in each fiscal period above represents the difference between the exercise price and the value of the Common Stock at the time of exercise.
NQOs outstanding that are expected to vest are net of estimated forfeitures.

There were no NQOs exercised during fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. The Company received no proceeds from exercises of vested NQOs in fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022.

As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to NQOs. Total compensation expense for NQOs was zero, $0.1 million and $0.6 million in fiscal 2024,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

Non-qualified stock options with performance-based and time-based vesting (“ PNQs”)
PNQ shares were not granted during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
The following table summarizes PNQ activity for the year ended June 30, 2024:

i A Exercise Avers ini Aggregate Intrinsic Value

Outstanding PN Number of PNQs Price ($) Life (Years) ($ in thousands)
Outstanding at June 30, 2023 991 32.85 0.36 —
Granted — — — —
Exercised = = = =
Cancelled/Forfeited — — — —
Expired (991) 32.85 = =
Outstanding at June 30, 2024 — — 0.00 —
Exercisable, June 30, 2024 — — 0.00 —

There were no PNQs exercised during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to PNQs. There was no compensation expense related to PNQs in fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
Restricted Stock

Restricted stock awards cliff vest on the earlier of the one year anniversary of the grant date or the date of the first annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders immediately following the grant date, in
the case of non-employee directors, and the third anniversary of the grant date, in the case of eligible employees, in each case subject to continued service to the Company through the vesting date and the
acceleration provisions of the award plan and restricted stock agreement. Restricted stock is expected to vest net of estimated forfeitures.

The following table summarizes restricted stock activity for the year ended June 30, 2024:
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Weighted Average Grant Date
Outstanding and Nonvested Res' ed Stock Award Shares Awarded Fair Value ($)
Outstanding at June 30, 2023 882,554 6.14
Granted 531,678 3.02
Vested (443,923) 5.67
Cancelled/Forfeited (307,648) 6.61
[o] ing and ed June 30, 2024 662,661 3.72

The weighted average grant date fair value of RSUs granted during the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $3.02, $5.68, and $7.20, respectively. The total grant-date fair value of restricted
stock granted during the year ended June 30, 2024 was $1.6 million. The total fair value of awards vested during the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $1.3 million, $1.7 million, and $2.3 million,
respectively.

As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, there was $1.7 million and $3.6 million, respectively, of unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock. The unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted
stock at June 30, 2024 is expected to be recognized over the weighted average period of 1.78 years. Total compensation expense for restricted stock was $1.7 million, $2.6 million and $2.1 million, for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (“PBRSUs”)

PBRSU awards either cliff vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant based on the Company’s achievement of certain financial performance goals during the performance periods or certain PBRSU
awards vest based on the achievement of a share price target before the third anniversary of the date of the grant. All PBRSU awards are subject to certain continued employment conditions and subject to
acceleration provisions of the award plan and restricted stock unit agreement. At the end of the performance period, the number of PBRSUs that actually vest will be a percentage of the target amount,
depending on the extent to which the Company meets or exceeds the achievement of those financial performance goals measured over the performance period. PBRSUs are expected to vest net of estimated
forfeitures.

The following table summarizes PBRSU activity for the year ended June 30, 2024:

Weighted Average Grant Date

o ing and : PBRSUs Awarded Fair Value ($)

Outstanding at June 30, 2023 549,291 5.92
Granted 394,576 2.95
Vested (134,660) 4.10
Cancelled/Forfeited (414,631) 6.51

Outstanding and nonvested June 30, 2024 394,576 2.95

The weighted average grant date fair value of PBRSUs granted during the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $2.95, $6.40, and $8.91, respectively. The total grant-date fair value of PBRSUs
granted during the year ended June 30, 2024 was $1.2 million. The total fair value of awards vested during the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were $0.3 million and $3.2 thousand, respectively.

As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, there was $0.9 million and $1.7 million, respectively, of unrecognized compensation cost related to PBRSUs. The unrecognized compensation cost related to PBRSUs at
June 30, 2024 is expected to be recognized over the weighted average period of 1.97 years. Total compensation expense for PBRSUs was $0.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2024, $0.7 million for the year
ended June 30, 2023 and $0.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2022.

Cash-Settled Restricted Stock Units (“CSRSUs”)

In December 2020, the Company granted CSRSUs under the Amended 2017 Plan to certain employees. CSRSUs vest in equal installments over a three-year period from the grant date, and are cash-settled
upon vesting based on the Common Stock's closing share price on the vesting date.

The CSRSUs are accounted for as liability awards, and compensation expense is measured at fair value on the date of grant and recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period net of forfeitures.
Compensation expense is remeasured at each reporting date with a cumulative adjustment to compensation cost during the period based on changes in the Common Stock's closing share price.

The following table summarizes CSRSU activity during the year ended June 30, 2024:

Weighted Average Grant Date
Outstanding and Nonvested CSRSUs: CSRSUs Awarded Fair Value ($)
Outstanding at June 30, 2023 184,807 6.15

Granted 556,000 2.50
Vested (68,538) 5.95
Cancelled/Forfeited (52,942) 4.54
Outstanding and nonvested June 30, 2024 619,327 2.94

The weighted average grant date fair value of CSRSUs granted during the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $2.50, $6.07 and $8.91, respectively. The total grant-date fair value of CSRSUs
granted during the year ended June 30, 2024 was $1.3 million. The total fair value of awards vested during the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $0.2 million, $0.2 million and $0.4 million,
respectively.

At June 30, 2024 and 2023, there was $1.6 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of unrecognized compensation cost related to CSRSU. The unrecognized compensation cost related to CSRSU at June 30,
2024 is expected to be recognized over the weighted average period of 2.25 years. Total compensation expense for CSRSUs was $0.5 million, $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the years ended June 30, 2024,
2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Payables and Accruals [Abstract]

Other Current Liabilities

Note 15. Other Current Liabilities
Other current liabilities consist of the following:
As of June 30,

(In thousands) 2024 2023

Other (1) $ 2,323 $ 3,334
Accrued workers’ compensation liabilities 481 992
Finance lease liabilities 193 193
Other current liabilities $ 2,997 $ 4,519

(1) Includes accrued property taxes, sales and use taxes and insurance liabilities.
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12 Months Ended
Jun. 30, 2024

Other Liabilities Disclosure [Abstract]

Other Long-Term Liabilities

Note 16. Other Long-Term Liabilities
Other long-term liabilities include the following:
As of June 30,

2024 2023
Derivative liabilities—noncurrent $ 1,505 $ —
Deferred compensation (1) 505 267
Finance lease liabilities 101 270
Other long-term liabilities $ 2,111 $ 537

(1) Includes performance cash awards liability and payroll taxes.
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12 Months Ended
Jun. 30, 2024

Note 17. Income Taxes

The current and deferred components of the provision for income taxes consist of the following:

For the Years Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023

2022
Current:
Federal $ — 3 — % —
State 14 142 124
Total current income tax expense 14 142 124
Deferred:
Federal (373) —
State = (94) =
Total deferred income tax (benefit) expense — (467) —
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 14 $ (325) $ 124
A reconciliation of income tax expense to the federal statutory tax rate is as follows:
For the Years Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Statutory tax rate 21% 21% 21%
Income tax benefit at statutory rate $ (811) $ (7,216) $ (389)
State income tax expense (benefit) (net of federal tax benefit) 933 2,407 (754)
Valuation allowance (3,223) 3,788 1,767
Change in tax rate (26) (111) (210)
Post-retirement medical plan and other offset in OCI — (467) —
Other (net) 3,141 1,274 (290)
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 14 S (325) $ 124

Our federal corporate tax rate is 21%. Deferred tax amounts are calculated based on the rates at which they are expected to reverse in the future.
The primary components of the temporary differences which give rise to the Company’s net deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:
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As of June 30,

(In thousands) 2024 2023

Deferred tax assets:
Postretirement benefits $ 3,290 $ 5,349
Accrued liabilities 2,121 2,642
163(j) Interest Limitation 9,633 7,772
Net operating loss carryforward 54,981 55,566
Intangible assets 5,476 6,481
Right-of-use operating lease liabilities 9,009 6,346
Other 5,128 5,436
Total deferred tax assets 89,638 89,592

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment (4,086) (725)
Right-of-use operating lease assets (8,865) (6,194)
Other (1,284) (2,238)
Total deferred tax liabilities (14,235) (9,157)
Valuation allowance (75,403) (80,435)

Net deferred tax liability S — $ —

At June 30, 2024, the Company had approximately $134.0 million of federal and $170.9 million of state net operating loss carryforwards that will begin to expire in the years ending June 30, 2027 and June
30, 2024, respectively. Net operating losses of $77.1 million in federal and $10.0 million of state are indefinite lived and will not expire. Additionally, at June 30, 2024, the Company had $0.9 million of federal
and state tax credits.

In assessing if the deferred tax assets will be realized, the Company considers whether it is probable that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In determining whether the deferred
taxes are realizable, the Company considers the period of expiration of the tax asset, historical and projected taxable income, and tax liabilities for the tax jurisdiction in which the tax asset is located.
Valuation allowances are provided to reduce the amounts of deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized based on an assessment of positive and negative evidence, including
estimates of future taxable income necessary to realize future deductible amounts.

For the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, due to recent cumulative losses, the Company concluded that certain federal and state net operating loss carry forwards and tax credit carryovers will
not be utilized before expiration. The amounts of valuation allowance recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were $75.4 million and $80.4 million to reduce deferred tax assets as of June 30, 2024 and
2023, respectively.

As of, and for the three years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company had no significant uncertain tax positions.
On August 16, 2022 the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 was signed into law. The Company does not anticipate any material impact to our consolidated financial statements.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. and in various state jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. income tax examinations for the fiscal years
prior to June 30, 2021. We report income-based tax in multiple states with various years open to examination. Although the outcome of tax audits is always uncertain, the
Company does not believe the outcome of any future audit will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters as a component of income tax expense. There were no amount of interest and penalties recognized in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, associated with uncertain tax positions. Additionally, the Company did not record any income tax expense related to interest and
penalties on uncertain tax positions in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
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Note 18. Net Loss Per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the periods presented. Diluted net
loss per common share is calculated by dividing diluted net loss attributable to the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding adjusted to include the effect, if dilutive, of the
exercise of in-the-money stock options, unvested performance-based restricted stock units, unvested RSUs and shares of Series A Preferred Stock, as converted, during the periods presented. The calculation of
dilutive shares outstanding excludes out-of-the-money stock options (i.e., such option’s exercise prices were greater than the average market price of our common shares for the period). Potentially dilutive
securities include unvested RSUs and performance-based restricted stock units. For the year ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, shares of the Company’s outstanding RSUs, PBRSUs, preferred stock and
stock options were not included in the computation of diluted loss per common share as their effects were anti-dilutive.

The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted loss per common share, net of income taxes:
For the Years Ended June 30,

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts) 2024 2022
Loss from continuing operations $ (3,875) $ (34,038) $ (2,568)
Loss from discontinued operations — 3 (45,142) s (13,687)
Net loss available to common stockholders—basic $ (3,875) $ (79,180) (16,255)

Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic and diluted 20,873,266 19,621,992 18,200,080
Loss from continuing operations per common share available to common stockholders—basic and diluted $ (0.19) (1.74) $ (0.14)
Loss from discontinued operations per common share available to common stockholders—basic and diluted $ — (2.30) $ (0.75)
Net loss per common share available to common stockholders—basic and diluted $ (0.19) (4.04) S (0.89)

The following table summarizes anti-dilutive securities excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per common share for the periods indicated:
For the Years Ended June 30,
2024 2023 2022

Shares issuable under stock options 19,450 331,658 452,537

Shares issuable under convertible preferred stock — — 452,667

Shares issuable under RSUs and PBRSUs 203,726 491,564 426,243

Commitments and
Contingencies

12 Months Ended
Jun. 30, 2024

Commitments and Contingencies

Disclosure [Abstract]

. . . .

Note 19. C itments and Conti
Purchase Commitments

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had committed to purchase green coffee inventory totaling $34.0 million under fixed-price contracts and $17.7 million in inventory and other
purchases under non-cancelable purchase orders.

Legal Proceedings

The Company is a party to various pending legal and administrative proceedings. It is management’s opinion that the outcome of such proceedings will not have a material impact
on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
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Note 20. Revenue Recognition
The Company’s primary sources of revenue are sales of coffee, tea and culinary products. The Company recognizes revenue when control of the promised good or service is transferred to the customer and
in amounts that the Company expects to collect. The timing of revenue recognition takes into consideration the various shipping terms applicable to the Company’s sales.

The Company delivers products to customers through DSD to the Company’s customers at their place of business and directly from the Company’s warehouse to the customer’s warehouse, facility or
address. Each delivery or shipment made to a third party customer is to satisfy a performance obligation. Performance obligations generally occur at a point in time and are satisfied when control of the goods
passes to the customer. The Company is entitled to collection of the sales price under normal credit terms in the regions in which it operates.

The Company disaggregates net sales from contracts with customers based on the characteristics of the products sold:
For the Years Ended June 30,

2024 2022

(In thousands) $ % of total $ % of total $ % of total
Net Sales by Product Category:
Coffee (Roasted) $ 158,113 46.4% $ 160,009 319% $ 151,843 324 %
Tea & Other Beverages (1) 90,069 26.4 % 88,241 176 % 80,547 172 %
Culinary 65,938 193 % 64,429 129 % 55,782 119%
Spices 21,911 6.4 % 23,502 4.7 % 22,248 4.7 %
Delivery Surcharge 5,063 1.5 % 3,783 0.8 % 4,363 0.9 %
Net sales from continuing ope